CANCER NANOTHERANOSTICS: WHAT HAVE WE LEARNED SO FAR?

EDITED BY: João Conde, Pedro Viana Baptista, Jesús M. De La Fuente and Furong Tian PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Chemistry





Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2015 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-776-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-776-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

CANCER NANOTHERANOSTICS: WHAT HAVE WE LEARNED SO FAR?

Topic Editors:

João Conde, Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Harvard-MIT Division for Health Sciences and Technology, USA Pedro Viana Baptista, Universidade Nova de Lisboa, Portugal Jesús M. De La Fuente, Universidad de Zaragoza, Spain Furong Tian, Dublin Institute Technology, Ireland



The beauty of Nanotheranostics world. Image by João Conde created with Wordle (http://www.wordle.net).

After a quarter of century of rapid technological advances, research has revealed the complexity of cancer, a disease intimately related to the dynamic transformation of the genome. However, the full understanding of the molecular onset of this disease is still far from achieved and the search for mechanisms of treatment will follow closely.

It is here that Nanotechnology enters the fray offering a wealth of tools to diagnose and treat cancer.

In fact, the National Cancer Institute predicts that over the next years, nanotechnology will result in important advances in early detection, molecular imaging, targeted and multifunctional therapeutics, prevention and control of cancer. Nanotechnology offers numerous tools to diagnose and treat cancer, such as new imaging agents, multifunctional devices capable of overcome

biological barriers to deliver therapeutic agents directly to cells and tissues involved in cancer growth and metastasis, and devices capable of predicting molecular changes to prevent action against precancerous cells. Nanomaterials-based delivery systems in Theranostics (Diagnostics & Therapy) provide better penetration of therapeutic and diagnostic substances within the body at a reduced risk in comparison to conventional therapies. At the present time, there is a growing need to enhance the capability of theranostics procedures where nanomaterials-based sensors may provide for the simultaneous detection of several gene-associated conditions and nanodevices with the ability to monitor real-time drug action. These innovative multifunctional nanocarriers for cancer theranostics may allow the development of diagnostics systems such as colorimetric and immunoassays, and in therapy approaches through gene therapy, drug delivery and tumor targeting systems in cancer.

Some of the thousands and thousands of published nanosystems so far will most likely revolutionize our understanding of biological mechanisms and push forward the clinical practice through their integration in future diagnostics platforms. Nevertheless, despite the significant efforts towards the use of nanomaterials in biologically relevant research, more in vivo studies are needed to assess the applicability of these materials as delivery agents. In fact, only a few went through feasible clinical trials. Nanomaterials have to serve as the norm rather than an exception in the future conventional cancer treatments. Future in vivo work will need to carefully consider the correct choice of chemical modifications to incorporate into the multifunctional nanocarriers to avoid activation off-target, side effects and toxicity. Moreover the majority of studies on nanomaterials do not consider the final application to guide the design of nanomaterial. Instead, the focus is predominantly on engineering materials with specific physical or chemical properties.

It is imperative to learn how advances in nanosystem's capabilities are being used to identify new diagnostic and therapy tools driving the development of personalized medicine in oncology; discover how integrating cancer research and nanotechnology modeling can help patient diagnosis and treatment; recognize how to translate nanotheranostics data into an actionable clinical strategy; discuss with industry leaders how nanotheranostics is evolving and what the impact is on current research efforts; and last but not least, learn what approaches are proving fruitful in turning promising clinical data into treatment realities.

Citation: Conde, J., Baptista, P. V., Fuente, J. M. D. L., Tian, F., eds. (2016). Cancer Nanotheranostics: What Have We Learned So Far? Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88919-776-7

Table of Contents

- **05** *Editorial: Cancer Nanotheranostics: What Have We Learned So Far?* João Conde, Furong Tian, Jesus M. de la Fuente and Pedro V. Baptista
- *Revisiting 30 years of biofunctionalization and surface chemistry of inorganic nanoparticles for nanomedicine* João Conde, Jorge T. Dias, Valeria Grazú, Maria Moros, Pedro V. Baptista and Jesus M. de la Fuente
- 35 Nanomedicines for cancer therapy: State-of-the-art and limitations to preclinical studies that hinder future developments
- Charlene M. Dawidczyk, Luisa M. Russell and Peter C. Searson48 Gold nanoparticles and their alternatives for radiation therapy enhancement
 - Daniel R. Cooper, Devesh Bekah and Jay L. Nadeau
- 61 Therapeutic antisense oligonucleotides against cancer: Hurdling to the clinic Pedro M. D. Moreno and Ana P. Pêgo
- 68 Cancer immunotherapy: Nanodelivery approaches for immune cell targeting and tracking

João Conniot, Joana M. Silva, Joana G. Fernandes, Liana C. Silva, Rogério Gaspar, Steve Brocchini, Helena F. Florindo and Teresa S. Barata

- Biomolecular corona on nanoparticles: A survey of recent literature and its implications in targeted drug delivery
 Ryan M. Pearson, Vanessa V. Juettner and Seungpyo Hong
- **102** The application of magnetic nanoparticles for the treatment of brain tumors Keon Mahmoudi and Costas G. Hadjipanayis
- 107 Molecular imaging of breast cancer: Present and future directions David Alcantara, Manuel Pernia Leal, Irene García-Bocanegra and Maria L. García-Martín
- A biological perspective toward the interaction of theranostic nanoparticles with the bloodstream – what needs to be considered?
 Martin J. D. Clift, Jean-François Dechézelles, Barbara Rothen-Rutishauser and Alke Petri-Fink
- **122** *Multifunctional gold nanostars for molecular imaging and cancer therapy* Yang Liu, Hsiangkuo Yuan, Andrew M. Fales, Janna K. Register and Tuan Vo-Dinh





Editorial: Cancer Nanotheranostics: What Have We Learned So Far?

João Conde^{1, 2*}, Furong Tian³, Jesus M. de la Fuente⁴ and Pedro V. Baptista⁵

¹ Harvard-MIT Division for Health Sciences and Technology, Institute for Medical Engineering and Science, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA, ² School of Engineering and Materials Science, Queen Mary University of London, London, UK, ³ School of Food Science and Environmental Health, College of Sciences and Health, Dublin Institute of Technology, Dublin, Ireland, ⁴ Instituto de Ciencia de Materiales de Aragón, Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas/Universidad de Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain, ⁵ Research Unit on Applied Molecular Biosciences (UCIBIO), Departamento de Ciências da Vida, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia, Universidade Nova de Lisboa, Lisboa, Portugal

Keywords: oncology, cancer, nanotechnology, nanotheranostics, nanomaterials, nanoparticles

The Editorial on the Research Topic

Cancer Nanotheranostics: What Have We Learned So Far?

According to the *National Cancer Institute*, in 2015 an estimated of 1.7 million new cases of cancer will be diagnosed only in the United States and around 600,000 people will die from the disease. The most common type of cancer is breast cancer, with more than 234,000 new cases expected in the United States in 2015. The next most common cancers are prostate cancer and lung cancer.

After a quarter of century of rapid technological advances, research has revealed the complexity of cancer, a disease intimately related to the dynamic transformation of the genome. These transformations trigger a range of modification to cell processes and molecular events that initiate and promote tumor genesis and progression, then local invasion and metastasis, i.e., the hallmarks of cancer development. These alterations may cause a wide scope of "diseases" that share similar molecular patterns that cause transformation and malignancy. Each of this stepwise evolution of the initial molecular event drives abnormal growth and loss of differentiation that ultimately causes tissue and organ failure. The initial molecular event may lay within the erroneous expression of a given gene, epigenetic modification and/or sporadic mutations occurring on genomic DNA during the life span of organisms. Each and every one of these molecular events may be evaluated and used as diagnostics biomarker and therapeutic target. For example, therapy action may target a mutated gene and silence its expression so as to avoid erroneous protein expression that mutates cell function. However, the full understanding of the molecular onset of this disease is still far from achieved and the search for mechanisms of treatment will follow closely.

It is here that Nanotechnology enters the fray offering a wealth of tools to diagnose and treat cancer. Today, Nanotechnology is a burgeoning field that is helping to address critical global problems from cancer treatment to climate change. In fact, Nanotechnology is everywhere and is everyday practice (Conde), offering numerous tools to diagnose and treat cancer, such as new imaging agents, multifunctional devices capable of overcome biological barriers to deliver therapeutic agents directly to cells and tissues involved in cancer growth and metastasis, and devices capable of predicting molecular changes to prevent action against precancerous cells (Conde et al., 2012). The novel physical properties of inorganic particles at the nanometer size scale, combined with the high specific surface of polymeric nanoparticles and the possibility to engineer stimulirespond drug release strategies, have provided new tools to physicians for the diagnostic and the therapy of diseases such as cancer.

Nanomaterials-based delivery systems in Theranostics (Diagnostics and Therapy), at the same size level of proteins, DNA or RNA, provide better penetration of therapeutic and diagnostic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Gil Garnier, Bioresource Processing Research Institute of Australia, Australia

*Correspondence:

João Conde jdconde@mit.edu; conde.bio@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Chemical Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Chemistry

Received: 03 November 2015 Accepted: 15 December 2015 Published: 06 January 2016

Citation:

Conde J, Tian F, de la Fuente JM and Baptista PV (2016) Editorial: Cancer Nanotheranostics: What Have We Learned So Far? Front. Chem. 3:71. doi: 10.3389/fchem.2015.00071 substances within the body at a reduced risk in comparison to conventional therapies. At the present time, there is a growing need to enhance the capability of theranostics procedures where innovative multifunctional nanocarriers for cancer theranostics may allow the development of diagnostics systems such as colorimetric and immunoassays, and in therapy approaches through gene therapy, drug delivery and tumor targeting systems in cancer (Conde et al., 2014).

Some of the thousands and thousands of published nanosystems so far will most likely revolutionize our understanding of biological mechanisms and push forward the clinical practice through their integration in future diagnostics platforms. Nevertheless, despite the significant efforts toward the use of nanomaterials in biologically relevant research, more *in vivo* studies are needed to assess the applicability of these materials as delivery agents. In fact, only a few have gone through feasible clinical trials. Nanomaterials have to serve as the norm rather than an exception in the future conventional cancer treatments. Future *in vivo* work will need to carefully consider the correct choice of chemical modifications to incorporate into the multifunctional nanocarriers to avoid activation off-target, side effects and toxicity.

It is imperious to learn how advances in nanosystems' capabilities are being used to identify new diagnostic and therapy apparatuses driving the development of personalized and precision medicine in cancer therapy and diagnostics; learn how incorporating cancer research and nanotechnology can help patient life quality; identify how to decipher nanotheranostics data into a real clinical strategy; and, last but not least, learn what methods are showing fertile results in turning promising clinical data into treatment realities (Conde et al., 2014).

Although all studies described in this Topic provide a baseline level of data in support of the effectiveness and safety of nanomaterials, we wonder what have we learned so far?

Current trends in biomedicine have been focused toward the use of new materials capable to address particular and individual characteristics in strategies for molecular precision therapies. In this endeavor, nanoparticles have allowed a tremendous leap forward in combining diagnostics and therapy in a single system and doing so at the nanoscale. Nanotheranostics have enabled the integration of targeting, imaging and therapeutics in a single platform, with proven applicability on the management of heterogeneous diseases.

Despite the plethora of proposed systems, only but a few products are currently included clinical trials and much remains to be done to allow effective clinical translation of these promising nanotheranostics platforms.

Several nanoconjugates have been proposed, varying in material, size and shape; some bringing current therapeutic approaches to the nanometer scale while others enact disruptive properties only possible by combination of different molecules and chemistries at the nanoscale (Conde et al.). For example, achieving controlled cellular responses of nanoparticles is critical for the successful development and translation of NP-based drug delivery systems. Conde et al. and Hong et al. (Pearson et al.) reported a complete survey on the most important factors for careful design of nanoparticles and the demand for precise control over the physicochemical and biological properties of NPs.

Liu et al. discuss the potential of star shaped nanoparticles in novel imaging approaches and strategies combining therapy and imaging in cancer. In fact, the potential of application of nanoconjugates in enhanced imaging strategies and platforms is discussed by Alcantara et al. with particular emphasis in current trends in molecular imaging for optimized management of breast cancer.

Theranostics of brain diseases such as brain cancer, is a daunting challenge due to the unique environment of central nervous system (Bhaskar et al., 2010). Yet passing the bloodbrain barrier (BBB) is particularly difficult. The proper design of such engineered "nanocarriers" becomes very important in translocating the impermeable membranes of the brain to facilitate drug delivery. At the same time, it is also required to retain the drug stability and ensure that early degradation of drugs from the nanocarriers does not take place. In fact, Mahmoudi and Hadjipanayis reported a great opinion piece about the application of magnetic nanoparticles (MNPS) for the treatment of brain tumors and how MNPs will likely assume a larger role in brain cancer treatment in combination with other adjuvant therapies.

Talking about other adjuvant therapies, radiation and gene therapy have also gained momentum in the last years when using nanomaterials for cancer therapy. Cooper et al. reported how radiation therapy is one of the most commonly used treatments for cancer and which directions to follow for the future based on current state of nanoparticle-assisted radiation therapy.

Regarding gene therapy, Moreno and Pego reported a critical overview of using therapeutic antisense oligonucleotides against cancer and how difficult has been to get to the clinic. This is in fact not only a problem with gene therapy but a universal issue as whilst many pre-clinical data has been generated, a lack of understanding still exists on how to efficiently tackle all the different challenges presented for cancer targeting in a clinical setting.

interesting Perhaps another avenue in cancer nanotheranostics is the interfering effect of the immune system in the efficacy of proposed platforms. In fact, a clear perspective on the interaction between immune response and immune modulators is still missing from the general picture of nanotheranostics, not only in what concerns the organisms response to the systemic delivery of nanoconjugates that may hamper efficacy, but also the use of the immune response and nanoconjugates interaction with immune system as means to achieve higher and more directed/targeted therapy to the cancer site. As such, the effect and response of diverse properties of nanodiagnostics platforms in the organisms have been discussed by Clift et al. where nanoconjugates are discussed in terms of the immune response triggered after systemic delivery; whereas Conniot et al. and Pearson et al. (Dawidczyk et al.) have demonstrated how nanotheranostics may use and profit from the specific and unspecific immune response to enhance efficacy. Actually, cancer immunotherapy is nowadays consider a hot topic and a huge breakthrough in modern Science (Conde et al., 2015).

Gene expression has been targeted for silencing to avoid mutated protein function to exert its role in tumor progression. Nanotechnology based systems shows great promise in addressing novel genomic biomarkers that signal cancer cells, and do it with increased sensitivity that allow early detection of genome/genetic modifications that at the origin of cancer. Emergent technologies have been combined with nanoscale structures for directing to the site of interest with decreased side effects. The experience gathered thus far has shown that the next step in the effective translation of nanotheranostics into the clinics relates to the body's response to the nanoconjugates. What are the toxicity impacts of these devices and platforms? Are there enough data for the full chronic toxicity evaluation of

REFERENCES

- Bhaskar, S., Tian, F., Stoeger, T., Kreyling, W., de la Fuente, J. M., Grazú, V., et al. (2010). Multifunctional Nanocarriers for diagnostics, drug delivery and targeted treatment across blood-brain barrier: perspectives on tracking and neuroimaging. *Part. Fibre Toxicol.* 7:3. doi: 10.1186/1743-8977-7-3
- Conde, J., Arnold, C. E., Tian, F., and Artzi, N. (2015). RNAi nanomaterials targeting immune cells as an anti-tumor therapy: the missing link in cancer treatment? *Mater. Today.* doi: 10.1016/j.mattod.2015.07.005. [Epub ahead of print]. Available online at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1369702115002229
- Conde, J., Doria, G., and Baptista, P. (2012). Noble metal nanoparticles applications in cancer. J. Drug Deliv. 2012:751075. doi: 10.1155/2012/751075
- Conde, J., Tian, F., Baptista, P. V., and de la Fuente, J. M. (2014). "Multifunctional gold nanocarriers for cancer theranostics - from bench to

the application of these systems? Is the immune system a friend or foe for nanotheranostics?

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All the authors contributed to this Editorial piece. All the authors read and revised the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

JC acknowledges Marie Curie International Outgoing Fellowship and Funding (FP7-PEOPLE-2013-IOF, Project 626386).

bedside and back again?" in *Nano-Oncologicals: New Targeting And Delivery Approaches*, ed F. Marcos Garcia (Springer International Publishing AG), 295–328.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Conde, Tian, de la Fuente and Baptista. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



João Conde^{1*†}, Jorge T. Dias^{2†}, Valeria Grazú²*, Maria Moros², Pedro V. Baptista³ and Jesus M. de la Fuente^{2,4,5}

¹ Harvard-MIT Division for Health Sciences and Technology, Institute for Medical Engineering and Science, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA

² Nanotherapy and Nanodiagnostics Group, Instituto de Nanociencia de Aragon, Universidad de Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain

³ CIGMH, Departamento de Ciências da Vida, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia, Universidade Nova de Lisboa, Caparica, Portugal

⁴ Fundacion ARAID, Zaragoza, Spain

⁵ Key Laboratory for Thin Film and Microfabrication Technology of the Ministry of Education, Department of Bio-Nano Science and Engineering, Institute of Nano Biomedicine and Engineering, Research Institute of Translation Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China

Edited by:

Jean-Michel Lavoie, Université de Sherbrooke, Canada

Reviewed by:

Victor Sans Sangorrin, University of Glasgow, UK Leonie Rouleau, Université de Sherbrooke, Canada

*Correspondence:

João Conde, Harvard-MIT Division for Health Sciences and Technology, Institute for Medical Engineering and Science, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 45 Carleton Street, E25-438, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA e-mail: jdconde@mit.edu; Valeria Grazú, Nanotherapy and Nanodiagnostics Group, Instituto de Nanociencia de Aragon, Universidad de Zaragoza, Campus Rio Ebro, Edifício ID, Mariano Esquillor s/n, 50018 Zaragoza, Spain e-mail: vgrazu@unizar.es

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

In the last 30 years we have assisted to a massive advance of nanomaterials in material science. Nanomaterials and structures, in addition to their small size, have properties that differ from those of larger bulk materials, making them ideal for a host of novel applications. The spread of nanotechnology in the last years has been due to the improvement of synthesis and characterization methods on the nanoscale, a field rich in new physical phenomena and synthetic opportunities. In fact, the development of functional nanoparticles has progressed exponentially over the past two decades. This work aims to extensively review 30 years of different strategies of surface modification and functionalization of noble metal (gold) nanoparticles, magnetic nanocrystals and semiconductor nanoparticles, such as quantum dots. The aim of this review is not only to provide in-depth insights into the different biofunctionalization and characterization methods, but also to give an overview of possibilities and limitations of the available nanoparticles.

Keywords: biofunctionalization, chemistry surface, gold nanoparticles, magnetic nanoparticles, quantum dots

INTRODUCTION

Every object with at least one characteristic dimension between 1 and 100 nm can be defined as "nanomaterial." The importance of nanomaterials (e.g. nanoparticles, NPs) for science and technology has highly increased in the last years (Surendiran et al., 2009). When dealing with such a small structure, the size-related properties, the shape and inter-particle distance to the core, the charge, the dielectric properties of the conjugated system (including refractive index and polarizability), the dielectric medium surrounding the particle (solvent) and the composition moieties are extremely important and may sturdily influence the physical and chemical characteristics of the nanomaterials. This means that these distinct properties, such as quantum confinement in semiconductor nanocrystals or surface plasmon resonance (SPR) in some metal NPs, may influence physical and chemical behavior of nanomaterials (Bellucci, 2009; Doria et al., 2012).

The unbelievable development of nanotechnology in the last 30 years has allowed the release of new and efficient synthetic

routes toward the production and functionalization of different NPs, composed of a variety of materials including noble metals [e.g. gold and silver (Conde et al., 2012c; Doria et al., 2012; Dreaden et al., 2012)], semiconductors [e.g. CdSe and CdTe (Murray et al., 1993), TiO₂ (Sudhagar et al., 2012), InP (Xu et al., 2006)], magnetic compounds (Pankhurst et al., 2003), and their combinations, such as core–shell (Cao et al., 2001) and alloy NPs (Doria et al., 2010).

The unique characteristics of these NPs, such as high surface-to-volume ratio or size-dependent optical and magnetic properties, are drastically different from those of their bulk materials and hold pledge in the clinical field (Kim, 2007; Heath and Davis, 2008). Technological advances in nanoparticle synthesis/functionalization are producing significant advances in molecular detection and imaging, target and multifunctional therapeutics and in prevention/control of diseases. Through the development of new imaging agents, novel multifunctional targeted devices capable of overcoming biological barriers for direct delivery of therapeutic agents to diseased cells and tissues, and innovative monitoring sensors for predictive molecular changes, increase the processes' efficiency while minimizing costs (Baptista, 2009; Minelli et al., 2010; Ma et al., 2011; Conde et al., 2012c). Besides being an area of intense upfront basic research, nanotechnology holds the key to future technological applications. It is a burgeoning field as more and improved techniques are becoming available for clinical therapy and diagnostics with increased sensitivity and efficiency at lower costs (Baptista et al., 2008; Lammers et al., 2011).

In spite of these advantages, NPs do have limitations. For example, their small size and large surface area can lead to particle-particle aggregation and may result in limited loading of functional components and burst release. In fact, only NPs with the appropriate size and surface chemistry are not immediately recognized by the immune system and show increased circulation times (Gil and Parak, 2008; Shvedova et al., 2010). Nevertheless, their unique and broad-based optical properties, their ease of synthesis and facile surface chemistry and, most importantly, their appropriate size scale are overcoming these drawbacks and have been generating much eagerness in clinical diagnostics and therapy (Sperling et al., 2008).

Here we will review different strategies of biofunctionalization and characterization methods of inorganic nanoparticles, as well as their main advantages and limitations. Our aim is to discuss the challenges of working with nanoparticles while giving an overall overview of the state-of-the-art.

INORGANIC NANOPARTICLES GOLD NANOPARTICLES

Historically, colloidal gold has been used since ancient times mainly as a method for glass staining. However, it was not until Faraday's work that gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) began to be studied in a scientific approach (Faraday, 1857). Since then, AuNPs have generated ever-increasing interest and in the last few decades more and more controllable synthesis methods and applications in diverse nanosystems have been developed (Wagner et al., 2000; Edwards and Thomas, 2007).

AuNPs, also known as colloidal gold, are a suspension of sub-micrometer-sized gold metal particle in a fluid and can be obtained with diameters between 3 and 200 nm. AuNPs have gained increasing interest due to their special features, such as extraordinary optical and electronic properties, high stability and biological compatibility, controllable morphology and size dispersion, and easy surface functionalization (Sperling et al., 2008).

The optical properties of AuNPs are significant because absorption and emission are within the visible range of light (El-Sayed, 2001). Of particular interest is the light extinction process in the UV-visible range, which occurs when an electromagnetic wave passes through a metal particle exciting its electronic or vibrational states (Kreibig and Vollmer, 1995). This phenomenon induces dipole moments that oscillate at the respective frequency of the incident wave, dispersing secondary radiation in all directions. This collective oscillation of the free conduction electrons is called localized surface plasmon resonance (LSPR). The SPR is the collective oscillation of the electrons in the conduction band. The oscillation frequency is usually in the visible region giving rise to the strong SPR absorption (Schultz et al., 2000; Jain et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2007; Murphy et al., 2008).

Size also provides important control over many of the physical and chemical properties, including luminescence, conductivity, and catalytic activity. AuNPs' absorption and scattering proportions depend on the AuNPs size (Cao et al., 2002). AuNPs with a diameter smaller than 20 nm essentially show absorption, but when the size increase to 80 nm the ratio of scattering to absorption also increases. As the size of the AuNPs increases, light can no longer polarize the nanoparticles homogeneously and higher order modes at lower energy dominate. This causes a red-shift and broadening of the surface plasmon band. Small AuNPs, like those with 13 nm of diameter, absorb green light, which corresponds to a strong absorption band at 520 nm in the visible light spectrum. However, solutions of AuNPs appear red in color. For smaller AuNPs (i.e., 5 nm diameter), surface electrons are oscillated by the incoming light in a dipole mode, but the SPR is very sensitive to the composition, size, shape, inter-particle distance and environment (dielectric properties) of the AuNPs (Pellegrino et al., 2005; Sperling et al., 2006).

In all synthesis methods reported so far, a reducing and a stabilizing agent is added to prevent the particles from aggregating. The type of stabilizer affects the selection of further biofunctionalization strategies, as for certain strategies a good colloidal stability at a broad range of pH and ionic strength is required. Although a wide variety of nanoparticles can be stabilized by a large range of stabilizers (ligands, surfactants, polymers, dendrimers, biomolecules) (Sperling and Parak, 2010), the most robust nanoparticles are covered by thiol molecules using the strong gold-S bond between the soft acid Au and the soft thiolate base (Giersig and Mulvaney, 1993). Thus, if a bifunctional thiolated stabilizer or even a mixture of them is used (e.g. thiolated-PEG molecules having carboxylic, amine, azide groups, etc.), then it is possible to stabilize and introduce chemical functionalities in a single step. This allows further attachment of biomolecules in a controlled way by covalent immobilization strategies that we will discuss in the following sections.

MAGNETIC NANOPARTICLES

Magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) constitute an important class of nanomaterials widely studied for their potential use in biomedicine fields, such as imaging, cell labeling, hyperthermia and drug and gene delivery (Pankhurst et al., 2003; Barakat, 2009; Berry, 2009). MNPs can be classified as metal, alloys or oxides, and are generally based on elements such as iron, cobalt, nickel, or manganese among others (Pankhurst et al., 2009). From the aforementioned, iron-based NPs are the most studied, since iron is believed to be biocompatible (Hanini et al., 2011). Other elements, such as cobalt or nickel are reported to be more toxic (Fang and Zhang, 2009). Iron oxide NPs (IONPs) are composed of magnetite (Fe₃O₄) or maghemite (γ -Fe₂O₃), nanocrystallites.

Most of MNPs' applications are a consequence of their magnetic properties, which greatly differ from those of the bulk material. When small enough, MNPs present superparamagnetic behavior at room temperature, meaning that they become magnetized upon exposure to an external magnetic field but lack remnant magnetization once the external field is removed (Jun et al., 2008). Consequently, MNPs do not agglomerate in the absence of the magnetic field, which is essential for in vivo applications (Yoo et al., 2011). This characteristic is rather important in applications, such as magnetic hyperthermia. The MNPs' capacity of converting the energy of an alternate magnetic field into heat (Rosensweig, 2002) and the extra sensitiveness of tumor cells to an increase in temperature (van der Zee, 2002) are the two pillars of magnetic hyperthermia in cancer. Since the late 50's, when Gilchrist et al. (1957) first reported the use of MNPs to heat tissue samples, to nowadays, magnetic hyperthermia has evolved considerably and is a key area of interest in cancer therapy with several studies showing the benefit of employing magnetic materials in hyperthermia strategies (Jordan et al., 1993, 2001; Johannsen et al., 2010; Laurent et al., 2011). Several groups have reported noteworthy results in clinical trials where magnetic hyperthermia shows effectiveness in tumor cell destruction with impressive targeting, thus minimizing significantly side effects (Johannsen et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2011; Zhao et al., 2012b).

There are a wide variety of methodologies used for MNP synthesis, including physical or wet chemical approaches. Concerning wet chemical approaches, there are some methodologies, such as coprecipitation (Perez et al., 2002) or reverse micelles precipitation (Liu et al., 2000) that provide directly water soluble MNPs with an organic layer with chemical moieties for narrow size distribution of MNP. However, common synthetic strategies traditionally render MNPs soluble only in organic solvents. Their use in bioapplications imply an additional step where adequate chemical moieties are introduced by several strategies (e.g. use of amphiphilic polymers, silanization, replacing and/or modifying the surfactant layer) in order to allow silanization, their water transference and further biofunctionalization.

QUANTUM DOTS

Quantum dots (QDs) are nanoparticles composed of semiconductor materials from III-V or II-VI groups of the periodic table, such as ZnS, ZnSe, CdS, CdSe, CdTe, InP, and others (Donega, 2011). Their reduced size induces a shift of the electronic excitations to higher energy, concentrating the oscillator strength into just a few transitions, conferring unique quantum-confined photonic and electronic properties (Alivisatos, 1996; Alivisatos et al., 2005). Although physically larger than organic dyes and fluorescent proteins, their cumulative optical properties offer great biological utility. With tunable core sizes, it is possible to attain a broad adsorption profile, narrow size, and symmetric photoluminescence spectra depending of the fundamental materials. QDs also show strong resistance to photobleaching and chemical degradation, as well as significant photostability and high quantum yields (Ghanem et al., 2004; Xu et al., 2006; Algar et al., 2011).

Their potential as biological labels was first demonstrated by Nie and Alivisatos groups in 1998, turning the focus into bioapplications of QDs. The method relies on a ligand exchange strategy is based on the replacement of the original hydrophobic ligands adsorbed onto the surface of QDs with biofunctional molecules, such as protein transferrins. These QDs were susceptible to effective receptor-mediated endocytosis in cultured HeLa cells. Since these first demonstrations of QDs potential, their unique properties have been continuously optimized and applied in a plethora of bioapplications, ranging from fluorescent probes, biosensors to therapeutics and theranostic agents (Akerman et al., 2002; Smith et al., 2006; Li et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2010; Ruan et al., 2012; Singh et al., 2012).

Once QDs that show paramount optical properties are those synthesized in organic media, numerous methods have been developed for creating hydrophilic QDs (Medintz et al., 2008). The first approach is commonly designated as "ligand exchange" (Gill et al., 2008), where the hydrophobic layer of the organic solvent may be replaced by biofunctional molecules containing a soft acidic group (i.e., thiol, sodium thiolycolate) and hydrophilic groups (i.e., carboxylic, aminic groups) (Wang et al., 2008). A second approach usually consists in adding a particular shell to the nanoparticles that can be further functionalized with additional biomolecules or polymers (Koole et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2008).

BIOFUNCTIONALIZATION OF INORGANIC NANOPARTICLES

Nanoparticles with unique and broad-based optical properties, ease of synthesis and facile surface chemistry and functionalization within appropriate size scale are generating much enthusiasm in biotechnology and biomedicine, with particular emphasis in clinical diagnostics and therapy. However, for the biological application of these NPs, it is necessary their functionalization with one or several biomolecule (**Figure 1**), such as DNA/RNA, oligonucleotides (i.e., ssDNA/RNA, dsDNA/RNA), peptides and antibodies, fluorescent dyes, polymers (i.e., PEGs), drugs, tumor



FIGURE 1 | Schematic representation of a multifunctional nanocarrier. These innovative NPs comprise nucleic acids such as RNA and DNA used for gene silencing approaches and in colorimetric assays, respectively. Aptamers and anticancer drug molecules are also used for delivery to the target tissue. Carbohydrates may be useful as sensitive colorimetric probes. PEG is used to improve solubility and decrease immunogenicity. Responsive nanocarriers can also trigger reaction upon external stimuli through the functionality of valuable tumor markers, peptides, carbohydrates, polymers and antibodies that can be used to improve nanocarrier circulation, effectiveness, and selectivity. Multifunctional systems can also carry fluorescent dyes that are used as reporter molecules tethered to the particle surface and employed as tracking and/or contrast agents. markers, enzymes and other proteins that will introduce the required bio-functionalities.

Ultimately, the conjugation strategy is directly dependent on a numbers of factors such as size, surface chemistry and shape, as well as the type of ligands and functional groups to exploit in the functionalization. Also, the type of biological molecule and the final application of the nanoparticle conjugate are crucial when evaluating the conjugation strategy. Next, we summarize the most frequently used biofunctional molecules used to introduce one or several biological activities to the NP.

COMMON BIOFUNCTIONAL SPECIES

Polymer coatings—poly(ethylene glycol)

For their use as potential delivery devices *in vivo*, the aforementioned inorganic nanoparticles must have long plasma half-lives. In this sense, poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) is the most widely used macromolecule to prolong nanocarriers half-life. In fact, PEGs have a strong effect on nanoparticle structure, stabilization and biodistribution both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Akerman et al., 2002; Daou et al., 2009; Boeneman et al., 2010; Maldiney et al., 2011). These long-circulating nanoparticles have the ability to circulate for a prolonged period of time and target a particular organ, as carriers of DNA in gene therapy, or to deliver proteins, peptides and drugs (Langer, 2000; Bhadra et al., 2002; Kommareddy et al., 2005; Lee and Kim, 2005).

For systemic applications, the development of surface functionalized and long-circulating NPs as cellular probes and delivery agents is highly desired for passive targeting to tumors and inflammatory sites. PEG-modification of NPs affords long circulating property by evading macrophage-mediated uptake and removal from the systemic circulation. Owing to its simple structure and chemical stability, it is a prototype of an inert and biocompatible polymer (Sperling and Parak, 2010; Verma and Stellacci, 2010). When bound to surfaces, PEG prevents other molecules to bind by steric effects. In fact, the molecules are not attracted by electrostatic forces and cannot penetrate the hydrated PEG layer, producing an inert hydrophilic surface. Moreover, PEG modified nanoparticles are more stable at high salt concentrations and in biological environments, avoiding non-specific binding to proteins and cells (Sperling and Parak, 2010). This is particularly important for in vivo applications because once the NPs are in the bloodstream, a portion of the plasma proteins that can adsorb to the surface (opsonins), may promote NPs recognition by the mononuclear phagocyte system (MPS), and consequently lead to rapid removal of the NPs from circulation (Bertrand and Leroux, 2012). To date, there is a general consensus that to prolong NPs half-life in the organism, PEGs' molecular weight, grafting density and chain architecture must be optimized (Li and Huang, 2010; Grazú et al., 2012). For instance, Xie and coworkers showed that MNPs functionalized with PEG with molecular weights higher than 3000 Da were not taken up by macrophages in vitro, while extensive uptake was observed for PEG 600-coated MNPs (Xie et al., 2007).

Consequently, functionalization of NPs with a high density of PEG of an adequate length not only increases the colloidal stability of the modified NPs but also their plasma half-life. However, to provide PEGylated NPs with targeting and therapeutic activity, as well as with the ability of crossing different biological membranes, they must be conjugated with a variety of biologically relevant ligands, such as cell/tumor penetrating peptides, tumor markers, and therapeutic agents (siRNAs, drugs). Concerning gold NPs, one of the main strategies is to assemble PEG and mixed biomolecule/PEG monolayers on the nanoparticles' surface. Liu et al. showed an escalation in the NPs' stability with increasing PEG length, decreasing nanoparticle diameter, increasing PEG mole fraction and mixed monolayers prepared via the sequential addition of PEG followed by a peptide. In this manner, NPs were more stable than those prepared via simultaneous co-adsorption. These modified NPs were able to target the cytoplasm of HeLa cells, being the cellular uptake quantified using inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (Liu et al., 2007). Sanz et al. also obtained polyvalent PEGylated AuNPs with a similar strategy. The authors developed an approach to attach specific biomolecules to the AuNPs' surface and their effect in the functionalization with other specific derivatives. The effect of biofunctional spacers, such as thiolated PEG chains and a positive peptide (TAT) in dsRNA loading on AuNPs was reported. The authors hypothesized that the loading of oligonucleotides onto the AuNP surface may be controlled by ionic and weak interactions positioning the entry of the oligonucleotide through the PEG layer, by a synergistic effect of the TAT peptide and PEG chains with specific functional groups, enhancing the dsRNA loading onto AuNPs (see Figure 2) (Sanz et al., 2012).

Another approach to link biomolecules to PEGylated AuNPs is making use of PEG as a spacer. This requires the use of bifunctional PEG chains that contain thiol at one end and a suitable functional moiety at the other (e.g. amino, carboxylate groups). Recently, Oh et al. described a different approach, where in a one-phase synthesis AuNPs were conjugated with PEG ligands yielding a narrow size distribution of highly stable NPs in the presence of high salt concentrations over a wide range of pHs (Oh et al., 2010b). One way or another, functional moieties of PEG ligands allow for further coupling of target biomolecules. Consequently, surface modification of gold clusters through PEG spacers (Kanaras et al., 2002; Simpson et al., 2011) would allow the modified nanoparticles to remain in the systemic circulation for prolonged periods and provide flexibility for efficient interaction with a target. Besides, using a combination of different bifunctional PEG spacers, gold nano-platforms can be multifunctionalized with a variety of biologically-relevant ligands such as cell penetrating peptides, fluorescent dyes, tumor markers and siRNA (Conde et al., 2012a).

PEGylated QDs have also been successfully produced for effective *in vitro* and *in vivo* circulation (Skaff and Emrick, 2003; Hu et al., 2010; Prow et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2012b). Recently, Poulose et al. developed highly biocompatible PEG functionalized in cadmium chalcogenide luminescent QDs (CdS, CdSe, and CdTe) as an imaging tool for early diagnosis of cancer by targeting a cancer cell line (Poulose et al., 2012).

Although PEG is really useful to prolong NPs' blood half-life, it is known that in some cases PEG can hamper cargo release or hide other functional domains once the NP accumulates at the desired target area (Sawant and Torchilin, 2012). Inclusion of



FIGURE 2 | Polyvalent PEGylated gold nanoparticles. (A) Bioconjugation of the surface-modified gold nanoparticles with different thiol-PEG layer composition (SH-EG(7)-CH₂-COOH and SH-(CH₂)₃-CONH-EG(6)-CH₂-N₃), TAT peptide and thiol-dsRNA oligonucleotide. **(B)** Mechanism for the enhancement of the dsRNA loading on AuNPs functionalized with PEG chains and TAT peptide. The azide group has a resonant structure with a positively polarized behavior that can attach the negatively charged thiolated oligonucleotide to the gold surface. The azide-containing chain also encloses an amide group near the gold surface that could play a role in approaching the thiol group of the oligonucleotide to the gold

surface. This amide group could form a hydrogen bond with one of the hydroxyl groups of the ribose group near the thiol group on the oligonucleotide. **(C)** Determination of the number of TAT chains bound to AuNPs by the EDC reaction as a function of the initial peptide concentration in the reaction mixture. Blue bars AuNP@COOH/N₃ and red bars AuNP@COOH. **(D)** Loading of thiolated oligonucleotide (HS-dsRNA) on AuNPs functionalized with TAT peptide and with both PEG-azide and PEG-COOH and only with PEG-COOH. Blue bars AuNP@COOH/N₃ and red bars AuNP@COOH (Sanz et al., 2012). Reproduced with permission from Sanz et al. (2012), Copyright 2013.

stimulus-sensitive detachable PEG is a possible solution to overcome these drawbacks, so that cargoes can be released or other ligands unveiled in response to microenvironmental conditions. For instance, Harris et al. functionalized MNPs with a PEG tethered by an MMP-2 cleavable substrate (Harris et al., 2008), being MMP-2 a protease upregulated in angiogenesis and metastasis. Once NPs reached the tumor, the polymer was cleaved, unveiling the cell penetrating peptide, resulting in increased uptake by cells when compared to non-cleavable PEG.

Fluorescent dyes

Several studies report on the modulation of fluorophores at the vicinity of nanoparticles (Kang et al., 2011; Rosa et al., 2011), which has found application in a variety of systems to detect biologically relevant targets.

Several methods based on the quenching of fluorescence have been proposed for DNA detection consisting of fluorophorelabeled ssDNA electrostatically adsorbed onto AuNPs (Ray et al., 2006), where the presence of a complementary target triggers desorption of the newly formed dsDNA from the nanostructures due to the electrostatic variation between ssDNA and dsDNA, and fluorescence emission is restored. Also, fluorescence quenching of fluorophores close to gold nanocarriers functionalized with thiol-modified oligonucleotides has been explored in different conformations (Wu et al., 2006; Tang et al., 2008). Tang et al. proposed a method to probe hydroxyl radicals using an AuNP-oligonucleotide-FAM system where the hydroxyl radical promotes strand breakage and consequent release of FAM, restoring the previously quenched fluorescence (see **Figure 3**) (Tang et al., 2008). The same quenching mechanism was used to detect specific DNA strands using two probes (one with an AuNP label and another labeled with TAMRA) that hybridize to two DNA sequences near each other (Wu et al., 2006), bringing the fluorophore and AuNP close enough to quench fluorescence emission.

Proteins have also been probed through nanoparticle fluorescence-mediated systems, especially for protein detection via quenching, through the interaction with fluorescent AuNPs (Mayilo et al., 2009; He et al., 2010; Lacerda et al., 2010). Due to their efficient proximity-dependent fluorescence quenching they can be used *per se* or as part of more elaborate conjugates (i.e., with QDs) (Pons et al., 2007). One example is the work of De et al. where the interaction between AuNPs and the green fluorescent protein (GFP) was employed to detect proteins in



FIGURE 3 | Fluorescent-AuNPs. (A) Chemical structure of a FAM–DNA–AuNP and schematic illustration of its FRET-based operating principles. **(B–E)** Confocal fluorescence and phase-contrast images of living cells. **(B)** Fluorescence image of macrophages incubated with the probe for 30 min at 37°C. **(C)** Fluorescence image of probe-stained

macrophages stimulated with PMA for 1 h at 37°C. (D) Bright field image of live macrophages shown in (C), confirming their viability. (E) AO staining of probe-loaded macrophages, confirming their viability (Tang et al., 2008). Reproduced with permission from Tang et al. (2008), Copyright 2013.

biological matrices, such as serum (De et al., 2009). By correlating the variation in fluorescence intensity with specific proteins of interest, they were able to identify proteins such as fibrinogen, human serum albumin and immunoglobin G, among others with over 97% accuracy.

In essence, fluorescent-nanoparticle systems can be used for sensing by exploring a typical FRET in order to provide efficient *in vivo* detection and tumor targeting. These nanocarriers symbolize an important class of materials with unique features suitable for biomedical imaging applications such as increased sensitivity in detection, high quantum yields for fluorescence and a bounty of novel applications in optics and nanophotonics for molecular diagnostics (Conde et al., 2012d).

QDs are often used as fluorescent molecules *per se*, since they are semiconductor nanoparticles with narrow, tunable, symmetrical emission spectra and high quantum yields (Weller, 1993; Bruchez et al., 1998). These characteristics were evidenced by Wu et al. using QDs modified with different cellular antigens enabling the simultaneous detection of two different targets in the same cell (Wu et al., 2003). It was also shown their higher brightness and photobleaching resistance when compared to organic dyes. These properties make QDs exceptional substitutes as fluorescence labels (Xing et al., 2006; Smith et al., 2010; Smith and Nie, 2012).

The inclusion of dyes onto MNPs allows the creation of multifunctional NPs, which might be used for MRI and optical imaging. These dual MNPs allow for multimodal imaging, which implies that the limitations of one imaging modality could be compensated by the other, creating a complementary effect (Louie, 2010). For instance, Medarova and co-workers reported the synthesis of a multifunctional MNP that included near-infrared optical imaging dye, peptides for membrane translocation and synthetic siRNA targeting a specific gene (Medarova et al., 2007). *In vivo* accumulation of the MNPs was assessed by MRI and optical imaging and the silencing efficiency was also probed by *in vivo* optical imaging.

Nucleic acids

Watson and Crick first described DNA as two helical chains each coiled around the same axis, consisting of simple and repeating units called nucleotides with backbones made of sugars and phosphate groups joined by ester bonds that run in opposite directions to each other. The importance of this molecule within living cells is undisputable (Watson and Crick, 1953). Besides their biological function, nucleic acids can be employed as polymeric molecules which will bind specifically to targets thanks to Watson–Crick base pairing (Fichou and Ferec, 2006).

Mirkin et al. (1996) described the use of a cross-linking method that relies on the detection of single-stranded oligonucleotide targets using two different gold nanoprobes, each of them functionalized with a DNA-oligonucleotide complementary to one half of the given target. This functionalization was achieved using the strong affinity of thiol or disulfide groups to the gold surface of the NPs, forming quasi-covalent bonds. By modifying a nucleic acid molecule with a thiol group in either the 5' or the 3' end it is possible to fine-tune the DNA assembly into the gold surface (Hurst et al., 2006), controlling variables such as salt concentration, oligo/NP ratio or nanoparticle size. This phenomenon indicates the potential of AuNPs modified with DNAs to be applied in biosensing or as DNA probes for diagnosis (Cao et al., 2005). These assays became an important mark in detection once they have PCR-like sensitivity, selectivity for target sequences, capacity for massive multiplexing, and most importantly, have the ability to be performed at the point of care.

Using a fluorescence-based method, Demers et al., have determined the number of thiol-derivatized single-stranded oligonucleotides bound to AuNPs and their extent of hybridization with complementary oligonucleotides in solution (Demers et al., 2000). Also, using a fluorescence method, Conde et al. reported the potential of a single molecular nanoconjugate to intersect all RNA pathways: from gene specific downregulation to silencing the silencers, i.e., siRNA and miRNA pathways, by using gold nanobeacons (**Figure 4**). These nanoconjugates functionalized



nanobeacons. (A) Specific Au-nanobeacons are capable of intersecting miRNA pathway, leading to recovery of previously downregulated gene expression while simultaneously discriminating cells where silencing is occurring. The fluorescence signal may allow for tracking cell internalization and sub-cellular localization. The Au-nanobeacons' potential for anti-cancer therapeutics via the silencing of the silencers is demonstrated by blocking the endogenous microRNA pathway via an Anti-miR Au-nanobeacon complementary to the

mature microRNA-21 (miR-21), commonly upregulated in cancer phenotypes. **(B,C)** Au-nanobeacons silencing of endogenous silencers—silencing of miR-21. Confocal imaging (scale bar, 10 μ m) shows internalization of 50 nM **(B)** Anti-miR Au-nanobeacon 50 nM and **(C)** Nonsense Au-nanobeacon. Target (mature miR-21) recognition leads to change of Anti-miR Au-nanobeacon conformation in the cytoplasm with concomitant fluorescence signal (red, Cy3) encircling the cell nuclei (blue, DAPI) (Conde et al., 2013b). Reproduced with permission from Conde et al. (2013b), Copyright 2013.

with a fluorophore labeled hairpin-DNA are capable of efficiently silencing single gene expression, exogenous siRNA and an endogenous miRNA while yielding a quantifiable fluorescence signal directly proportional to the level of silencing. Inhibition of gene expression was achieved with concomitant increase of the gold nanobeacons' fluorescence that can be used to assess the silencing effect (Rosa et al., 2012; Conde et al., 2013a,b, 2014b).

Moreover, AuNPs functionalized with ssDNA are also capable of specifically hybridizing to a complementary target for the detection of a particular nucleic acid sequence in biological samples (Sato et al., 2003; Storhoff et al., 2004; Baptista et al., 2005; Thaxton et al., 2006). The impact of advances in these nanoparticle-based assays for specific detection of bioanalytes of clinical interest is particularly relevant in bioliagnostics, making them ideal candidates for developing biomarker platforms.

However, nucleic acid molecules are also capable of establishing ionic interaction in gold surface. It has been shown that both thiol-ssDNA and dsDNA stabilize gold nanoparticle dispersions, but possible non-specific interactions between the hydrophobic DNA bases and the gold surface promote interparticle interactions and cause aggregation within a short period of time (Cardenas et al., 2006). The charge repulsion among DNA strands and between DNA and AuNPs can be reduced by adding salt, reducing pH or by using non-charged peptide nucleic acid (PNA) (Zhang et al., 2012b).

Moreover, Conde et al. reported the design of two approaches (see **Figure 5**) for the binding of siRNA molecules to multifunctional AuNPs: (**Figure 5A**) the binding of the negatively charged siRNA through ionic interactions to the modified gold surface (ionic approach) and (**Figure 5B**) the use of thiolated siRNA for the binding to the nanoparticle through the strong interaction gold-thiol (covalent approach) (Conde et al., 2012a). The covalent approach was evaluated in a lung cancer mouse model

to evaluate the inflammatory response and therapeutic siRNA silencing via RGD-nanoparticles. This study reported the use of siRNA/RGD gold nanoparticles capable of targeting tumor cells in two lung cancer xenograft mouse models, resulting in successful and significant *c-Myc* oncogene downregulation followed by tumor growth inhibition and prolonged survival of the animals (Conde et al., 2013c).

Modulation of the physicochemical properties of the gold nanocarriers can be easily achieved by adequate synthetic strategies and give AuNPs advantages over conventional detection methods currently used in clinical diagnostics and therapy. Simple and inexpensive methods based on these bio-nanoprobes were initially applied for detection of specific DNA sequences and are currently being expanded to clinical diagnosis (Baptista et al., 2008).

QDs have also been functionalized with nucleic acids and extensively used as DNA sensors (Crut et al., 2005; Dubertret, 2005; Zhang et al., 2005a; Choi et al., 2009; Ye et al., 2009; Zhang and Hu, 2010). For *in vitro* test of target DNA, QDs based FRET pairs turned out to be of great use. The method developed by Zhang et al. using QDs-Cy5-labeled reporter oligonucleotide conjugates, capable of detecting low concentrations of DNA in a separation-free format. This system uses QDs linked to DNA probes to capture DNA targets and successfully detect a point mutation (Zhang et al., 2005a).

Owing to their unique optical properties, QDs have also been applied for multiplex detection of analytes with singlemolecule detection. Zhang et al. reported the use of a single QD-based nanosensor for multiplex detection of HIV-1 and HIV-2 at single-molecule level in a homogeneous format (Zhang and Hu, 2010). These QD-based nanosensors have several advantages such as extremely low sample consumption, high sensitivity, short analysis time and have the potential to be applied for rapid



FIGURE 5 | Gold nanoparticles functionalized with multiple biomolecules: PEG, cell penetration peptide (TAT), ammonium quaternary groups, and siRNA. Two different approaches were employed to conjugate the siRNA to the AuNPs: (A) ionic approach, interaction of the negatively charged siRNA to the modified surface of the AuNPs through ionic interactions; (B) covalent approach, use of thiolated siRNA for gold thiol binding to the NPs.

point-of-care testing, gene expression studies, high-throughput screening, and clinical diagnostics.

When modified with DNA, QDs were successfully employed in the detection of respective complementary DNA strands via FRET. Sub-nanomolar detection limits have been reported (Zhou et al., 2008a; Singh and Strouse, 2010). The strategy success is directly related to the covalent coupling of the nucleic acid molecule to the QD, controlling the donor-acceptor distance, fundamental in FRET-based biosensors.

QDs can also be used in gene delivery. Jin-Ming Li et al. developed a series of QDs functionalized with β -cyclodextrin coupled to amino acids. Using the β -cyclodextrin as a vector for delivering doxorubicin (DOX) and electrostatically binding MDR1 siRNA, this strategy allowed for simultaneous chemotherapy and gene silencing. The authors observed that in HeLa cells it was possible to induce apoptosis due to the intracellular accumulation of Dox and also reduced levels of MDR1 gene expression. These multifunctional QDs are promising vehicles for the co-delivery of nucleic acids and chemotherapeutics, as well as for real-time tracking of treatment (Li et al., 2012). QDs-siRNA conjugates have also been used for imaging and gene silencing approaches (Derfus et al., 2007; Tan et al., 2007; Yezhelyev et al., 2008; Zhao et al., 2010; Li et al., 2011, 2012). For example, Yezhelyev et al. developed multifunctional nanoparticles for siRNA delivery and imaging based on the use of QDs and proton-absorbing polymeric coatings (proton sponges). The authors demonstrated a dramatic improvement in gene silencing efficiency and simultaneous reduction in cellular toxicity, when compared with existing transfection agents. Additionally, QD-siRNA nanoparticles are also dual-modality optical and electron-microscopy probes, allowing real-time tracking and ultrastructural localization of QDs during delivery and transfection (Yezhelyev et al., 2008).

MNPs have also been frequently used as platforms for the delivery of DNA or siRNA, as they can be used to track their biodistribution by MRI. For instance, Kumar et al. synthesized multifunctional MNPs by attaching a near-infrared optical dye Cy5.5 and a peptide that targets the tumor specific antigen mucin-1 to cross-linked dextran coated SPIONs (Kumar et al., 2010). The delivery of the nanosystem to tumors in mice was imaged either *in vivo* or *ex vivo* by MRI and optical imaging.

On the other hand, the functionalization of plasmid DNA and siRNA to MNPs has been widely reported, as MNPs are used as tools for magnetofection, that is to say, the enhanced delivery of nucleic acids associated to MNPs using external magnetic fields (Scherer et al., 2002; Dobson, 2006; Plank et al., 2011). Using magnetofection the transfection efficiency can be highly improved when compared with transfections carried out with non-magnetic gene delivery systems in a variety of primary cells and cell lines (Mykhaylyk et al., 2007; Prijic and Sersa, 2011). Although magnetofection results are promising in vitro, and several studies have reported the systemic delivery of nucleic acids using MNPs in vivo, not many of them use an external magnetic field to enhance the accumulation of the MNPs in the targeted area (Plank et al., 2011). Thus far, the most promising application of magnetofection as an in vivo cancer therapy has been reported by Namiki et al. (2009). The authors formulated oleic acid-coated MNPs assembled with cationic lipid shells, and functionalized them with an appropriate siRNA sequence to knock down the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mRNA, as it is overexpressed in tumor blood vessel endothelium. After systemically injecting the complex to mice tumors, the authors found a 50% reduction in tumor mass when a magnetic field was applied compared to the control group without magnetic field.

Peptides

Peptides are short chains of amino acid monomers linked by amide bonds and are distinguished from proteins on the basis of size, once they only contain \sim 50 amino acids or less. Peptides can be found naturally or synthetically and have the potential for the stabilization and biofunctionalization of NPs. For instance Wang et al. demonstrate that multiple functional peptide stabilized AuNPs are readily obtained in a one-step surface coating procedure and that the surface functionalities can be selectively addressed on a microarray. The authors developed a straightforward route to stable AuNPs, both with single and with dual biological functionality. The particles exhibit the specific recognition properties of the biological cargo without any indication of nonspecific binding or particle aggregation (Wang et al., 2005).

The stability conferred by peptide ligands usually depends on their length, hydrophobicity, and charge and in some cases resulted in further improved stability. Actually, Levy et al. designed a pentapeptide ligand, CALNN, which converts citrate stabilized AuNPs into extremely stable, water-soluble AuNPs with some chemical properties analogous to those of proteins. These peptide-capped AuNPs can be freeze-dried and stored as powders that can be subsequently redissolved to yield stable aqueous dispersions (Levy et al., 2004).

Biofunctional peptide sequences include "membrane translocation signals" like the HIV-TAT peptide sequence (de la Fuente and Berry, 2005; Berry et al., 2007; Conde et al., 2012a), which is capable of transporting nanoscale materials across cellular membranes and "nuclear locating signals" that could be used for further intracellular targeting (Nativo et al., 2008; Chithrani, 2010). In fact, de la Fuente et al. developed AuNPs functionalized with HIV-Tat peptide used to achieve cytoplasm and the cell nucleus. One of the major drawbacks of these cell penetrating peptides is that they are not cell specific and that they can remain entrapped in endosomes (Gump and Dowdy, 2007). To overcome these limitations, fusogenic peptides that are able to escape from endosomes or homing peptides capable of reaching specific tissues or cells have been developed (Li et al., 2004; Ruoslahti et al., 2010).

QDs labeled with these types of peptides have been extensively prepared using various strategies (Chen and Gerion, 2004; Cai and Chen, 2008; Curnis et al., 2008). For example, Akerman et al. show that ZnS-capped CdSe QDs coated with a lung-targeting peptide accumulate in the lungs of mice after intravenous injection, whereas two other peptides specifically direct QDs to blood or lymphatic vessels in tumors (Akerman et al., 2002). Curnis et al. also found that a cyclic Ciso DGRC peptide coupled to QDs could bind alphavbeta 3 integrin and co-localize with several antibodies in human renal cell carcinoma tissue sections, indicating that this peptide could efficiently recognize endothelial cells of angiogenic vessels (Curnis et al., 2008). Cai et al. also used a thiolated arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD) peptide to conjugate to the QDs and applied the QDs peptide bioconjugates for tumor vasculature targeted imaging (Cai and Chen, 2008). However, if crossing the vascular wall is needed, these RGD peptides need to be improved. The Ruoshlati group reported a cyclic peptide iRGD that can combine the tumor-homing RGD sequence with a tissue penetration motif (Sugahara et al., 2009). Therefore, the homing sequence directs the peptide to the tumor vascular endothelium, while the tissue penetration motif, once activated by a protease, binds to a different receptor (neuropilin-1), which mediates extravasation and tissue penetration. As a proof of concept, iRGD peptide-linked iron oxide nanoworms could be detected by MRI throughout a tumor once injected in vivo to mice. Recently, the same group combined two different peptides with the magnetic nanoworms to image and treat mice with glioblastoma, one of the most difficult tumors to treat (Agemy et al., 2011). While the CGKRG peptide targets the NPs to tumor vascular cells and into their mitochondria, the other peptide acts as a pro-apoptotic drug. By co-injecting these NPs with iRGD, most of the tumors were eradicated or their development delayed in two glioblastoma mouse models.

Despite the extraordinary rapid development in strategies for nanoparticle conjugation with peptides, relatively little is known about NP behavior in the immune system, which is responsible for maintaining body integrity and preventing external invasion. Bastus et al. described the interaction between murine bone marrow macrophages and gold nanoparticle peptide conjugates. In the presence of conjugates, macrophage proliferation was stopped and pro-inflammatory cytokines were induced. Furthermore, macrophage activation by AuNPs conjugated to different peptides appeared to be rather independent of peptide length and polarity, but dependent on peptide pattern at the nanoparticle surface (Bastus et al., 2009).

Proteins/antibodies

In Bionanotechnology, specific functions of proteins such as antibody–antigen detection may also be very useful. Antibodies (Abs) or immunoglobulins are a group of proteins that have a very similar structure with four chains assembled in a Y shaped form, containing two identical domains for antigen recognition (Fab fragment), and two identical domains with effector functions (Fc fragment). The main advantage of Abs or their fragments is that the antigen-binding region is highly specific and different among Abs (Arruebo et al., 2009). Therefore, different specificity can be obtained using distinct Abs. However, attachment of Abs to the surface of NPs can impair this function if the antigen binding sites are sterically blocked upon conjugation. For this reason, the Abs orientation is extremely important to produce effective and bioactive antibody-nanoparticles.

In fact, de la Fuente et al. recently demonstrated that the combination of a good Ab orientation along with the property of a gold nanoprism to generate heat when illuminated with the correct wavelength enable visual detection of carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) by plasmonic-driven thermal sensing with sensitivities up to the attomolar range in serum samples (Polo et al., 2013).

Immunoassays use the specificity and sensitivity of the antibody-antigen interaction in order to detect and quantify the amount of a specific analyte present in a sample. Effective conjugated antibodies can be used to constitute the desired functionality of the nanocarrier itself for immunoassays (Han et al., 2003). Actually, Putman et al. described the use of immunogold labels as cell-surface markers of human lymphocytes in atomic force microscopy. The AFM images reveal the colloidal gold particles on the cell surface, with and without silver enhancement. Individual immunogold particles are clearly resolved from the cell surface thus determining the location of antigens (Putman et al., 1993).

Ni et al. described an immunoassay readout method based on surface enhanced Raman scattering (SERS). The method exploits the SERS-derived signal from reporter molecules that are co-immobilized with biospecific species on gold colloids. This concept is demonstrated in a dual analyte sandwich assay, in which two different antibodies covalently bound to a solid substrate specifically capture two different antigens from an aqueous sample. The captured antigens in turn bind selectively to their corresponding detection antibodies. The detection antibodies are conjugated with gold colloids that are labeled with different Raman reporter molecules, which serve as extrinsic labels for each type of antibody (Ni et al., 1999).

More recently, Conde et al. developed a highly sensitive probe for *in vivo* tumor recognition with the capacity to target specific cancer biomarkers such as EGFR on human cancer cells and xenograft tumor models. The authors used ~90 nm AuNPs capped by a Raman reporter, encapsulated and entrapped by larger polymers and a Food and drug Administration (FDA) antibody–drug conjugate—Cetuximab (Erbitux®). These smart SERS gold nanoantennas present a high Raman signal both in cancer cells and in mice bearing xenograft tumors and the Raman detection signal is accomplished simultaneously by extensive tumor growth inhibition in mice. This approach seems to be an innovative and efficient theranostics system for both tumor detection and tumor cell inhibition at the same time (Conde et al., 2014a).

QD-Antibody conjugates have also been widely used for preparing bioconjugated QDs for *in vitro* bioassay applications (Goldman et al., 2002; Hua et al., 2006; Tan et al., 2007; East et al., 2011). In fact, Goldman et al. described the preparation and characterization of bioinorganic conjugates made with highly luminescent semiconductor CdSe-ZnS core-shell QDs and antibodies for use in fluoroimmunoassays. QD-antibody conjugates were successfully used in fluoroimmunoassays for detection of a protein toxin (staphylococcal enterotoxin B) and a small molecule (2,4,6-trinitrotoluene) (Goldman et al., 2002).

Concerning magnetic NPs, bioseparation is one of the main applications of MNP-Ab conjugates. In fact, magnetic separation of red blood cells using magnetic microspheres was reported as early as 1977 (Molday et al., 1977). MNPs are used to purify and concentrate different types of analytes in complex samples, such as hormones in biological samples, antibiotics or bacteria in food (Kuo et al., 2012; Svobodova et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2012). One of the best known systems that employ MNPs for separation and concentration is the bio-bar code technology originally described by Nam et al. (2003). In this case, Abs specific for a target protein are functionalized on the surface of MNPs, by sandwiching the target between these MNPs and an amplifier AuNPs that is loaded with a secondary Ab and oligonucleotides. When the specific target is sandwiched between the MNP and the AuNP, magnetic separation of the complexed probes allows for the concentration of the target within the sample. Afterwards, the oligonucleotides are released and detected, giving rise to a substantial amplification of the signal, and therefore lowering the detection limit to attomolar concentrations (Goluch et al., 2006). In fact, the first point-of-care nano-enabled medical diagnostic tool approved by the FDA, known as Verigene System and commercialized by Nanosphere Inc., is based on this biosensing strategy.

MNPs conjugated with Abs are also useful for the development of a new class of diagnostics nanosensors, called magnetic relaxation switches (MRS). MRS have the potential to provide sensitive and selective detection of a variety of molecular interactions with minimal or no sample preparation (Perez et al., 2002). These assays exploit the fact that when MNPs recognize and bind biological targets, they cluster, changing the spin-spin relaxation times of water protons (T2). These changes in T2 between dispersed and aggregated states of the MNPs can be monitored by nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) (Min et al., 2012). One of the greatest advantages of these biosensors is that they employ radiofrequency radiation which penetrates biological samples regardless of their optical properties, and therefore can be used in complex samples such as blood. Using this technology, Lee et al. reported the first micro NMR biosensor, where tumor cells could be detected employing MNPs functionalized with Abs on microliter sample volumes and in multiplexed format (Lee et al., 2008). Since then, the sensitivity of these biosensors has been greatly improved using other highly magnetic MNPs (Lee et al., 2009), so that molecular profiling of cancer cells obtained by fine-needle aspirates biopsies within 60 min is possible nowadays. Using different markers, the authors reported 96% accuracy for establishing a cancer diagnosis (Haun et al., 2011).

Other proteins have also been successfully conjugated with NPs (Mattoussi et al., 2000; So et al., 2006a,b; Xia et al., 2008; Roullier et al., 2009). Mattoussi et al. first described the electrostatic interactions between negatively charged lipoic acid capped QDs and a positively charged recombinant protein (Mattoussi et al., 2000). Prasuhn et al. also developed a QD protein FRET-based biosensors used as caspase 3 proteolytic and Ca^{2+} sensors (see Figure 6) (Prasuhn et al., 2010).

Similar to nucleic acids, proteins are known for their specific binding interactions and can act together with a wide range of substrates and synthetic analogs. Consequently, high molecular weight peptide ligands show potential for wide biological applications and for stabilization and biofunctionalization of nanocarriers.

Enzymes

Enzymes, as highly specialized protein catalysts, are commonly used in biofunctionalization due to their potential in biotechnology and biomedicine, because of the convenience in handling, ease of separation from the reaction mixture and reuse, as well as low product cost. The immobilization in NPs often reduces diffusion limitations and/or enhances the catalytic activity of the enzymes.

An important focus of the research on AuNPs based biosensors is in enzyme electrodes. One recurrent example is glucose biosensors. Zhang et al. (2005b) described the assembly of a gold electrode modified via Au-S bond with AuNPs, where a cystamine monolayer is chemisorbed, thus exposing an array of amino groups. These are further reacted with aldehyde groups of periodate oxidized glucose oxidase via Scchiff base reaction. In this study, the NPs showed to act as conduction intermediates facilitating electron transfer, with little effect on enzyme activity. It was also shown that the sensitivity was improved as well as the affinity for glucose, hence lowering the detection limits.

In another study, MNPs were modified with Nphosphonomethyl iminodiacetic acid for immobilization of urease. Thus, the surface coating was conferred with carboxyl groups to which urease had been immobilized through carbodiimide reaction (Sahoo et al., 2011). The advantage of using MNPs is the possibility of product isolation by a permanent magnet, thus reducing costs. The authors also reported that the thermal stability of the urease was increased, showing that MNPs may be a promising material for storage and enzyme immobilization.



FIGURE 6 | Quantum dot protein biosensors. (A) Schematic showing the common design, chemical and sensing elements, including FRET-based biosensors: (1) peptide modularity, (2) peptide labeling, (3) attachment to QDs, and (4) FRET-based sensing for both the caspase 3 proteolytic sensor (left) and Ca^{2+} sensor (right). The 4-pendant carboxyl groups that interact with Ca^{2+} ions are shown in red on the CaRbCl structure. Within the Ca^{2+} sensor peptide sequence, Aib is the synthetic amino acid α -aminoisobutyric acid. Reactive dye structures are shown where appropriate along with the chemical linkages attaching them to the peptides. **(B)** Representative, superimposed spectra collected from 550 nm emitting QD donors surface functionalized with 85:15 DHLAPEG600-COOH/DHLA-PEG750-OMe ligands and covalently conjugated to increasing molar ratios of Texas Red-labeled substrate peptide.

Samples excited at 350 nm. **(C)** Proteolytic assay data from exposing a constant concentration of 550 nm emitting QDs conjugated to 4 Texas Red substrate peptides to a constant concentration of caspase 3 enzyme. Derived Km and Vmax values are given. An $R^2 = 0.98$ was obtained for the fitting of the curve. **(D)** Representative, superimposed, and deconvoluted spectra collected from 580 nm emitting QD donors self-assembled with increasing CaRbCl-acceptor labeled peptides. Samples were excited at 350 nm. **(E)** Normalized acceptor/donor PL area ratios for 580 nm QDs self-assembled with ~ 2 CaRbCl-acceptor labeled peptides exposed to selected ionic materials. The ratio from the native unexposed sensor was set to an initial value of 1 for comparison purposes (Prasuhn et al., 2010). Reproduced with permission from Prasuhn et al. (2010), Copyright 2013.

When using enzyme-based biosensors the main concern is reusability of the enzyme. Khoshnevisan et al. reported the use of MNPs to circumvent this dilemma when using cellulase. The enzyme was incubated with the MNPs and binding confirmed by FT-IR. The authors show that immobilization grants higher stability to the enzyme, thus confirming that the use of MNPs in this type of biosensors can be of great benefit (Khoshnevisan et al., 2011).

Imaging QDs in vivo is arduous due to the need of an external source of light, which produces strong background autofluorescence from ubiquitous endogenous chromophores. So et al. proposed the ideal QD, where it would emit light with no requirement for external excitation (So et al., 2006b). By modifying QDs with Renilla reniformis luciferase the authors discard the need of external excitation due to the phenomenon of bioluminescence resonance energy transfer (BRET). BRET occurs naturally and it is analogous to FRET, but the donor energy comes from a chemical reaction catalyzed by the donor enzyme. The polymer coated CdSe/ZnS core-shell QDs dotted with carboxylate groups were incubated with R. reniformis luciferase, where through carbodiimide reaction the amino groups of the enzyme were coupled to the carboxylates. Thus, with a simple modification the authors were able to mimic the natural BRET system with self-illuminating QDs (So et al., 2006b).

Carbohydrates

Carbohydrates are, together with nucleic acids and proteins, important molecules for life. Much is already known about the structure, interactions and function of nucleic acids and proteins, however, the role of carbohydrates in the cell is less clear (de la Fuente and Penades, 2006). A characteristic feature of the biological interactions where carbohydrates are involved is their extreme low affinity that has to be compensated by multivalent presentation of the ligands. Although individual carbohydrate interactions are relatively weak, nature utilized multivalent interactions between the cell surface ligands and their biological receptors to modulate biological events such as the ones related to cell adhesion, normal tissue growth and repair, viral/bacterial infection, signaling transduction, trapping of leucocytes, and cancer transfer. So the decoding of carbohydrate interactions opens up the possibility to employ nanoparticles in diagnostics and/or therapy (Dong, 2011). In fact, the unique physical, chemical and optical properties of the nanocarriers with carbohydrate coating comprise a series of advantages that range from ensuring water solubility, biocompatibility and stability to targeting properties (Garcia et al., 2010).

Among them, gold glyconanoparticles (glycoNPs) have drawn attention owing to their well-defined features, such as watersoluble carbohydrate-functionalized nanoclusters with a promising potential for chemical glycobiology, biomedicine, diagnostics and clinical applications. In the last 10 years, Penades and coworkers have extensively reported a pioneer integration of a glyconanotechnology strategy based on the use of nanoparticles to study and evaluate carbohydrate–carbohydrate, carbohydrate– protein interactions (**Figure 7**) (de la Fuente et al., 2001, 2006; Barrientos et al., 2003; de la Fuente and Penades, 2004, 2006), which could be used as potential tools in anti-adhesive therapy (Rojo et al., 2004), for cell–cell adhesion studies (de la Fuente et al., 2005), prevention of pathogen invasion (Reynolds et al., 2012) and for exploring blood–brain barrier permeability via neuropeptide conjugation (Frigell et al., 2014).

Smaller carbohydrates, such as lactose, glucose and mannose (Otsuka et al., 2001; Reynolds et al., 2006; Schofield et al., 2007; Martinez-Avila et al., 2009) can be thiolated for attachment to AuNPs via ligand exchange. These nanoparticles may be useful as sensitive colorimetric probes for a variety of metal ions. Mannose and lactose have also been used for the reduction of gold salts and stabilization of the nanoparticles. Schofield et al. have shown that thiolated carbohydrate derivatives can be readily assembled on silver and gold NPs. These metal glycoNPs can be used to develop aggregation based colorimetric bioassays (Schofield et al., 2006).

Magnetic glycoNPs with unique properties have also been reported, although in a more limited number (El-Boubbou and Huang, 2011; Marradi et al., 2013). Once carbohydrates are attached on the MNPs, it is crucial that they retain their biological activity. To explore this, plant lectins can be used, as their interaction with carbohydrates is highly selective. The clustering of the MNPs due to the selective recognition of the lectin can be detected using MRS assays (Moros et al., 2010).

Carbohydrates can also be used to target different cells and/or enhance the cellular uptake of NPs in a highly specific way. For instance, Moros et al. functionalized MNPs with glucose and galactose using EDC and studied their interaction with Vero cells *in vitro* (Moros et al., 2012). Although these monosaccharides share the same chemical formula, except for the spatial conformation of the hydroxyl group in C-4, the cell entrance pattern was completely different. While MNPs-glucose entered all throughout the cell, MNPs-galactose remained predominantly in the cell periphery. By preparing a library of MNPs functionalized with different monosaccharides, El-Boubbou et al. were also able to detect, differentiate cancer cells and quantitatively profile their carbohydrate binding abilities by MRI (El-Boubbou et al., 2010).

Carbohydrates have been also conjugated to QDs (Chen et al., 2003; Osaki et al., 2004; Kikkeri et al., 2009; Cai et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2012a). For example, Kikkeri et al. synthesized PEGylated QDs capped with D-mannose, D-galactose, and D-galactosamine to study specific carbohydrate-protein interactions *in vitro* and *in vivo*. These QD-carbohydrates were produced through covalent coupling by 4-maleimidopropanoic acid NHS ester and used for *in vitro* imaging and *in vivo* liver targeting (Kikkeri et al., 2009). Shinchi et al. also developed glycol-QDs by preparing stable sugar-chain-immobilized fluorescent nanoparticles (CdTe/CdS core/shell QDs functionalized with sugar-chain-ligand conjugates, β -galactose- and α -glucose) and their application to the analysis of sugar-chain-protein interactions and cellular imaging (Shinchi et al., 2012).

BIOMOLECULE COUPLING STRATEGIES

Functionalization of NPs with biomolecules has to face several hurdles and surface modifications can have significant impacts on their physical-chemical properties and therapeutic efficacy, once they might alter surface charge, size, hydrophobicity, and targeting skills. One of the biggest challenges is that NPs need to remain stable in solution while the conjugation takes place. However, many NPs may precipitate while being activated, as their stability depends on a delicate balance between attractive and repulsive forces, which can be modified when using different chemicals for their biofunctionalization. Moreover, due to the huge amount of different NPs and biomolecules reported so far, there are no standardized protocols for NP functionalization. Therefore, the choice of a coupling strategy depends on the



stability of the NP, the functional groups, the bioconjugation conditions (pH, temperature, ionic strength, solvent choice, structure of the surfactant) and the biomolecule to attach, among others. Finally, depending on the conjugated biomolecule, it is important to control the orientation, so that the biomolecule remains active once conjugated to the NP.

Biofunctionalization can be achieved using several techniques, such as physical adsorption and electrostatic binding, specific

affinity recognition, and covalent coupling, each of which has its own advantages and disadvantages. In this section of the review, the several coupling strategies for biofunctionalization of gold, MNPs and QDs will be examined.

Covalent strategies

Covalent coupling provides stable and strong binding of the biomolecules to the NPs. Most proteins have amine groups in their surface, so they can be directly conjugated to NPs containing reactive groups such as aldehydes, epoxides or anhydrides (Fuentes et al., 2005; Lu et al., 2008).

On the other hand, coupling of NPs that exhibit amine groups with molecules containing aldehydes or epoxides can also be used. However, some biomolecules such as antibodies, oligonucleotides, carbohydrates or peptides do not include these functional groups, and should be modified prior to the conjugation (Nobs et al., 2004). For instance, carbohydrates present in some antibodies can be oxidized using periodate to generate aldehyde groups that can react with the amino groups present on the NPs surface (Fuentes et al., 2005). Nevertheless, chemical modification may compromise biomolecules' activity, so one of the most frequent ways to conjugate molecules to the NPs is using linker molecules.

EDC coupling reaction. 1-Ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide (EDC) is a zero-length crosslinking agent used to couple carboxyl or phosphate groups to primary amines, which may react with a carboxyl group of a biomolecule, forming an amine-reactive O-acylisourea intermediate. Addition of sulfo-NHS stabilizes the amine-reactive intermediate by converting it to an amine-reactive sulfo-NHS ester. The O-acylisourea intermediate may also react with an amine on a second biomolecule, producing a conjugate of the two biomolecules joined by a stable amide bond. This crosslinker has been used in diverse applications, such as conjugation of carboxyl to amine groups in peptides and proteins, forming amide bonds in peptide synthesis, attaching haptens to carrier proteins and form immunogens, labeling nucleic acids through 5' phosphate groups and creating amine-reactive NHS-esters of biomolecules (Grabarek and Gergely, 1990).

One of the main advantages of EDC coupling is water solubility, which allows direct bioconjugation without prior organic solvent dissolution. On top of that, the excess of reagents and by-products can be easily removed by dialysis or gel-filtration (Sheehan et al., 1965). However, the coupling reaction has to be carried out fast, as the reactive ester that is formed can be rapidly hydrolyzed in aqueous solutions. To increase the stability of this active ester, N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) or Nhydroxysulfoxuccinimide (sulfo-NHS) can be used (Jang and Keng, 2008). Key parameters that should be controlled when using EDC are pH (as hydrolysis is largely dependent on pH), the amount of EDC so that NPs do not aggregate due to loss of electrostatic repulsive forces between NPs, and the ratio EDC/NHS (Nakajima and Ikada, 1995; Sam et al., 2009; Shen et al., 2009).

Using this protocol almost all kinds of molecules (i.e., enzymes, antibodies, peptides, DNA, fluorophores, etc.) may be attached to the nanoparticle surface without prior modification



(see Figure 8) (Pandey et al., 2007; Susumu et al., 2007; Rostro-Kohanloo et al., 2009; Conde et al., 2012a; Lavilla et al., 2012). For instance, using the EDC chemistry, Weissleder and coworkers created a library of MNPs decorated with different synthetic small molecules for the development of magnetofluorescent reporters (Weissleder et al., 2005). Using these fluorescent MNPs it was possible to screen against different cell types or among different physiological states of a cell line. On the other hand, Sanz et al. have reported the effect of biofunctional spacers, such as thiolated PEG chains on the loading of RNA molecules and a positive peptide functionalized by EDC coupling reactions on the surface of AuNPs (Sanz et al., 2012). Lin and coworkers also used EDC to attach CH₃O-PEG-NH₂ to different types of carboxylated NPs (MNPs, QDs) demonstrating that adjusting the ratio EDC/NP it was possible to prepare NPs with 0, 1, or 2 attached PEG molecules (Lin et al., 2008). Similarly, Parak and co-workers also used EDC to attach NH2-PEG-NH2 molecules, varying the molecular weight of the polymer on the surface of AuNPs (Sperling et al., 2006; Pellegrino et al., 2007). The covalent attaching of biofunctional short PEG molecules to the polymer shell produces very stable particles in electrolytic solution. This approach results in stable water-soluble AuNPs (Sanz et al., 2012) and QDs (Ballou et al., 2004) with functional groups, e.g. -COOH or $-NH_2$ on the free ends of PEG molecules. By controlling the EDC ratio, aggregation was prevented. Dhar et al. have exploited the rapid intracellular uptake of AuNPs to deliver and activate cisplatin and achieve efficient cytosolic delivery of platinum(IV) prodrug to lung cancer cells. The AuNPs used in this study were functionalized with thiolated oligonucleotides containing a terminal dodecyl amine for conjugation

with a platinum(IV) compound capable of being tethered to an amine functionalized DNA-AuNP surface via amide linkages (Dhar et al., 2009).

Similarly, conjugation of biomolecules to QDs through coupling reactions with reactive functional groups presented on QDs surface is another common strategy to prepare QD bioconjugates. Actually, carboxylic acid groups can also be added to QDs' surface and subsequently conjugated to biomolecules with primary amine groups through EDC coupling reactions (Cai et al., 2006; Hua et al., 2006; Choi et al., 2009; Wu et al., 2009a; East et al., 2011).

One disadvantage of this type of chemistry is that the presence of both carboxylates and amines on one of the biomolecules to be conjugated with EDC can result in self-polymerization and consequently, loss of effectiveness. For instance, peptides usually contain both types of groups, so if EDC is added in the presence of them, peptides can polymerize. However, Bartczak et al. have used this strategy to coupling of peptides to AuNPs in a onepot way. The authors have shown that the concentration, reaction time, and chemical environment are all critical to achieving the formation of robust, peptide-coated colloidal nanoparticles without aggregation (Bartczak and Kanaras, 2011). Another way to avoid polymerization of the biomolecule is to eliminate the excess of EDC before adding the biomolecule to the NPs solution by magnetic separation in the case of MNPs or gel-filtration for other NPs.

Despite the simplicity of this technique, that does not require prior chemical modification of the biomolecule, it does not guarantee an oriented immobilization in the case of biomolecules with greater structural complexity, such as antibodies. Due to the poor stability of the reactive ester, neutral pH is traditionally used to link covalently antibodies to carboxylated-NPs. At this pH, immobilization mainly occurs through direct covalent binding of the most reactive amine groups of the antibody. Unfortunately, these are the terminal amine moieties of the four Ab polypeptide chains (pKa around 7-8), which are all located in the antigenbinding domain (Puertas et al., 2011). Recently, Puertas et al. described a smart approach that takes advantage of the existing kinetic differences among ionic adsorption processes and covalent reactions in order to assure the oriented covalent attachment of the Ab using EDC chemistry. Briefly, it requires the selection of the best incubations conditions (pH, ionic strength) to promote a fast ionic adsorption of the Ab due to the negative charges of the carboxylic groups of the NP. This ionic adsorption makes possible the orientation of the Ab on the NP surface before irreversible covalent bond formation (Figure 9) (Puertas et al., 2011). Initially, the authors optimized this twostep strategy for magnetic NPs but they have recently extended



(A) Two-step immobilization mechanism proposed when using Ab that bind to the MNPs through the most reactive amines—random immobilization.
 (B) Covalent attachment via the polysaccharide moieties of the antibody to the

MNPs—oriented immobilization. (C) Capacity to capture HRP of the anti-HRP anchored to MNPs by different orientations. The protein content of all anti-HRP-functionalized MNPs was similar (2 μ g Ab per mg MNP) (Puertas et al., 2011). Reproduced with permission from Puertas et al. (2011), Copyright 2013.



application for functionalization of other nanostructured materials, such as gold nanoprisms and carbon nanotubes (Polo et al., 2013).

Maleimide coupling. Maleimide can be used to conjugate primary amines to thiols (Brinkley, 1992) (see Figure 10). The use of maleimide for modification of sulfhydryl groups has been extensively described in the literature (Means and Feeney, 1990). Reaction with sulfhydryl groups generates a stable 3-thiosuccinimidyl ether linkage and occurs normally at pH 6.5–7.5. One of the main limitations is that the maleimide ring may hydrolyze in aqueous buffer to a non-reactive cismaleamic acid derivative over long reaction times or at pH > 8.0. Nevertheless, this type of conjugation shows a lot of potential for a great number of biomolecules that bear reactive thiol or amino groups. This may eventually lead to non-specific bonds and crosslinking between functionalized nanoparticles since a single biomolecule may have several thiol groups (Means and Feeney, 1990; Brinkley, 1992).

Maleimide coupling has been used to conjugate several biomolecules to AuNPs, such as peptides (Oh et al., 2010a; Ravi et al., 2012), chemotherapeutic agents (Hwu et al., 2009), dyes (Zhu et al., 2012a), and DNA (Lee, 2011). In fact, Ba et al. presented a versatile and controlled route to immobilize AuNPs on the surface of living cells, while preserving the sensing and optothermal capabilities of the original colloid, by chemically anchoring the nanoparticles to phospholipids in liposomes via maleimide-thiol reactivity (Ba et al., 2010).

Maleimide coupling was also used to couple DNA (Dubertret et al., 2002), PNAs (Srinivasan et al., 2006), proteins (Wolcott et al., 2006; Bonasio et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2007), and antibodies into QDs (Diagaradjane et al., 2008). To address biocompatibility issues of QDs, Dubertret et al. encapsulated individual nanocrystals in phospholipid block-copolymer micelles conjugated to DNA and demonstrated their function as fluorescent probes (Dubertret et al., 2002). Bonasio et al. also reported the specific and covalent labeling of QDs with a membrane protein and organic fluorophores (Bonasio et al., 2007).

Similarly, MNPs can also be functionalized using the maleimide coupling reaction with PEG (Kuhn et al., 2006), DNA (Nam et al., 2004) or even drugs, such as chlorotoxin (Kievit et al., 2010). Concerning antibodies, this chemistry could be also used with thiol or amino groups on the nanoparticle surface (Lee et al., 2007; Haun et al., 2010). Regarding a thiolated NP, antibodies would bind through their most reactive amine groups and, as previously explained, this could lead to a random orientation with partial loss of the Ab's biological activity.

Instead, maleimide chemistry used with aminated NPs ensures an oriented binding through thiol groups of the Ab. However, as in Abs sulfhydryls are oxidized as disulfides. So it is necessary to selectively reduce the disulfides at the hinge region by a reducing agent (i.e., 2-mercapthoethylamine, mercaptoethanol, dithiotreitol, thiopropyl-agarose). This chemical modification can also be combined with fragmentation of the IgG by the use of proteolytic enzymes (i.e., pepsine, ficin) in order to conjugate small Ab fragments such as F(ab')2 and Fab'.

Click-chemistry reaction. The copper(I)-catalyzed azide-alkyne cycloaddition (CuAAC) click reaction has been recognized as a facile and versatile chemistry for bioconjugation. Azides and alkynes are highly energetic functional groups with particularly narrow distributions of reactivity. Thanks to their weak acid-base properties, they are nearly inert toward biological molecules and toward the reaction conditions found inside living cells. The azide groups are easy to introduce into organic compounds by both nucleophilic and electrophilic processes. One of the most common bioconjugation of azides is the copper catalyzed azide-alkyne cycloaddition (CuAAC) (Wang et al., 2003) (see Figure 11). This reaction features an enormous rate acceleration of 10⁷–10⁸ compared to the uncatalyzed 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition (Himo et al., 2005). This reaction has also been termed the "cream of the crop" of click reactions and is surely responsible for the tremendous popularity of the "click" concept and many simply associate "click chemistry" to mean triazole formation between an azide and alkyne. The reaction occurs at room temperature, showing a high degree of solvent and pH insensitivity, and high chemoselectivity (the azide and alkyne are inert to react with numerous functional groups under the typically mild reaction conditions). In fact, the reaction succeeds over a broad temperature range, is insensitive to aqueous conditions and occurs in a pH range between 4 and 12 (Hein and Fokin, 2010; Le et al., 2010). The copper catalyzed azide-alkyne cycloaddition occurs between an organic azide and a terminal acetylene. The cyclic product is a triazole. The copper catalyst allows the reaction to proceed at room temperature and confers regioselectivity (a reaction in which one direction of bond making or breaking occurs preferentially over all other possible directions), with the 1,4 regioisomer being the only product. The reaction start by the incubation with a mixture of copper(II) (e.g. copper(II) sulfate) and a reducing agent (e.g. sodium ascorbate) to produce Cu(I) in situ (Meldal and Tornoe, 2008; Hong et al., 2009).

Click chemistry sometimes refers to a group of reactions that are fast, simple to use, easy to purify, versatile, regiospecific, and give high product yields. However, the click reaction has a number of limitations. First, like with any cycloaddition, if the azide group is too electron deficient, then it will not undergo the reaction. In other words, the ground state configuration of the azide is far too low to interact with the terminal alkyne (Hein et al., 2008). Secondly, a more common problem is alkyne homocoupling. This phenomenon occurs when an alkyne reacts with a second alkyne instead of the azide. This process can be minimized by using a sterically bulky base that stabilizes the reactive intermediates of the homocoupling reactions. The Cu(I) saturation is rare but can also be a problem, once the alkynes may



chelate the Cu(I)-acetylide complex intermediate that contact with the azide group (Hein et al., 2008). Besides these limitations, one of the most obvious disadvantages is the requirement of a copper catalyst. In fact, an excessive intake of copper can lead to drastic consequences for the human body (e.g. hepatitis, neurological disorders, kidney diseases and Alzheimer's disease) (Wang and Guo, 2006; Hein et al., 2008).

Generally, the click-chemistry reaction has been used to couple AuNPs to proteins (Zhu et al., 2012b), enzymes (Brennan et al., 2006; Kim et al., 2010), fluorophores (Voliani et al., 2011), polymers (Boisselier et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2009), and other small molecules (Fleming et al., 2006). For example, following clickchemistry reaction Fleming et al. were able to conjugate to AuNPs several different alkyne derivatives, such as ferrocene, aniline and PEG (Fleming et al., 2006).

Alkyne-functionalized AuNPs have been also extensively used to detect metal ions in aqueous solutions, such as Cu^{2+} , using click chemistry. This method allows visualization by naked eye of the presence of Cu^{2+} ions by the aggregation of AuNPs as a result of the Cu(I)-catalyzed conjugation between the two functional groups (Zhou et al., 2008b; Xu et al., 2010; Lin et al., 2012).

Another common type of nanoparticles used for clickchemistry bioconjugation is QDs. QDs need to be coated to other chemical species if they are to be used as biomarkers, therapeutic agents or sensors. In fact, water soluble and water QDs have been successfully coated with polymers via click-chemistry reactions (Beaune et al., 2011; Janczewski et al., 2011; Lai and Guan, 2011; Petryayeva and Krull, 2012; Zhang et al., 2012a). Jańczewski et al. reported the use of click-QDs by producing water solubilization of hydrophobic CdSe/ZnS QDs using amphiphilic polymeric coatings. The authors described the preparation of acetylene- and azide-functionalized QDs for "click" chemistry. The method is universal and applicable to any type of nanoparticle stabilized with hydrophobic ligands able to interact (in water) with the alkyl chains present in the coating (Janczewski et al., 2011).

Interestingly, Hao et al. reported a method for labeling viruses via copper-free click chemistry to QDs. The authors linked virions

modified with azide to QDs capable of realizing single-virion tracking, laying the foundation for long-term dynamic visualization of virus infection process (Hao et al., 2012).

Although click chemistry does not appear to be a major type of chemistry for MNPs, some interesting examples can be found in the literature. For instance, Santra and coworkers reported the creation of novel polymeric-metallic nanocomposites when assembling alkylated IONPs with azide polymer fluorescent NPs, obtaining a fluorescence material with enhanced magnetic properties for MRI (Santra et al., 2009). The first example of click MNPs for *in vivo* applications was reported by Bhatia and coworkers (von Maltzahn et al., 2008). Fluorescent MNPs functionalized with a tumor-targeting peptide (Lyp-1) *via* click chemistry were able to stably navigate the systemic circulation, extravasate into tumors and penetrate into the interstitial space to specifically bind to receptors on tumor cells. Weisledder group also reported the introduction of ¹⁸F onto azide-modified MNPs using click-chemistry for *in vivo* PET imaging (Devaraj et al., 2009).

Non-covalent strategies: physical interactions

Physical interactions include electrostatic, hydrophobic and affinity interactions. These interactions have several advantages, such as the ease of functionalization, speed of binding and that neither the biomolecules nor the NPs must be modified in case of electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions. However, conjugation is less stable and reproducible when compared to covalent methods. Moreover, it is difficult to control the amount and orientation of bound molecules.

Ionic coupling. Ionic adsorption provides a simple and straightforward method to functionalize NPs with biomolecules. In fact, biological and polymeric species with an opposite charge can be coupled to NPs (Conde et al., 2012a) or between different opposite charged NPs (Liu et al., 2012). Ionic binding rate mainly depends on the amount of charges present on the NPs and the biomolecules, as the binding is made by multiple point (multipunctual). Therefore, when binding complex molecules such as antibodies or proteins, the isoelectric point should be considered, as their net charge would depend on it.

Ionic coupling has been traditionally used to adsorb proteins to NPs (Brewer et al., 2005; Hong et al., 2006; Reed and Metallo, 2010; Guo et al., 2011; Brancolini et al., 2012; Strozyk et al., 2012), as some proteins such as serum albumin can stabilize NPs by preventing aggregation (Brewer et al., 2005). Moreover, proteins can be adsorbed to NPs to increase cellular uptake or specificity toward tumor cells (Chang et al., 2012). Negatively charged hyaluronic acid (HA) was also used to self-assemble onto the positively charged QDs through ionic interactions. For this, Bhang et al. developed a simple and novel electrostatic coupling method, which provides a HA-QD conjugate with cancer targeting efficiency to use in diagnostic and imaging applications. These conjugates were also effective for fluorescence staining of lymphatic vessels *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Bhang et al., 2009).

Despite the ease of this conjugation method, the native structure of the adsorbed proteins may be affected (Lacerda et al., 2010), which could ultimately result in loss of biological activity or even cellular toxicity (Vertegel et al., 2004; Deng et al., 2011).



Other examples of biological applications are the coupling of negatively charged DNA (Thomas and Klibanov, 2003; Ghosh et al., 2008; Conde et al., 2012b) or siRNA (Elbakry et al., 2009; Guo et al., 2010; Conde et al., 2012a; Zhao et al., 2012a) to positively charged NPs (Figure 12) (Huschka et al., 2012). In fact, Conde et al. reported functionalization of siRNA by ionic coupling to a positively charged layer formed by quaternary ammonium groups (R₄N⁺). Ionic interactions between the negatively charged siRNA backbone (via phosphate groups) and quaternary ammonium positively charged groups ensured binding of siRNA onto the AuNPs' surface for the whole pH range. Using a hierarchical approach including three biological systems of increasing complexity, in vitro cultured human cells, in vivo freshwater polyp (Hydra vulgaris) and in vivo healthy mice model, these authors identified the most adequate nanoparticles to efficiently transport siRNAs. The results evidenced the importance of a correct design in the functionalization of nanoparticles for biological applications, in particular for complex animal systems, such as mice. The ionic linkage of siRNA on the AuNPs showed efficiency in cells and in Hydra. However, only a covalent bond ensured an active and efficient RNAi mechanism in mice (Conde et al., 2012a). Similarly, Li et al. reported the development of QDs-DNA complexes that are disrupted and DNA released by glutathione (GSH) at intracellular concentrations (Li et al., 2008).

As extensively reviewed by others (Montenegro et al., 2013), conjugation of Abs to NPs may be made with covalent immobilization techniques such as those mentioned before, but also with non-covalent strategies. The most common technique is the electrostatic adsorption of Abs by charge interaction to opposite charged NPs. This ionic adsorption is directly related to the Abs isoelectric point, pH at which they are neutral. Since it depends mainly on the number of charged groups, the Abs immobilized region will be where the greatest number of charges are present (Jung et al., 2008). This method, although of easy implementation, shows several disadvantages. The main concern is the weak pH dependent interaction between the Ab and NP. Any changes to the pH and/or ionic strength may incur in desorption of the Abs molecules. Additionally, the heterogeneous charge distribution and the unexploited charged groups of the Abs can promote non-specific adsorption to matrix proteins, for example competitive displacement caused by serum proteins (van der Voort et al., 2004; Murcia and Naumann, 2005).

Hydrophobic coupling. Hydrophobic interactions have been widely exploited to attach lipophilic drugs to NPs, from where



the drug might be released once inside the cells (Wahajuddin and Arora, 2012). For instance, docetaxel has been easily adsorbed to the oleic acid layer that surrounded hydrophobic MNPs prior to their encapsulation in a polymeric vesicle, providing a controlled drug release profile for a month (Ling et al., 2011). Encapsulation of drugs can also be done adsorbing them to hydrophobic polymers or cyclodextrins for instance (Yallapu et al., 2011) (see **Figure 13**).

Similarly, hydrophobic molecules such as fluorophores can be coupled to NPs. Foy and coworkers coated hydrophobic NPs with amphiphilic polymers, to which they adsorbed five different dyes to determine MNP biodistribution using a mouse xenograft breast tumor model (Foy et al., 2010). Moreover, Kim et al. developed AuNPs functionalized with water-soluble zwitterionic ligands from kinetically stable complexes with hydrophobic drugs and dyes, which are efficiently released into cells (Kim et al., 2009). This coupling method minimizes changes to the surface and allows the creation of NP with dual properties, such as optical and therapeutic, in an easy way.

Proteins and Abs can also be adsorbed to NPs *via* hydrophobic interactions. However, they often suffer from denaturation, leading to poor reproducibility. Hydrophobic interactions with the hydrophobic surfaces of proteins or Abs force a change in the native structure because of exposure of its inner region, which could ultimately results in loss of activity (Zuo et al., 2010; Shemetov et al., 2012). Moreover, regarding ionic binding, controlling the orientation or the amount of bound molecules is difficult to achieve.

Biotin-avidin system. For NPs conjugation, factors such as solubility, charge and all the aforementioned functional groups confer the biotin a relevant importance (Aslan et al., 2004). Biotinylation of NPs and biological molecules nowadays is fairly common as biotin can be synthesized to have a distal amine, thiol, carboxyl and other functional groups, simplifying the conjugation (Hermanson, 2008). However, to avoid a random immobilization of structural complex biomolecules such as proteins, it is compulsory to achieve a site specific biotinilation. Concerning antibodies, for example, biotinilation must be carried out within its Fc region via the carbohydrates moieties or via thiols obtained after reduction of the disulfides located in the hinge region (Cho et al., 2007).

Genetic engineering has also improved biotinylation by recombinantly introducing biotin labeling sites into fusion proteins (Cronan, 1990; Cull and Schatz, 2000). Nowadays several companies offer biomolecules and NPs modified with biotin or avidin species. The high-affinity of the avidin-biotin interaction



 $(K_d \text{ around } 10^{-14})$ has made it perfect for the development of NPs-based biosensors. The main method of bioconjugation using avidin-biotin chemistry comprises the functionalization of NPs with avidin, for later incubation with a biotinylated molecule. Since avidin and its variants are zwitterionic molecules, they can be subject to electrostatic adsorption to negatively charged nanoparticles (see section Non-Covalent Strategies: Physical Interactions). The vast number of publications that apply biotinavidin interaction for bioconjugation shows the importance of this strategy. Recently, Feng et al. showed that DNA detection could be improved using streptavidin coated AuNPs (Feng et al., 2013). Another interesting strategy was reported by Oh et al. where by modulating the FRET efficiency between QDs and AuNPs they were able to detect molecules which inhibited the interaction between streptavidin and biotin (Figure 14) (Oh et al., 2005). By capping the AuNPs with polyamidoamine dendrimers, the biotinylation was possible using sulfo-NHS-biotin.

A similar strategy was employed in the biotinylation of MNPs. To achieve a MNPs-PEG-biotin conjugate the NPs were incubated with a phospholipid-PEG-biotin construct. By coupling DC_{14:0} PE (dimyristoylphosphatidylethanolamine) to further activate α -biotinylamido- ω -N-hydroxy-succinimidcarbonyl-PEG, the authors could produce MNPs covered with PEG-biotin. The functionalization was confirmed when binding streptavidin alkaline phosphatase the complexes became highly aggregated (Hodenius et al., 2012).

The strong association between avidin and biotin has made this system a reference for the development and troubleshooting of NPs-based biosensors. It is also a crutch for conjugation of other biomolecules onto the surface of NPs. However, it is important to note that avidin is a glycoprotein with a high isoelectric point (\sim 10). This could cause the unspecific binding of other compounds present in complex biological samples. To overcome this problem, it is preferred the use of streptavidin. As it is purified from a bacteria (Streptomyces avidinii) is not a glycoprotein and has much lower isoelectric point (around 5–6). Besides, the tetrameric nature of each (strept) avidin molecule becomes a problem when control of the Ab stoichiometry is needed. To overtake this problem, it is possible to use recombinant monomerics forms of these proteins but taking into account that the affinity for biotin would be much lower (around 10^{-7} M) (Wu et al., 2009b).

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In the near future, it is expected that the design of nanosystems will revolutionize the medical healthcare field by their application in the development of ultrasensitive and multiplexed diagnostic systems, targeted and remotely controlled drug delivery systems for treatment of diseases, in vivo imaging, tissue/organ regeneration and gene therapy solutions. The last three decades have been an exciting period in the synthesis of inorganic nanoparticles with interesting intrinsic properties for their use in such applications. Indeed, many of these synthetic processes have not only demonstrated proof-of-concept feasibility but progressed to full-scale commercial production. However, optimization of appropriate size scale and batch-to-batch reproducible synthetic procedures of NPs with unique optical or magnetic properties is not sufficient to ensure biomedical application. For this, functionalization of the NPs with biomolecules is crucial in order to impart biological recognition and interaction skills.

Selecting the most adequate biofunctionalization strategy is no mean feat, since no universal methodologies exist to cover the wide variety of inorganic nanoparticles and biomolecules available for this purpose. A functionalization protocol that works well for one type of NP may not work for another, since they could be very different in terms of size, charge, surface area, colloidal stability, density and type of reactive groups, etc. Furthermore, biomolecules vary significantly in terms of size, chemical composition, 3D complexity and location of its biological active site. As discussed along this review, in absence of standard functionalization protocols, each particular case (nanoparticle + biomolecule) requires optimization. Thus, in addition to the development of "smart" multifunctionalization strategies, it is vital to focus on the synthesis of "smart" nanoparticles over the next decade. These NPs should be able to deliver a therapeutic agent based on environmental causes or remote stimulus and with the capability to temporarily adapt their size, shape, surface chemistry, wettability and adhesive properties to surrounding environments. These long-term goals would allow an overall impact on the medical field with significant advances in patient screening, monitoring, diagnosis, staging, and treatment.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

João Conde acknowledges Marie Curie International Outgoing Fellowship (FP7-PEOPLE-2013-IOF, Project no. 626386). Pedro V. Baptista thanks CIGMH/FCT/MCES (PEst-OE/SAU/UI0009/2011-14). Jesus M. de la Fuente thanks MAT2011-26851-C02-01, Fondo Social Europeo, ERC-Starting Grant 239931-NANOPUZZLE, CDTI-INMUNOSWING, Shanghai 100 People Plan and ARAID for financial support.

REFERENCES

- Agemy, L., Friedmann-Morvinski, D., Kotamraju, V. R., Roth, L., Sugahara, K. N., Girard, O. M., et al. (2011). Targeted nanoparticle enhanced proapoptotic peptide as potential therapy for glioblastoma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 17450–17455. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1114518108
- Akerman, M. E., Chan, W. C. W., Laakkonen, P., Bhatia, S. N., and Ruoslahti, E. (2002). Nanocrystal targeting *in vivo*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 12617–12621. doi: 10.1073/pnas.152463399
- Algar, W. R., Susumu, K., Delehanty, J. B., and Medintz, I. L. (2011). Semiconductor quantum dots in bioanalysis: crossing the valley of death. *Anal. Chem.* 83, 8826–8837. doi: 10.1021/ac201331r

- Alivisatos, A. P. (1996). Semiconductor clusters, nanocrystals, and quantum dots. Science 271, 933–937. doi: 10.1126/science.271.5251.933
- Alivisatos, A. P., Gu, W. W., and Larabell, C. (2005). Quantum dots as cellular probes. Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 7, 55–76. doi: 10.1146/annurev. bioeng.7.060804.100432
- Arruebo, M., Valladares, M., and Gonzalez-Fernandez, A. (2009). Antibodyconjugated nanoparticles for biomedical applications. J. Nanomater. 2009;439389. doi: 10.1155/2009/439389
- Aslan, K., Luhrs, C. C., and Perez-Luna, V. H. (2004). Controlled and reversible aggregation of biotinylated gold nanoparticles with streptavidin. J. Phys. Chem. B 108, 15631–15639. doi: 10.1021/jp036089n
- Ba, H. J., Rodriguez-Fernandez, J., Stefani, F. D., and Feldmann, J. (2010). Immobilization of gold nanoparticles on living cell membranes upon controlled lipid binding. *Nano Lett.* 10, 3006–3012. doi: 10.1021/nl101454a
- Ballou, B., Lagerholm, B. C., Ernst, L. A., Bruchez, M. P., and Waggoner, A. S. (2004). Noninvasive imaging of quantum dots in mice. *Bioconjug.Chem.* 15, 79–86. doi: 10.1021/bc034153y
- Baptista, P. (2009). Cancer nanotechnology prospects for cancer diagnostics and therapy. Curr. Cancer Ther. Rev. 5, 80–88. doi: 10.2174/157339409788166733
- Baptista, P., Doria, G., Henriques, D., Pereira, E., and Franco, R. (2005). Colorimetric detection of eukaryotic gene expression with DNAderivatized gold nanoparticles. J. Biotechnol. 119, 111–117. doi: 10.1016/ j.jbiotec.2005.02.019
- Baptista, P., Pereira, E., Eaton, P., Doria, G., Miranda, A., Gomes, I., et al. (2008). Gold nanoparticles for the development of clinical diagnosis methods. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 391, 943–950. doi: 10.1007/s00216-007-1768-z
- Barakat, N. S. (2009). Magnetically modulated nanosystems: a unique drug-delivery platform. *Nanomedicine (Lond.)* 4, 799–812. doi: 10.2217/ nnm.09.66
- Barrientos, A. G., de la Fuente, J. M., Rojas, T. C., Fernandez, A., and Penades, S. (2003). Gold glyconanoparticles: synthetic polyvalent ligands mimicking glycocalyx-like surfaces as tools for glycobiological studies. *Chemistry* 9, 1909–1921. doi: 10.1002/chem.200204544
- Bartczak, D., and Kanaras, A. G. (2011). Preparation of peptide-functionalized gold nanoparticles using one pot edc/sulfo-nhs coupling. *Langmuir* 27, 10119–10123. doi: 10.1021/la2022177
- Bastus, N. G., Sanchez-Tillo, E., Pujals, S., Farrera, C., Lopez, C., Giralt, E., et al. (2009). Homogeneous conjugation of peptides onto gold nanoparticles enhances macrophage response. ACS Nano 3, 1335–1344. doi: 10.1021/nn8008273
- Beaune, G., Tamang, S., Bernardin, A., Bayle-Guillemaud, P., Fenel, D., Schoehn, G., et al. (2011). Luminescence of polyethylene glycol coated cdsete/zns and inp/zns nanoparticles in the presence of copper cations. *Chemphyschem* 12, 2247–2254. doi: 10.1002/cphc.201100266
- Bellucci, S. (2009). Nanoparticles and Nanodevices in Biological Applications. Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer.
- Berry, C. C. (2009). Progress in functionalization of magnetic nanoparticles for applications in biomedicine. J. Phys. D Appl. Phys. 42:224003. doi: 10.1088/0022-3727/42/22/224003
- Berry, C. C., de la Fuente, J. M., Mullin, M., Chu, S. W., and Curtis, A. S. (2007). Nuclear localization of HIV-1 tat functionalized gold nanoparticles. *IEEE Trans. Nanobiosci.* 6, 262–269. doi: 10.1109/TNB.2007.908973
- Bertrand, N., and Leroux, J. C. (2012). The journey of a drug-carrier in the body: an anatomo-physiological perspective. J. Control. Release 161, 152–163. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.09.098
- Bhadra, D., Bhadra, S., Jain, P., and Jain, N. K. (2002). Pegnology: a review of PEGylated systems. *Pharmazie* 57, 5–29.
- Bhang, S. H., Won, N., Lee, T. J., Jin, H., Nam, J., Park, J., et al. (2009). Hyaluronic acid-quantum dot conjugates for *in vivo* lymphatic vessel imaging. ACS Nano 3, 1389–1398. doi: 10.1021/nn900138d
- Boeneman, K., Deschamps, J. R., Buckhout-White, S., Prasuhn, D. E., Blanco-Canosa, J. B., Dawson, P. E., et al. (2010). Quantum dot DNA bioconjugates: attachment chemistry strongly influences the resulting composite architecture. ACS Nano 4, 7253–7266. doi: 10.1021/nn1021346
- Boisselier, E., Salmon, L., Ruiz, J., and Astruc, D. (2008). How to very efficiently functionalize gold nanoparticles by "click" chemistry. *Chem. Commun. (Camb.)* 5788–5790. doi: 10.1039/b812249k
- Bonasio, R., Carman, C. V., Kim, E., Sage, P. T., Love, K. R., Mempel, T. R., et al. (2007). Specific and covalent labeling of a membrane protein with

organic fluorochromes and quantum dots. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 14753–14758. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0705201104

- Brancolini, G., Kokh, D. B., Calzolai, L., Wade, R. C., and Corni, S. (2012). Docking of ubiquitin to gold nanoparticles. ACS Nano 6, 9863–9878. doi: 10.1021/nn303444b
- Brennan, J. L., Hatzakis, N. S., Tshikhudo, T. R., Dirvianskyte, N., Razumas, V., Patkar, S., et al. (2006). Bionanoconjugation via click chemistry: the creation of functional hybrids of lipases and gold nanoparticles. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 17, 1373–1375. doi: 10.1021/bc0601018
- Brewer, S. H., Glomm, W. R., Johnson, M. C., Knag, M. K., and Franzen, S. (2005). Probing BSA binding to citrate-coated gold nanoparticles and surfaces. *Langmuir* 21, 9303–9307. doi: 10.1021/la050588t
- Brinkley, M. (1992). A brief survey of methods for preparing protein conjugates with dyes, haptens, and cross-linking reagents. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 3, 2–13. doi: 10.1021/bc00013a001
- Bruchez, M., Moronne, M., Gin, P., Weiss, S., and Alivisatos, A. P. (1998). Semiconductor nanocrystals as fluorescent biological labels. *Science* 281, 2013–2016. doi: 10.1126/science.281.5385.2013
- Cai, W. B., and Chen, X. Y. (2008). Preparation of peptide-conjugated quantum dots for tumor vasculature-targeted imaging. *Nat. Protoc.* 3, 89–96. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.478
- Cai, W. B., Shin, D. W., Chen, K., Gheysens, O., Cao, Q. Z., Wang, S. X., et al. (2006). Peptide-labeled near-infrared quantum dots for imaging tumor vasculature in living subjects. *Nano Lett.* 6, 669–676. doi: 10.1021/nl052405t
- Cai, X. J., Li, X. H., Liu, Y. W., Wu, G. N., Zhao, Y. C., Chen, F., et al. (2012). Galactose decorated acid-labile nanoparticles encapsulating quantum dots for enhanced cellular uptake and subcellular localization. *Pharm. Res.* 29, 2167–2179. doi: 10.1007/s11095-012-0745-1
- Cao, Y., Jin, R., and Mirkin, C. A. (2001). DNA-modified core-shell Ag/Au nanoparticles. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 123, 7961–7962. doi: 10.1021/ja011342n
- Cao, Y. C., Jin, R., and Mirkin, C. A. (2002). Nanoparticles with Raman spectroscopic fingerprints for DNA and RNA detection. *Science* 297, 1536–1540. doi: 10.1126/science.297.5586.1536
- Cao, Y. C., Jin, R., Thaxton, C. S., and Mirkin, C. A. (2005). A two-colorchange, nanoparticle-based method for DNA detection. *Talanta* 67, 449–455. doi: 10.1016/j.talanta.2005.06.063
- Cardenas, M., Barauskas, J., Schillen, K., Brennan, J. L., Brust, M., and Nylander, T. (2006). Thiol-specific and nonspecific interactions between DNA and gold nanoparticles. *Langmuir* 22, 3294–3299. doi: 10.1021/la0530438
- Chang, J., Paillard, A., Passirani, C., Morille, M., Benoit, J. P., Betbeder, D., et al. (2012). Transferrin adsorption onto PLGA nanoparticles governs their interaction with biological systems from blood circulation to brain cancer cells. *Pharm. Res.* 29, 1495–1505. doi: 10.1007/s11095-011-0624-1
- Chen, F. Q., and Gerion, D. (2004). Fluorescent CdSe/ZnS nanocrystal-peptide conjugates for long-term, nontoxic imaging and nuclear targeting in living cells. *Nano Lett.* 4, 1827–1832. doi: 10.1021/nl049170q
- Chen, Y. F., Ji, T. H., and Rosenzweig, Z. (2003). Synthesis of glyconanospheres containing luminescent CdSe-ZnS quantum dots. *Nano Lett.* 3, 581–584. doi: 10.1021/nl034086g
- Chithrani, D. B. (2010). Intracellular uptake, transport, and processing of gold nanostructures. *Mol. Membr. Biol.* 27, 299–311. doi: 10.3109/ 09687688.2010.507787
- Cho, I. H., Paek, E. H., Lee, H., Kang, J. Y., Kim, T. S., and Paek, S. H. (2007). Site-directed biotinylation of antibodies for controlled immobilization on solid surfaces. *Anal. Biochem.* 365, 14–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ab.2007.02.028
- Choi, Y., Kim, H. P., Hong, S. M., Ryu, J. Y., Han, S. J., and Song, R. (2009). In situ visualization of gene expression using polymer-coated quantum-dot-DNA conjugates. Small 5, 2085–2091. doi: 10.1002/smll.200900116
- Conde, J., Ambrosone, A., Sanz, V., Hernandez, Y., Marchesano, V., Tian, F., et al. (2012a). Design of multifunctional gold nanoparticles for *in vitro* and *in vivo* gene silencing. ACS Nano 6, 8316–8324. doi: 10.1021/nn3030223
- Conde, J., Bao, C., Cui, D., Baptista, P. V., and Tian, F. (2014a). Antibody–drug gold nanoantennas with Raman spectroscopic fingerprints for *in vivo* tumour theranostics. *J. Control. Release* 183, 87–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.03.045
- Conde, J., Baptista, P. V., Hernandez, Y., Sanz, V., and de la Fuente, J. M. (2012b). Modification of plasmid DNA topology by "histone-mimetic" gold nanoparticles. *Nanomedicine (Lond.)* 7, 1657–1666. doi: 10.2217/nnm.12.21
- Conde, J., Doria, G., and Baptista, P. (2012c). Noble metal nanoparticles applications in cancer. J. Drug Deliv. 2012:751075. doi: 10.1155/2012/751075

- Conde, J., Larguinho, M., Cordeiro, A., Raposo, L. R., Costa, P. M., Santos, S., et al. (2014b). Gold-nanobeacons for gene therapy: evaluation of genotoxicity, cell toxicity and proteome profiling analysis. *Nanotoxicology* 8, 521–532. doi: 10.3109/17435390.2013.802821
- Conde, J., Rosa, J., and Baptista, P. (2013a). Gold-nanobeacons as a theranostic system for the detection and inhibition of specific genes. *Protoc. Exch.* doi: 10. 1038/protex.2013.088
- Conde, J., Rosa, J., de la Fuente, J. M., and Baptist, P. V. (2013b). Gold-nanobeacons for simultaneous gene specific silencing and intracellular tracking of the silencing events. *Biomaterials* 34, 2516–2523. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012. 12.015
- Conde, J., Rosa, J., Lima, J. C., and Baptista, P. V. (2012d). Nanophotonics for molecular diagnostics and therapy applications. *Int. J. Photoenergy* 2012, 1–11. doi: 10.1155/2012/619530
- Conde, J., Tian, F., Hernandez, Y., Bao, C., Cui, D., Janssen, K. P., et al. (2013c). *In vivo* tumor targeting via nanoparticle-mediated therapeutic siRNA coupled to inflammatory response in lung cancer mouse models. *Biomaterials* 34, 7744–7753. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.06.041
- Cronan, J. E. (1990). Biotination of proteins *in vivo* a posttranslational modification to label, purify, and study proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265, 10327–10333.
- Crut, A., Geron-Landre, B., Bonnet, I., Bonneau, S., Desbiolles, P., and Escude, C. (2005). Detection of single DNA molecules by multicolor quantum-dot endlabeling. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33:e98. doi: 10.1093/nar/gni097
- Cull, M. G., and Schatz, P. J. (2000). Biotinylation of proteins in vivo and in vitro using small peptide tags. *Methods Enzymol.* 326, 430–440. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(00)26068-0
- Curnis, F., Sacchi, A., Gasparri, A., Longhi, R., Bachi, A., Doglioni, C., et al. (2008). Isoaspartate-glycine-arginine: a new tumor vasculature-targeting motif. *Cancer Res.* 68, 7073–7082. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1272
- Daou, T. J., Li, L., Reiss, P., Josserand, V., and Texier, I. (2009). Effect of poly(ethylene glycol) length on the *in vivo* behavior of coated quantum dots. *Langmuir* 25, 3040–3044. doi: 10.1021/la8035083
- de la Fuente, J. M., Alcantara, D., Eaton, P., Crespo, P., Rojas, T. C., Fernandez, A., et al. (2006). Gold and gold-iron oxide magnetic glyconanoparticles: synthesis, characterization and magnetic properties. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 110, 13021–13028. doi: 10.1021/jp062522s
- de la Fuente, J. M., Barrientos, A. G., Rojas, T. C., Rojo, J., Canada, J., Fernandez, A., et al. (2001). Gold glyconanoparticles as water-soluble polyvalent models to study carbohydrate interactions. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 40, 2257–2261. doi: 10.1002/1521-3773(20010618)40:12<2257::AID-ANIE2257>3.0.CO;2-S
- de la Fuente, J. M., and Berry, C. C. (2005). Tat peptide as an efficient molecule to translocate gold nanoparticles into the cell nucleus. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 16, 1176–1180. doi: 10.1021/bc050033+
- de la Fuente, J. M., Eaton, P., Barrientos, A. G., Menendez, M., and Penades, S. (2005). Thermodynamic evidence for Ca2+-mediated self-aggregation of Lewis X gold glyconanoparticles. A model for cell adhesion via carbohydrate-carbohydrate interaction. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 127, 6192–6197. doi: 10.1021/ja0431354
- de la Fuente, J. M., and Penades, S. (2004). Understanding carbohydratecarbohydrate interactions by means of glyconanotechnology. *Glycoconj. J.* 21, 149–163. doi: 10.1023/B:GLYC.0000044846.80014.cb
- de la Fuente, J. M., and Penades, S. (2006). Glyconanoparticles: types, synthesis and applications in glycoscience, biomedicine and material science. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1760, 636–651. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2005.12.001
- De, M., Miranda, O. R., Rana, S., and Rotello, V. M. (2009). Size and geometry dependent protein-nanoparticle self-assembly. *Chem. Commun.* 2157–2159. doi: 10.1039/b900552h
- Demers, L. M., Mirkin, C. A., Mucic, R. C., Reynolds, R. A. III., Letsinger, R. L., Elghanian, R., et al. (2000). A fluorescence-based method for determining the surface coverage and hybridization efficiency of thiol-capped oligonucleotides bound to gold thin films and nanoparticles. *Anal. Chem.* 72, 5535–5541. doi: 10.1021/ac0006627
- Deng, Z. J., Liang, M., Monteiro, M., Toth, I., and Minchin, R. F. (2011). Nanoparticle-induced unfolding of fibrinogen promotes Mac-1 receptor activation and inflammation. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 6, 39–44. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2010.250
- Derfus, A. M., Chen, A. A., Min, D. H., Ruoslahti, E., and Bhatia, S. N. (2007). Targeted quantum dot conjugates for siRNA delivery. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 18, 1391–1396. doi: 10.1021/bc060367e

- Devaraj, N. K., Keliher, E. J., Thurber, G. M., Nahrendorf, M., and Weissleder, R. (2009). 18F labeled nanoparticles for *in vivo* PET-CT Imaging. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 20, 397–401. doi: 10.1021/bc8004649
- Dhar, S., Daniel, W. L., Giljohann, D. A., Mirkin, C. A., and Lippard, S. J. (2009). Polyvalent oligonucleotide gold nanoparticle conjugates as delivery vehicles for platinum(IV) warheads. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 131, 14652–14653. doi: 10.1021/ja9071282
- Diagaradjane, P., Orenstein-Cardona, J. M., Colon-Casasnovas, N. E., Deorukhkar, A., Shentu, S., Kuno, N., et al. (2008). Imaging epidermal growth factor receptor expression *in vivo*: pharmacokinetic and biodistribution characterization of a bioconjugated quantum dot nanoprobe. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 14, 731–741. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1958
- Dobson, J. (2006). Gene therapy progress and prospects: magnetic nanoparticlebased gene delivery. *Gene Ther.* 13, 283–287. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3302720
- Donega, C. D. (2011). Synthesis and properties of colloidal heteronanocrystals. Chem. Soc. Rev. 40, 1512–1546. doi: 10.1039/c0cs00055h
- Dong, C. M. (2011). Glyconanoparticles for biomedical applications. Comb. Chem. High Throughput Screen. 14, 173–181. doi: 10.2174/138620711794728716
- Doria, G., Conde, J., Veigas, B., Giestas, L., Almeida, C., Assuncao, M., et al. (2012). Noble metal nanoparticles for biosensing applications. *Sensors(Basel)* 12, 1657–1687. doi: 10.3390/s120201657
- Doria, G., Larguinho, M., Dias, J. T., Pereira, E., Franco, R., and Baptista, P. V. (2010). Gold-silver-alloy nanoprobes for one-pot multiplex DNA detection. *Nanotechnology* 21:255101. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/21/25/255101
- Dreaden, E. C., Alkilany, A. M., Huang, X. H., Murphy, C. J., and El-Sayed, M. A. (2012). The golden age: gold nanoparticles for biomedicine. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 41, 2740–2779. doi: 10.1039/c1cs15237h
- Dubertret, B. (2005). Quantum dots DNA detectives. *Nat. Mater.* 4, 797–798. doi: 10.1038/nmat1520
- Dubertret, B., Skourides, P., Norris, D. J., Noireaux, V., Brivanlou, A. H., and Libchaber, A. (2002). *In vivo* imaging of quantum dots encapsulated in phospholipid micelles. *Science* 298, 1759–1762. doi: 10.1126/science.1077194
- East, D. A., Mulvihill, D. P., Todd, M., and Bruce, I. J. (2011). QD-antibody conjugates via carbodiimide-mediated coupling: a detailed study of the variables involved and a possible new mechanism for the coupling reaction under basic aqueous conditions. *Langmuir* 27, 13888–13896. doi: 10.1021/la203273p
- Edwards, P. P., and Thomas, J. M. (2007). Gold in a metallic divided state–from Faraday to present-day nanoscience. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 46, 5480–5486. doi: 10.1002/anie.200700428
- El-Boubbou, K., and Huang, X. (2011). Glyco-nanomaterials: translating insights from the "sugar-code" to biomedical applications. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 18, 2060–2078. doi: 10.2174/092986711795656144
- El-Boubbou, K., Zhu, D. C., Vasileiou, C., Borhan, B., Prosperi, D., Li, W., et al. (2010). Magnetic glyco-nanoparticles: a tool to detect, differentiate, and unlock the glyco-codes of cancer via magnetic resonance imaging. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 132, 4490–4499. doi: 10.1021/ja100455c
- El-Sayed, M. A. (2001). Some interesting properties of metals confined in time and nanometer space of different shapes. Acc. Chem. Res. 34, 257–264. doi: 10.1021/ar960016n
- Elbakry, A., Zaky, A., Liebkl, R., Rachel, R., Goepferich, A., and Breunig, M. (2009). Layer-by-layer assembled gold nanoparticles for siRNA delivery. *Nano Lett.* 9, 2059–2064. doi: 10.1021/nl9003865
- Fang, C., and Zhang, M. Q. (2009). Multifunctional magnetic nanoparticles for medical imaging applications. J. Mater. Chem. 19, 6258–6266. doi: 10.1039/b902182e
- Faraday, M. (1857). Experimental relations of gold (and other metals) to light. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond.* 147, 145–181. doi: 10.1098/rstl.1857.0011
- Feng, C. L., Dou, X. Q., Liu, Q. L., Zhang, W., Gu, J. J., Zhu, S. M., et al. (2013). Dual-specific interaction to detect DNA on gold nanoparticles. *Sensors (Basel)* 13, 5749–5756. doi: 10.3390/s130505749
- Fichou, Y., and Ferec, C. (2006). The potential of oligonucleotides for therapeutic applications. *Trends Biotechnol.* 24, 563–570. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2006.10.003
- Fleming, D. A., Thode, C. J., and Williams, M. E. (2006). Triazole cycloaddition as a general route for functionalization of Au nanoparticles. *Chem. Mater.* 18, 2327–2334. doi: 10.1021/cm060157b
- Foy, S. P., Manthe, R. L., Foy, S. T., Dimitrijevic, S., Krishnamurthy, N., and Labhasetwar, V. (2010). Optical imaging and magnetic field targeting of magnetic nanoparticles in tumors. ACS Nano 4, 5217–5224. doi: 10.1021/ nn101427t

- Frigell, J., García, I., Gómez-Vallejo, V., Llop, J., and Penadés, S. (2014). 68Galabeled gold glyconanoparticles for exploring blood-brain barrier permeability: preparation, biodistribution studies, and improved brain uptake via neuropeptide conjugation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 136, 449–457. doi: 10.1021/ja411096m
- Fuentes, M., Mateo, C., Guisán, J. M., and Fernández-Lafuente, R. (2005). Preparation of inert magnetic nano-particles for the directed immobilization of antibodies. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 20, 1380–1387. doi: 10.1016/j.bios.2004.06.004
- Garcia, I., Marradi, M., and Penades, S. (2010). Glyconanoparticles: multifunctional nanomaterials for biomedical applications. *Nanomedicine(Lond.)* 5, 777–792. doi: 10.2217/nnm.10.48
- Ghanem, M. A., Bartlett, P. N., de Groot, P., and Zhukov, A. (2004). A double templated electrodeposition method for the fabrication of arrays of metal nanodots. *Electrochem. commun.* 6, 447–453. doi: 10.1016/j.elecom.2004.03.001
- Ghosh, P. S., Kim, C. K., Han, G., Forbes, N. S., and Rotello, V. M. (2008). Efficient gene delivery vectors by tuning the surface charge density of amino acid-functionalized gold nanoparticles. ACS Nano 2, 2213–2218. doi: 10.1021/nn800507t
- Gil, P. R., and Parak, W. J. (2008). Composite nanoparticles take aim at cancer. ACS Nano 2, 2200–2205. doi: 10.1021/nn800716j
- Gilchrist, R. K., Medal, R., Shorey, W. D., Hanselman, R. C., Parrott, J. C., and Taylor, C. B. (1957). Selective inductive heating of lymph nodes. *Ann. Surg.* 146, 596–606. doi: 10.1097/00000658-195710000-00007
- Gill, R., Zayats, M., and Willner, I. (2008). Semiconductor quantum dots for bioanalysis. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 47, 7602–7625. doi: 10.1002/anie.200800169
- Giersig, M., and Mulvaney, P. (1993). Preparation of ordered colloid monolayers by electrophoretic deposition. *Langmuir* 9, 3408–3413. doi: 10.1021/la00036a014
- Goldman, E. R., Anderson, G. P., Tran, P. T., Mattoussi, H., Charles, P. T., and Mauro, J. M. (2002). Conjugation of luminescent quantum dots with antibodies using an engineered adaptor protein to provide new reagents for fluoroimmunoassays. *Anal. Chem.* 74, 841–847. doi: 10.1021/ac010662m
- Goluch, E. D., Nam, J. M., Georganopoulou, D. G., Chiesl, T. N., Shaikh, K. A., Ryu, K. S., et al. (2006). A bio-barcode assay for on-chip attomolar-sensitivity protein detection. *Lab Chip* 6, 1293–1299. doi: 10.1039/b606294f
- Grabarek, Z., and Gergely, J. (1990). Zero-length crosslinking procedure with the use of active esters. *Anal. Biochem.* 185, 131–135. doi: 10.1016/0003-2697(90)90267-D
- Grazú, V., Moros, M., and Sánchez-Espinel, C. (2012). "Chapter 14 -Nanocarriers as nanomedicines: design concepts and recent advances," in *Frontiers of Nanoscience Nanobiotechnology Inorganic Nanoparticles vs Organic Nanoparticles*, eds J. M. de la Fuente and V. Grazu (Oxford, UK: Elsevier), 337–440. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-415769-9.00014-5
- Gump, J. M., and Dowdy, S. F. (2007). TAT transduction: the molecular mechanism and therapeutic prospects. *Trends Mol. Med.* 13, 443–448. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2007.08.002
- Guo, S., Huang, Y., Jiang, Q., Sun, Y., Deng, L., Liang, Z., et al. (2010). Enhanced gene delivery and siRNA silencing by gold nanoparticles coated with chargereversal polyelectrolyte. ACS Nano 4, 5505–5511. doi: 10.1021/nn101638u
- Guo, Y. M., Wang, Z., Qu, W. S., Shao, H. W., and Jiang, X. Y. (2011). Colorimetric detection of mercury, lead and copper ions simultaneously using proteinfunctionalized gold nanoparticles. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 26, 4064–4069. doi: 10.1016/j.bios.2011.03.033
- Han, A., Dufva, M., Belleville, E., and Christensen, C. B. (2003). Detection of analyte binding to microarrays using gold nanoparticle labels and a desktop scanner. *Lab Chip* 3, 329–332. doi: 10.1039/b310814g
- Hanini, A., Schmitt, A., Kacem, K., Chau, F., Ammar, S., and Gavard, J. (2011). Evaluation of iron oxide nanoparticle biocompatibility. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 6, 787–794. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S17574
- Hao, J., Huang, L. L., Zhang, R., Wang, H. Z., and Xie, H. Y. (2012). A mild and reliable method to label enveloped virus with quantum dots by copper-free click chemistry. *Anal. Chem.* 84, 8364–8370. doi: 10.1021/ac301918t
- Harris, T. J., von Maltzahn, G., Lord, M. E., Park, J. H., Agrawal, A., Min, D. H., et al. (2008). Protease-triggered unveiling of bioactive nanoparticles. *Small* 4, 1307–1312. doi: 10.1002/smll.200701319
- Haun, J. B., Castro, C. M., Wang, R., Peterson, V. M., Marinelli, B. S., Lee, H., et al. (2011). Micro-NMR for rapid molecular analysis of human tumor samples. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 3:71ra16. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3002048
- Haun, J. B., Devaraj, N. K., Hilderbrand, S. A., Lee, H., and Weissleder, R. (2010). Bioorthogonal chemistry amplifies nanoparticle binding and

enhances the sensitivity of cell detection. Nat. Biotechnol. 5, 660-665. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2010.148

- He, X., Gao, J., Gambhir, S. S., and Cheng, Z. (2010). Near-infrared fluorescent nanoprobes for cancer molecular imaging: status and challenges. *Trends Mol. Med.* 16, 574–583. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2010.08.006
- Heath, J. R., and Davis, M. E. (2008). Nanotechnology and cancer. Annu. Rev. Med. 59, 251–265. doi: 10.1146/annurev.med.59.061506.185523
- Hein, C. D., Liu, X. M., and Wang, D. (2008). Click chemistry, a powerful tool for pharmaceutical sciences. *Pharm. Res.* 25, 2216–2230. doi: 10.1007/s11095-008-9616-1
- Hein, J. E., and Fokin, V. V. (2010). Copper-catalyzed azide-alkyne cycloaddition (CuAAC) and beyond: new reactivity of copper(I) acetylides. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 39, 1302–1315. doi: 10.1039/b904091a
- Hermanson, G. T. (2008). *Bioconjugate Techniques, 2nd Edn.* London, UK: Academic Press; Elsevier.
- Himo, F., Lovell, T., Hilgraf, R., Rostovtsev, V. V., Noodleman, L., Sharpless, K. B., et al. (2005). Copper(I)-catalyzed synthesis of azoles. DFT study predicts unprecedented reactivity and intermediates. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127, 210–216. doi: 10.1021/ja0471525
- Hodenius, M., Hieronymus, T., Zenke, M., Becker, C., Elling, L., Bornemann, J., et al. (2012). Magnetically triggered clustering of biotinylated iron oxide nanoparticles in the presence of streptavidinylated enzymes. *Nanotechnology* 23:355707. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/23/35/355707
- Hong, R., Han, G., Fernandez, J. M., Kim, B. J., Forbes, N. S., and Rotello, V. M. (2006). Glutathione-mediated delivery and release using monolayer protected nanoparticle carriers. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128, 1078–1079. doi: 10.1021/ja056726i
- Hong, V., Presolski, S. I., Ma, C., and Finn, M. G. (2009). Analysis and optimization of copper-catalyzed azide-alkyne cycloaddition for bioconjugation. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed Engl.* 48, 9879–9883. doi: 10.1002/anie.200905087
- Hu, R., Yong, K. T., Roy, I., Ding, H., Law, W. C., Cai, H., et al. (2010). Functionalized near-infrared quantum dots for *in vivo* tumor vasculature imaging. *Nanotechnology* 21:145105. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/21/14/145105
- Hua, X. F., Liu, T. C., Cao, Y. C., Liu, B., Wang, H. Q., Wang, J. H. et al. (2006). Characterization of the coupling of quantum dots and immunoglobulin antibodies. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 386, 1665–1671. doi: 10.1007/s00216-006-0807-5
- Huang, X., Jain, P. K., El-Sayed, I. H., and El-Sayed, M. A. (2007). Gold nanoparticles: interesting optical properties and recent applications in cancer diagnostics and therapy. *Nanomedicine (Lond.)* 2, 681–693. doi: 10.2217/17435889.2.5.681
- Hurst, S. J., Lytton-Jean, A. K. R., and Mirkin, C. A. (2006). Maximizing DNA loading on a range of gold nanoparticle sizes. *Anal. Chem.* 78, 8313–8318. doi: 10.1021/ac0613582
- Huschka, R., Barhoumi, A., Liu, Q., Roth, J. A., Ji, L., and Halas, N. J. (2012). Gene silencing by gold nanoshell-mediated delivery and laser-triggered release of antisense oligonucleotide and siRNA. ACS Nano 6, 7681–7691. doi: 10.1021/nn301135w
- Hwu, J. R., Lin, Y. S., Josephrajan, T., Hsu, M. H., Cheng, F. Y., Yeh, C. S., et al. (2009). Targeted Paclitaxel by conjugation to iron oxide and gold nanoparticles. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 131, 66–68. doi: 10.1021/ja804947u
- Jain, P. K., Lee, K. S., El-Sayed, I. H., and El-Sayed, M. A. (2006). Calculated absorption and scattering properties of gold nanoparticles of different size, shape, and composition: applications in biological imaging and biomedicine. J. Phys. Chem. B 110, 7238–7248. doi: 10.1021/jp0571700
- Janczewski, D., Tomczak, N., Han, M. Y., and Vancso, G. J. (2011). Synthesis of functionalized amphiphilic polymers for coating quantum dots. *Nat. Protoc.* 6, 1546–1553. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2011.381
- Jang, L. S., and Keng, H. K. (2008). Modified fabrication process of protein chips using a short-chain self-assembled monolayer. *Biomed. Microdevices.* 10, 203–211. doi: 10.1007/s10544-007-9126-7
- Johannsen, M., Gneveckow, U., Eckelt, L., Feussner, A., Waldofner, N., Scholz, R., et al. (2005). Clinical hyperthermia of prostate cancer using magnetic nanoparticles: presentation of a new interstitial technique. *Int. J. Hyperthermia* 21, 637–647. doi: 10.1080/02656730500158360
- Johannsen, M., Thiesen, B., Wust, P., and Jordan, A. (2010). Magnetic nanoparticle hyperthermia for prostate cancer. Int. J. Hyperthermia 26, 790–795. doi: 10.3109/02656731003745740
- Jordan, A., Scholz, R., Maier-Hauff, K., Johannsen, M., Wust, P., Nadobny, J., et al. (2001). Presentation of a new magnetic field therapy system for the treatment of human solid tumors with magnetic fluid hyperthermia. J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 225, 118–126. doi: 10.1016/S0304-8853(00)01239-7

- Jordan, A., Wust, P., Fahling, H., John, W., Hinz, A., and Felix, R. (1993). Inductive heating of ferrimagnetic particles and magnetic fluids - physical evaluation of their potential for hyperthermia. *Int. J. Hyperthermia* 9, 51–68. doi: 10.3109/02656739309061478
- Jun, Y. W., Seo, J. W., and Cheon, J. (2008). Nanoscaling laws of magnetic nanoparticles and their applicabilities in biomedical sciences. Acc. Chem. Res. 41, 179–189. doi: 10.1021/ar700121f
- Jung, Y., Jeong, J. Y., and Chung, B. H. (2008). Recent advances in immobilization methods of antibodies on solid supports. *Analyst* 133, 697–701. doi: 10.1039/b800014j
- Kanaras, A. G., Kamounah, F. S., Schaumburg, K., Kiely, C. J., and Brust, M. (2002). Thioalkylated tetraethylene glycol: a new ligand for water soluble monolayer protected gold clusters. *Chem. Commun. (Camb.)* 2294–2295. doi: 10.1039/b207838b
- Kang, K. A., Wang, J., Jasinski, J. B., and Achilefu, S. (2011). Fluorescence manipulation by gold nanoparticles: from complete quenching to extensive enhancement. *J. Nanobiotechnol.* 9:16. doi: 10.1186/1477-3155-9-16
- Khoshnevisan, K., Bordbar, A. K., Zare, D., Davoodi, D., Noruzi, M., Barkhi, M., et al. (2011). Immobilization of cellulase enzyme on superparamagnetic nanoparticles and determination of its activity and stability. *Chem. Eng. J.* 171, 669–673. doi: 10.1016/j.cej.2011.04.039
- Kievit, F. M., Veiseh, O., Fang, C., Bhattarai, N., Lee, D., Ellenbogen, R. G., et al. (2010). Chlorotoxin labeled magnetic nanovectors for targeted gene delivery to glioma. ACS Nano 4, 4587–4594. doi: 10.1021/nn1008512
- Kikkeri, R., Lepenies, B., Adibekian, A., Laurino, P., and Seeberger, P. H. (2009). *In vitro* imaging and *in vivo* liver targeting with carbohydrate capped quantum dots. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 131, 2110–2112. doi: 10.1021/ja807711w
- Kim, C. K., Ghosh, P., Pagliuca, C., Zhu, Z. J., Menichetti, S., and Rotello, V. M. (2009). Entrapment of hydrophobic drugs in nanoparticle monolayers with efficient release into cancer cells. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 131, 1360–1361. doi: 10.1021/ja808137c
- Kim, K. Y. (2007). Nanotechnology platforms and physiological challenges for cancer therapeutics. *Nanomedicine* 3, 103–110. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2006. 12.002
- Kim, Y. P., Daniel, W. L., Xia, Z., Xie, H., Mirkin, C. A., and Rao, J. (2010). Bioluminescent nanosensors for protease detection based upon gold nanoparticle-luciferase conjugates. *Chem. Commun. (Camb.)* 46, 76–78. doi: 10.1039/b915612g
- Koole, R., van Schooneveld, M. M., Hilhorst, J., de Mello Donegá, C., 't Hart, D. C., van Blaaderen, A., et al. (2008). On the incorporation mechanism of hydrophobic quantum dots in silica spheres by a reverse microemulsion method. *Chem. Mater.* 20, 2503–2512. doi: 10.1021/cm703348y
- Kommareddy, S., Tiwari, S., and Amiji, M. M. (2005). Long-circulating nanovectors for tumor-specific gene delivery. *Technol. Cancer. Res. Treat.* 4, 615–626.
- Kreibig, U., and Vollmer, M. (1995). Optical Properties of Metal Clusters. Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-09109-8
- Kuhn, S. J., Finch, S. K., Hallahan, D. E., and Giorgio, T. D. (2006). Proteolytic surface functionalization enhances *in vitro* magnetic nanoparticle mobility through extracellular matrix. *Nano Lett.* 6, 306–312. doi: 10.1021/nl052241g
- Kumar, M., Yigit, M., Dai, G., Moore, A., and Medarova, Z. (2010). Image-guided breast tumor therapy using a small interfering RNA nanodrug. *Cancer Res.* 70, 7553–7561. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2070
- Kuo, H. T., Yeh, J. Z., Jiang, C. M., and Wu, M. C. (2012). Magnetic particle-linked anti hCG B antibody for immunoassay of human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), potential application to early pregnancy diagnosis. *J. Immunol. Methods* 381, 32–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2012.04.006
- Lacerda, S. H., Park, J. J., Meuse, C., Pristinski, D., Becker, M. L., Karim, A., et al. (2010). Interaction of gold nanoparticles with common human blood proteins. *ACS Nano* 4, 365–379. doi: 10.1021/nn9011187
- Lai, S. J., and Guan, X. L. (2011). Surface modification and application of quantum dots based on polymers. *Progress Chem.* 23, 941–950.
- Lammers, T., Aime, S., Hennink, W. E., Storm, G., and Kiessling, F. (2011). Theranostic nanomedicine. Acc. Chem. Res. 44, 1029–1038. doi: 10.1021/ar200019c
- Langer, R. (2000). Biomaterials in drug delivery and tissue engineering: one laboratory's experience. Acc. Chem. Res. 33, 94–101. doi: 10.1021/ar9800993
- Laurent, S., Dutz, S., Hafeli, U. O., and Mahmoudi, M. (2011). Magnetic fluid hyperthermia: focus on superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles. Adv. Colloid Interface Sci. 166, 8–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cis.2011.04.003

- Lavilla, M., Moros, M., Puertas, S., Grazú, V., Pérez, M. D., Calvo, M., et al. (2012). Specific peptides as alternative to antibody ligands for biomagnetic separation of Clostridium tyrobutyricum spores. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 402, 3219–3226. doi: 10.1007/s00216-011-5621-z
- Le, D. C., Wang, C., and Wang, Q. (2010). Fluorogenic click reaction. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 39, 1233–1239. doi: 10.1039/b901975h
- Lee, H., Sun, E., Ham, D., and Weissleder, R. (2008). Chip-NMR biosensor for detection and molecular analysis of cells. *Nat. Med.* 14, 869–874. doi: 10.1038/nm.1711
- Lee, H., Yoon, T. J., Figueiredo, J. L., Swirski, F. K., and Weissleder, R. (2009). Rapid detection and profiling of cancer cells in fine-needle aspirates. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 12459–12464. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0902365106
- Lee, J. H., Huh, Y. M., Jun, Y. W., Seo, J. W., Jang, J. T., Song, H. T., et al. (2007). Artificially engineered magnetic nanoparticles for ultra-sensitive molecular imaging. *Nat. Med.* 13, 95–99. doi: 10.1038/nm1467
- Lee, J. S. (2011). Multiplexed detection of oligonucleotides with biobarcoded gold nanoparticle probes. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 726, 17–31. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-052-2_2
- Lee, M., and Kim, S. W. (2005). Polyethylene glycol-conjugated copolymers for plasmid DNA delivery. *Pharm. Res.* 22, 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s11095-004-9003-5
- Levy, R., Thanh, N. T., Doty, R. C., Hussain, I., Nichols, R. J., Schiffrin, D. J., et al. (2004). Rational and combinatorial design of peptide capping ligands for gold nanoparticles. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 126, 10076–10084. doi: 10.1021/ja0487269
- Li, D., Li, G. P., Guo, W. W., Li, P. C., Wang, E. K., and Wang, J. (2008). Glutathionemediated release of functional plasmid DNA from positively charged quantum dots. *Biomaterials* 29, 2776–2782. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.03.007
- Li, J. M., Wang, Y. Y., Zhao, M. X., Tan, C. P., Li, Y. Q., Le, X. Y., et al. (2012). Multifunctional QD-based co-delivery of siRNA and doxorubicin to HeLa cells for reversal of multidrug resistance and real-time tracking. *Biomaterials* 33, 2780–2790. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.12.035
- Li, J. M., Zhao, M. X., Su, H., Wang, Y. Y., Tan, C. P., Ji, L. N., et al. (2011). Multifunctional quantum-dot-based siRNA delivery for HPV18 E6 gene silence and intracellular imaging. *Biomaterials* 32, 7978–7987. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.07.011
- Li, L., Daou, T. J., Texier, I., Tran, T. K. C., Nguyen, Q. L., and Reiss, P. (2009). Highly Luminescent CuInS2/ZnS Core/Shell Nanocrystals: cadmiumfree quantum dots for *in vivo* imaging. *Chem. Mater.* 21, 2422–2429. doi: 10.1021/cm900103b
- Li, S. D., and Huang, L. (2010). Stealth nanoparticles: high density but sheddable PEG is a key for tumor targeting. J. Control. Release 145, 178–181. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2010.03.016
- Li, W., Nicol, F., and Szoka, J. (2004). GALA: a designed synthetic pH-responsive amphipathic peptide with applications in drug and gene delivery. Adv. Drug. Deliv. Rev. 56, 967–985. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2003.10.041
- Lin, C. A., Sperling, R. A., Li, J. K., Yang, T. Y., Li, P. Y., Zanella, M., et al. (2008). Design of an amphiphilic polymer for nanoparticle coating and functionalization. *Small* 4, 334–341. doi: 10.1002/smll.200700654
- Lin, Z. Y., Gao, S., Lin, J., Lin, W. L., Qiu, S. Y., Guo, L. H., et al. (2012). Visual detection of copper(II) based on the aggregation of gold nano-particles via click chemistry. *Anal. Methods* 4, 612–615. doi: 10.1039/c2ay05765d
- Ling, Y., Wei, K., Luo, Y., Gao, X., and Zhong, S. (2011). Dual docetaxel/superparamagnetic iron oxide loaded nanoparticles for both targeting magnetic resonance imaging and cancer therapy. *Biomaterials* 32, 7139–7150. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.05.089
- Liu, C., Zou, B., Rondinone, A. J., and Zhang, Z. J. (2000). Reverse micelle synthesis and characterization of superparamagnetic MnFe2O4 spinel ferrite nanocrystallites. J. Phys. Chem. B 104, 1141–1145. doi: 10.1021/jp993552g
- Liu, F. J., Laurent, S., Fattahi, H., Elst, L. V., and Muller, R. N. (2011). Superparamagnetic nanosystems based on iron oxide nanoparticles for biomedical imaging. *Nanomedicine* 6, 519–528. doi: 10.2217/nnm.11.16
- Liu, J. A., Lau, S. K., Varma, V. A., Kairdolf, B. A., and Nie, S. M. (2010). Multiplexed detection and characterization of rare tumor cells in Hodgkin's lymphoma with multicolor quantum dots. *Anal. Chem.* 82, 6237–6243. doi: 10.1021/ac101065b
- Liu, Y., Shipton, M. K., Ryan, J., Kaufman, E. D., Franzen, S., and Feldheim, D. L. (2007). Synthesis, stability, and cellular internalization of gold nanoparticles containing mixed peptide-poly(ethylene glycol) monolayers. *Anal. Chem.* 79, 2221–2229. doi: 10.1021/ac061578f
- Liu, Y. D., Han, X. G., He, L., and Yin, Y. D. (2012). Thermoresponsive assembly of charged gold nanoparticles and their reversible tuning of plasmon

coupling. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 51, 6373-6377. doi: 10.1002/anie.2012 01816

- Louie, A. (2010). Multimodality imaging probes: design and challenges. *Chem. Rev.* 110, 3146–3195. doi: 10.1021/cr9003538
- Lu, J., Jackson, J., Gleave, M., and Burt, H. (2008). The preparation and characterization of anti-VEGFR2 conjugated, paclitaxel-loaded PLLA or PLGA microspheres for the systemic targeting of human prostate tumors. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 61, 997–1005. doi: 10.1007/s00280-007-0557-x
- Ma, X., Zhao, Y., and Liang, X. J. (2011). Theranostic nanoparticles engineered for clinic and pharmaceutics. Acc. Chem. Res. 44, 1114–1122. doi: 10.1021/ar2000056
- Maldiney, T., Richard, C., Seguin, J., Wattier, N., Bessodes, M., and Scherman, D. (2011). Effect of core diameter, surface coating, and PEG chain length on the biodistribution of persistent luminescence nanoparticles in mice. ACS Nano 5, 854–862. doi: 10.1021/nn101937h
- Marradi, M., Chiodo, F., Garcia, I., and Penades, S. (2013). Glyconanoparticles as multifunctional and multimodal carbohydrate systems. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 42, 4728–4745. doi: 10.1039/c2cs35420a
- Martinez-Avila, O., Hijazi, K., Marradi, M., Clavel, C., Campion, C., Kelly, C., et al. (2009). Gold manno-glyconanoparticles: multivalent systems to block HIV-1 gp120 binding to the lectin DC-SIGN. *Chemistry* 15, 9874–9888. doi: 10.1002/chem.200900923
- Mattoussi, H., Mauro, J. M., Goldman, E. R., Anderson, G. P., Sundar, V. C., Mikulec, F. V., et al. (2000). Self-assembly of CdSe-ZnS quantum dot bioconjugates using an engineered recombinant protein. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 122, 12142–12150. doi: 10.1021/ja002535y
- Mayilo, S., Kloster, M. A., Wunderlich, M., Lutich, A., Klar, T. A., Nichtl, A., et al. (2009). Long-range fluorescence quenching by gold nanoparticles in a sandwich immunoassay for cardiac troponin T. *Nano.Lett.* 9, 4558–4563. doi: 10.1021/nl903178n
- Means, G. E., and Feeney, R. E. (1990). Chemical modifications of proteins: history and applications. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 1, 2–12. doi: 10.1021/bc00001a001
- Medarova, Z., Pham, W., Farrar, C., Petkova, V., and Moore, A. (2007). *In vivo* imaging of siRNA delivery and silencing in tumors. *Nat. Med.* 13, 372–377. doi: 10.1038/nm1486
- Medintz, I. L., Mattoussi, H., and Clapp, A. R. (2008). Potential clinical applications of quantum dots. *Int. J. Nanomed.* 3, 151–167. doi: 10.1002/smll.201000279
- Meldal, M., and Tornoe, C. W. (2008). Cu-catalyzed azide-alkyne cycloaddition. *Chem. Rev.* 108, 2952–3015. doi: 10.1021/cr0783479
- Min, C., Shao, H., Liong, M., Yoon, T. J., Weissleder, R., and Lee, H. (2012). Mechanism of magnetic relaxation switching sensing. ACS Nano 6, 6821–6828. doi: 10.1021/nn301615b
- Minelli, C., Lowe, S. B., and Stevens, M. M. (2010). Engineering nanocomposite materials for cancer therapy. Small 6, 2336–2357. doi: 10.1002/smll.201000523
- Mirkin, C. A., Letsinger, R. L., Mucic, R. C., and Storhoff, J. J. (1996). A DNA-based method for rationally assembling nanoparticles into macroscopic materials. *Nature* 382, 607–609. doi: 10.1038/382607a0
- Molday, R. S., Yen, S. P. S., and Renbaum, A. (1977). Application of magnetic microspheres in labelling and separation of cells. *Nature* 268, 437–438. doi: 10.1038/268437a0
- Montenegro, J. M., Grazu, V., Sukhanova, A., Agarwal, S., de la Fuente, J. M., Nabiev, I., et al. (2013). Controlled antibody/(bio-) conjugation of inorganic nanoparticles for targeted delivery. *Adv. Drug. Deliv. Rev.* 65, 677–688. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2012.12.003
- Moros, M., Hernaez, B., Garet, E., Dias, J. T., Saez, B., Grazu, V., et al. (2012). Monosaccharides versus PEG-functionalized NPs: influence in the cellular uptake. ACS Nano 6, 1565–1577. doi: 10.1021/nn204543c
- Moros, M., Pelaz, B., Lopez-Larrubia, P., Garcia-Martin, M. L., Grazu, V., and de la Fuente, J. M. (2010). Engineering biofunctional magnetic nanoparticles for biotechnological applications. *Nanoscale* 2, 1746–1755. doi: 10.1039/c0nr00104j
- Murcia, M. J., and Naumann, C. A. (2005). "Biofunctionalization of fluorescent nanoparticles," in *Biofunctionalization of Nanomaterials*, ed C. S. S. R. Kumar (Weinheim: Wiley-VCH), 1–40.
- Murphy, C. J., Gole, A. M., Stone, J. W., Sisco, P. N., Alkilany, A. M., Goldsmith, E. C., et al. (2008). Gold nanoparticles in biology: beyond toxicity to cellular imaging. Acc. Chem. Res. 41, 1721–1730. doi: 10.1021/ar800035u
- Murray, C. B., Norris, D. J., and Bawendi, M. G. (1993). Synthesis and characterization of nearly monodisperse Cde (e = S, Se, Te) semiconductor nanocrystallites. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 115, 8706–8715. doi: 10.1021/ja00072a025

- Mykhaylyk, O., Antequera, Y. S., Vlaskou, D., and Plank, C. (2007). Generation of magnetic nonviral gene transfer agents and magnetofection *in vitro*. *Nat. Protocols* 2, 2391–2411. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.352
- Nakajima, N., and Ikada, Y. (1995). Mechanism of amide formation by carbodiimide for bioconjugation in aqueous media. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 6, 123–130. doi: 10.1021/bc00031a015
- Nam, J. M., Stoeva, S. I., and Mirkin, C. A. (2004). Bio-bar-code-based DNA detection with PCR-like sensitivity. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 126, 5932–5933. doi: 10.1021/ja049384+
- Nam, J. M., Thaxton, C. S., and Mirkin, C. A. (2003). Nanoparticle-based bio-bar codes for the ultrasensitive detection of proteins. *Science* 301, 1884–1886. doi: 10.1126/science.1088755
- Namiki, Y., Namiki, T., Yoshida, H., Ishii, Y., Tsubota, A., Koido, S., et al. (2009). A novel magnetic crystal-lipid nanostructure for magnetically guided *in vivo* gene delivery. *Nat. Nanotech.* 4, 598–606. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2009.202
- Nativo, P., Prior, I. A., and Brust, M. (2008). Uptake and intracellular fate of surfacemodified gold nanoparticles. ACS Nano 2, 1639–1644. doi: 10.1021/nn800330a
- Ni, J., Lipert, R. J., Dawson, G. B., and Porter, M. D. (1999). Immunoassay readout method using extrinsic Raman labels adsorbed on immunogold colloids. *Anal. Chem.* 71, 4903–4908. doi: 10.1021/ac990616a
- Nobs, L., Buchegger, F., Gurny, R., and Allémann, E. (2004). Current methods for attaching targeting ligands to liposomes and nanoparticles. J. Pharm. Sci. 93, 1980–1992. doi: 10.1002/jps.20098
- Oh, E., Hong, M. Y., Lee, D., Nam, S. H., Yoon, H. C., and Kim, H. S. (2005). Inhibition assay of biomolecules based on fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) between quantum dots and gold nanoparticles. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 127, 3270–3271. doi: 10.1021/ja0433323
- Oh, E., Susumu, K., Blanco-Canosa, J. B., Medintz, I. L., Dawson, P. E., and Mattoussi, H. (2010a). preparation of stable maleimide-functionalized au nanoparticles and their use in counting surface ligands. *Small* 6, 1273–1278. doi: 10.1002/smll.201000279
- Oh, E., Susumu, K., Goswami, R., and Mattoussi, H. (2010b). One-phase synthesis of water-soluble gold nanoparticles with control over size and surface functionalities. *Langmuir* 26, 7604–7613. doi: 10.1021/la904438s
- Osaki, F., Kanamori, T., Sando, S., Sera, T., and Aoyama, Y. (2004). A quantum dot conjugated sugar ball and its cellular uptake on the size effects of endocytosis in the subviral region. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 126, 6520–6521. doi: 10.1021/ja048792a
- Otsuka, H., Akiyama, Y., Nagasaki, Y., and Kataoka, K. (2001). Quantitative and reversible lectin-induced association of gold nanoparticles modified with alpha-lactosyl-omega-mercapto-poly(ethylene glycol). J. Am. Chem. Soc. 123, 8226–8230. doi: 10.1021/ja010437m
- Pandey, P., Singh, S. P., Arya, S. K., Gupta, V., Datta, M., Singh, S., et al. (2007). Application of thiolated gold nanoparticles for the enhancement of glucose oxidase activity. *Langmuir* 23, 3333–3337. doi: 10.1021/la062901c
- Pankhurst, Q. A., Connolly, J., Jones, S. K., and Dobson, J. (2003). Applications of magnetic nanoparticles in biomedicine. J. Phys. D Appl. Phys. 36, R167–R181. doi: 10.1088/0022-3727/36/13/201
- Pankhurst, Q. A., Thanh, N. T. K., Jones, S. K., and Dobson, J. (2009). Progress in applications of magnetic nanoparticles in biomedicine. J. Phys. D Appl. Phys 42:224001. doi: 10.1088/0022-3727/42/22/224001
- Pellegrino, T., Kudera, S., Liedl, T., Munoz, J. A., Manna, L., and Parak, W. J. (2005). On the development of colloidal nanoparticles towards multifunctional structures and their possible use for biological applications. *Small* 1, 48–63. doi: 10.1002/smll.200400071
- Pellegrino, T., Sperling, R. A., Alivisatos, A. P., and Parak, W. J. (2007). Gel electrophoresis of gold-DNA nanoconjugates. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2007:26796. doi: 10.1155/2007/26796
- Perez, J. M., Josephson, L., O'Loughlin, T., Hogemann, D., and Weissleder, R. (2002). Magnetic relaxation switches capable of sensing molecular interactions. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 20, 816–820. doi: 10.1038/nbt720
- Petryayeva, E., and Krull, U. J. (2012). Quantum dot and gold nanoparticle immobilization for biosensing applications using multidentate imidazole surface ligands. *Langmuir* 28, 13943–13951. doi: 10.1021/la302985x
- Plank, C., Zelphati, O., and Mykhaylyk, O. (2011). Magnetically enhanced nucleic acid delivery. Ten years of magnetofection–progress and prospects. *Adv. Drug. Deliv. Rev.* 63, 1300–1331. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2011.08.002
- Polo, E., Del, P. P., Pelaz, B., Grazu, V., and de la Fuente, J. M. (2013). Plasmonicdriven thermal sensing: ultralow detection of cancer markers. *Chem. Commun.* (*Camb.*) 49, 3676–3678. doi: 10.1039/c3cc39112d

- Pons, T., Medintz, I. L., Sapsford, K. E., Higashiya, S., Grimes, A. F., English, D. S., et al. (2007). On the quenching of semiconductor quantum dot photoluminescence by proximal gold nanoparticles. *Nano Lett.* 7, 3157–3164. doi: 10.1021/nl071729+
- Poulose, A. C., Veeranarayanan, S., Mohamed, M. S., Raveendran, S., Nagaoka, Y., Yoshida, Y., et al. (2012). PEG Coated Biocompatible Cadmium Chalcogenide Quantum Dots for Targeted Imaging of Cancer Cells. J. Fluoresc. 22, 931–944. doi: 10.1007/s10895-011-1032-y
- Prasuhn, D. E., Feltz, A., Blanco-Canosa, J. B., Susumu, K., Stewart, M. H., Mei, B. C., et al. (2010). Quantum dot peptide biosensors for monitoring caspase 3 proteolysis and calcium ions. ACS Nano 4, 5487–5497. doi: 10.1021/nn1 016132
- Prijic, S., and Sersa, G. (2011). Magnetic nanoparticles as targeted delivery systems in oncology. *Radiol. Oncol.* 45, 1–16. doi: 10.2478/v10019-011-0001-z
- Prow, T. W., Monteiro-Riviere, N. A., Inman, A. O., Grice, J. E., Chen, X. F., et al. (2012). Quantum dot penetration into viable human skin. *Nanotoxicology* 6, 173–185. doi: 10.3109/17435390.2011.569092
- Puertas, S., Batalla, P., Moros, M., Polo, E., del Pino, P., Guisán, J. M., et al. (2011). Taking advantage of unspecific interactions to produce highly active magnetic nanoparticle-antibody conjugates. ACS Nano 5, 4521–4528. doi: 10.1021/nn200019s
- Putman, C. A. J., de Grooth, B. G., Hansma, P. K., van Hulst, N. F., and Greve, J. (1993). Immunogold labels: cell-surface markers in atomic force microscopy. *Ultramicroscopy* 48, 177–182. doi: 10.1016/0304-3991(93)90180-6
- Ravi, S., Krishnamurthy, V. R., Caves, J. M., Haller, C. A., and Chaikof, E. L. (2012). Maleimide-thiol coupling of a bioactive peptide to an elastin-like protein polymer. *Acta Biomaterialia* 8, 627–635. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2011.10.027
- Ray, P. C., Fortner, A., and Darbha, G. K. (2006). Gold nanoparticle based FRET assay for the detection of DNA cleavage. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 110, 20745–20748. doi: 10.1021/jp0651211
- Reed, A. M., and Metallo, S. J. (2010). Oriented protein adsorption to gold nanoparticles through a genetically encodable binding motif. *Langmuir* 26, 18945–18950. doi: 10.1021/la1035135
- Reynolds, A. J., Haines, A. H., and Russell, D. A. (2006). Gold glyconanoparticles for mimics and measurement of metal ion-mediated carbohydrate-carbohydrate interactions. *Langmuir* 22, 1156–1163. doi: 10.1021/la052261y
- Reynolds, M., Marradi, M., Imberty, A., Penades, S., and Perez, S. (2012). Multivalent gold glycoclusters: high affinity molecular recognition by bacterial lectin PA-IL. *Chem. A Eur. J.* 18, 4264–4273. doi: 10.1002/chem.201102034
- Rojo, J., Diaz, V., de la Fuente, J. M., Segura, I., Barrientos, A. G., Riese, H. H., et al. (2004). Gold glyconanoparticles as new tools in antiadhesive therapy. *Chembiochem* 5, 291–297. doi: 10.1002/cbic.200300726
- Rosa, J., Conde, J., de la Fuente, J. M., Lima, J. C., and Baptista, P. V. (2012). Goldnanobeacons for real-time monitoring of RNA synthesis. *Biosens. Bioelectron*. 36, 161–167. doi: 10.1016/j.bios.2012.04.006
- Rosa, J. P., Lima, J. C., and Baptista, P. V. (2011). Experimental photophysical characterization of fluorophores in the vicinity of gold nanoparticles. *Nanotechnology* 22:415202. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/22/41/415202
- Rosensweig, R. E. (2002). Heating magnetic fluid with alternating magnetic field. J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 252, 370–374. doi: 10.1016/S0304-8853(02)00706-0
- Rostro-Kohanloo, B. C., Bickford, L. R., Payne, C. M., Day, E. S., Anderson, L. J. E., Zhong, M., et al. (2009). The stabilization and targeting of surfactantsynthesized gold nanorods. *Nanotechnology* 20:434005. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/20/43/434005
- Roullier, V., Clarke, S., You, C., Pinaud, F., Gouzer, G., Schaible, D., et al. (2009). High-affinity labeling and tracking of individual histidine-tagged proteins in live cells using Ni2+ tris-nitrilotriacetic acid quantum dot conjugates. *Nano Lett.* 9, 1228–1234. doi: 10.1021/nl9001298
- Ruan, J., Song, H., Qian, Q. R., Li, C., Wang, K., Bao, C. C., et al. (2012). HER2 monoclonal antibody conjugated RNase-A-associated CdTe quantum dots for targeted imaging and therapy of gastric cancer. *Biomaterials* 33, 7093–7102. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.06.053
- Ruoslahti, E., Bhatia, S. N., and Sailor, M. J. (2010). Targeting of drugs and nanoparticles to tumors. J. Cell Biol. 188, 759–768. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200910104
- Sahoo, B., Sahu, S. K., and Pramanik, P. (2011). A novel method for the immobilization of urease on phosphonate grafted iron oxide nanoparticle. *J. Mol. Catal. B Enzym.* 69, 95–102. doi: 10.1016/j.molcatb.2011.01.001
- Sam, S., Touahir, L., Salvador Andresa, J., Allongue, P., Chazalviel, J. N., Gouget-Laemmel, A. C., et al. (2009). Semiquantitative study of the EDC/NHS

activation of acid terminal groups at modified porous silicon surfaces. *Langmuir* 26, 809–814. doi: 10.1021/la902220a

- Santra, S., Kaittanis, C., and Perez, J. M. (2009). Aliphatic hyperbranched polyester: a new building block in the construction of multifunctional nanoparticles and nanocomposites. *Langmuir* 26, 5364–5373. doi: 10.1021/la9037843
- Sanz, V., Conde, J., Hernandez, Y., Baptista, P. V., Ibarra, M. R., and de la Fuente, J. M. (2012). Effect of PEG biofunctional spacers and TAT peptide on dsRNA loading on gold nanoparticles. *J. Nanopart. Res.* 14, 1–9. doi: 10.1007/s11051-012-0917-2
- Sato, K., Hosokawa, K., and Maeda, M. (2003). Rapid aggregation of gold nanoparticles induced by non-cross-linking DNA hybridization. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 125, 8102–8103. doi: 10.1021/ja034876s
- Sawant, R. R., and Torchilin, V. P. (2012). Multifunctional nanocarriers and intracellular drug delivery. *Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci.* 16, 269–275. doi: 10.1016/j.cossms.2012.09.001
- Scherer, F., Anton, M., Schillinger, U., Henke, J., Bergemann, C., Kruger, A., et al. (2002). Magnetofection: enhancing and targeting gene delivery by magnetic force *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Gene Ther.* 9, 102–109. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.33 01624
- Schofield, C. L., Field, R. A., and Russell, D. A. (2007). Glyconanoparticles for the colorimetric detection of cholera toxin. *Anal.Chem.* 79, 1356–1361. doi: 10.1021/ac061462j
- Schofield, C. L., Haines, A. H., Field, R. A., and Russell, D. A. (2006). Silver and gold glyconanoparticles for colorimetric bioassays. *Langmuir* 22, 6707–6711. doi: 10.1021/la060288r
- Schultz, S., Smith, D. R., Mock, J. J., and Schultz, D. A. (2000). Single-target molecule detection with nonbleaching multicolor optical immunolabels. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 996–1001. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.3.996
- Sheehan, J. C., Preston, J., and Cruickshank, P. A. (1965). A rapid synthesis of oligopeptide derivatives without isolation of intermediates. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 87, 2492–2493. doi: 10.1021/ja01089a034
- Shemetov, A. A., Nabiev, I., and Sukhanova, A. (2012). Molecular interaction of proteins and peptides with nanoparticles. ACS Nano 6, 4585–4602. doi: 10.1021/nn300415x
- Shen, H., Jawaid, A. M., and Snee, P. T. (2009). Poly(ethylene glycol) Carbodiimide coupling reagents for the biological and chemical functionalization of watersoluble nanoparticles. ACS Nano 3, 915–923. doi: 10.1021/nn800870r
- Shinchi, H., Wakao, M., Nakagawa, S., Mochizuki, E., Kuwabata, S., and Suda, Y. (2012). Stable sugar-chain-immobilized fluorescent nanoparticles for probing lectin and cells. *Chem. Asian J.* 7, 2678–2682. doi: 10.1002/asia.2012 00362
- Shvedova, A. A., Kagan, V. E., and Fadeel, B. (2010). Close encounters of the small kind: adverse effects of man-made materials interfacing with the nanocosmos of biological systems. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 50, 63–88. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.010909.105819
- Simpson, C. A., Agrawal, A. C., Balinski, A., Harkness, K. M., and Cliffel, D. E. (2011). Short-chain PEG mixed monolayer protected gold clusters increase clearance and red blood cell counts. ACS Nano 5, 3577–3584. doi: 10.1021/nn103148x
- Singh, B. R., Singh, B. N., Khan, W., Singh, H. B., and Naqvi, A. H. (2012). ROS-mediated apoptotic cell death in prostate cancer LNCaP cells induced by biosurfactant stabilized CdS quantum dots. *Biomaterials* 33, 5753–5767. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.04.045
- Singh, M. P., and Strouse, G. F. (2010). Involvement of the LSPR spectral overlap for energy transfer between a dye and au nanoparticle. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 132, 9383–9391. doi: 10.1021/ja1022128
- Skaff, H., and Emrick, T. (2003). The use of 4-substituted pyridines to afford amphiphilic, pegylated cadmium selenide nanoparticles. *Chem. Commun.* 52– 53. doi: 10.1039/b208718a
- Smith, A. M., Dave, S., Nie, S. M., True, L., and Gao, X. H. (2006). Multicolor quantum dots for molecular diagnostics of cancer. *Expert Rev. Mol. Diagn.* 6, 231–244. doi: 10.1586/14737159.6.2.231
- Smith, A. M., and Nie, S. (2012). Compact quantum dots for single-molecule imaging. J. Vis. Exp. 68:4236. doi: 10.3791/4236
- Smith, A. M., Wen, M. M., and Nie, S. (2010). Imaging dynamic cellular events with quantum dots The bright future. *Biochem. (Lond.)* 32:12.
- So, M. K., Loening, A. M., Gambhir, S. S., and Rao, J. H. (2006a). Creating self-illuminating quantum dot conjugates. *Nat. Protoc.* 1, 1160–1164. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2006.162

- So, M. K., Xu, C. J., Loening, A. M., Gambhir, S. S., and Rao, J. H. (2006b). Selfilluminating quantum dot conjugates for *in vivo* imaging. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 24, 339–343. doi: 10.1038/nbt1188
- Sperling, R. A., and Parak, W. J. (2010). Surface modification, functionalization and bioconjugation of colloidal inorganic nanoparticles. *Philos. Trans. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 368, 1333–1383. doi: 10.1098/rsta.2009.0273
- Sperling, R. A., Pellegrino, T., Li, J. K., Chang, W. H., and Parak, W. J. (2006). Electrophoretic separation of nanoparticles with a discrete number of functional groups. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* 16, 943–948. doi: 10.1002/adfm.2005 00589
- Sperling, R. A., Rivera, G. P., Zhang, F., Zanella, M., and Parak, W. J. (2008). Biological applications of gold nanoparticles. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 37, 1896–1908. doi: 10.1039/b712170a
- Srinivasan, C., Lee, J., Papadimitrakopoulos, F., Silbart, L. K., Zhao, M. H., and Burgess, D. J. (2006). Labeling and intracellular tracking of functionally active plasmid DNA with semiconductor quantum dots. *Mol. Ther.* 14, 192–201. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2006.03.010
- Storhoff, J. J., Lucas, A. D., Garimella, V., Bao, Y. P., and Muller, U. R. (2004). Homogeneous detection of unamplified genomic DNA sequences based on colorimetric scatter of gold nanoparticle probes. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 22, 883–887. doi: 10.1038/nbt977
- Strozyk, M. S., Chanana, M., Pastoriza-Santos, I., Perez-Juste, J., and Liz-Marzan, L. M. (2012). Protein/polymer-based dual-responsive gold nanoparticles with pH-dependent thermal sensitivity. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* 22, 1436–1444. doi: 10.1002/adfm.201102471
- Sudhagar, P., Gonzalez-Pedro, V., Mora-Sero, I., Fabregat-Santiago, F., Bisquert, J., and Kang, Y. S. (2012). Interfacial engineering of quantum dot-sensitized TiO2 fibrous electrodes for futuristic photoanodes in photovoltaic applications. *J. Mater. Chem.* 22, 14228–14235. doi: 10.1039/c2jm31599h
- Sugahara, K. N., Teesalu, T., Karmali, P. P., Kotamraju, V. R., Agemy, L., Girard, O. M., et al. (2009). Tissue-penetrating delivery of compounds and nanoparticles into tumors. *Cancer Cell* 16, 510–520. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.10.013
- Surendiran, A., Sandhiya, S., Pradhan, S. C., and Adithan, C. (2009). Novel applications of nanotechnology in medicine. *Indian J. Med. Res.* 130, 689–701.
- Susumu, K., Uyeda, H. T., Medintz, I. L., Pons, T., Delehanty, J. B., and Mattoussi, H. (2007). Enhancing the stability and biological functionalities of quantum dots via compact multifunctional ligands. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 129, 13987–13996. doi: 10.1021/ja0749744
- Svobodova, Z., Reza, M. M., Jankovicova, B., Esselmann, H., Verpillot, R., Otto, M., et al. (2012). Development of a magnetic immunosorbent for on-chip preconcentration of amyloid beta isoforms: representatives of Alzheimer's disease biomarkers. *Biomicrofluidics* 6, 24126–2412612. doi: 10.1063/1.4722588
- Tan, W. B., Jiang, S., and Zhang, Y. (2007). Quantum-dot based nanoparticles for targeted silencing of HER2/neu gene via RNA interference. *Biomaterials* 28, 1565–1571. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2006.11.018
- Tang, B., Zhang, N., Chen, Z., Xu, K., Zhuo, L., An, L., et al. (2008). Probing hydroxyl radicals and their imaging in living cells by use of FAM-DNA-Au nanoparticles. *Chemistry* 14, 522–528. doi: 10.1002/chem.200700455
- Thaxton, C. S., Georganopoulou, D. G., and Mirkin, C. A. (2006). Gold nanoparticle probes for the detection of nucleic acid targets. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 363, 120–126. doi: 10.1016/j.cccn.2005.05.042
- Thomas, M., and Klibanov, A. M. (2003). Conjugation to gold nanoparticles enhances polyethylenimine's transfer of plasmid DNA into mammalian cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 9138–9143. doi: 10.1073/pnas.12336 34100
- van der Voort, D., Pelsers, M. M., Korf, J., Hermens, W. T., and Glatz, J. F. C. (2004). A continuous displacement immunoassay for human heart-type fatty acid-binding protein in plasma. *J. Immunol. Methods* 295, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2004.08.012
- van der Zee, J. (2002). Heating the patient: a promising approach? Ann. Oncol. 13, 1173–1184. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdf280
- Verma, A., and Stellacci, F. (2010). Effect of surface properties on nanoparticle-cell interactions. *Small* 6, 12–21. doi: 10.1002/smll.200901158
- Vertegel, A. A., Siegel, R. W., and Dordick, J. S. (2004). Silica nanoparticle size influences the structure and enzymatic activity of adsorbed lysozyme. *Langmuir* 20, 6800–6807. doi: 10.1021/la0497200
- Voliani, V., Ricci, F., Signore, G., Nifosi, R., Luin, S., and Beltram, F. (2011). Multiphoton molecular photorelease in click-chemistry-functionalized gold nanoparticles. *Small* 7, 3271–3275. doi: 10.1002/smll.201101753

- von Maltzahn, G., Ren, Y., Park, J. H., Min, D. H., Kotamraju, V. R., Jayakumar, J., et al. (2008). *In vivo* tumor cell targeting with click nanoparticles. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 19, 1570–1578. doi: 10.1021/bc800077y
- Wagner, F. E., Haslbeck, S., Stievano, L., Calogero, S., Pankhurst, Q. A., and Martinek, K. P. (2000). Before striking gold in gold-ruby glass. *Nature* 407, 691–692. doi: 10.1038/35037661
- Wahajuddin and Arora, S. (2012). Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: magnetic nanoplatforms as drug carriers. *Int. J. Nanomed.* 7, 3445–3471. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S30320
- Wang, J., Xu, J., Goodman, M. D., Chen, Y., Cai, M., Shinar, J., et al. (2008). A simple biphasic route to water soluble dithiocarbamate functionalized quantum dots. *J. Mater. Chem.* 18, 3270–3274. doi: 10.1039/b803618g
- Wang, Q., Chan, T. R., Hilgraf, R., Fokin, V. V., Sharpless, K. B., and Finn, M. G. (2003). Bioconjugation by copper(I)-catalyzed azide-alkyne [3 + 2] cycloaddition. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 125, 3192–3193. doi: 10.1021/ja021381e
- Wang, T., and Guo, Z. J. (2006). Copper in medicine: homeostasis, chelation therapy and antitumor drug design. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 13, 525–537. doi: 10.2174/092986706776055742
- Wang, Z., Levy, R., Fernig, D. G., and Brust, M. (2005). The peptide route to multifunctional gold nanoparticles. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 16, 497–500. doi: 10.1021/bc050047f
- Watson, J. D., and Crick, F. H. (1953). Molecular structure of nucleic acids; a structure for deoxyribose nucleic acid. *Nature* 171, 737–738. doi: 10.1038/171737a0
- Weissleder, R., Kelly, K., Sun, E. Y., Shtatland, T., and Josephson, L. (2005). Cell-specific targeting of nanoparticles by multivalent attachment of small molecules. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 23, 1418–1423. doi: 10.1038/nbt1159
- Weller, H. (1993). Colloidal semiconductor Q-particles—chemistry in the transition region between solid-state and molecules. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 32, 41–53. doi: 10.1002/anie.199300411
- Wolcott, A., Gerion, D., Visconte, M., Sun, J., Schwartzberg, A., Chen, S. W., et al. (2006). Silica-coated CdTe quantum dots functionalized with thiols for bioconjugation to IgG proteins. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 110, 5779–5789. doi: 10.1021/jp057435z
- Wu, S. C., Ng, K. K. S., and Wong, S. L. (2009b). Engineering monomeric streptavidin and its ligands with infinite affinity in binding but reversibility in interaction. *Proteins* 77, 404–412. doi: 10.1002/prot.22446
- Wu, S. M., Zhang, Z. L., Wang, X. D., Zhang, M. X., Peng, J., Xie, Z. X., et al. (2009a). Quantum dot-ferrichrome bioprobes for recognition of pseudomonas fluorescens. J. Phys. Chem. C 113, 9169–9174. doi: 10.1021/jp901221h
- Wu, X. Y., Liu, H. J., Liu, J. Q., Haley, K. N., Treadway, J. A., Larson, J. P., et al. (2003). Immunofluorescent labeling of cancer marker Her2 and other cellular targets with semiconductor quantum dots. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 21, 41–46. doi: 10.1038/nbt764
- Wu, Z. S., Jiang, J. H., Fu, L., Shen, G. L., and Yu, R. Q. (2006). Optical detection of DNA hybridization based on fluorescence quenching of tagged oligonucleotide probes by gold nanoparticles. *Anal. Biochem.* 353, 22–29. doi: 10.1016/j.ab.2006.01.018
- Xia, Z. Y., Xing, Y., So, M. K., Koh, A. L., Sinclair, R., and Rao, J. H. (2008). Multiplex detection of protease activity with quantum dot nanosensors prepared by intein-mediated specific bioconjugation. *Anal. Chem.* 80, 8649–8655. doi: 10.1021/ac801562f
- Xie, J., Xu, C., Kohler, N., Hou, Y., and Sun, S. (2007). Controlled PEGylation of monodisperse Fe3O4 nanoparticles for reduced non-specific uptake by macrophage cells. *Adv. Mater.* 19, 3163–3166. doi: 10.1002/adma.200701975
- Xing, Y., Smith, A. M., Agrawal, A., Ruan, G., and Nie, S. (2006). Molecular profiling of single cancer cells and clinical tissue specimens with semiconductor quantum dots. *Int. J. Nanomed.* 1, 473–481. doi: 10.2147/nano.2006.1.4.473
- Xu, J., Yin, W., Zhang, Y., Yi, J., Meng, M., Wang, Y., et al. (2012). Establishment of magnetic beads-based enzyme immunoassay for detection of chloramphenicol in milk. *Food Chem.* 134, 2526–2531. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.04.083
- Xu, S., Kumar, S., and Nann, T. (2006). Rapid synthesis of high-quality InP nanocrystals. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128, 1054–1055. doi: 10.1021/ja057676k
- Xu, X., Daniel, W. L., Wei, W., and Mirkin, C. A. (2010). Colorimetric Cu(2+) detection using DNA-modified gold-nanoparticle aggregates as probes and click chemistry. *Small* 6, 623–626. doi: 10.1002/smll.200901691
- Yallapu, M. M., Othman, S. F., Curtis, E. T., Gupta, B. K., Jaggi, M., and Chauhan, S. C. (2011). Multi-functional magnetic nanoparticles for magnetic resonance imaging and cancer therapy. *Biomaterials* 32, 1890–1905. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.11.028

- Yang, Y., Cui, X. K., Zhong, M., and Li, Z. J. (2012a). Study of carbohydrate-protein interactions using glyco-QDs with different fluorescence emission wavelengths. *Carbohydr. Res.* 361, 189–194. doi: 10.1016/j.carres.2012.08.018
- Yang, Y., Lan, J., Xu, Z., Chen, T., Zhao, T., Cheng, T., et al. (2012b). Toxicity and biodistribution of aqueous synthesized ZnS and ZnO quantum dots in mice. *Nanotoxicology* 8, 107–116. doi: 10.3109/17435390.2012.760014
- Ye, M., Zhang, Y. Y., Li, H. T., Zhang, Y. Q., Tan, P., Tang, H., et al. (2009). A novel method for the detection of point mutation in DNA using single-base-coded CdS nanoprobes. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 24, 2339–2345. doi: 10.1016/j.bios.2008.12.002
- Yezhelyev, M. V., Qi, L. F., O'Regan, R. M., Nie, S., and Gao, X. H. (2008). Protonsponge coated quantum dots for siRNA delivery and intracellular imaging. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 130, 9006–9012. doi: 10.1021/ja800086u
- Yoo, D., Lee, J. H., Shin, T. H., and Cheon, J. (2011). Theranostic magnetic nanoparticles. Acc. Chem. Res. 44, 863–874. doi: 10.1021/ar200085c
- Zhang, B. B., Cheng, J., Li, D. N., Liu, X. H., Ma, G. P., and Chang, J. (2008). A novel method to make hydrophilic quantum dots and its application on biodetection. *Mater. Sci. Eng. B Adv.* 149, 87–92. doi: 10.1016/j.mseb.2007.12.009
- Zhang, C. Y., and Hu, J. (2010). Single quantum dot-based nanosensor for multiple DNA detection. Anal. Chem. 82, 1921–1927. doi: 10.1021/ac9026675
- Zhang, C. Y., Yeh, H. C., Kuroki, M. T., and Wang, T. H. (2005a). Single-quantumdot-based DNA nanosensor. *Nat. Mater.* 4, 826–831. doi: 10.1038/nmat1508
- Zhang, P. F., Liu, S. H., Gao, D. Y., Hu, D. H., Gong, P., Sheng, Z. H., et al. (2012a). Click-functionalized compact quantum dots protected by multidentate-imidazole ligands: conjugation-ready nanotags for living-virus labeling and imaging. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134, 8388–8391. doi: 10.1021/ja302367s
- Zhang, S. X., Wang, N., Yu, H. J., Niu, Y. M., and Sun, C. Q. (2005b). Covalent attachment of glucose oxidase to an Au electrode modified with gold nanoparticles for use as glucose biosensor. *Bioelectrochemistry* 67, 15–22. doi: 10.1016/j.bioelechem.2004.12.002
- Zhang, T., Wu, Y. P., Pan, X. M., Zheng, Z. H., Ding, X. B., and Peng, Y. X. (2009). An approach for the surface functionalized gold nanoparticles with pHresponsive polymer by combination of RAFT and click chemistry. *Eur. Polym. J.* 45, 1625–1633. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2009.03.016
- Zhang, X., Servos, M. R., and Liu, J. (2012b). Surface science of DNA adsorption onto citrate-capped gold nanoparticles. *Langmuir* 28, 3896–3902. doi: 10.1021/la205036p
- Zhao, E. Y., Zhao, Z. X., Wang, J. C., Yang, C. H., Chen, C. J., Gao, L. Y., et al. (2012a). Surface engineering of gold nanoparticles for *in vitro* siRNA delivery. *Nanoscale* 4, 5102–5109. doi: 10.1039/c2nr31290e
- Zhao, Q., Wang, L. N., Cheng, R., Mao, L. D., Arnold, R. D., Howerth, E. W., et al. (2012b). Magnetic nanoparticle-based hyperthermia for head & neck cancer in mouse models. *Theranostics* 2, 113–121. doi: 10.7150/thno.3854

- Zhao, Y., Zhao, L. J., Zhou, L. J., Zhi, Y., Xu, J. M., Wei, Z., et al. (2010). Quantum dot conjugates for targeted silencing of bcr/abl gene by RNA interference in human myelogenous leukemia K562 cells. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 10, 5137–5143. doi: 10.1166/jnn.2010.2396
- Zhou, D. J., Ying, L. M., Hong, X., Hall, E. A., Abell, C., and Klenerman, D. (2008a). A compact functional quantum dot-DNA conjugate: preparation, hybridization, and specific label-free DNA detection. *Langmuir* 24, 1659–1664. doi: 10.1021/la703583u
- Zhou, M., Nakatani, E., Gronenberg, L. S., Tokimoto, T., Wirth, M. J., Hruby, V. J., et al. (2007). Peptide-labeled quantum dots for imaging GPCRs in whole cells and as single molecules. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 18, 323–332. doi: 10.1021/ bc0601929
- Zhou, Y., Wang, S. X., Zhang, K., and Jiang, X. Y. (2008b). Visual detection of copper(II) by azide- and alkyne-functionalized gold nanoparticles using click chemistry. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 47, 7454–7456. doi: 10.1002/anie.200802317
- Zhu, J., Waengler, C., Lennox, R. B., and Schirrmacher, R. (2012a). Preparation of water-soluble maleimide-functionalized 3 nm gold nanoparticles: a new bioconjugation template. *Langmuir* 28, 5508–5512. doi: 10.1021/ la300316j
- Zhu, K., Zhang, Y., He, S., Chen, W. W., Shen, J. Z., Wang, Z., et al. (2012b). Quantification of proteins by functionalized gold nanoparticles using click chemistry. Anal. Chem. 84, 4267–4270. doi: 10.1021/ac3010567
- Zuo, G., Huang, Q., Wei, G., Zhou, R., and Fang, H. (2010). Plugging into proteins: poisoning protein function by a hydrophobic nanoparticle. ACS Nano 4, 7508–7514. doi: 10.1021/nn101762b

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 24 April 2014; accepted: 24 June 2014; published online: 15 July 2014. Citation: Conde J, Dias JT, Grazú V, Moros M, Baptista PV and de la Fuente JM (2014) Revisiting 30 years of biofunctionalization and surface chemistry of inorganic nanoparticles for nanomedicine. Front. Chem. **2**:48. doi: 10.3389/fchem.2014.00048 This article was submitted to Chemical Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Chemistry.

Copyright © 2014 Conde, Dias, Grazú, Moros, Baptista and de la Fuente. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Nanomedicines for cancer therapy: state-of-the-art and limitations to pre-clinical studies that hinder future developments

Charlene M. Dawidczyk^{1,2,3†}, Luisa M. Russell^{1,2,3†} and Peter C. Searson^{1,2,3}*

¹ Institute for Nanobiotechnology, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA

² Johns Hopkins Center of Cancer Nanotechnology Excellence, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA

³ Department of Materials Science and Engineering, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA

Edited by:

João Conde, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA

Reviewed by:

Yanli Zhao, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore Fernando Novio, Institut Catalá de Nanociència i Nanotecnologia, Spain

*Correspondence:

Peter C. Searson, Johns Hopkins University, 100 Croft Hall, 3400 North Charles Street, Baltimore, MD 21218, USA e-mail: searson@jhu.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

The ability to efficiently deliver a drug or gene to a tumor site is dependent on a wide range of factors including circulation time, interactions with the mononuclear phagocyte system, extravasation from circulation at the tumor site, targeting strategy, release from the delivery vehicle, and uptake in cancer cells. Nanotechnology provides the possibility of creating delivery systems where the design constraints are decoupled, allowing new approaches for reducing the unwanted side effects of systemic delivery, increasing tumor accumulation, and improving efficacy. The physico-chemical properties of nanoparticle-based delivery platforms introduce additional complexity associated with pharmacokinetics, tumor accumulation, and biodistribution. To assess the impact of nanoparticle-based delivery systems, we first review the design strategies and pharmacokinetics of FDA-approved nanomedicines. Next we review nanomedicines under development, summarizing the range of nanoparticle platforms, strategies for targeting, and pharmacokinetics. We show how the lack of uniformity in preclinical trials prevents systematic comparison and hence limits advances in the field.

Keywords: drug delivery systems, nanoparticles, targeted therapy, pharmacokinetics, tumor accumulation

INTRODUCTION

Drug therapy often involves the use of small molecules such as alkylating agents (e.g., busulfan), anti-metabolites (e.g., gemcitabine), anti-microtubule agents (e.g., paclitaxel, vincristine), topoisomerase inhibitors (e.g., topotecan), and cytotoxic inhibitors (e.g., doxorubicin). These cytotoxic molecules kill highly proliferative cancer cells, but also other proliferative cells in bone marrow, the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, and hair follicles, leading to common side effects such as compromised immune system, inflammation and ulceration of the GI tract, and hair loss. Nanotechnology provides the possibility of creating delivery systems where the design constraints are decoupled, allowing new approaches for reducing the unwanted side effects of systemic delivery, increasing tumor accumulation, and improving efficacy.

The development of safe and efficient delivery systems is also important for advances in human gene therapy (Pack et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2013). A delivery system must transport a gene with high efficiency to target cells, with minimal toxicity and immune response. The main challenges for gene delivery are protecting the genetic material from degradation in circulation, avoiding degradation by enzymes in endosomes in the target cell, and escaping from endosomes to reach the nucleus or target compartment (Mintzer and Simanek, 2009; Zhang et al., 2012).

Key properties for drug and gene delivery systems are biocompatibility, stability in circulation, and increasing the fraction of the dose accumulating in the tumor. Drug toxicity can be reduced by encapsulating the free drug (e.g., liposomes) or by locally activating a pro-drug. Stability in circulation can be improved by developing strategies to minimize protein binding and evade the immune system. The efficiency of accumulation at a tumor site can be improved by active targeting of the delivery system or by increasing extravasation by the enhanced permeation and retention (EPR) effect.

The FDA-approved nanomedicines in clinical use have demonstrated the potential for increasing bioavailability, enhancing drug solubility, active targeting, and high drug loading (Dawidczyk et al., 2014). However, there remain many challenges in exploiting advances in nanotechnology and bioengineering to develop systems that will have significant impact on patient survival rates. The development of delivery systems remains largely empirical and the lack of standardization of pre-clinical studies is a barrier to establishing design rules for nanomedicines. While studies of complex systems with combined reporting/sensing functions along with drug or gene delivery may ultimately improve diagnosis and treatment, there are many fundamental issues that need to be addressed to establish the relationship between physico-chemical properties, pharmacokinetics, biodistribution, and survival rates.

Tumor uptake is modulated by the EPR effect (Jain and Stylianopoulos, 2010; Fang et al., 2011; Torchilin, 2011) and hence increasing the circulation time generally increases tumor accumulation. A common approach for increasing circulation time
is to provide a surface coating of polyethylene glycol (PEG). Whilst PEG coating increases circulation time and hence can increase tumor accumulation, it also inhibits uptake by tumor cells (Barenholz, 2012). Furthermore, PEG coating slows but does not prevent adsorption of opsonins that promote uptake by macrophages of the liver and spleen. Targeting molecules such as immunoglobulin-G (IgG) antibodies are opsonins and hence promote clearance by the mononuclear phagocyte system (MPS) (Walkey and Chan, 2012). The conjugation of folate to liposomes significantly increases their uptake by tumor-associated macrophages (Turk et al., 2004).

FDA-APPROVED NANOMEDICINES

There are currently six FDA-approved nanomedicines (**Table 1**): brentuximab vedotin and Trastuzumab emtansine, Doxil, DaunoXome, Marqibo, and Abraxane (Dawidczyk et al., 2014). Brentuximab vedotin and Trastuzumab emtansine are antibody-drug conjugates (ADCs), conceptually one of the simplest nanomedicines with an anticancer drug conjugated to a targeting molecule. Brentuximab targets the protein CD30, a glycosylated phosphoprotein expressed by B cells, including B-cell lymphomas, some leukemias, and melanoma cancer stem cells (Mullard, 2013; Sassoon and Blanc, 2013; Sievers and Senter, 2013). Trastuzumab targets the human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) overexpressed in HER2 positive breast cancer (Lu et al., 2012; Verma et al., 2012). Monomethyl auristan E (MMAE) (Brentuximab vedotin) and mertansine (Trastuzumab emtansine) are too toxic to be used alone and hence coupling to a targeting antibody reduces toxic side effects. Several drug molecules are conjugated to each antibody via a valine-citrulline cleavable linker (Brentuximab vedotin) or covalent linkage (Trastuzumab emtansine) that is enzymatically degraded in endosomes following uptake. The small number of FDA-approved ADCs highlights the difficulty in translating relatively simple nanomedicines to the clinic.

DaunoXome, Doxil, and Marqibo are liposomal nanomedicines. Doxil is a pegylated liposome about 100 nm in diameter and encapsulating about 10,000 doxorubicin molecules (Barenholz, 2012). Encapsulation minimizes side effects, such as cardiotoxicity, associated with high doses of free doxorubicin. The concentration of doxorubicin in the liposomes is greater than the solubility limit and hence most of the drug is in the solid phase (Barenholz, 2012). The incorporation of cholesterol increases the bilayer cohesiveness and reduces leakage. These features minimize osmotic effects and contribute to stability. with more than 98% of the circulating drug remaining inside liposomes (Lasic et al., 1992; Gabizon et al., 1994, 2003). The polyethylene glycol coating is designed to give a long circulation half time and thereby increase tumor accumulation by the EPR effect (Immordino et al., 2006; Vllasaliu et al., 2014). While the

Platform	Class	Drug	d (nm)	Drug/carrier ratio	Key design feature(s)	Problem addressed
Brentuximab vedotin	ADC	Monomethyl auristan E	~10	≤8	Valine-citrulline linker cleaved by cathepsin in endosomes	Monomethyl auristan E (MMAE) is too toxic to be used alone
Trastuzumab emtansine	ADC	Mertansine	~10	<u>≤</u> 8	Non-cleavable linker; release of drug by proteolytic degradation of antibody in endosomes	Mertansine is too toxic to be used alone
Doxil	Liposome	Doxorubicin	100	10,000–15,000	Lipid encapsulation for high drug/carrier ratio, polyethylene glycol coating to evade MPS, crystallization of drug in liposome minimizes escape during circulation	Drug toxicity and adverse cardiac side effects
DaunoXome	Liposome	Daunorubicin	50	~10,000	No polyethylene glycol coating, targeted by MPS resulting in slow release into circulation	Drug toxicity and adverse cardiac side effects
Marqibo	Liposome	Vincristine	100	~10,000	No polyethylene glycol coating, targeted by MPS resulting in slow release into circulation	Drug toxicity and adverse side effects
Abraxane	Protein carrier	Paclitaxel	130	>10,000	Non-specific binding of paclitaxel to albumin	Overcomes very low solubility of paclitaxel

mechanisms of uptake and release are not known, evidence suggests that the liposomes are taken up by endocytosis (Seynhaeve et al., 2013).

DaunoXome (Gill et al., 1996; Bellott et al., 2001; Lowis et al., 2006) and Marqibo (Bedikian et al., 2011; Silverman and Deitcher, 2013) are liposomal formulations of daunorubicin and vincristine, respectively. In contrast to Doxil, the design strategy for DaunoXome and Marqibo is to promote uptake by the MPS, providing a reservoir from which the free drug can enter circulation, similar to a slow infusion. This is achieved by not including pegylated lipids in the liposomes (Gill et al., 1996; Bellott et al., 2001; Silverman and Deitcher, 2013). DaunoXome is about 50 nm in diameter (Gill et al., 1996), and Marqibo is about 100 nm in diameter (Silverman and Deitcher, 2013).

Abraxane, or nab-paclitaxel (nanoparticle albumin bound), is lyophilized human serum albumin non-specifically bound to paclitaxel (Miele et al., 2009). Paclitaxel has very low solubility and is administered with the toxic non-ionic solvent Cremophor, which can lead to a wide range of allergic reactions. On injection, Abraxane particles dissociate into smaller albuminpaclitaxel complexes or unbound paclitaxel (Yardley, 2013). Since albumin is abundant in circulation, Abraxane provides a reservoir of a very low solubility drug in a non-toxic platform. The particles are about 130 nm in diameter and contain about 10,000 paclitaxel molecules (Miele et al., 2009).

The pharmacokinetics of these nanomedicines reflects their design (**Table 2**). Brentuximab vedotin and Trastuzumab emtansine both have moderate areas under the curve (AUCs), relatively low clearance, and long elimination half-times of 3–4 days (Younes et al., 2010; Lorusso et al., 2011; Girish et al., 2012; Lu et al., 2012; Bradley et al., 2013). Doxil has high AUC, low clearance rate, small distribution volume, and a long elimination half-time (Barenholz, 2012). These features are largely due to the polyethylene glycol coating that provides extended evasion of the MPS and minimizes distribution into peripheral tissues

(Gabizon et al., 1994; Hubert et al., 2000; Lyass et al., 2000; Hong and Tseng, 2001; Hamilton et al., 2002). DaunoXome (Gill et al., 1996; Bellott et al., 2001; Lowis et al., 2006) and Marqibo (Bedikian et al., 2011; Silverman and Deitcher, 2013) have clearance rates about an order of magnitude larger than for the ADCs and Doxil, low distribution volumes, and short elimination half-times on the order of 10 h. The larger AUC associated with DaunoXome is related to the larger dose range compared to Marqibo. Abraxane has a fast clearance rate, about two orders of magnitudes larger than DaunoXome and Marqibo, large distribution volume, and elimination half-time similar to DaunoXome and Marqibo (Sparreboom et al., 2005; Ando et al., 2012). The pharmacokinetics for Abraxane are similar to free paclitaxel and the other free drugs: low AUC, high clearance rate, high distribution volume, and short elimination half-time.

Overall it is evident that antibody drug conjugates or liposomes with a pegylated surface have long elimination halftimes, typically of 3–4 days. Increasing elimination half-times is expected to increase tumor accumulation via the EPR effect. However, increased tumor accumulation does not necessarily imply improved efficacy since processes such as transport, uptake, drug release, and delivery to the appropriate cellular compartment are all downstream of extravasation by the EPR effect.

NANOPARTICLE PLATFORMS, TARGETING MOIETIES NANOPARTICLE PLATFORMS

The development of a broad range of nanoparticle platforms with the ability to tune size, composition, and functionality has provided a significant resource for nanomedicine (**Table 3**) (Niemeyer, 2001; Duncan, 2006; Cho et al., 2008; Greco and Vicent, 2009; Yu et al., 2013). Nanoparticle platforms can be broadly categorized as organic, inorganic, and hybrid.

Organic nanoparticles have been widely explored for decades, yielding a large variety of materials, formulations, imaging modalities, cargo, and targets for cancer therapy.

	D 2/		0.4.4.			.	
Drug	Dose mg ² /m	AUC (mg h/L)	CL (L/h)	V _d (L)	t _{1/2} (h)	References	
Brentuximab vedotin	90–110	3.2-4.9	0.071–0.075	8.2–10.2	106–144	Younes et al., 2010; Bradley et al., 2013	
Trastuzumab emtansine	10–160	0.6–28	0.023–0.070	1.7–3.5	31–98	Lorusso et al., 2011; Girish et al., 2012; Lu et al., 2012	
Doxil	25–80	600–4900	0.023–0.045	2.1–6.4	42–90	Gabizon et al., 1994; Hubert et al., 2000; Lyass et al., 2000; Hong and Tseng, 2001; Hamilton et al., 2002	
DaunoXome	10–190	17–1700	0.40-0.94	2.9–4.1	2.8–8.3	Gill et al., 1996; Bellott et al., 2001; Lowis et al., 2006	
Marqibo	2.0–2.25	5–15	0.36–0.38	2.6–2.9	9.6–12	Bedikian et al., 2011; Silverman and Deitcher, 2013	
Abraxane	150–300	4–10	31–67	900–1700	11–26	Sparreboom et al., 2005; Ando et al., 2012	
Doxorubicin	15–72	0.5–3.8	25–72	250–1800	9–29	Erttmann et al., 1988; Jacquet et al., 1990; Piscitelli et al., 1993; Gabizon et al., 1994	
Daunorubicin	40-120	1–19	110–150	200–450	9–24	Bellott et al., 2001; Krogh-Madsen et al., 2012	
Paclitaxel	170–330	6–40	15–50	160–530	7.2–7.6	Sparreboom et al., 2005	

Table 2 | Summary of pharmacokinetics for FDA-approved nanomedicines and corresponding free drugs from human clinical trials.

In most cases, data represent the range of mean or median values for obtained from different doses. For unit conversion we used an average body surface area of 1.7 m², an average body weight of 60 kg, and a blood volume of 5 L.

Table 3 | Summary of nanoparticle platforms for nanomedicine.

	Particle type	Composition/Structure	Properties	Applications
	Polymer	e.g., PLGA, glycerol, chitosan, DNA; monomers, copolymers, hydrogels	Some biodegradable	Drug delivery; passive release (diffusion), controlled release (triggered)
**	Dendrimer	PAMAM, etc.	Low polydispersity, cargo, biocompatible	Drug delivery
*	Lipid	Liposomes, micelles	Can carry hydrophobic cargo, biocompatible, typically 50–500 nm	Drug delivery
	Quantum dots	CdSe, CulnSe, CdTe, etc.	Broad excitation, no photobleaching, tunable emission, typically 5–100 nm	Optical imaging
	Gold	Spheres, rods, or shells	Biocompatibility, typically 5–100 nm	Hyperthermia therapy, drug delivery
	Silica	Spheres, shells, mesoporous	Biocompatibility	Contrast agents, drug delivery (encapsulation)
	Magnetic	Iron oxide or cobalt-based; spheres, aggregates in dextran or silica	Superparamagnetic, ferromagnetic (small remanence to minimize aggregation), superferromagnetic (~10 nm), paramagnetic	Contrast agents (MRI), hyperthermia therapy
	Carbon-based	Carbon nanotubes, buckyballs, graphene	Biocompatible	Drug delivery

Organic polymer systems include synthetic polymers [e.g., polyethyleneimine (PEI), polyethylene glycol] (Knop et al., 2010; Nicolas et al., 2013), synthetic hydrogels (e.g., polyacrylamide) (Ando et al., 2012; Liechty and Peppas, 2012), natural polymers (e.g., chitosan, hvaluronic acid, alginate, gelatin) (Ando et al., 2012) and hydrolytically or enzymatically degradable polymers (e.g., collagen, polylactic acid, polycaprolactone) (Balogh et al., 2007). Combinations of components and/or monomer units and incorporation of other building blocks such as DNA contribute to the flexibility of polymer-based nanoparticle platforms. These systems can be passively loaded with a cargo, or a cargo can be incorporated to allow triggered release (Davis et al., 2008). Particles such as block copolymers, liposomes, and dendrimers can provide a reservoir for large amounts of cargo. Block copolymers combine the attributes of two or more monomer units allowing further functionality (Duncan, 2006; Greco and Vicent, 2009). Lipid-based nanoparticles include micelles, liposomes, or water oil emulsions. Dendrimers are hyperbranched synthetic polymers for which biodistribution, size, and multifunctionality can be tuned with a very low degree of polydispersity (Cho et al., 2008). Proteins (e.g., albumin) (Fuchs and Coester, 2010) and viruses (Steinmetz, 2010) have also been extensively studied for drug and gene delivery.

Inorganic nanoparticles provide advantages in function and properties not possible with organic nanoparticle platforms, although this is often at the expense of biocompatibility. Examples of materials include semiconductors (quantum dots) (Gao et al., 2004; Medintz et al., 2005; Michalet et al., 2005; Park et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2012a; Petryayeva et al., 2013), silica (Vanblaaderen and Vrij, 1992; Giri et al., 2005, 2007; Burns et al., 2006), gold (Boisselier and Astruc, 2009; Arvizo et al., 2010), magnetic materials (Arruebo et al., 2007; Banerjee et al., 2010; Haun et al., 2010), and carbon-based materials (Prato et al., 2008; Jain, 2012). Semiconductor nanoparticles, or quantum dots, have a narrow and tunable emission spectrum, a broad excitation spectrum, and do not photobleach. These characteristics are attractive for optical imaging, however, many quantum dots are synthesized from heavy metal elements and hence toxicity is a concern. Silicon dioxide (silica), the most widely used oxide, is a versatile material that is relatively inert. Silica can be used to encapsulate other materials or cargoes and the surface can be conjugated using silane chemistry. Silica can be synthesized with nanometer scale pores (mesoporous silica) that can be used to hold other cargoes. Of the metallic materials, gold is widely used for biological applications as it is easy to synthesize, can be functionalized using thiol chemistry, and is relatively inert. Many of the noble metals absorb

electromagnetic radiation in the visible range of the spectrum (plasmon absorbance), and have been explored for hyperthermia therapy. Gold nanoparticles conjugated with PEG and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α are being developed for targeted cancer therapy (Libutti et al., 2010).

Ferromagnetic materials, such as iron oxide (magnetite, Fe_3O_4), iron, cobalt, and nickel offer an additional degree of freedom in the synthesis of nanoparticles for nanomedicine (Arruebo et al., 2007). Very small ferromagnetic nanoparticles (typically < 10 nm) have no intrinsic magnetization in the absence of a magnetic field, and hence do not aggregate in colloidal suspension. These superparamagnetic nanoparticles can be manipulated in an external field providing a simple method for spatial manipulation and washing. Magnetic nanoparticles, such as superparamagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) nanoparticles have been used for magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and hyperthermia therapy (Yu et al., 2013).

Carbon-based nanoparticles have exploited the small size and unique properties of buckyballs, carbon nanotubes, and grapheme (Yu et al., 2013). Combinations of organic and inorganic materials, taking advantage of specific materials and structures have also been widely explored in multifunctional nanoparticle platforms.

Hybrid nanoparticles with organic and inorganic components or associated combinations of inorganic nanostructures provide further opportunities for introducing multiple functionalities. These systems can exploit the biocompatibility of organic nanoparticles, while still retaining the stability and function of inorganic nanoparticles. Inorganic nanoparticle conjugates allow for multimodal imaging and theranostic applications. Examples include constructs such as liposomes filled with magnetic nanoparticles (Sailor and Park, 2012), coordination polymer nanoparticles (Novio et al., 2013), and metal-organic frameworks (Horcajada et al., 2012).

TARGETING MOIETIES (ANTIBODIES, APTAMERS, SMALL MOLECULES, ETC.)

Active targeting of a nanoparticle is a way to minimize uptake in normal tissue and increase accumulation in a tumor. Strategies for active targeting of tumors usually involve targeting surface membrane proteins that are upregulated in cancer cells (Huynh et al., 2010; Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). While this strategy is widely used, tumor cell populations are extremely heterogeneous and expression levels can vary significantly. Targeting molecules are typically antibodies (Dill et al., 1994; Arruebo et al., 2009; Chames et al., 2009), antibody fragments (Holliger and Hudson, 2005), aptamers (Keefe et al., 2010; Hu and Zhang, 2013), or small molecules (**Figure 1**).

Accumulation of a delivery system at a tumor site by the EPR effect is dependent in part on the concentration in the circulation. Processes such as clearance by the MPS or uptake in normal tissue decrease the concentration in circulation and hence decrease the accumulation in the tumor. Active targeting can provide an additional sink for a nanoparticle platform since expression of target molecules is usually differential in that the target is highly expressed in tumor cells but expressed at low levels in other cell types in the vascular system. Since the surface area of the





vasculature is much larger than the tumor, active binding in normal tissue can be significant, even for targets that are expressed at relatively low levels (Jain, 2005). Furthermore, targeting moieties may themselves be targets for receptors on phagocytic cells, as described above.

Antibodies

Monoclonal IgG antibodies (mAbs) are widely used for protein recognition and targeting since they have two epitope binding sites, high selectivity, and high binding affinity (Chames et al., 2009). Antibodies are the largest of the targeting ligands, approximately 150 kDa or about 15 nm long and about 5 nm in diameter. The binding (dissociation) constants for antibody—antigen interactions vary over a wide range from 10^{-6} to 10^{-9} M, but can be as high as 10^{-12} M for high affinity antibodies (Dill et al., 1994). For targeting applications, the Fc region of the antibody can be a disadvantage if it is accessible to Fc receptors on macrophages, which can lead to increased accumulation in the liver and spleen (Allen, 2002).

Antibody fragments

Antigen binding sites represent only a small part of the overall size of antibodies. $F(ab')_2$ fragments retain both antigen binding sites of the antibody coupled by disulfide linkages. Cleavage of the disulfide bond under reducing conditions yields two Fab' fragments with sulfhydryl groups that can be used for coupling to the targeting platform. Single chain variable fragments maintain only the variable regions (variable light chain and variable heavy chain) of one arm of an antibody.

Aptamers

Aptamers are folded single strand oligonucleotides, 25–100 nucleotides in length (8–25 kDa) that bind to molecular targets (Tuerk and Gold, 1990; Keefe et al., 2010). High throughput screening methods can be used for rapid selection of aptamers for specific targets (Bunka and Stockley, 2006). Macugen, approved for use in the treatment of macular degeneration in 2004, is currently the only FDA approved aptamer (Adamis et al., 2006).

Small molecules

Small molecules for targeting include peptides, growth factors, carbohydrates, ureas, and receptor ligands (Weissleder et al., 2005). Specific examples include folic acid, transferrin, and the RGD peptide sequence. Folic acid (441 Da) is recognized by the folic acid receptor and is expressed in normal epithelial cells but is overexpressed in many cancer types, especially ovarian, brain, and lung cancers (Kamen and Smith, 2004; Hilgenbrink and Low, 2005; Parker et al., 2005; Chames et al., 2009; Muller and Schibli, 2013; Naumann et al., 2013). Folic acid is essential for amino acid synthesis and hence for cell survival and proliferation, and has a high affinity ($K_d < 10^{-9}$ M) (Hartmann et al., 2007). Transferrin is a chelating protein that regulates the supply of iron into cells via receptor-mediated endocytosis (Kresse et al., 1998). The transferrin receptor is expressed at low levels in most normal tissues but is overexpressed in many tumor types (Daniels et al., 2012). The RGD (Arg-Gly-Asp) peptide is a target for integrins (e.g., $\alpha_v\beta_3$) on the cell surface (Ruoslahti, 1996; Hynes, 2002). RGD is a component of the extracellular matrix protein fibronectin and promotes cell adhesion and regulates cell migration, growth, and proliferation (Ruoslahti, 1996; Hynes, 2002). A cyclic peptide containing the RGD sequence is widely used for targeting to integrins (Haubner et al., 1996). The upregulation of integrins is promoted by angiogenic factors in several cancer types (Dechantsreiter et al., 1999; Hosotani et al., 2002; Furger et al., 2003; Sheldrake and Patterson, 2009).

TUMOR ACCUMULATION AND TARGETING EFFICIENCY

In preclinical studies the efficacy of a drug is often determined from the time dependence of tumor size or from the fraction of animals that survive after a candidate therapy. These parameters are particularly useful in assessing the potential therapeutic benefit of a new delivery system but integrate many factors. An additional parameter that is important in assessing the potential efficacy of delivery systems is the tumor accumulation or targeting efficiency—the fraction of an intravenously administered dose that accumulates in a tumor (%ID). Despite the importance of this parameter, very few measurements are reported in the literature.

We have reviewed 40 pre-clinical studies of delivery systems employing passive targeting (Supplementary Table S1), and 34 pre-clinical studies employing active targeting (Supplementary Table S2). Only studies reporting quantitative results of tumor accumulation were selected. Analysis of these pre-clinical studies highlights the need for guidelines to improve the overall impact of research in this field. Despite the importance of pharmacokinetics and tumor accumulation in assessing the efficiency of delivery systems, very few preclinical studies report quantitative results that can be used to develop design rules for nanomedicines.

PASSIVE TARGETING

Delivery systems used in pre-clinical studies exploiting passive targeting include liposomes (Harrington et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2006; Soundararajan et al., 2009; Zheng et al., 2009; Huang et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2012a; Coimbra et al., 2012; Hsu et al., 2012; Mahakian et al., 2014) (Kheirolomoom et al., 2010), micelles (Yokoyama et al., 1999; Le Garrec et al., 2002; Kawano et al., 2006; Reddy et al., 2006; Rijcken et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2008; Hoang et al., 2009; Shiraishi et al., 2009; Blanco et al., 2010; Sumitani et al., 2011; Wang and Gartel, 2011; Zhao et al., 2012; Miller et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2013), gold nanoparticles (Hainfeld et al., 2006; Von Maltzahn et al., 2009; Puvanakrishnan et al., 2012), iron oxide nanoparticles (Ujiie et al., 2011), silica nanoparticles (Chen et al., 2012b; Di Pasqua et al., 2012), carbon-based nanostructures (Liu et al., 2011; Robinson et al., 2012; Rong et al., 2014), quantum dots (Sun et al., 2014), and hybrid nanomaterials (Balogh et al., 2007; Tinkov et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2012) (Paraskar et al., 2012) (Ohno et al., 2013) (Supplementary Table S1).

Of the 40 pre-clinical studies, only a few (4/40) reported tumor accumulation as %ID, while the remainder reported normalized accumulation as %ID/g or %ID/cc. The tumor accumulation varies over a wide range from 0.1 to 35%ID/g at 24 h postinjection. Passive delivery systems are generally pegylated and have sizes in the range from 2 to 200 nm. However, there are no clear trends in terms of identifying physico-chemical parameters that influence the pharmacokinetics or tumor accumulation. Although pegylation is generally assumed to increase circulation time and hence increase tumor accumulation, there is no consistent difference in tumor accumulation between pegylated and non-pegylated delivery systems.

Similarly, there is no obvious dependence on the size or shape of the delivery system. For example, the tumor accumulation of pegylated liposomes around 100 nm in diameter in three studies varied from 0.4 to 11%ID/g (Soundararajan et al., 2009; Kheirolomoom et al., 2010; Hsu et al., 2012). The large variation is likely due to the differences in xenograft cell line, tumor size, and dose. Similarly, tumor accumulation in two pre-clinical studies of 30 nm diameter micelles with different polymer formulations were 1.5%ID/g (Yokoyama et al., 1999) and 9.5%ID/g (Blanco et al., 2010). These two studies used different models (orthotopic vs. xenograft), tumor cell line (A549 vs. C26), tumor size (200 vs. 100 mm³), and injected dose (30–50 mg/kg vs. 10 mg/kg). These differences in experimental design limit the ability to compare the two different micelle formulations. These examples highlight the difficulty in comparing pre-clinical trials due to the variability in experimental design.

ACTIVE TARGETING

Targeted delivery systems used in quantitative pre-clinical studies include silica (Benezra et al., 2011; Tang et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2013), gold (Melancon et al., 2008; Lu et al., 2009, 2010; Chanda et al., 2010; Choi et al., 2010; Morales-Avila et al., 2011; Chattopadhyay et al., 2012), liposomes (Iyer et al., 2011; Helbok et al., 2012; Petersen et al., 2012), micelles (Hu et al., 2008; Penate Medina et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2011b; Fonge et al., 2012; Helbok et al., 2012) (Rossin et al., 2005; Khemtong et al., 2009; Zhan et al., 2010; Poon et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2011a; Xiao et al., 2012), iron oxide (Natarajan et al., 2008; Kumar et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2011), graphene (Hong et al., 2012; Cornelissen et al., 2013; Shi et al., 2013), gadolinium (Ovewumi et al., 2004), polymer nanocarriers (Kunjachan et al., 2014), nanoemulsions (Ohguchi et al., 2008), quantum dots (Gao et al., 2010), and hybrid (Cheng et al., 2014) (Supplementary Table S2). Similar to passive targeting, few studies (3/34) report %ID rather than %ID/g. The most common targeting ligands are antibody based (9/34 studies), the RGD peptide sequence (10/34), and folate (5/34). Targeting efficiencies obtained using RGD peptides, folate, antibodies, and antibody fragments are typically between 1 and 15%ID/g (Supplementary Table S2).

Assessing the efficiency of a targeting ligand in increasing tumor accumulation is complicated by the different control experiments used in these studies. The contribution of passive targeting was assessed by measuring tumor accumulation of the delivery system without attachment of the targeting ligand (20/34), with attachment of a non-specific ligand (2/34), pre-injection with a blocking molecule or treatment (10/34), or with a xenograft formed from a cell line that did not express the target molecule (2/34). Several studies (4/34) did not report a control experiment. Each control experiment has advantages and disadvantages. For example, removing a targeting ligand from a delivery system may alter the physico-chemical properties and hence change the pharmacokinetics. As described in more detail below, xenografts formed from different cell lines may have significantly different vascularization and hence the rate of extravasation to the tumor site by the EPR effect may be significantly different. Pre-injection with a blocking molecule may not completely prevent binding to the target molecule or may reduce binding in normal tissue. To account for these potential complications, a few studies (3/34) used multiple controls.

Of the 30 pre-clinical studies that reported control experiments, 33% (10/30) showed less than a two-fold increase in targeting compared to the control, and 50% (15/30) showed an increase in tumor accumulation of more than 2%ID/g with the targeting ligand. For example, a tumor accumulation of 9%ID was reported for SPIONS with anti-ChL6 2 days post-injection compared to 1% without the targeting antibody (Natarajan et al., 2008). A tumor accumulation of $7 \pm 1\%ID$ was reported for gadolinium nanoparticles with a folate targeting ligand, and $9 \pm 4\%ID$ in the control with no targeting ligand (Oyewumi et al., 2004). While active targeting of a delivery system to a tumor site has the potential to reduce unwanted side effects, these studies highlight the difficulties in assessing targeting efficiency due to the large differences in experimental design and the range of controls used to assess the contribution of passive targeting.

TUMOR ACCUMULATION

In general, the uptake of a delivery system in a tumor tends to increase post-injection but then decreases at longer times (Supplementary Table S1 and S2). For example, tumor accumulation of radiolabeled liposomes increased to 11.3%ID/g over the first 24 h, then decreased to 6.1%ID/g after 72 h (Hsu et al., 2012). Tumor accumulation of self-activating quantum dots increased to 13%ID/g over the first 24 h, but decreased to 11%ID/g after 42 h (Sun et al., 2014). Similarly, tumor accumulation of pegylated micelles with a gelatinase binding peptide was reported to increase to almost 18% ID/g over the first 6 h, but decreased to 2% ID/g after 24 h (Penate Medina et al., 2011). Tumor accumulation of gold nanoparticles with the RGD peptide increased to 3.65% ID/g over the first hour followed by a decrease by almost half to 1.94% ID/g 24 h post-injection (Morales-Avila et al., 2011). The details of the time dependence of tumor accumulation are important in understanding the pharmacokinetics, the EPR effect, and the limitations to accumulating a drug at the tumor site. In many studies, an insufficient number of time points precludes detailed analysis of pharmacokinetics and tumor accumulation.

The cell line used in forming a xenograft can have significant influence on tumor accumulation and efficacy. In the 74 quantitative pre-clinical trials reviewed here, 35 different cell types were used to form xenografts. The most common cell lines were the 4T1 murine breast cancer cell line (10/71) and the C26 colon carcinoma cell line (10/71), both of which form highly vascularized tumors. Tumor accumulation of micelles with the RGD peptide was 6%ID/g in a mouse model with a C26 xenograft and 3%ID/g with a less leaky BxPC3 xenograft (Kunjachan et al., 2014), highlighting the need for standardization of cell lines.

Tumor size can have a significant influence on tumor accumulation. For example, a study using radiolabeled liposomes compared targeting efficiency among tumors of different sizes using the KB cell line (Harrington et al., 2000). The tumor accumulation for small tumors (≤ 0.1 g) was around 15%ID/g, whereas for larger tumors (≥ 1 g) was only 3%ID/g.

GUIDELINES FOR PRE-CLINICAL STUDIES OF DELIVERY SYSTEMS

While the physico-chemical properties of delivery systems are expected to exert a significant influence on pharmacokinetics, tumor accumulation, and biodistribution, there are numerous problems in comparing pre-clinical studies. In particular, differences in cell line and tumor size, dose, lack of good pharmacokinetics data, and differences in reporting make meta-analysis extremely difficult and are a limitation to progress in the field (**Table 4**). Similarly, physico-chemical properties of the delivery system such as size, surface properties (i.e., pegylation), zeta potential, targeting ligand density, and stability in blood or serum at physiological temperature are not uniformly reported.

For example, results are usually reported as percent of initial administered dose per gram of tumor (%ID/g), which is only useful if the tumor mass is also reported. For example, a tumor accumulation of 10%ID/g is 10% of the initial dose for a 1 g

Table 4 | Summary of limitations to pre-clinical studies of nanomedicines that hinder broad assessment of design rules.

Problem	Solution
Total tumor accumulation (%ID) is not always reported Inconsistent reporting of tumor size/weight	Report tumor accumulation as %ID (and %ID/g) Report tumor size/weight
Inconsistent reporting of dose	Report dose as total number of nanoparticles injected Along with other parameters such as drug loading, drug concentration (and/or drug amount), and activity of dose (gamma counter)
Inconsistent reporting of physico-chemical properties	Report standard physico-chemical properties (e.g., size, zeta potential, surface coating, stability under physiological conditions)
Tumor accumulation reported at different time points	Report tumor accumulation at standard time points (e.g., 1 and 24 h post-injection). Detailed pharmacokinetics (concentration in blood and tumor) at multiple time points is preferred
Variation in tumor characteristics (type, size, vascularization, etc.)	Standardize tumor type and size (e.g., C26 or 4T1; 1 cm diameter) More difficult for active targeting depending on target molecule
Variation in controls used in active targeting	Report control studies for delivery system with no targeting ligand and any differences in physico-chemical properties. Report other control studies as necessary
Variation in animal models (mouse, rat, etc.) and differences in drug concentration compared to humans	Use mouse xenograft model for initial pre-clinical studies
Different detection methods used to assess tumor accumulation	Perform validation using other method(s)

tumor but 1% of the initial dose for a 0.1 g tumor. These differences are significant in terms of the efficiency of delivery and minimizing unwanted side effects in normal tissue. In some cases tumor characteristics such as tumor diameter or approximate tumor volume are reported, however, these parameters can only be used to estimate the absolute percentage of the initial dose.

Mouse models are widely used for research studies of disease progression and the development of new therapies (Frese and Tuveson, 2007). Rat and rabbit models are also commonly used for pre-clinical studies. Standard tumor models include subcutaneous xenografts of human cell lines or explants, orthotopic xenografts, and genetically engineered mouse models (Frese and Tuveson, 2007; Chen et al., 2012a). While these models are invaluable for pre-clinical studies, differences in physiology can lead to differences in circulation and tumor accumulation compared to humans (Steichen et al., 2012).

Xenografts represent a relatively straightforward model to study the pharmacokinetics, tumor accumulation, and biodistribution of a nanomedicine, however, tumor characteristics vary considerably with cell line and size (Harrington et al., 2000; Jain and Stylianopoulos, 2010). The density and vascularization of tumors of similar size can also vary significantly. Highly invasive cell lines often form more highly vascularized tumors, for example xenografts of colon cancer cell lines have vasculature that is much more leaky than pancreatic cancer cell lines. Therefore, tumor uptake by the EPR effect is expected to be strongly dependent on the cell line used. Establishing a standard cell line and tumor size for xenografts would greatly enhance comparison of pre-clinical trials of delivery systems (Table 4). While this is feasible for passive delivery systems, active targeting often requires the use of specific cell lines that overexpress a particular biomarker.

Tumor accumulation is usually measured using a gamma counter, positron emission tomography (PET), or inductively coupled plasma mass spectroscopy (ICP-MS). The methods using a gamma counter or PET require that a suitable radiolabel is conjugated to the drug delivery platform. With a gamma counter, the radioactivity of the resected tumor is measured and compared to the radioactivity of the dose. To determine the tumor accumulation from PET scans, reconstructed 3D regions of interest are drawn around the tumor. The activity per unit mass can then be determined after correcting for decay and tissue density. An alternative to using a radiolabel to measure the tumor accumulation is to use ICP-MS to determine the amount of one or more elemental components in the delivery system and to compare to the initial dose. However, this method requires a component of the delivery system to be distinguishable from biological matter. In most pre-clinical studies only one of the methods is used to determine pharmacokinetics and tumor accumulation and hence there is no independent verification.

Tumor accumulation is expected to be dependent on the dose and time post-injection, and hence time-course studies at different doses are important for full characterization. In many cases, tumor accumulation is determined only at one or two time points therefore limiting analysis of the pharmacokinetics which is crucial for developing design rules.

SUMMARY

Nanoparticle-based delivery systems provide new opportunities to overcome the limitations associated with traditional drug therapy and to achieve both therapeutic and diagnostic functions in the same platform. The efficiency of drug or gene delivery to a tumor site is dependent on the physico-chemical properties of the delivery platform and a range of physiologically imposed design constraints including clearance by the mononuclear phagocyte system and extravasation from circulation at the tumor site by the enhanced permeability and retention effect.

The lack of uniformity in pre-clinical trials of nanoparticlebased delivery systems has prevented systematic comparison of these studies and has been an impediment to developing design rules for new systems or specific applications. Of the large number of pre-clinical trials, surprisingly few report quantitative data on parameters that would be useful in developing design rules for nanomedicines. The poor experimental design and variability of experimental conditions also contribute to slow development of the field and the lack of clinical impact. We highlight some of the problems with pre-clinical trials nanoparticle-based delivery systems and suggest some solutions to increase the impact of individual studies.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://www.frontiersin.org/journal/10.3389/fchem. 2014.00069/abstract

REFERENCES

- Adamis, A. P., Altaweel, M., Bressler, N. M., Cunningham, E. T., Davis, M. D., Goldbaum, M., et al. (2006). Changes in retinal neovascularization after pegaptanib (Macugen) therapy in diabetic individuals. *Ophthalmology* 113, 23–28. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2005.10.012
- Allen, T. M. (2002). Ligand-targeted therapeutics in anticancer therapy. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 2, 750–763. doi: 10.1038/nrc903
- Ando, M., Yonemori, K., Katsumata, N., Shimizu, C., Hirata, T., Yamamoto, H., et al. (2012). Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of nab-paclitaxel, nanoparticle albumin-bound paclitaxel, administered weekly to Japanese patients with solid tumors and metastatic breast cancer. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 69, 457–465. doi: 10.1007/s00280-011-1726-5
- Arruebo, M., Fernández-Pacheco, R., Ibarra, M. R., and Santamaría, J. (2007). Magnetic nanoparticles for drug delivery. *Nano Today* 2, 22–32. doi: 10.1016/S1748-0132(07)70084-1
- Arruebo, M., Valladares, M., and Gonzalez-Fernandez, A. (2009). Antibodyconjugated nanoparticles for biomedical applications. *J. Nanomat.* 2009:439389. doi: 10.1155/2009/439389
- Arvizo, R., Bhattacharya, R., and Mukherjee, P. (2010). Gold nanoparticles: opportunities and challenges in nanomedicine. *Expert Opin. Drug Deliv.* 7, 753–763. doi: 10.1517/17425241003777010
- Balogh, L., Nigavekar, S. S., Nair, B. M., Lesniak, W., Zhang, C., Sung, L. Y., et al. (2007). Significant effect of size on the *in vivo* biodistribution of gold composite nanodevices in mouse tumor models. *Nanomed. Nanotechnol. Biol. Med.* 3, 281–296. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2007.09.001
- Banerjee, R., Katsenovich, Y., Lagos, L., McIintosh, M., Zhang, X., and Li, C. Z. (2010). Nanomedicine: magnetic nanoparticles and their biomedical applications. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 17, 3120–3141. doi: 10.2174/092986710791959765
- Banerjee, S. R., Foss, C. A., Castanares, M., Mease, R. C., Byun, Y., Fox, J. J., et al. (2008). Synthesis and evaluation of technetium-99m-and rhenium-labeled inhibitors of the prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA). *J. Med. Chem.* 51, 4504–4517. doi: 10.1021/jm800111u
- Barenholz, Y. (2012). Doxil(R)-the first FDA-approved nano-drug: lessons learned. J. Control. Release 160, 117–134. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.03.020

- Bedikian, A. Y., Silverman, J. A., Papadopoulos, N. E., Kim, K. B., Hagey, A. E., Vardeleon, A., et al. (2011). Pharmacokinetics and safety of marqibo (vincristine sulfate liposomes injection) in cancer patients with impaired liver function. *J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 51, 1205–1212. doi: 10.1177/0091270010381499
- Bellott, R., Auvrignon, A., Leblanc, T., Perel, Y., Gandemer, V., Bertrand, Y., et al. (2001). Pharmacokinetics of liposomal daunorubicin [DaunoXome] during a phase I-II study in children with relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 47, 15–21. doi: 10.1007/s002800000206
- Benezra, M., Penate-Medina, O., Zanzonico, P. B., Schaer, D., Ow, H., Burns, A., et al. (2011). Multimodal silica nanoparticles are effective cancer-targeted probes in a model of human melanoma. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 2768–2780. doi: 10.1172/JCI45600
- Blanco, E., Bey, E. A., Khemtong, C., Yang, S. G., Setti-Guthi, J., Chen, H. B., et al. (2010). Beta-lapachone micellar nanotherapeutics for non-small cell lung cancer therapy. *Cancer Res.* 70, 3896–3904. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3995
- Boisselier, E., and Astruc, D. (2009). Gold nanoparticles in nanomedicine: preparations, imaging, diagnostics, therapies and toxicity. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 38, 1759–1782. doi: 10.1039/b806051g
- Bradley, A. M., Devine, M., and Deremer, D. (2013). Brentuximab vedotin: an anti-CD30 antibody-drug conjugate. Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm. 70, 589–597. doi: 10.2146/ajhp110608
- Bunka, D. H. J., and Stockley, P. G. (2006). Aptamers come of age—at last. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 4, 588–596. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1458
- Burns, A., Ow, H., and Wiesner, U. (2006). Fluorescent core-shell silica nanoparticles: towards "Lab on a Particle" architectures for nanobiotechnology. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 35, 1028–1042. doi: 10.1039/b600562b
- Chames, P., Van Regenmortel, M., Weiss, E., and Baty, D. (2009). Therapeutic antibodies: successes, limitations and hopes for the future. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 157, 220–233. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00190.x
- Chanda, N., Kattumuri, V., Shukla, R., Zambre, A., Katti, K., Upendran, A., et al. (2010). Bombesin functionalized gold nanoparticles show *in vitro* and *in vivo* cancer receptor specificity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 8760–8765. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1002143107
- Chattopadhyay, N., Fonge, H., Cai, Z., Scollard, D., Lechtman, E., Done, S. J., et al. (2012). Role of antibody-mediated tumor targeting and route of administration in nanoparticle tumor accumulation *in vivo*. *Mol. Pharm.* 9, 2168–2179. doi: 10.1021/mp300016p
- Chen, F., Hong, H., Zhang, Y., Valdovinos, H. F., Shi, S. X., Kwon, G. S., et al. (2013). *In vivo* tumor targeting and image-guided drug delivery with antibody-conjugated, radio labeled mesoporous silica nanoparticles. *ACS Nano* 7, 9027–9039. doi: 10.1021/nn403617j
- Chen, L. C., Wu, Y. H., Liu, I. H., Ho, C. L., Lee, W. C., Chang, C. H., et al. (2012a). Pharmacokinetics, dosimetry and comparative efficacy of Re-188-liposome and 5-FU in a CT26-luc lung-metastatic mice model. *Nucl. Med. Biol.* 39, 35–43. doi: 10.1016/j.nucmedbio.2011.06.010
- Chen, M., Fang, X. L., Tang, S. H., and Zheng, N. F. (2012b). Polypyrrole nanoparticles for high-performance *in vivo* near-infrared photothermal cancer therapy. *Chem. Commun.* 48, 8934–8936. doi: 10.1039/c2cc34463g
- Cheng, K., Kothapalli, S. R., Liu, H. G., Koh, A. L., Jokerst, J. V., Jiang, H., et al. (2014). Construction and validation of nano gold tripods for molecular imaging of living subjects. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 136, 3560–3571. doi: 10.1021/ja41 2001e
- Cho, K., Wang, X., Nie, S., Chen, Z. G., and Shin, D. M. (2008). Therapeutic nanoparticles for drug delivery in cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 14, 1310–1316. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1441
- Choi, C. H. J., Alabi, C. A., Webster, P., and Davis, M. E. (2010). Mechanism of active targeting in solid tumors with transferrin-containing gold nanoparticles. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 1235–1240. doi: 10.1073/pnas.09141 40107
- Coimbra, M., Rijcken, C. J. F., Stigter, M., Hennink, W. E., Storm, G., and Schiffelers, R. M. (2012). Antitumor efficacy of dexamethasone-loaded core-crosslinked polymeric micelles. *J. Control. Release* 163, 361–367. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.09.014
- Cornelissen, B., Able, S., Kersemans, V., Waghorn, P. A., Myhra, S., Jurkshat, K., et al. (2013). Nanographene oxide-based radioimmunoconstructs for *in vivo* targeting and SPECT imaging of HER2-positive tumors. *Biomaterials* 34, 1146–1154. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.10.054
- Daniels, T. R., Bernabeu, E., Rodriguez, J. A., Patel, S., Kozman, M., Chiappetta, D. A., et al. (2012). The transferrin receptor and the targeted delivery of

therapeutic agents against cancer. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1820, 291-317. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2011.07.016

- Davis, M. E., Chen, Z., and Shin, D. M. (2008). Nanoparticle therapeutics: an emerging treatment modality for cancer. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 7, 771–782. doi: 10.1038/nrd2614
- Dawidczyk, C. M., Kim, C., Park, J. H., Russell, L. M., Lee, K. H., Pomper, M. G., et al. (2014). State-of-the-art in design rules for drug delivery platforms: lessons learned from FDA-approved nanomedicines. J. Control. Release 187, 133–144. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.05.036
- Dechantsreiter, M. A., Planker, E., Matha, B., Lohof, E., Holzemann, G., Jonczyk, A., et al. (1999). N-methylated cyclic RGD peptides as highly active and selective alpha(v)beta(3) integrin antagonists. *J. Med. Chem.* 42, 3033–3040. doi: 10.1021/jm970832g
- Dill, K., Lin, M., Poteras, C., Fraser, C., Hafeman, D. G., Owicki, J. C., et al. (1994). Antibody-antigen binding constants determined in solution-phase with the threshold membrane-capture system - binding constants for antifluorescein, anti-saxitoxin, and anti-ricin antibodies. *Anal. Biochem.* 217, 128–138. doi: 10.1006/abio.1994.1093
- Di Pasqua, A. J., Miller, M. L., Lu, X. L., Peng, L., and Jay, M. (2012). Tumor accumulation of neutron-activatable holmium-containing mesoporous silica nanoparticles in an orthotopic non-small cell lung cancer mouse model. *Inorganica Chim. Acta* 393, 334–336. doi: 10.1016/j.ica.2012.06.016
- Duncan, R. (2006). Polymer conjugates as anticancer nanomedicines. Nat. Rev. Cancer 6, 688–701. doi: 10.1038/nrc1958
- Erttmann, R., Erb, N., Steinhoff, A., and Landbeck, G. (1988). Pharmacokinetics of doxorubicin in man: dose and schedule dependence. J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol. 114, 509–513. doi: 10.1007/BF00391502
- Fang, J., Nakamura, H., and Maeda, H. (2011). The EPR effect: unique features of tumor blood vessels for drug delivery, factors involved, and limitations and augmentation of the effect. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 63, 136–151. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2010.04.009
- Fonge, H., Huang, H., Scollard, D., Reilly, R. M., and Allen, C. (2012). Influence of formulation variables on the biodistribution of multifunctional block copolymer micelles. *J. Control. Release* 157, 366–374. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.09.088
- Frese, K. K., and Tuveson, D. A. (2007). Maximizing mouse cancer models. Nat. Rev. Cancer 7, 645–658. doi: 10.1038/nrc2192
- Fuchs, S., and Coester, C. (2010). Protein-based nanoparticles as a drug delivery system: chances, risks, perspectives. J. Drug Deliv. Sci. Technol. 20, 331–342.
- Furger, K. A., Allan, A. L., Wilson, S. M., Hota, C., Vantyghem, S. A., Postenka, C. O., et al. (2003). Beta(3) integrin expression increases breast carcinoma cell responsiveness to the malignancy-enhancing effects of osteopontin. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 1, 810–819.
- Gabizon, A., Catane, R., Uziely, B., Kaufman, B., Safra, T., Cohen, R., et al. (1994). Prolonged circulation time and enhanced accumulation in malignant exudates of doxorubicin encapsulated in polyethylene-glycol coated liposomes. *Cancer Res.* 54, 987–992.
- Gabizon, A., Shmeeda, H., and Barenholz, Y. (2003). Pharmacokinetics of pegylated liposomal Doxorubicin: review of animal and human studies. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* 42, 419–436. doi: 10.2165/00003088-200342050-00002
- Gao, J. H., Chen, K., Xie, R. G., Xie, J., Yan, Y. J., Cheng, Z., et al. (2010). In vivo tumor-targeted fluorescence imaging using near-infrared non-cadmium quantum dots. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 21, 604–609. doi: 10.1021/bc900323v
- Gao, X. H., Cui, Y. Y., Levenson, R. M., Chung, L. W. K., and Nie, S. M. (2004). In vivo cancer targeting and imaging with semiconductor quantum dots. Nat. Biotechnol. 22, 969–976. doi: 10.1038/nbt994
- Gill, P. S., Wernz, J., Scadden, D. T., Cohen, P., Mukwaya, G. M., Von Roenn, J. H., et al. (1996). Randomized phase III trial of liposomal daunorubicin versus doxorubicin, bleomycin, and vincristine in AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcoma. J. Clin. Oncol. 14, 2353–2364.
- Giri, S., Trewyn, B. G., and Lin, V. S. Y. (2007). Mesoporous silica nanomaterialbased biotechnological and biomedical delivery systems. *Nanomedicine* 2, 99–111. doi: 10.2217/17435889.2.1.99
- Giri, S., Trewyn, B. G., Stellmaker, M. P., and Lin, V. S. (2005). Stimuli-responsive controlled-release delivery system based on mesoporous silica nanorods capped with magnetic nanoparticles. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 44, 5038–5044. doi: 10.1002/anie.200501819
- Girish, S., Gupta, M., Wang, B., Lu, D., Krop, I. E., Vogel, C. L., et al. (2012). Clinical pharmacology of trastuzumab emtansine (T-DM1): an antibody-drug

conjugate in development for the treatment of HER2-positive cancer. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 69, 1229–1240. doi: 10.1007/s00280-011-1817-3

- Greco, F., and Vicent, M. J. (2009). Combination therapy: opportunities and challenges for polymer-drug conjugates as anticancer nanomedicines. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 61, 1203–1213. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2009.05.006
- Hainfeld, J. F., Slatkin, D. N., Focella, T. M., and Smilowitz, H. M. (2006). Gold nanoparticles: a new X-ray contrast agent. *Br. J. Radiol.* 79, 248–253. doi: 10.1259/bjr/13169882
- Hamilton, A., Biganzoli, L., Coleman, R., Mauriac, L., Hennebert, P., Awada, A., et al. (2002). EORTC 10968: a phase I clinical and pharmacokinetic study of polyethylene glycol liposomal doxorubicin (Caelyx, Doxil) at a 6-week interval in patients with metastatic breast cancer. European organization for research and treatment of cancer. Ann. Oncol. 13, 910–918. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdf157
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* 144, 646–674. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Harrington, K. J., Rowlinson-Busza, G., Syrigos, K. N., Abra, R. M., Uster, P. S., Peters, A. M., et al. (2000). Influence of tumour size on uptake of In-111-DTPAlabelled pegylated liposomes in a human tumour xenograft model. *Br. J. Cancer* 83, 684–688. doi: 10.1054/bjoc.2000.1320
- Hartmann, L. C., Keeney, G. L., Lingle, W. L., Christianson, T. J. H., Varghese, B., Hillman, D., et al. (2007). Folate receptor overexpression is associated with poor outcome in breast cancer. *Int. J. Cancer* 121, 938–942. doi: 10.1002/ijc.22811
- Haubner, R., Gratias, R., Diefenbach, B., Goodman, S. L., Jonczyk, A., and Kessler,
 H. (1996). Structural and functional aspects of RGD-containing cyclic pentapeptides as highly potent and selective integrin alpha(v)beta(3) antagonists.
 J. Am. Chem. Soc. 118, 7461–7472. doi: 10.1021/ja9603721
- Haun, J. B., Yoon, T. J., Lee, H., and Weissleder, R. (2010). Magnetic nanoparticle biosensors. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanome. Nanobiotechnol. 2, 291–304. doi: 10.1002/wnan.84
- Helbok, A., Rangger, C., Von Guggenberg, E., Saba-Lepek, M., Radolf, T., Thurner, G., et al. (2012). Targeting properties of peptide-modified radiolabeled liposomal nanoparticles. *Nanomedicine* 8, 112–118. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2011.04.012
- Hilgenbrink, A. R., and Low, P. S. (2005). Folate receptor-mediated drug targeting: from therapeutics to diagnostics. J. Pharm. Sci. 94, 2135–2146. doi: 10.1002/jps.20457
- Hoang, B., Lee, H., Reilly, R. M., and Allen, C. (2009). Noninvasive monitoring of the fate of in-111-labeled block copolymer micelles by high resolution and high sensitivity MicroSPECT/CT imaging. *Mol. Pharm.* 6, 581–592. doi: 10.1021/mp8002418
- Holliger, P., and Hudson, P. J. (2005). Engineered antibody fragments and the rise of single domains. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 23, 1126–1136. doi: 10.1038/nbt1142
- Hong, H., Yang, K., Zhang, Y., Engle, J. W., Feng, L., Yang, Y., et al. (2012). In vivo targeting and imaging of tumor vasculature with radiolabeled, antibodyconjugated nanographene. ACS Nano 6, 2361–2370. doi: 10.1021/nn204625e
- Hong, R. L., and Tseng, Y. L. (2001). Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of a stable, polyethylene-glycolated liposomal doxorubicin in patients with solid tumors: the relation between pharmacokinetic property and toxicity. *Cancer* 91, 1826–1833. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(20010501)91:9<1826::AID-CNCR1203>3.0.CO;2-J
- Horcajada, P., Gref, R., Baati, T., Allan, P. K., Maurin, G., Couvreur, P., et al. (2012). Metal-organic frameworks in biomedicine. *Chem. Rev.* 112, 1232–1268. doi: 10.1021/cr200256v
- Hosotani, R., Kawaguchi, M., Masui, T., Koshiba, T., Ida, J., Fujimoto, K., et al. (2002). Expression of integrin alphaVbeta3 in pancreatic carcinoma: relation to MMP-2 activation and lymph node metastasis. *Pancreas* 25, e30–e35. doi: 10.1097/00006676-200208000-00021
- Hsu, C. W., Chang, Y. J., Chang, C. H., Chen, L. C., Lan, K. L., Ting, G., et al. (2012). Comparative therapeutic efficacy of rhenium-188 radiolabeled-liposome and 5fluorouracil in LS-174T human colon carcinoma solid tumor xenografts. *Cancer Biother. Radiopharm.* 27, 481–489. doi: 10.1089/cbr.2011.1158
- Hu, M., and Zhang, K. (2013). The application of aptamers in cancer research: an up-to-date review. *Future Oncol.* 9, 369–376. doi: 10.2217/fon.12.201
- Hu, Z., Luo, F., Pan, Y., Hou, C., Ren, L., Chen, J., et al. (2008). Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) peptide conjugated poly(lactic acid)-poly(ethylene oxide) micelle for targeted drug delivery. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 85, 797–807. doi: 10.1002/jbm.a.31615
- Huang, F. Y. J., Lee, T. W., Kao, C. H. K., Chang, C. H., Zhang, X. N., Lee,
 W. Y., et al. (2011). Imaging, autoradiography, and biodistribution of Re-188-labeled PEGylated nanoliposome in orthotopic glioma bearing rat model. *Cancer Biother. Radiopharm.* 26, 717–725. doi: 10.1089/cbr.2011.1052

- Hubert, A., Lyass, O., Pode, D., and Gabizon, A. (2000). Doxil (Caelyx): an exploratory study with pharmacokinetics in patients with hormone-refractory prostate cancer. *Anticancer Drugs* 11, 123–127. doi: 10.1097/00001813-200002000-00009
- Huynh, N. T., Roger, E., Lautram, N., Benoit, J. P., and Passirani, C. (2010). The rise and rise of stealth nanocarriers for cancer therapy: passive versus active targeting. *Nanomedicine (Lond)*. 5, 1415–1433. doi: 10.2217/nnm.10.113
- Hynes, R. O. (2002). Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. *Cell* 110, 673–687. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00971-6
- Immordino, M. L., Dosio, F., and Cattel, L. (2006). Stealth liposomes: review of the basic science, rationale, and clinical applications, existing and potential. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 1, 297–315.
- Iyer, A. K., Su, Y., Feng, J., Lan, X., Zhu, X., Liu, Y., et al. (2011). The effect of internalizing human single chain antibody fragment on liposome targeting to epithelioid and sarcomatoid mesothelioma. *Biomaterials* 32, 2605–2613. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.11.073
- Jacquet, J. M., Bressolle, F., Galtier, M., Bourrier, M., Donadio, D., Jourdan, J., et al. (1990). Doxorubicin and doxorubicinol: intra- and inter-individual variations of pharmacokinetic parameters. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 27, 219–225. doi: 10.1007/BF00685716
- Jain, K. K. (2012). Advances in use of functionalized carbon nanotubes for drug design and discovery. *Expert Opin. Drug Discov.* 7, 1029–1037. doi: 10.1517/17460441.2012.722078
- Jain, R. K. (2005). Normalization of tumor vasculature: an emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy. Science 307, 58–62. doi: 10.1126/science.1104819
- Jain, R. K., and Stylianopoulos, T. (2010). Delivering nanomedicine to solid tumors. Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol. 7, 653–664. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2010.139
- Jones, C. H., Chen, C. K., Ravikrishnan, A., Rane, S., and Pfeifer, B. A. (2013). Overcoming nonviral gene delivery barriers: perspective and future. *Mol. Pharm.* 10, 4082–4098. doi: 10.1021/mp400467x
- Kamen, B. A., and Smith, A. K. (2004). A review of folate receptor alpha cycling and 5-methyltetrahydrofolate accumulation with an emphasis on cell models *in vitro. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 56, 1085–1097. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2004. 01.002
- Kawano, K., Watanabe, M., Yamamoto, T., Yokoyama, M., Opanasopit, P., Okano, T., et al. (2006). Enhanced antitumor effect of camptothecin loaded in long-circulating polymeric micelles. *J. Control. Release* 112, 329–332. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2006.03.012
- Keefe, A. D., Pai, S., and Ellington, A. (2010). Aptamers as therapeutics. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 9, 537–550. doi: 10.1038/nrd3141
- Kheirolomoom, A., Mahakian, L. M., Lai, C. Y., Lindfors, H. A., Seo, J. W., Paoli, E. E., et al. (2010). Copper-doxorubicin as a nanoparticle cargo retains efficacy with minimal toxicity. *Mol. Pharm.* 7, 1948–1958. doi: 10.1021/ mp100245u
- Khemtong, C., Kessinger, C. W., Ren, J., Bey, E. A., Yang, S. G., Guthi, J. S., et al. (2009). *In vivo* off-resonance saturation magnetic resonance imaging of alphavbeta3-targeted superparamagnetic nanoparticles. *Cancer Res.* 69, 1651–1658. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3231
- Kim, S. H., Jeong, J. H., Lee, S. H., Kim, S. W., and Park, T. G. (2008). Local and systemic delivery of VEGF siRNA using polyelectrolyte complex micelles for effective treatment of cancer. J. Control. Release 129, 107–116. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2008.03.008
- Knop, K., Hoogenboom, R., Fischer, D., and Schubert, U. S. (2010). Poly(ethylene glycol) in drug delivery: pros and cons as well as potential alternatives. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 49, 6288–6308. doi: 10.1002/anie.200902672
- Kresse, M., Wagner, S., Pfefferer, D., Lawaczeck, R., Elste, V., and Semmler, W. (1998). Targeting of ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron oxide (USPIO) particles to tumor cells *in vivo* by using transferrin receptor pathways. *Magn. Reson. Med.* 40, 236–242. doi: 10.1002/mrm.1910400209
- Krogh-Madsen, M., Bender, B., Jensen, M. K., Nielsen, O. J., Friberg, L. E., and Honore, P. H. (2012). Population pharmacokinetics of cytarabine, etoposide, and daunorubicin in the treatment for acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 69, 1155–1163. doi: 10.1007/s00280-011-1800-z
- Kumar, M., Yigit, M., Dai, G. P., Moore, A., and Medarova, Z. (2010). Image-guided breast tumor therapy using a small interfering RNA nanodrug. *Cancer Res.* 70, 7553–7561. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2070
- Kunjachan, S., Pola, R., Gremse, F., Theek, B., Ehling, J., Moeckel, D., et al. (2014). Passive versus active tumor targeting using RGD- and NGR-modified polymeric nanomedicines. *Nano Lett.* 14, 972–981. doi: 10.1021/nl404391r

- Lasic, D. D., Frederik, P. M., Stuart, M. C., Barenholz, Y., and McIntosh, T. J. (1992). Gelation of liposome interior. A novel method for drug encapsulation. *FEBS Lett.* 312, 255–258. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(92)80947-F
- Le Garrec, D., Taillefer, J., Van Lier, J. E., Lenaerts, V., and Leroux, J. C. (2002). Optimizing pH-responsive polymeric micelles for drug delivery in a cancer photodynamic therapy model. *J. Drug Target.* 10, 429–437. doi: 10.1080/1061186021000001887
- Libutti, S. K., Paciotti, G. F., Byrnes, A. A., Alexander, H. R., Gannon, W. E., Walker, M., et al. (2010). Phase I and Pharmacokinetic Studies of CYT-6091, a Novel PEGylated Colloidal Gold-rhTNF Nanomedicine. *Clin. Cancer Res.*16, 6139–6149. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0978
- Liechty, W. B., and Peppas, N. A. (2012). Expert opinion: responsive polymer nanoparticles in cancer therapy. *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.* 80, 241–246. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2011.08.004
- Liu, X. W., Tao, H. Q., Yang, K., Zhang, S. A., Lee, S. T., and Liu, Z. A. (2011). Optimization of surface chemistry on single-walled carbon nanotubes for *in vivo* photothermal ablation of tumors. *Biomaterials* 32, 144–151. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.08.096
- Lorusso, P. M., Weiss, D., Guardino, E., Girish, S., and Sliwkowski, M. X. (2011). Trastuzumab emtansine: a unique antibody-drug conjugate in development for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 17, 6437–6447. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0762
- Lowis, S., Lewis, I., Elsworth, A., Weston, C., Doz, F., Vassal, G., et al. (2006). A phase I study of intravenous liposomal daunorubicin (DaunoXome) in paediatric patients with relapsed or resistant solid tumours. *Br. J. Cancer* 95, 571–580. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6603288
- Lu, D., Burris, H. A., Wang, B., Dees, E. C., Cortes, J., Joshi, A., et al. (2012). Drug interaction potential of trastuzumab emtansine (T-DM1) combined with pertuzumab in patients with HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer. *Curr. Drug Metab.* 13, 911–922. doi: 10.2174/138920012802138688
- Lu, W., Xiong, C., Zhang, G., Huang, Q., Zhang, R., Zhang, J. Z., et al. (2009). Targeted photothermal ablation of murine melanomas with melanocytestimulating hormone analog-conjugated hollow gold nanospheres. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 15, 876–886. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1480
- Lu, W., Zhang, G., Zhang, R., Flores, L. G., Huang, Q., Gelovani, J. G., et al. (2010). Tumor site-specific silencing of NF-kappaB p65 by targeted hollow gold nanosphere-mediated photothermal transfection. *Cancer Res.* 70, 3177–3188. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3379
- Lupold, S. E., Hicke, B. J., Lin, Y., and Coffey, D. S. (2002). Identification and characterization of nuclease-stabilized RNA molecules that bind human prostate cancer cells via the prostate-specific membrane antigen. *Cancer Res.* 62, 4029–4033. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-12-2152
- Lyass, O., Uziely, B., Ben-Yosef, R., Tzemach, D., Heshing, N. I., Lotem, M., et al. (2000). Correlation of toxicity with pharmacokinetics of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin (Doxil) in metastatic breast carcinoma. *Cancer* 89, 1037–1047. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(20000901)89:5<1037::AID-CNCR13>3.0.CO;2-Z
- Mahakian, L. M., Farwell, D. G., Zhang, H., Seo, J. W., Poirier, B., Tinling, S. P., et al. (2014). Comparison of PET Imaging with Cu-64-Liposomes and F-18-FDG in the 7,12-Dimethylbenz[a]anthracene (DMBA)-induced hamster buccal pouch model of oral dysplasia and squamous cell carcinoma. *Mol. Imaging Biol.* 16, 284–292. doi: 10.1007/s11307-013-0676-1
- Medintz, I. L., Uyeda, H. T., Goldman, E. R., and Mattoussi, H. (2005). Quantum dot bioconjugates for imaging, labelling and sensing. *Nat. Mater.* 4, 435–446. doi: 10.1038/nmat1390
- Melancon, M. P., Lu, W., Yang, Z., Zhang, R., Cheng, Z., Elliot, A. M., et al. (2008). *In vitro* and *in vivo* targeting of hollow gold nanoshells directed at epidermal growth factor receptor for photothermal ablation therapy. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 7, 1730–1739. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-08-0016
- Michalet, X., Pinaud, F. F., Bentolila, L. A., Tsay, J. M., Doose, S., Li, J. J., et al. (2005). Quantum dots for live cells, *in vivo* imaging, and diagnostics. *Science* 307, 538–544. doi: 10.1126/science.1104274
- Miele, E., Spinelli, G. P., Miele, E., Tomao, F., and Tomao, S. (2009). Albuminbound formulation of paclitaxel (Abraxane ABI-007) in the treatment of breast cancer. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 4, 99–105.
- Miller, T., Breyer, S., Van Colen, G., Mier, W., Haberkorn, U., Geissler, S., et al. (2013). Premature drug release of polymeric micelles and its effects on tumor targeting. *Int. J. Pharm.* 445, 117–124. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.01.059
- Mintzer, M. A., and Simanek, E. E. (2009). Nonviral vectors for gene delivery. *Chem. Rev.* 109, 259–302. doi: 10.1021/cr800409e

- Morales-Avila, E., Ferro-Flores, G., Ocampo-Garcia, B. E., De Leon-Rodriguez, L. M., Santos-Cuevas, C. L., Garcia-Becerra, R., et al. (2011). Multimeric system of 99mTc-labeled gold nanoparticles conjugated to c[RGDfK(C)] for molecular imaging of tumor alpha(v)beta(3) expression. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 22, 913–922. doi: 10.1021/bc100551s
- Mullard, A. (2013). Maturing antibody-drug conjugate pipeline hits 30. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 12, 329–332. doi: 10.1038/nrd4009
- Muller, C., and Schibli, R. (2013). Prospects in folate receptor-targeted radionuclide therapy. Front. Oncol. 3:249. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2013.00249
- Natarajan, A., Gruettner, C., Ivkov, R., Denardo, G. L., Mirick, G., Yuan, A., et al. (2008). NanoFerrite particle based radioimmunonanoparticles: binding affinity and *in vivo* pharmacokinetics. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 19, 1211–1218. doi: 10.1021/bc800015n
- Naumann, R. W., Coleman, R. L., Burger, R. A., Sausville, E. A., Kutarska, E., Ghamande, S. A., et al. (2013). PRECEDENT: a randomized phase ii trial comparing vintafolide (EC145) and Pegylated Liposomal Doxorubicin (PLD) in combination versus PLD alone in patients with platinum-resistant ovarian cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 31, 4400–4406. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.49.7685
- Nicolas, J., Mura, S., Brambilla, D., Mackiewicz, N., and Couvreur, P. (2013). Design, functionalization strategies and biomedical applications of targeted biodegradable/biocompatible polymer-based nanocarriers for drug delivery. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 42, 1147–1235. doi: 10.1039/c2cs35265f
- Niemeyer, C. M. (2001). Nanoparticles, proteins, and nucleic acids: biotechnology meets materials science. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 40, 4128–4158. doi: 10.1002/1521-3773(20011119)40:22<4128::AID-ANIE4128>3.0.CO;2-S
- Novio, F., Simmchen, J., Vazquez-Mera, N., Amorin-Ferre, L., and Ruiz-Molina, D. (2013). Coordination polymer nanoparticles in medicine. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* 257, 2839–2847. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013.04.022
- Ohguchi, Y., Kawano, K., Hattori, Y., and Maitani, Y. (2008). Selective delivery of folate-PEG-linked, nanoemulsion-loaded aclacinomycin A to KB nasopharyngeal cells and xenograft: effect of chain length and amount of folate-PEG linker. *J. Drug Target.* 16, 660–667. doi: 10.1080/10611860802201464
- Ohno, K., Mori, C., Akashi, T., Yoshida, S., Tago, Y., Tsujii, Y., et al. (2013). Fabrication of contrast agents for magnetic resonance imaging from polymerbrush-afforded iron oxide magnetic nanoparticles prepared by surfaceinitiated living radical polymerization. *Biomacromolecules* 14, 3453–3462. doi: 10.1021/bm400770n
- Oyewumi, M. O., Yokel, R. A., Jay, M., Coakley, T., and Mumper, R. J. (2004). Comparison of cell uptake, biodistribution and tumor retention of folate-coated and PEG-coated gadolinium nanoparticles in tumor-bearing mice. *J. Control. Release* 95, 613–626. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2004.01.002
- Pack, D. W., Hoffman, A. S., Pun, S., and Stayton, P. S. (2005). Design and development of polymers for gene delivery. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 4, 581–593. doi: 10.1038/nrd1775
- Paraskar, A., Soni, S., Roy, B., Papa, A. L., and Sengupta, S. (2012). Rationally designed oxaliplatin-nanoparticle for enhanced antitumor efficacy. *Nanotechnology* 23:075103. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/23/7/075103
- Park, J., Dvoracek, C., Lee, K. H., Galloway, J. F., Bhang, H. E. C., Pomper, M. G., et al. (2011). CuInSe/ZnS Core/Shell NIR quantum dots for biomedical imaging. *Small* 7, 3148–3152. doi: 10.1002/smll.201101558
- Parker, N., Turk, M. J., Westrick, E., Lewis, J. D., Low, P. S., and Leamon, C. P. (2005). Folate receptor expression in carcinomas and normal tissues determined by a quantitative radioligand binding assay. *Anal. Biochem.* 338, 284–293. doi: 10.1016/j.ab.2004.12.026
- Penate Medina, O., Haikola, M., Tahtinen, M., Simpura, I., Kaukinen, S., Valtanen, H., et al. (2011). Liposomal tumor targeting in drug delivery utilizing MMP-2- and MMP-9-binding ligands. *J. Drug Deliv.* 2011, 160515. doi: 10.1155/2011/160515
- Petersen, A. L., Binderup, T., Jolck, R. I., Rasmussen, P., Henriksen, J. R., Pfeifer, A. K., et al. (2012). Positron emission tomography evaluation of somatostatin receptor targeted 64Cu-TATE-liposomes in a human neuroendocrine carcinoma mouse model. *J. Control. Release* 160, 254–263. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.12.038
- Petryayeva, E., Algar, W. R., and Medintz, I. L. (2013). Quantum dots in bioanalysis: a review of applications across various platforms for fluorescence spectroscopy and imaging. *Appl. Spectrosc.* 67, 215–252. doi: 10.1366/12-06948
- Piscitelli, S. C., Rodvold, K. A., Rushing, D. A., and Tewksbury, D. A. (1993). Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of doxorubicin in patients with small cell lung cancer. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 53, 555–561. doi: 10.1038/clpt.1993.69

- Poon, Z., Lee, J. A., Huang, S., Prevost, R. J., and Hammond, P. T. (2011). Highly stable, ligand-clustered "patchy" micelle nanocarriers for systemic tumor targeting. *Nanomedicine* 7, 201–209. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2010.07.008
- Prato, M., Kostarelos, K., and Bianco, A. (2008). Functionalized carbon nanotubes in drug design and discovery. Acc. Chem. Res. 41, 60–68. doi: 10.1021/ar700089b
- Puvanakrishnan, P., Park, J., Chatterjee, D., Krishnan, S., and Tunnell, J. W. (2012). *In vivo* tumor targeting of gold nanoparticles: effect of particle type and dosing strategy. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 7, 1251–1258. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S29147
- Reddy, L. H., Sharma, R. K., and Murthy, R. R. (2006). Enhanced delivery of etoposide to Dalton's lymphoma in mice through polysorbate 20 micelles. *Acta Pharm.* 56, 143–155.
- Rijcken, C. J., Snel, C. J., Schiffelers, R. M., Van Nostrum, C. F., and Hennink, W. E. (2007). Hydrolysable core-crosslinked thermosensitive polymeric micelles: synthesis, characterisation and *in vivo* studies. *Biomaterials* 28, 5581–5593. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2007.08.047
- Robinson, J. T., Hong, G. S., Liang, Y. Y., Zhang, B., Yaghi, O. K., and Dai, H. J. (2012). *In Vivo* fluorescence imaging in the second near-infrared window with long circulating carbon nanotubes capable of ultrahigh tumor uptake. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 134, 10664–10669. doi: 10.1021/ja303737a
- Rong, P. F., Yang, K., Srivastan, A., Kiesewetter, D. O., Yue, X. Y., Wang, F., et al. (2014). Photosensitizer loaded nano-graphene for multimodality imaging guided tumor photodynamic therapy. *Theranostics* 4, 229–239. doi: 10.7150/thno.8070
- Rossin, R., Pan, D. P. J., Qi, K., Turner, J. L., Sun, X. K., Wooley, K. L., et al. (2005). Cu-64-labeled folate-conjugated shell cross-linked nanoparticles for tumor imaging and radiotherapy: synthesis, radiolabeling, and biologic evaluation. *J. Nucl. Med.* 46, 1210–1218.
- Ruoslahti, E. (1996). RGD and other recognition sequences for integrins. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 12, 697–715. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.12.1.697
- Sailor, M. J., and Park, J. H. (2012). Hybrid nanoparticles for detection and treatment of cancer. Adv. Mater. 24, 3779–3802. doi: 10.1002/adma.201200653
- Sassoon, I., and Blanc, V. (2013). Antibody-drug conjugate (ADC) clinical pipeline: a review. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1045, 1–27. doi: 10.1007/978-1-62703-541-5_1
- Seynhaeve, A. L. B., Dicheva, B. M., Hoving, S., Koning, G. A., and Ten Hagen, T. L. M. (2013). Intact Doxil is taken up intracellularly and released doxorubicin sequesters in the lysosome: evaluated by *in vitro/in vivo* live cell imaging. *J. Control. Release* 172, 330–340. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2013.08.034
- Sheldrake, H. M., and Patterson, L. H. (2009). Function and antagonism of beta3 integrins in the development of cancer therapy. *Curr. Cancer Drug Targets* 9, 519–540. doi: 10.2174/156800909788486713
- Shi, S. X., Yang, K., Hong, H., Valdovinos, H. F., Nayak, T. R., Zhang, Y., et al. (2013). Tumor vasculature targeting and imaging in living mice with reduced graphene oxide. *Biomaterials* 34, 3002–3009. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.01.047
- Shiraishi, K., Kawano, K., Minowa, T., Maitani, Y., and Yokoyama, M. (2009). Preparation and *in vivo* imaging of PEG-poly(L-lysine)-based polymeric micelle MRI contrast agents. *J. Control. Release* 136, 14–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2009.01.010
- Sievers, E. L., and Senter, P. D. (2013). Antibody-drug conjugates in cancer therapy. Annu. Rev. Med. 64, 15–29. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-050311-201823
- Silverman, J. A., and Deitcher, S. R. (2013). Marqibo(R) (vincristine sulfate liposome injection) improves the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of vincristine. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 71, 555–564. doi: 10.1007/s00280-012-2042-4
- Soundararajan, A., Bao, A., Phillips, W. T., Perez, R., and Goins, B. A. (2009). [Re-186]Liposomal doxorubicin (Doxil): *in vitro* stability, pharmacokinetics, imaging and biodistribution in a head and neck squamous cell carcinoma xenograft model. *Nucl. Med. Biol.* 36, 515–524. doi: 10.1016/j.nucmedbio.2009.02.004
- Sparreboom, A., Scripture, C. D., Trieu, V., Williams, P. J., De, T., Yang, A., et al. (2005). Comparative preclinical and clinical pharmacokinetics of a cremophor-free, nanoparticle albumin-bound paclitaxel (ABI-007) and paclitaxel formulated in Cremophor (Taxol). *Clin. Cancer Res.* 11, 4136–4143. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-2291
- Steichen, S. D., Caldorera-Moore, M., and Peppas, N. A. (2012). A review of current nanoparticle and targeting moieties for the delivery of cancer therapeutics. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 48, 416–427. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2012.12.006
- Steinmetz, N. F. (2010). Viral nanoparticles as platforms for next-generation therapeutics and imaging devices. *Nanomed. Nanotechnol. Biol. Med.* 6, 634–641. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2010.04.005

- Sumitani, S., Oishi, M., and Nagasaki, Y. (2011). Carborane confined nanoparticles for boron neutron capture therapy: improved stability, blood circulation time and tumor accumulation. *React. Funct. Polym.* 71, 684–693. doi: 10.1016/j.reactfunctpolym.2011.03.010
- Sun, X. L., Huang, X. L., Guo, J. X., Zhu, W. L., Ding, Y., Niu, G., et al. (2014). Selfilluminating Cu-64-Doped CdSe/ZnS nanocrystals for *in vivo* tumor Imaging. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 136, 1706–1709. doi: 10.1021/ja410438n
- Tang, L., Yang, X. J., Dobrucki, L. W., Chaudhury, I., Yin, Q., Yao, C., et al. (2012). Aptamer-functionalized, ultra-small, monodisperse silica nanoconjugates for targeted dual-modal imaging of lymph nodes with metastatic tumors. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 51, 12721–12726. doi: 10.1002/anie.201205271
- Tinkov, S., Winter, G., Coester, C., and Bekeredjian, R. (2010). New doxorubicinloaded phospholipid microbubbles for targeted tumor therapy: part I— Formulation development and *in-vitro* characterization. J. Control. Release 143, 143–150. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2009.12.026
- Torchilin, V. (2011). Tumor delivery of macromolecular drugs based on the EPR effect. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 63, 131–135. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2010. 03.011
- Tuerk, C., and Gold, L. (1990). Systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment—RNA ligands to bacteriophage-t4 DNA-polymerase. *Science* 249, 505–510. doi: 10.1126/science.2200121
- Turk, M. J., Waters, D. J., and Low, P. S. (2004). Folate-conjugated liposomes preferentially target macrophages associated with ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer Lett.* 213, 165–172. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2003.12.028
- Ujiie, K., Kanayama, N., Asai, K., Kishimoto, M., Ohara, Y., Akashi, Y., et al. (2011). Preparation of highly dispersible and tumor-accumulative, iron oxide nanoparticles Multi-point anchoring of PEG-b-poly(4-vinylbenzylphosphonate) improves performance significantly. *Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces* 88, 771–778. doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2011.08.013
- Vanblaaderen, A., and Vrij, A. (1992). Synthesis and characterization of colloidal dispersions of fluorescent, monodisperse silica spheres. *Langmuir* 8, 2921–2931. doi: 10.1021/la00048a013
- Verma, S., Miles, D., Gianni, L., Krop, I. E., Welslau, M., Baselga, J., et al. (2012). Trastuzumab emtansine for HER2-positive advanced breast cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. 367, 1783–1791. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1209124
- Vllasaliu, D., Fowler, R., and Stolnik, S. (2014). PEGylated nanomedicines: recent progress and remaining concerns. *Expert Opin. Drug Deliv.* 11, 139–154. doi: 10.1517/17425247.2014.866651
- Von Maltzahn, G., Park, J. H., Agrawal, A., Bandaru, N. K., Das, S. K., Sailor, M. J., et al. (2009). Computationally guided photothermal tumor therapy using long-circulating gold nanorod antennas. *Cancer Res.* 69, 3892–3900. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4242
- Walkey, C. D., and Chan, W. C. W. (2012). Understanding and controlling the interaction of nanomaterials with proteins in a physiological environment. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 41, 2780–2799. doi: 10.1039/c1cs15233e
- Wang, H. E., Yu, H. M., Lu, Y. C., Heish, N. N., Tseng, Y. L., Huang, K. L., et al. (2006). Internal radiotherapy and dosimetric study for In-111/Lu-177pegylated liposomes conjugates in tumor-bearing mice. *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. Sec. A.* 569, 533–537. doi: 10.1016/j.nima.2006.08.124
- Wang, M., and Gartel, A. L. (2011). Micelle-encapsulated thiostrepton as an effective nanomedicine for inhibiting tumor growth and for suppressing FOXM1 in human xenografts. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 10, 2287–2297. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-11-0536
- Weissleder, R., Kelly, K., Sun, E. Y., Shtatland, T., and Josephson, L. (2005). Cell-specific targeting of nanoparticles by multivalent attachment of small molecules. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 23, 1418–1423. doi: 10.1038/nbt1159
- Xiao, Y. L., Hong, H., Javadi, A., Engle, J. W., Xu, W. J., Yang, Y. A., et al. (2012). Multifunctional unimolecular micelles for cancer-targeted drug delivery and positron emission tomography imaging. *Biomaterials* 33, 3071–3082. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.12.030
- Yang, K., Hu, L. L., Ma, X. X., Ye, S. Q., Cheng, L., Shi, X. Z., et al. (2012). Multimodal imaging guided photothermal therapy using functionalized

graphene nanosheets anchored with magnetic nanoparticles. *Adv. Mater.* 24, 1868–1872. doi: 10.1002/adma.201104964

- Yang, X., Hong, H., Grailer, J. J., Rowland, I. J., Javadi, A., Hurley, S. A., et al. (2011). cRGD-functionalized, DOX-conjugated, and (6)(4)Culabeled superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for targeted anticancer drug delivery and PET/MR imaging. *Biomaterials* 32, 4151–4160. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.02.006
- Yardley, D. A. (2013). nab-Paclitaxel mechanisms of action and delivery. J. Control. Release 170, 365–372. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2013.05.041
- Yokoyama, M., Okano, T., Sakurai, Y., Fukushima, S., Okamoto, K., and Kataoka, K. (1999). Selective delivery of adiramycin to a solid tumor using a polymeric micelle carrier system. J. Drug Target. 7, 171–186. doi: 10.3109/10611869909085500
- Younes, A., Bartlett, N. L., Leonard, J. P., Kennedy, D. A., Lynch, C. M., Sievers, E. L., et al. (2010). Brentuximab vedotin (SGN-35) for relapsed CD30positive lymphomas. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 363, 1812–1821. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 1002965
- Yu, B., Mao, Y., Bai, L. Y., Herman, S. E., Wang, X., Ramanunni, A., et al. (2013). Targeted nanoparticle delivery overcomes off-target immunostimulatory effects of oligonucleotides and improves therapeutic efficacy in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* 121, 136–147. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-01-407742
- Zhan, C., Gu, B., Xie, C., Li, J., Liu, Y., and Lu, W. (2010). Cyclic RGD conjugated poly(ethylene glycol)-co-poly(lactic acid) micelle enhances paclitaxel anti-glioblastoma effect. *J. Control. Release* 143, 136–142. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2009.12.020
- Zhang, R., Lu, W., Wen, X., Huang, M., Zhou, M., Liang, D., et al. (2011a). Annexin A5-conjugated polymeric micelles for dual SPECT and optical detection of apoptosis. J. Nucl. Med. 52, 958–964. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.110.083220
- Zhang, R., Xiong, C., Huang, M., Zhou, M., Huang, Q., Wen, X., et al. (2011b). Peptide-conjugated polymeric micellar nanoparticles for Dual SPECT and optical imaging of EphB4 receptors in prostate cancer xenografts. *Biomaterials* 32, 5872–5879. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.04.070
- Zhang, Y., Satterlee, A., and Huang, L. (2012). In vivo gene delivery by nonviral vectors: overcoming hurdles? Mol. Ther. 20, 1298–1304. doi: 10.1038/mt.2012.79
- Zhao, J., Song, S. L., Zhong, M., and Li, C. (2012). Dual-modal tumor imaging via long-circulating biodegradable core-cross-linked polymeric micelles. ACS Macro Lett. 1, 150–153. doi: 10.1021/mz200034f
- Zheng, J., Jaffray, D., and Allien, C. (2009). Quantitative CT imaging of the spatial and temporal distribution of liposomes in a rabbit tumor model. *Mol. Pharm.* 6, 571–580. doi: 10.1021/mp800234r
- Zhu, H., Zhao, J., Lin, X. F., Hong, Y., Li, C., and Yang, Z. (2013). Design, synthesis and evaluation of dual-modality glyco-nanoparticles for tumor imaging. *Molecules* 18, 6425–6438. doi: 10.3390/molecules18066425

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 20 June 2014; paper pending published: 03 July 2014; accepted: 05 August 2014; published online: 25 August 2014.

Citation: Dawidczyk CM, Russell LM and Searson PC (2014) Nanomedicines for cancer therapy: state-of-the-art and limitations to pre-clinical studies that hinder future developments. Front. Chem. 2:69. doi: 10.3389/fchem.2014.00069

This article was submitted to Chemical Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Chemistry.

Copyright © 2014 Dawidczyk, Russell and Searson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Gold nanoparticles and their alternatives for radiation therapy enhancement

Daniel R. Cooper, Devesh Bekah and Jay L. Nadeau*

Department of Biomedical Engineering, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

Edited by:

Jesús M. De La Fuente, Universidad de Zaragoza, Spain

Reviewed by:

Pedro Viana Baptista, Universidade Nova de Lisba, Portugal Wolfgang Parak, Universität Marburg, Germany

*Correspondence:

Jay L. Nadeau, Department of Biomedical Engineering, McGill University, 316 Lyman Duff Building, 3775 University Street, Montreal, QC H3A 2B4, Canada e-mail: jay.nadeau@mcgill.ca

Radiation therapy is one of the most commonly used treatments for cancer. The dose of delivered ionizing radiation can be amplified by the presence of high-Z materials via an enhancement of the photoelectric effect; the most widely studied material is gold (atomic number 79). However, a large amount is needed to obtain a significant dose enhancement, presenting a challenge for delivery. In order to make this technique of broader applicability, the gold must be targeted, or alternative formulations developed that do not rely solely on the photoelectric effect. One possible approach is to excite scintillating nanoparticles with ionizing radiation, and then exploit energy transfer between these particles and attached dyes in a manner analogous to photodynamic therapy (PDT). Doped rare-earth halides and semiconductor quantum dots have been investigated for this purpose. However, although the spectrum of emitted light after radiation excitation is usually similar to that seen with light excitation, the yield is not. Measurement of scintillation yields is challenging, and in many cases has been done only for bulk materials, with little understanding of how the principles translate to the nanoscale. Another alternative is to use local heating using gold or iron, followed by application of ionizing radiation. Hyperthermia pre-sensitizes the tumors, leading to an improved response. Another approach is to use chemotherapeutic drugs that can radiosensitize tumors. Drugs may be attached to high-Z nanoparticles or encapsulated. This article discusses each of these techniques, giving an overview of the current state of nanoparticle-assisted radiation therapy and future directions.

Keywords: nanoparticle, scintillator, radiation therapy, photodynamic therapy, photosensitizer, radiosensitizer

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Radiation therapy (XRT) is a critical component of the modern approach to curative and adjuvant treatment of cancers. XRT controls the growth of cancerous cells by bombardment with ionizing radiation, causing DNA damage by direct ionization or through generation of free radicals by ionization of water or oxygen molecules. Sufficient damage to DNA in this fashion can arrest cell growth and prevent metastasis. The primary drawback is collateral damage: there is little distinction in absorption between healthy and malignant tissues, and thus doses must be limited in order to mitigate unwanted damage to the tumor surroundings. External beam radiotherapy (EBRT) utilizes X-ray beams produced by orthovoltage units, or linear accelerators that may be spatially oriented, with beams shaped using multileaf collimators in order to maximize the specificity for the target. Distinct energy ranges are available for different EBRT targets: 40-100 kV (kilovoltage or "superficial" X-rays) for skin cancers or other exposed structures; as well as 100-300 kV (orthovoltage) and 4-25 MV (megavoltage or "deep" X-rays) for sub-surface tumors. Techniques such as 3-dimensional conformal and intensity-modulated radiation therapies have vastly improved the targeting capabilities of external beam therapy, but naturally there is still a strong desire to be able to further reduce the doses required for effective treatment. The SI derived unit for absorbed dose is the gray (Gy), equivalent to one joule of energy deposited by ionizing radiation per kilogram of matter $(1 \text{ Gy} = 1 \text{ J/kg} = 1 \text{ m}^2/\text{s}^2)$.

Brachytherapy, or internal radiotherapy, utilizes a radioactive source to provide a steady or pulsed dose of radiation to a small tissue volume. It is typically used for cervical, prostate, breast and skin cancers. Radioactive sources include ¹²⁵I and¹⁰³Pd, which produce γ rays of \sim 20–35 keV, ¹⁹²Ir (γ rays, 300–610 keV), ¹³⁷Cs (γ rays, 662 keV), ⁶⁰Co (γ rays, 1.17 and 1.33 MeV), ¹⁹⁸Au (γ rays, 410–1009 keV), ²²⁶Ra (γ rays, 190–2430 keV), and ¹⁰⁶Ru which decays primarily through β^- emission at 3.54 MeV. Seeds of the listed materials can provide doses of up to 12 Gy/hour (high dose rate or HDR brachytherapy), though typical low dose rate (LDR) treatments amount to around 65 Gy over 5–6 days.

Heavy elements can be potent radiosensitizers (Kobayashi et al., 2010). It has been demonstrated that platinum-containing DNA-crosslinking drugs such as Cisplatin can enhance the effects of ionizing radiation through the "high Z effect," or what has come to be known as Auger therapy. Heavy elements have significantly higher photoelectric cross-sections than soft tissue for sub-MeV energies, approximated for "X-ray energies" by the equation:

$$\sigma_{pe} \propto \frac{Z^n}{E^3}$$

where σ_{pe} is the cross-section, E = hv is the photon energy, Z is the atomic number, and n varies between 4 and 5 depending

on the value of *E*. The photoelectric effect dominates below the electron rest energy of 511 keV, beyond which inelastic Compton scattering becomes more prevalent. As the photon energy decreases, it is no longer able to eject inner-shell electrons, producing the characteristic sawtooth pattern with K, L, and M edge structures. When ionized by X-ray or γ ray energy, mid- to high-Z elements (roughly Br and up) can produce a cascade of low-energy Auger electrons that can locally enhance the effective radiation dose (Kobayashi et al., 2010). Dense inorganic nanoparticles can also provide radiation dose enhancement that depends upon the composition and size of the particles, uptake of particles into cells, and the energy of the applied radiation.

GNRT

Au nanoparticles have been under investigation for several years as possible agents for selective amplification of radiation dose in tumors, a concept called "gold nanoparticle-assisted radiation therapy" or GNRT (McMahon et al., 2008; Brun et al., 2009; Cho et al., 2009; Rahman et al., 2009; Van den Heuvel et al., 2010; Leung et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2012). Reviews of this work can be found in Jelveh and Chithrani (2011), Butterworth et al. (2012), Jain et al. (2012), Babaei and Ganjalikhani (2014), Su et al. (2014).

The earliest studies used bulk or micro-sized gold to enhance radiation dose. Although this could be effective in vitro at a range of energies, micron-sized particles are not taken up well in vivo, even after intratumoral injection (Herold et al., 2000). Later experiments focused on Au nanoparticles or nanoclusters (1.9 nm diameter). When injected intravenously, these ultrasmall particles rapidly accumulated in cancer tissue, with 2.7 g Au/kg body weight resulting in 7 mg Au/g in tumor almost immediately after injection. Irradiation was performed about 60s after injection, and with typical 250 kVp X-ray therapy, 1-year survival was 86% (compared to 20% with X-rays alone and 0% with gold alone) (Hainfeld et al., 2004). This result was followed by theoretical and experimental papers examining the mechanism of Au nanoparticle action as well as attempting to optimize Au particle concentration, size, and the energy and dose of applied X-rays (Cho et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2009; Van den Heuvel et al., 2010; Leung et al., 2011).

IMPROVING GNRT BY TARGETING

A significant problem with ultrasmall, nontargeted nanoparticles is rapid excretion by the kidneys. The amount of Au needed in early studies (>2 g Au/kg body weight) represents a very large amount of Au for human use. This is impractical, costly, and may cause toxicity. Achieving therapeutic levels in tumor with less delivered total Au is needed. In addition, irradiation in the mouse studies was performed immediately after particle injection. This is not practical in the clinic and may not work well in humans. Particles with longer circulation times, which can be delivered in multiple doses, are desirable for clinical applications. Optimizing the size, surface chemistry, and targeting of the Au nanoparticles may improve circulation times and accumulation in specific tumors.

The increased metabolic rate of tumors relative to normal tissue results in a high demand for glucose. Several studies have used



thioglucose-conjugated Au nanoparticles (Figure 1A) in order to increase uptake by cancer cells. One study using ~14 nm Au demonstrated significantly increased uptake of thioglucoseconjugated particles by an ovarian cancer cell line after 8-96 h of incubation (Geng et al., 2011). A significant increase in inhibition was seen in the presence of 5 nM particles using 90 kVp or 6 MV X-rays; dose enhancement was significant relative to control beginning at 5 Gy and extending to 20 Gy, where all cells were inhibited even in the absence of particles. Another study compared cysteamine and thioglucose-coated 15 nM Au nanoparticles in breast cancer and normal breast cell lines (Kong et al., 2008b). Cysteamine-coated particles were taken up 3- to 4-fold more efficiently than glucose-coated particles. However, when applied to cells at concentrations that led to similar intracellular Au concentrations, glucose-coated particles led to increased radiosensitization relative to cysteamine-capped particles. Interestingly, radiosensitization by Au was not seen in a nonmalignant breast cell line, although the cells grew at the same rate as the cancer cells and took up an equal number of particles. The ability of ¹⁶⁷Cs and ⁶⁰Co sources to inhibit the cancer cells was also demonstrated in this paper.

The use of larger Au particles (57 nm and 84 nm) coated with thioglucose has been studied in another report (Song et al., 2013). These particles were taken up in equal numbers by HeLa cells.

Surprisingly, unconjugated particles showed a greater radiosensitizing effect than thioglucose-conjugated particles, which the authors attributed to possible absorbance of singlet oxygen by the thioglucose shell.

Another study used the humanized anti-HER2 antibody Trastuzumab (Herceptin), PEGylated and conjugated to 30 nm Au particles, for delivery to MDA-MB-361 breast cancer (Chattopadhyay et al., 2013) (**Figure 1B**). Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies were performed. *In vitro*, an effective dose enhancement factor of 1.6 was seen in the presence of 2.4 mg/mL particles using 100 kVp X-rays. Delivery to MDA-MB-361 xenografts was done intratumorally, with ~0.8 mg total Au used (4.8 mg/g tumor). 11 Gy of 100 kVp image guided X-ray irradiation was performed 24 h after injection. This subtoxic dose led to a 46% reduction in tumor size relative to irradiation alone, with no damage to normal tissue or systemic toxicity.

Folic acid is another nutrient for which the need is increased in cancer cells. Conjugation to folate has been used for a wide variety of targeting applications for cancer and inflammatory diseases; a review may be found here (Low et al., 2008). Intra-operative tumor imaging using folate targeting has recently moved to the clinic for ovarian cancer (van Dam et al., 2011). In terms of GNRT, one study reported the use of silica-modified Au nanorods (~50 nm long) conjugated to folate (Huang et al., 2011) (**Figure 1C**). The rods were taken up by MGC803 human gastric carcinoma cells. 6 Gy of X-irradiation led to a 60% decrease in cell viability in the presence of 12.5 μ M rods relative to cells without Au. The study also demonstrated uptake of the rods by MGC803 xenografts in nude mice, with contrast sufficient for X-ray imaging. No radiation experiments on animals were reported.

Cancers are also often distinguished by a lower pH than healthy cells due to hypoxia and resulting anaerobic metabolism within tumors. The pH-sensitive pHLIP peptide was used in one study to target Au nanoparticles to mice bearing HeLa tumors (Yao et al., 2013). Although radiation was not performed, accumulation of Au in tumors sufficient for radiotherapy enhancement was demonstrated, with the stated goal of using the construct for this purpose.

Prostate cancer is an excellent target for nanoparticleenhanced radiation, since it is often treated by brachytherapy and is accessible to intratumoral injection. Choline is a ubiquitous molecule in all cells for which overactivity of processing enzymes (choline kinase) has been found in prostate tumors. One study reported development of polyethylene imine (PEI)- and cholineconjugated Au nanoparticles for the purpose of targeting prostate cancer for GNRT (Razzak et al., 2013) (**Figure 1D**). While no radiation experiments were performed in this study, favorable pharmacokinetics were shown in mice.

These studies illustrate that targeted GNRT remains an area requiring substantial further investigation. While one or more targeting agents may be conjugated to Au nanoparticles, and while these may improve delivery *in vitro* and even *in vivo*, it is not fully established whether these formulations improve tumor response to radiation therapy. The possibility that an organic shell can absorb reactive oxygen species deserves further inquiry. The size of the nanoparticles used, the density of targeting ligands, and the delivery method (IV, intratumoral, concentration, timing) all need to be optimized. The good news is that many of these formulations use FDA-approved ingredients, some of which are currently in the clinic for imaging. Optimization in animal studies should thus lead to rapid clinical translation.

IMPROVING GNRT BY ADDITION OF PHOTOTHERMAL THERAPY

Hyperthermia therapy is a minimally invasive treatment in which the temperature is increased locally (up to 44°C) to kill malignant cells. Even though hyperthermia can kill cells on its own, it is more often used in combination with other treatments such as radiotherapy or chemotherapy (Wust et al., 2002); such combinations are in clinical trials (Vernon et al., 1996; van der Zee et al., 2000; Zagar et al., 2010). An increase in nuclear damage is one of the mechanisms through which cells are radiosensitized after hyperthermia (Wust et al., 2002; Kampinga, 2006). In addition, the higher temperature causes dilation of the blood vessels, increasing oxygenation of the tumor (Griffin et al., 1996; Song et al., 2009). Since oxygen is a potent radiosensitizer, it can increase the damage to the tumor through generation of free radicals.

Methods to locally heat the tumor region include high intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU), microwave heating, magnetic hyperthermia, and photothermal therapy. In photothermal therapy, a light source (usually infrared) is used to deliver heat to the tumor. Such approaches are difficult to target, but delivery of nanomedicines to the tumor could improve the local heating profile. Most studies have looked at gold nanoparticles and nanorods for this purpose, because exposure of Au nanoparticles to IR light causes a local temperature increase due to surface plasmon resonance (El-Sayed et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2006; Gobin et al., 2007; Hainfeld et al., 2010; Verma et al., 2014). By modifying the size and shape of these nanoparticles, the resonance peak can be tuned to different wavelengths in the IR.

Delivery of gold followed by heating and ionizing radiation has proved to be a promising approach in pre-clinical studies. Gold nanoshells with a 120 nm silica core and a 12–15 nm shell were used in one study (Diagaradjane et al., 2008) to treat a murine xenograft model of human colorectal cancer. Localized hyperthermic treatment followed 5 min later by a 10 Gy X-ray dose were given 20–24 h after IV delivery of the nanoshells. The tumor volume doubling time was significantly greater for the treated mice. Two mechanisms were identified as contributing to the treatment's efficacy: an increase in perfusion resulting in a decrease in tumor hypoxia, and vascular collapse in the tumor due to accumulation of nanoparticles around the blood vessels. Another study confirmed these results using similar gold nanoshells in two murine breast cancer models (Atkinson et al., 2010).

Another study used gold nanorods modified with silica and conjugated to folic acid (Huang et al., 2011) to test the effects of photothermal and radiation therapy on MGC803 gastric cancer cells. The two treatments were tested separately and not combined. For the radiation treatment, a 6 MeV source was used to deliver doses of up to 10 Gy. Cell survival with radiation decreased in a concentration-dependent fashion with nanoparticle addition; the particles were non-toxic in the absence of radiation. Photothermal therapy consisted of 3 min of irradiation with a 30 mW, 808 nm laser source. Apoptosis was seen after treatment in the presence of the gold particles.

A recent study (Hainfeld et al., 2010) calculated the radiation dose required to control 50% of tumors (TCD50) in a mouse squamous cell carcinoma model. Gold nanoparticles were delivered intratumorally, and 24 h later the tumor was heated to 48° C for 5 min at 1.5 W/cm² followed by X-ray irradiation at 100 kVp (7.5 Gy/min). TCD50 was reduced from 55 Gy to less than 15 Gy.

These studies illustrate one of the biggest problems of the approach, which is the need for simultaneous delivery of heating and radiation, which poses logistic problems in the clinic (Wust et al., 2002). Other drawbacks include a lack of specificity and the difficulty of heating deep tumors.

ALTERNATIVES TO GOLD: BISMUTH AND IRON

Alternatives to Au are being sought that are more effective and/or less costly. Bismuth (Bi, Z = 83) and platinum (Pt, Z = 78) have been shown in at least one theoretical study to yield a dose enhancement factor higher than Au, with Bi being the highest. Dose enhancement is predicted to increase with decreasing nanoparticle size, because the smaller nanoparticles accumulate closer to the nucleus, where they can cause the greatest damage. The dose enhancement is also expected to be greater when the average energy is close to the K-edge of the element (Ngwa et al., 2010; Hossain and Su, 2012). A radiochromic dosimeter was used in another study to experimentally measure the dose enhancement of bismuth oxide (Bi2O3) nanoparticles. Using a 100 kV X-ray source and an irradiation dose of 10 Gy, the radiation dose in a water-equivalent matrix doped with 0.5 mM of 50 nm Bi2O3 nanoparticles was >80% higher than in the control compartment (Alqathami et al., 2013). Another study (Zhang et al., 2014) looked at the dark toxicity, biodistribution, and radiation effects of bismuth selenide (Bi₂Se₃) nanoplatelets in cell lines and mice. The platelets were not significantly toxic to either cells or mice, with over 93% of the Bi cleared from the body 90 days after treatment. Significant radiation dose enhancement was observed after irradiation doses of up to 8 Gy.

Gadolinium (Gd, Z = 64) represents another alternative to gold nanoparticles. In addition to having a relatively high atomic number, Gd is already routinely used as a contrast agent in MRI. Gd₂O₃ core nanoparticles encapsulated in a polysiloxane shell have shown potential as an image guided radiotherapeutic tool in a gliosarcoma rat model (Le Duc et al., 2011). Accumulation of the nanoparticles in the tumor after saphenous vein injection was demonstrated using MRI, and the tumor-bearing rats were treated with microbeam radiation therapy, with a significant increase in survival in the nanoparticle-treated group. Another study using a rat brain tumor model confirmed that ultra-small Gd-based nanoparticles accumulate in brain tumors after IV injection (Miladi et al., 2013).

Magnetic particles such as iron oxide may also be used for combined hyperthermia and radiation. By using an alternating magnetic field to excite magnetic nanoparticles, local temperature increases can be achieved. The advantages of iron oxide include low toxicity, ease of synthesis, and the ability to perform image guidance using MRI. Dextran-coated iron oxide has been shown to reduce tumor growth in a syngeneic mouse breast cancer model when hyperthermia and radiation were combined (Giustini et al., 2011).

Several studies have looked at radiosensitization properties of iron oxide nanoparticles. Using 6 MeV X-rays on a human prostate carcinoma cell line (DU145), 1 mg/ml of Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles resulted in a dose enhancement factor of approximately 1.2 (Khoei et al., 2014). Another study suggested that superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs) can radiosensitize tumor cells by catalyzing ROS formation. Uncoated, citrate-coated, or malate-coated SPIONs were added to MCF-7, 3T3, and Caco-2 cells. Uncoated SPIONS caused dark toxicity, with no increase in ROS upon 1 or 3 Gy irradiation. In contrast, coated SPIONS were non-toxic in the absence of radiation, but resulted an increase of up to 300% in the fluorescence intensity of the ROS reporter dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCF-DA) (Klein et al., 2014).

SCINTILLATING NANOPARTICLES FOR RADIATION/PHOTODYNAMIC "HYBRID" THERAPY INTRODUCTION AND CONCEPT

A 2006 study proposed a new approach to nanoparticle-based therapies aiming to combine and enhance the effects of radiation therapy and photodynamic therapy (PDT) through the use of scintillating nanoparticles conjugated to photosensitizer molecules (Chen and Zhang, 2006). The concept is simple: attach a dye used for PDT to a nanoparticle that emits light when excited by therapeutic radiation (scintillates). If the scintillation emission overlaps the absorbance spectrum of the dye, the dye will generate singlet oxygen as it does with light-excited PDT (**Figure 2**). Many conventional photosensitizers are based on naturally occurring porphyrin, chlorin, and bacteriochlorin structures comprised of highly conjugated heterocyclic macrocycles (**Figure 3A**). These molecules have a strong absorbance peak in the UV to blue range (Soret band) as well as numerous weaker peaks in the visible (**Figure 3B**).

This idea has attracted significant attention over the past few years (Cheng and Lo, 2011) because it promises to combine the tissue penetration depth of radiation with the efficacy and benign side effect profile of PDT. PDT results in less damage to normal tissue than does radiation therapy; does not induce scarring; may be repeated multiple times; and may spark immune responses that help destroy the tumor. However, because of the limited tissue penetration depth of visible and even near-IR light, this therapy is restricted to only the most superficial cancers, such as non-melanoma skin cancer and bladder cancer.

The challenge is to develop stable, nontoxic nanoscintillators that may be delivered to cells. Several varieties of doped insulator and semiconductor nanoparticles have been proposed to fill this role. While scintillation has been demonstrated for CdSe/ZnS quantum dots (Létant and Wang, 2006), they have poor radiation hardness and degrade rapidly under γ ray exposure (Withers et al., 2008). As the toxicity of these materials is also primarily related to their chemical degradation, alternatives are necessary. The development of such alternatives is mostly in early stages. Although many of the approaches to surface chemistry and targeting that have been used for gold could be applied to these other



materials, this has not yet been attempted. Some of the materials also show specific chemical challenges as we will discuss in Section Biocompatibility of lanthanide-based materials.

SCINTILLATION

Scintillation, or radioluminescence (RL), is the process whereby a material, referred to as a scintillator, produces light upon interaction with ionizing radiation. Inorganic nanoparticles (NPs) doped with lanthanides present an attractive, radiostable alternative to quantum dots for scintillation.

Introduction to lanthanide luminescence

Lanthanides are well known for the luminescence of their trivalent cations, which emit primarily through phosphorescence resulting from electronic transitions within the 4*f* shell (Bünzli and Eliseeva, 2010). Because these transitions are "forbidden" by Laporte's parity selection rule (formally prohibiting electric dipole transitions between states that conserve parity), they have low absorption cross-sections and their photoluminescence is commonly sensitized by Ce^{3+} (for downconversion, with Tb^{3+} acceptor) or Yb^{3+} (for upconversion, with Tm^{3+} , Er^{3+} , and Ho^{3+} acceptors), though more complex combinations of lanthanides are certainly possible. The efficiency of both processes benefits



from a low phonon energy host, though is of increasing importance for lower energy transitions. In the case of upconverting NPs, hexagonal phase (β phase) NaYF₄ or isostructural NaGdF₄ are generally the preferred host materials.

The mechanism of cerium luminescence is distinct from most other lanthanides. Neutral cerium has a [Xe] $4f^15d^16s^2$ electronic configuration; in solution or in solid hosts, the +3 or +4 oxidation states are the most common. Only the +3 state is luminescent, though the +4 state also has important implications for redox activity. In the +3 state, the 6s and 5d electrons are lost, leaving one optically active electron in the shielded 4f shell. Fluorescence ($\Delta S = 0$) arises from parity-allowed, high oscillator strength 4f-5d transitions. Because the 5d orbitals are external, these transitions are sensitive to the crystal field, and vary in energy across a substantial range depending on the host material (Dorenbos, 2000).

Cerium-doped lanthanum fluoride ($Ce_xLa_{1-x}F_3$) shows luminescence in the UV-blue (corresponding well to the Soret band) and so is a likely candidate for useful energy transfer to photosensitizers.

Mechanisms of scintillation

RL mechanisms of bulk $Ce_xLa_{1-x}F_3$ crystals were elucidated in the late 80 s and early-to-mid 90 s as candidates for radiation

detection purposes (Moses and Derenzo, 1989, 1990; Wojtowicz et al., 1992, 1994; Lempicki et al., 1993; Moses et al., 1994; Rodnyi et al., 1995). Though the scintillation was found to be significantly faster than commonly used scintillators at the time (BGO, CsI:Tl, NaI:Tl) on a per-photon basis, the overall light output was found to be unexpectedly weak, with variable luminescence that was significantly dependent on the quality of the crystal and the presence of defects. This variability precluded their use as reliable detectors for the most part, at least compared to other options being developed concurrently, such as PbWO₄.

The general process of activator-based scintillation occurs in three steps: first, conversion of absorbed ionizing radiation energy into electronic-lattice excitations (electron-hole pairs and/or excitons), followed by transfer of the excitation energy to the emitting centers and then luminescence. The overall scintillation efficiency is given by the product of the individual efficiencies:

$$\eta = \beta SQ, \ 0 \le \eta, \beta, S, Q \le 1$$

where β , the efficiency of the conversion process, encompasses the fraction of absorbed energy lost to optical phonons, *S* is the efficiency of the transfer process, and *Q* is the luminescence quantum yield of the emitting center. The overall light output *L* (in photons/MeV) is given by:

$$L = n_{e-h}\eta = \frac{10^6}{2.3E_g}\beta SQ$$

where n_{e-h} is the number of *e*-*h* pairs or excitons that are generated per MeV of absorbed radiation, discounting losses to optical phonons, and E_g is the band gap of the host (in eV). The factor of 2.3 is related to the derived minimum incident photon energy required to generate a single *e*-*h* pair (Robbins, 1980), $\xi_{\min} = 2.3E_g$, and so $n_{e-h} = E/2.3E_g$ where *E* is the energy of the incident photon, in this case 1 MeV = 10⁶ eV.

Low phonon energy hosts such as LaF₃ tend toward higher values of β , while the transfer process S is relatively inefficient compared to pentaphosphate or orthophosphate hosts (Lempicki et al., 1993). The β and S mechanisms of Ce_xLa_{1-x}F₃ were determined to consist of three distinct processes that have different relative contributions depending on the value of x: (i) direct excitation of Ce³⁺ by X-rays or secondary electrons, (ii) ionization of Ce³⁺ followed by electron capture and formation of bound excitons, or (iii) energy transfer to Ce³⁺ from lattice excitations of the bulk matrix. At lower concentrations of Ce^{3+} , up to $x \sim 0.5$, mechanism (iii) dominates the scintillation response. At higher doping levels, mechanism (i) is predominant, accounting for a large fraction of the light output in CeF₃. It has recently been demonstrated that co-doping single crystals of YPO4:Ce3+ with Pr³⁺, which act as electron traps, can improve scintillation efficiency by minimizing the influence of defects as well as mitigating the effects of damage caused by prolonged irradiation (Moretti et al., 2014).

Nanoscintillators

A number of reports have investigated the scintillation response of $Ce_xLa_{1-x}F_3$ nanocomposites, where small NPs (~10 nm in

diameter) are cast into oleic acid or polymer matrices with consistencies ranging from liquid to waxy. In initial studies, nanocomposites exhibited photopeaks for ¹³⁷Cs, ²⁴¹Am, and ⁵⁷Co irradiation (McKigney et al., 2007a,b). Most recently, a modest scintillation response (compared to a BC-400 polyvinyl-toluene detector) has been shown for 25% NP-loaded composites exposed to several sources: ²²Na (3.22 μ Ci), ⁶⁰Co (3.78 μ Ci), ¹³⁷Cs (31.9 μ Ci), ²⁴¹Am (9.09 μ Ci), and ²⁵²Cf (5.03 μ Ci) (Guss et al., 2013). For radiation detection purposes, fast lifetimes are typically preferred, whereas for bioconjugates, short lifetimes may preclude efficient energy transfer if it is outcompeted by luminescence or quenching processes.

While the scintillation of cerium in simple fluoride or phosphate hosts is well studied, it is just one of a number of possible scintillation mechanisms. In the late 2000 s, a number of reports were released discussing the possibilities and limitations for nanoscintillators in a broad sense, including the demonstration of a few crucial nanoscale phenomena (Klassen et al., 2008, 2009; Dujardin et al., 2010; Kortov, 2010). Several research groups are now engaged in the development of a wider variety of nanoscintillators, either through adaptation of known scintillating materials to the nanoscale, or through the creation of novel compositions. Many of these are based on luminescent "activator" dopants, including lanthanides (Ce³⁺, Pr³⁺, Tb³⁺, or $Eu^{2/3+}$). RL spectra have been published for a number of fluoride nanoscintillators, including powdered LaF₃:Eu (~4.4 nm), BaF₂:Ce (~10 nm), and CaF₂:Eu (~18 nm) NPs under excitation by a 40 kV Bullet X-ray tube and CaF₂:Eu³⁺ excited by a $1 \,\mu\text{Ci}^{241}\text{Am}$ source ($E_{\alpha} = 5.5$ MeV, $E_{\gamma} = 60 \,\text{keV}$) (Jacobsohn et al., 2011). The authors suggest that in such doped ionic crystals, where the diffusion length of *e*-*h* pairs may be up to 100 nm, it is conceivable that scintillation yields may be limited by the physical dimensions of the NPs or by the total number of activators. The same group has also compared the effects of undoped LaF₃ shell thickness on the photoluminescence vs. RL of LaF3:Eu NPs (Jacobsohn et al., 2010). The undoped shells act as a passivating barrier that is transparent to both optical excitation and emission, and PL efficiency was found to increase in a roughly linear fashion as a function of overall NP size as additional shells were added. With X-ray excitation, the shells were found to increase RL efficiency up to a shell volume of roughly twice the core volume, beyond which the light yield decreased with additional shell thickness. This was attributed to the increased undoped volume decreasing the probability of radiative recombination within the Eu-doped core volume, and suggesting that the diffusion length of carriers in LaF₃ to be relatively short.

Indeed, the luminescence of core-only activator-based nanoscintillators has been found to be size-dependent in some cases. One study demonstrated a considerable broadening of Eu^{3+} emission lines in progressively smaller Gd₂O₃ NP hosts as compared to bulk crystals, attributed to increasing crystal field fluctuations in the smaller NPs (Dujardin et al., 2010). A number of physical mechanisms potentially influencing nanoscintillators are described in the report, including structural effects, surface effects, quantum confinement, and dielectric confinement. Also shown was a significant difference in the RL spectra of bulk *vs.* nanoscale CeF₃ samples. Intriguing scintillation behavior

from LuBO₃:Ce nanocrystals has been reported, with a considerable dependence on the NC dimensions (Klassen et al., 2008, 2009). NC grain sizes were controlled by altering annealing temperatures, and scintillation yields were found to increase dramatically for NCs \sim 95 nm in diameter, with roughly three times the intensity of NCs either 25 nm larger or smaller. This is in contrast to LuF₃:Ce NPs in the same size range, which exhibited a monotonic size dependence.

Synthesis techniques and post-synthesis processing affect the size, crystallinity, and dopant distribution of nanostructures. The role of post-synthesis annealing on NCs was recently investigated with LaPO₄:Eu and LaPO₄:Pr (Malyy et al., 2013), as well as LuPO₄:Ce (Vistovskyy et al., 2014). In the case of LaPO₄:Ln, annealing was used to increase the size of the NCs, also resulting in a change of lattice symmetry above \sim 500°C. The subsequent effects on excitation processes over the range of 4-40 eV are described in some detail. Across the energy range investigated, the distinct mechanisms include intracenter excitation, charge transfer excitation, exciton or e-h pair creation, electronic excitation multiplication $(E > 2 E_q)$, or combinations (Figure 4), and different sensitivities were shown for the two activatorsthe first stage of Eu³⁺ recombination involving electron capture, in contrast to hole capture by Pr³⁺. With LuPO₄:Ce, substantial differences in the low energy (4-25 eV) VUV excitation spectrum and PL and RL decay kinetics were observed after the NCs were annealed for 2 h at 1200°C (vs. at 800°C, 300°C, or unannealed), corresponding to an increase in the crystallite size from 3 nm to 35 nm. The increased size resulted in well-defined PL emission components, dramatically enhanced band-to-band excitations above \sim 8.7 eV, and the elimination of the slow RL decay component ascribed to surface defects. Importantly, the RL intensity for 35 nm NCs was found to be $\sim 100 \times$ stronger than for

smaller (${<}12\,\rm{nm})\,\rm{NCs},$ whereas the PL intensity of both types was comparable.

The synthesis and characterization of a number of Pr³⁺ and Ce3+-activated garnet, silicate and oxide nanoscintillators have recently been reported, with an emphasis on their use for combined XRT/PDT, in particular their emission in the 300-400 nm range (Jung et al., 2014). The RL properties of powdered nanocrystalline samples prepared through combustion synthesis and annealing at 1200°C were compared with single/microcrystalline samples of similar compositions. The general composition $(Y_{1-x}Pr_x)_3Al_5O_{12}$ [or yttrium aluminum garnet (YAG):Pr, with an average diameter of 80 nm] was found to have the highest scintillation yield of the nanoscintillators tested under 50 keV excitation, though with a different activator concentration dependence than single crystal samples: quenching was observed for x > 1%, compared to x =0.16–0.65% reported for single crystals. Somewhat surprisingly, only YAG:Pr NCs with x = 0.75, 1, and 1.5% had greater emission intensity than Bi4Ge3O12 (BGO) NCs, in stark contrast to single crystals, where BGO had the lowest relative intensity of the compositions investigated. Indeed, because the RL behavior of NCs is dependent on activator concentration quenching, which is in turn dependent on the NC composition, size and crystallinity, it was suggested that the properties of different preparations will likely have to be evaluated individually rather than predicted by bulk trends. The introduction of the article also provides an inclusive overview of recent progress in nanoscintillator research for biomedical applications.

Nanoscintillators that do not emit through specific activator ions are referred to as self-activated (SA), with luminescence arising from core-valence transitions, self-trapped excitons,



FIGURE 4 | Mechanisms of scintillation in Pr^{3+} or Eu^{3+} -doped LaPO₄, depending on excitation energy. (A) Intracenter (direct) excitation of Ln activators. (B) Excitation by charge transfer from O^{2-} to Eu^{3+} . (C) Direct exciton formation. (D) Creation of e-h pairs. (E) Excitation multiplication, with secondary excitation as in (B). (F) Excitation multiplication, with secondary

excitation as in **(C)**. **(G)** Photons with $E > E_g$ can result in excitation multiplication involving the creation of secondary e-h pairs. Arrows: (1) Transition due to photon absorption. (2) Energy exchange due to inelastic scattering on valence band electrons, and (3) relaxation of primary electrons. (Reprinted with permission from Malyy et al., 2013).

charge-transfer emissions or other mechanisms. YAG, BaF_2 , and Y_2O_3 are among those that have been adapted to the nanoscale, but have not yet been investigated to a large extent as SA nanoscintillators. These compositions are also routinely doped with other activators, resulting in various effects on their intrinsic luminescence.

BIOCOMPATIBILITY OF LANTHANIDE-BASED MATERIALS

Preparation of LnNP bioconjugates (covalent attachment of organic molecules of interest to the NP surface ligands) appears infrequently in the literature. The principles of bioconjugation are similar to those for QDs, Au, or other NPs, with some distinct stability and solubility concerns (Cao et al., 2012; Jiang et al., 2012). Ligand-exchanged and silicated LnNPs typically present primary amine functionalities which provide some additional versatility over carboxyl groups. Amines provide a number of conjugation routes, including routine reactions with amine, isothiocyanate, carboxyl, hydroxyl, and thiol functional groups on a molecule of interest. One study reported conjugates of phosphorylethanolamine (PEA)-stabilized Eu3+ and Ce3+/Tb3+-doped LaF₃ by reacting the free amine of the ligand with activated biotin-PEG or mPEG NHS esters, demonstrating a successful strategy for attachment of molecules through amide bond formation. The use of these conjugates was restricted to borate buffer. Biotin conjugates have also been prepared with CeF3:Tb NPs silanized using TEOS/aminopropyltriethoxysilane (APTES) (Kong et al., 2007, 2008a) and PEA-stabilized Ln³⁺-doped zirconia (Liu et al., 2012).

SCINTILLATING NANOPARTICLE INTERACTIONS WITH DYES AND PHOTOSENSITIZERS (PSs)

When nanoparticles are conjugated to PS molecules and irradiated with ionizing radiation, singlet oxygen yield will depend upon scintillation yield and energy transfer efficiency. Neither of these parameters has been widely reported in the literature. However, a good number of studies have investigated lanthanidedye charge transfer using light excitation, and a few studies have looked at singlet oxygen generation.

Lanthanide energy and charge transfer (ET and CT) have been extensively studied for lanthanide chelates and organic dye pairs (Selvin, 1996, 2002), and more recently in LnNPs, though most efforts have focused on sensitization of 4f-4f luminescence by Ce³⁺, Yb³⁺ or surface-associated organic molecules. The situation can quickly become rather complex with lanthanides whose luminescence involves the $4f^n$ configuration. In these cases, magnetic dipole transitions are allowed and may have intensity of the same order of magnitude as electric dipole transitions. Additionally, some induced dipole transitions are hypersensitive to the environment of the lanthanide ion and apparently follow the selection rules of electric quadrupole transitions, leading them to be referred to as pseudo-quadrupolar transitions.

A 2004 report investigated energy transfer between porous networks of interconnected 18 nm YAG:Ce³⁺ nanocrystals (NCs) and the amine-reactive fluorescent dye tetramethylrhodamine isothiocyanate (TRITC) (Wuister et al., 2004). Glycine was used to coat the NCs, bound to the surface through the carboxylate moieties and providing terminal amines for attachment of TRITC. ET for the conjugate was demonstrated through strong emission of TRITC relative to NCs following selective excitation of the NCs, as well as the appearance of a fast initial decay of the time-resolved PL. The ET was estimated using Förster-Dexter theory, giving a "critical distance" (equivalent to R_0) of 7 nm, resulting in energy transfer rates of up to 10^8 s^{-1} for Ce³⁺ sites within 5 nm of the NC surface, supposed to be ~90% of the total Ce³⁺ given the NC size.

Electrostatic complexes of CePO₄:Tb nanorods and Rhodamine B (RhB), using Ce³⁺-sensitized Tb³⁺ emission to excite RhB, resulted in ET efficiency η up to 0.85 as determined by ratiometric luminescence analysis (Di et al., 2010). Evidence of ET was taken by the quenching of the NP steady-state luminescence and concomitant increase in RhB emission with increasing amounts of RhB. Time-resolved measurements of the ${}^5D_4 \rightarrow {}^7F_5$ transition of Tb³⁺ also exhibited quenching but did not quantitatively agree, reporting efficiencies lower than those determined by steady-state quenching ($\eta \sim 0.7$ at the highest quenching condition).

A recent (2013) study investigated electrostatic complexes of LaPO₄:Ce nanorods and the fluorescent dye coumarin 440 (C-440) using steady-state and time-resolved PL measurements (Kar et al., 2013). The Stern-Volmer sphere of action static quenching model was applied to the steady-state quenching, and the ET efficiency estimated by the ratio of the Ce³⁺ fluorescence lifetimes, giving $\eta = 0.24$ for an estimated 1:47 nanorod:dye ratio. ET was corroborated by an increase of the fluorescence lifetime of the dye, excited at 280 nm, when complexed with the nanorods.

X-ray-induced singlet oxygen production has been investigated with a handful of Tb3+-activated oxide and fluoride nanoscintillators coupled with grafted or encapsulated photosensitizers. In one study, 11-aminoundecanoic acid-coated La_{0.8}Tb_{0.2}F₃ NPs were mixed with the water-soluble photosensitizer meso-tetra(4-carboxyphenyl) porphine (MTCP) (Liu et al., 2008), which resulted in an increase in the quenching rate of the anthracenedipropionic acid (ADPA) singlet oxygen probe compared to PS alone under 250 keV X-ray irradiation at 44 cGy/min. Singlet oxygen production was demonstrated using (Gd_{0.5}Tb_{0.5})₂O₃ NPs with PS-encapsulating polysiloxane shells (Seve et al., 2012). The photosensitizer 5-(4-carboxyphenyl)-10,15,20-triphenyl-chlorin (TPC) was first conjugated to APTES before reaction of the TPC-APTES with TEOS for shell formation, resulting in varied amounts of covalently bound TPC embedded within the shell. In this case, increasing concentrations of encapsulated TPC resulted in quenching of the TPC PL (directly excited at 414 nm) as well as singlet oxygen production (directly detected through 1270 nm phosphorescence). This result was attributed to migration of excitation energy between TPC molecules terminated at static quenching sites, with a model developed to support the data.

Recently, energy transfer mechanisms and singlet oxygen production under optical and X-ray irradiation were studied using a similar system consisting of Gd-free Tb_2O_3 NPs with the photosensitizer 5-(4-carboxyphenyl)-10,15,20-triphenyl

porphyrin (TPP) grafted to the polysiloxane shells after rather than during their formation (Bulin et al., 2013). The NPs and NP-PS were used in DEG solution. Upon excitation at 300 nm (primarily resulting in $4f^8 \rightarrow 4f^75d^1$ transitions in Tb³⁺), a concurrent decrease of the Tb³⁺ lifetimes (measured at 545 nm) and appearance of long PL lifetimes of the grafted PS (measured at 650 nm) were taken to be indicative of excited Tb³⁺-PS nonradiative energy transfer. Interestingly, the polysiloxane layer was implicated in the appearance of a broad emission component from the NPs with a peak \sim 425 nm that was also involved in efficient, fast energy transfer to TPP under optical excitation, but did not appear under X-ray excitation. Singlet oxygen yields under 44 kV X-ray excitation (from a tungsten anode, providing a dose rate of 5.4 mGy/s) were evaluated with the chemical probes singlet oxygen sensor green (SOSG) and 3'-p-(aminophenyl) fluorescein (APF). SOSG showed a steady increase in signal with both PS alone and NP-PS, with the NP-PS showing a relative increase for irradiation times >10 min. The APF probe corroborated the formation of singlet oxygen by the NP-PS system, supported by competitive quenching of singlet oxygen by addition of NaN₃.

A small number of nanoscintillator-PS conjugate systems have demonstrated measurable enhancements of X-ray irradiation in cancer cell lines. In one study, commercially available Y₂O₃ NPs were modified with 2-chloroethylphosphonic acid (2-CEP) ligands, which were used to form thioether linkages to fragments of the HIV-1 TAT cell-penetrating/nuclear targeting peptide bound to the PS psoralen (Scaffidi et al., 2011). A small but significant downward trend in the growth of PS-3 prostate cancer cells with 2 Gy of 160 kVp or 320 kVp X-rays was seen as a function of particle dose. Another study reported activity of a terbium-doped gadolinium oxysulfide-Photofrin II mixture against glioblastoma cells irradiated with 120 kVp diagnostic X-rays. Radiation alone produced 20% cell suppression, and radiation plus the NP-PS combination over 90% suppression. Interestingly, the particles alone (without Photofrin) protected the cells against X-irradiation.

A theoretical paper investigated the conditions required for a nanoscintillator-photosensitizer conjugate system to produce therapeutically-relevant results, using physical parameters including nanoparticle uptake into cells, enhancement of radiation dose, scintillation light yields, and energy transfer efficiencies (Morgan et al., 2009). These parameters were used to estimate the overall singlet oxygen yield of a NP-PS system with X-ray irradiation. As singlet oxygen is considered to be the primary effector of PDT, its production was taken to be indicative of the potential of conjugates to damage malignant tissue through PS activation. Overall singlet oxygen production Φ_{1O_2} was determined from the product of the scintillation yield φ_s , characteristic of the material and given in photons per MeV of absorbed radiation, the NP-PS energy transfer efficiency φ_{ET} , and the PS singlet oxygen yield φ_p . For an extremely generous value of $\varphi_s > 10^5$ photons/MeV (derived from the energy output of bulk crystals of hygroscopic LuI₃:Ce³⁺) and somewhat generous values of $\varphi_{ET} = 0.75$ and $\varphi_p = 0.89$, and using the relative X-ray absorption of the NPs, it was determined that to deliver the "Niedre killing dose" of singlet oxygen (reduction of a cell population

to 1/*e* fraction, based on *in vitro* measurements of OCI-AML5 leukemia) (Niedre et al., 2002, 2003), only X-ray energies below \sim 200 keV (with peak efficiency \sim 50 keV) would be effective for reasonable total radiation doses. These results suggest that it would be difficult to produce a dramatic outcome with PDT effects alone.

It has been established that the efficacy of PDT in vivo depends on three primary mechanisms: direct tumor-cell killing; damage to tumor vasculature; and provocation of an immune response (in contrast to the immunosuppressive effects of radiotherapy and chemotherapy (Dolmans et al., 2003). If these observations hold true for nanoscintillator-photosensitizer systems, it is conceivable that the optimal targeting and cell-level distributions of such systems may be different from those that rely solely on radiation dose enhancement by nanoparticles (which are most effective in close proximity to cell nuclei). It would also be reasonable to expect that preserving the amphiphilicity of bioconjugated photosensitizers might be beneficial, as the tendency to associate with lipid membranes is known to be a key factor in the activity of free PS molecules (Kessel et al., 1987; Jori and Reddi, 1993). Whether active targeting to tumors improves nanoparticle accumulation in human cancers and/or treatment outcomes remains debatable. There are certainly circumstances in which passive accumulation is insufficient due to the physical properties of the tumor, but the ideal target for human tumors has not been well established (Kobayashi et al., 2013; Moghimi and Farhangrazi, 2014; Nichols and Bae, 2014).

OTHER ALTERNATIVES: CHEMOTHERAPY-NANOPARTICLE CONSTRUCTS

A large number of nanoparticle conjugates to chemotherapeutic agents have been reported, but few of these have been used for radiosensitization. This is somewhat surprising, since traditional chemotherapeutic agents often act as radiosensitizers, and probably just reflects the emerging state of the field. A few reports have targeted metal nanoparticles to cells or tumors using molecules that play an active role in destroying the target cells. In one study, radioresistant melanoma cells were exposed to Au nanorods conjugated to the RGD peptide (Xu et al., 2012). Exposure to MV X-rays decreased integrin expression and rendered the cells susceptible to radiation-induced apoptosis.

Another study showed that nanoparticle preparations of epithelial growth factor receptor (EGFR) antisense oligonucleotides radiosensitized SCCVII murine squamous carcinoma cells (Xu et al., 2012). However, the nanoparticles themselves were a delivery vehicle only, so no synergy was being sought between the particles and their cargo.

In another approach, doxorubicin conjugated to DNA-coated large Au nanoparticles was loaded into MCF-7 breast cancer cells (Starkewolf et al., 2013). Irradiation with X-rays improved cell inhibition by 33% at 10 Gy relative to Dox alone or Au nanoparticles alone. The authors attributed this observation to release of Dox by the radiation.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

Dense inorganic nanoparticles show considerable promise for dose enhancement of radiation therapy and enabling synergistic co-treatments. Gold nanoparticles are the most studied, though are not yet in the clinic for radiation therapy. Research efforts are underway to increase the efficiency of nanoparticle-based treatments, including physical and chemical optimization of nanoparticles, improved targeting such that total doses can be reduced, and combining ionizing radiation with other therapeutic modalities. Pre-sensitization of tumors with localized heating resulting from illumination of Au nanostructures with infrared light (photothermal therapy) has shown encouraging results. A number of less expensive alternatives to Au have been produced, but have not been subject to the same level of research activity. Oxides and selenides of Pt and Bi have been shown to provide radiation dose enhancement, while those of Gd and Fe also enable magnetism-based imaging, guidance and hyperthermia.

Nanoscintillators consist of a broad class of nanostructures that emit light ranging from the ultraviolet to the infrared upon excitation by ionizing radiation, with spectra that depend primarily on composition. Energy transfer from excited state nanoscintillators to surface-attached photosensitizer molecules allows such a system to improve upon the issue of tissue transmittance encountered with typical PDT, combined with the dose enhancement provided by the dense nanoparticles. If the emitted light is of an appropriate wavelength to be absorbed by photosensitizer molecules, nanoscintillator-photosensitizer bioconjugates have the potential to improve upon the issue of tissue transmittance with typical PDT. Such systems have only recently been reported, but represent another distinct class for combined therapy that requires only ionizing radiation. As these systems have thus far only been studied in vitro, and cover many possible material compositions and drug varieties, it is difficult to reach definitive conclusions about their advantages and disadvantages compared to Au. While the raw materials are less expensive than Au in general, the particles tend to be less than half as dense as Au, and provide lower enhancement factors. While the surface chemistry of Au is well established and reliable, oxide and fluoride nanoscintillators have known colloidal stability issues. Certainly, if XRT and PDT effects are determined to be synergistic, such systems may soon become a viable option for nanotherapeutics.

Despite the substantial progress in nanoparticle-assisted therapies in recent years, nanoscale radiosensitization effects have not yet been studied in great detail. Further understanding of the essential principles and interactions will help establish the legitimacy of new undertakings in the burgeoning field of nanomedicine, where clinical applications are just beginning to emerge.

While a good deal of preclinical data on GNRT is available, there are not yet clinical trials in the U.S. Two types of Au nanoparticles have been FDA approved for cancer trials: Au-tumor necrosis factor conjugates (clinicaltrials.gov, NCT00356980) and Au nanoshells for photothermal therapy (AuroLase, currently recruiting, NCT01679470 and NCT00848042 for lung cancer and head and neck cancer, respectively). Hafnium oxide particles are in clinical trials as radiation enhancers (NCT01433068, currently recruiting; drug name NBTXR3).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was funded by the CIHR Operating Grant MOP-133500. Jay L. Nadeau's salary support was provided by the Canada Research Chairs. Devesh Bekah's stipend was provided by the NSERC CREATE Medical Physics Research Training Network (MPRTN).

REFERENCES

- Alqathami, M., Blencowe, A., Yeo, U., Franich, R., Doran, S., Qiao, G., et al. (eds.).
 (2013). Enhancement of radiation effects by bismuth oxide nanoparticles for kilovoltage x-ray beams: a dosimetric study using a novel multi-compartment 3D radiochromic dosimeter. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 444:012025. doi: 10.1088/1742-6596/444/1/012025
- Atkinson, R. L., Zhang, M., Diagaradjane, P., Peddibhotla, S., Contreras, A., Hilsenbeck, S. G., et al. (2010). Thermal enhancement with optically activated gold nanoshells sensitizes breast cancer stem cells to radiation therapy. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 2:55ra79. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3001447
- Babaei, M., and Ganjalikhani, M. (2014). The potential effectiveness of nanoparticles as radio sensitizers for radiotherapy. *Bioimpacts* 4, 15–20. doi: 10.5681/bi.2014.003
- Brun, E., Sanche, L., and Sicard-Roselli, C. (2009). Parameters governing gold nanoparticle X-ray radiosensitization of DNA in solution. *Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces* 72, 128–134. doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2009.03.025
- Bulin, A.-L., Truillet, C., Chouikrat, R., Lux, F., Frochot, C., Amans, D., et al. (2013). X-ray-induced singlet oxygen activation with nanoscintillatorcoupled porphyrins. J. Phys. Chem. C 117, 21583–21589. doi: 10.1021/jp4 077189
- Bünzli, J.-C. G., and Eliseeva, S. V. (2010). Basics of lanthanide photophysics. Lanthanide Luminescence 7, 1–45. doi: 10.1007/4243_2010_3
- Butterworth, K. T., McMahon, S. J., Currell, F. J., and Prise, K. M. (2012). Physical basis and biological mechanisms of gold nanoparticle radiosensitization. *Nanoscale* 4, 4830–4838. doi: 10.1039/c2nr31227a
- Cao, P., Tong, L., Hou, Y., Zhao, G., Guerin, G., Winnik, M. A., et al. (2012). Improving lanthanide nanocrystal colloidal stability in competitive aqueous buffer solutions using multivalent PEG-phosphonate ligands. *Langmuir* 28, 12861–12870. doi: 10.1021/la302690h
- Chattopadhyay, N., Cai, Z. L., Kwon, Y. L., Lechtman, E., Pignol, J. P., and Reilly, R. M. (2013). Molecularly targeted gold nanoparticles enhance the radiation response of breast cancer cells and tumor xenografts to X-radiation. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 137, 81–91. doi: 10.1007/s10549-012-2338-4
- Chen, W., and Zhang, J. (2006). Using nanoparticles to enable simultaneous radiation and photodynamic therapies for cancer treatment. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 6, 1159–1166. doi: 10.1166/jnn.2006.327
- Cheng, S. H., and Lo, L. W. (2011). Inorganic nanoparticles for enhanced photodynamic cancer therapy. *Curr. Drug Discov. Technol.* 8, 250–268. doi: 10.2174/157016311796798982
- Cho, S. H., Jones, B. L., and Krishnan, S. (2009). The dosimetric feasibility of gold nanoparticle-aided radiation therapy (GNRT) via brachytherapy using low-energy gamma-/x-ray sources. *Phys. Med. Biol.* 54, 4889–4905. doi: 10.1088/0031-9155/54/16/004
- Di, W., Li, J., Shirahata, N., and Sakka, Y. (2010). An efficient and biocompatible fluorescence resonance energy transfer system based on lanthanide-doped nanoparticles. *Nanotechnology* 21:455703. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/21/45/455703
- Diagaradjane, P., Shetty, A., Wang, J. C., Elliott, A. M., Schwartz, J., Shentu, S., et al. (2008). Modulation of *in vivo* tumor radiation response via gold nanoshell-mediated vascular-focused hyperthermia: characterizing an integrated antihypoxic and localized vascular disrupting targeting strategy. *Nano Lett.* 8, 1492–1500. doi: 10.1021/nl080496z
- Dolmans, D. E., Fukumura, D., and Jain, R. K. (2003). Photodynamic therapy for cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer 3, 380–387. doi: 10.1038/nrc1071
- Dorenbos, P. (2000). The 5d level positions of the trivalent lanthanides in inorganic compounds. J. Lumin. 91, 155–176. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2313(00) 00229-5
- Dujardin, C., Amans, D., Belsky, A., Chaput, F., Ledoux, G., and Pillonnet, A. (2010). Luminescence and scintillation properties at the nanoscale. *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.* 57, 1348–1354. doi: 10.1109/TNS.2009.2035697

- El-Sayed, I. H., Huang, X., and El-Sayed, M. A. (2006). Selective laser photothermal therapy of epithelial carcinoma using anti-EGFR antibody conjugated gold nanoparticles. *Cancer Lett.* 239, 129–135. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2005.07.035
- Geng, F., Song, K., Xing, J. Z., Yuan, C. Z., Yan, S., Yang, Q. F., et al. (2011). Thioglucose bound gold nanoparticles enhance radio-cytotoxic targeting of ovarian cancer. *Nanotechnology* 22:285101. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/22/28/285101
- Giustini, A. J., Petryk, A. A., and Hoopes, P. J. (2011). Comparison of microwave and magnetic nanoparticle hyperthermia radiosensitization in murine breast tumors. *Proc. SPIE* 7901. doi: 10.1117/12.876515
- Gobin, A. M., Lee, M. H., Halas, N. J., James, W. D., Drezek, R. A., and West, J. L. (2007). Near-infrared resonant nanoshells for combined optical imaging and photothermal cancer therapy. *Nano Lett.* 7, 1929–1934. doi: 10.1021/nl07 0610y
- Griffin, R. J., Okajima, K., Barrios, B., and Song, C. W. (1996). Mild temperature hyperthermia combined with carbogen breathing increases tumor partial pressure of oxygen (pO2) and radiosensitivity. *Cancer Res.* 56, 5590–5593.
- Guss, P., Guise, R., Yuan, D., Mukhopadhyay, S., O'Brien, R., Lowe, D., et al. (2013). Lanthanum halide nanoparticle scintillators for nuclear radiation detection. *J. Appl. Phys.* 113:064303. doi: 10.1063/1.4790867
- Hainfeld, J. F., Dilmanian, F. A., Zhong, Z., Slatkin, D. N., Kalef-Ezra, J. A., and Smilowitz, H. M. (2010). Gold nanoparticles enhance the radiation therapy of a murine squamous cell carcinoma. *Phys. Med. Biol.* 55, 3045–3059. doi: 10.1088/0031-9155/55/11/004
- Hainfeld, J. F., Slatkin, D. N., and Smilowitz, H. M. (2004). The use of gold nanoparticles to enhance radiotherapy in mice. *Phys. Med. Biol.* 49, N309–N315. doi: 10.1088/0031-9155/49/18/N03
- Herold, D. M., Das, I. J., Stobbe, C. C., Iyer, R. V., and Chapman, J. D. (2000). Gold microspheres: a selective technique for producing biologically effective dose enhancement. *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.* 76, 1357–1364. doi: 10.1080/09553000050151637
- Hossain, M., and Su, M. (2012). Nanoparticle location and material dependent dose enhancement in X-ray radiation therapy. J. Phys. Chem. C. 116, 23047–23052. doi: 10.1021/jp306543q
- Huang, P., Bao, L., Zhang, C. L., Lin, J., Luo, T., Yang, D. P., et al. (2011). Folic acid-conjugated Silica-modified gold nanorods for X-ray/CT imaging-guided dual-mode radiation and photo-thermal therapy. *Biomaterials* 32, 9796–9809. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.08.086
- Huang, X., El-Sayed, I. H., Qian, W., and El-Sayed, M. A. (2006). Cancer cell imaging and photothermal therapy in the near-infrared region by using gold nanorods. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 128, 2115–2120. doi: 10.1021/ja057254a
- Jacobsohn, L. G., Sprinkle, K. B., Kucera, C. J., James, T. L., Roberts, S. A., Qian, H., et al. (2010). Synthesis, luminescence and scintillation of rare earth doped lanthanum fluoride nanoparticles. *Opt. Mater.* 33, 136–140. doi: 10.1016/j.optmat.2010.07.025
- Jacobsohn, L. G., Sprinkle, K. B., Roberts, S. A., Kucera, C. J., James, T. L., Yukihara, E. G., et al. (2011). Fluoride nanoscintillators. J. Nanomater. 2011:523638. doi: 10.1155/2011/523638
- Jain, S., Hirst, D. G., and O'Sullivan, J. M. (2012). Gold nanoparticles as novel agents for cancer therapy. Br. J. Radiol. 85, 101–113. doi: 10.1259/bjr/59448833
- Jelveh, S., and Chithrani, D. B. (2011). Gold Nanostructures as a platform for combinational therapy in future cancer therapeutics. *Cancers* 3, 1081–1110. doi: 10.3390/cancers3011081
- Jiang, G., Pichaandi, J., Johnson, N. J. J., Burke, R. D., and van Veggel, F. C. J. M. (2012). An effective polymer cross-linking strategy to obtain stable dispersions of upconverting NaYF4 nanoparticles in buffers and biological growth media for biolabeling applications. *Langmuir* 28, 3239–3247. doi: 10.1021/la20 4020m
- Jori, G., and Reddi, E. (1993). The role of lipoproteins in the delivery of tumourtargeting photosensitizers. *Int. J. Biochem.* 25, 1369–1375. doi: 10.1016/0020-711X(93)90684-7
- Jung, J. Y., Hirata, G. A., Gundiah, G., Derenzo, S., Wrasidio, W., Kesari, S., et al. (2014). Identification and development of nanoscintillators for biotechnology applications. J. Lumin. 154, 569–577. doi: 10.1016/j.jlumin.2014.05.040
- Kampinga, H. H. (2006). Cell biological effects of hyperthermia alone or combined with radiation or drugs: a short introduction to newcomers in the field. *Int. J. Hyperthermia* 22, 191–196. doi: 10.1080/02656730500532028
- Kar, A., Kundu, A., Bhattacharyya, S., Mandal, S., and Patra, A. (2013). Lanthanide based resonance energy transfer (LRET) between Ce-doped LaPO4 nanorods and coumarin 440 dye. *RSC Adv.* 3, 13372–13380. doi: 10.1039/c3ra40728d

- Kessel, D., Thompson, P., Saatio, K., and Nantwi, K. D. (1987). Tumor localization and photosensitization by sulfonated derivatives of tetraphenylporphine. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 45, 787–790. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-1097.1987.tb07883.x
- Khoei, S., Mahdavi, S. R., Fakhimikabir, H., Shakeri-Zadeh, A., and Hashemian, A. (2014). The role of iron oxide nanoparticles in the radiosensitization of human prostate carcinoma cell line DU145 at megavoltage radiation energies. *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.* 90, 351–356. doi: 10.3109/09553002.2014.888104
- Klassen, N. V., Kedrov, V. V., Kurlov, V. N., Ossipyan, Y. A., Shmurak, S. Z., Shmyt'ko, I. M., et al. (2008). Advantages and problems of nanocrystalline scintillators. *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.* 55, 1536–1541. doi: 10.1109/TNS.2008.924050
- Klassen, N. V., Kedrov, V. V., Ossipyan, Y. A., Shmurak, S. Z., Shmyt'ko, I. M., Krivko, O. A., et al. (2009). Nanoscintillators for microscopic diagnostics of biological and medical objects and medical therapy. *IEEE Trans. Nanobiosci.* 8, 20–32. doi: 10.1109/TNB.2009.2016551
- Klein, S., Sommer, A., Distel, L. V. R., Hazemann, J.-L., Kroner, W., Neuhuber, W., et al. (2014). Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles as novel X-ray enhancer for low-dose radiation therapy. J. Phys. Chem. B 118, 6159–6166. doi: 10.1021/jp5026224
- Kobayashi, H., Watanabe, R., and Choyke, P. L. (2013). Improving conventional enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effects; what is the appropriate target? *Theranostics* 4, 81–89. doi: 10.7150/thno.7193
- Kobayashi, K., Usami, N., Porcel, E., Lacombe, S., and Le Sech, C. (2010). Enhancement of radiation effect by heavy elements. *Mutat. Res.* 704, 123–131. doi: 10.1016/j.mrrev.2010.01.002
- Kong, D., Yang, P., Wang, Z., Chai, P., Huang, S., Lian, H., et al. (2008a). Mesoporous silica coated CeF3:Tb3+ particles for drug release. J. Nanomater. 2008:6. doi: 10.1155/2008/312792
- Kong, D. Y., Wang, Z. L., Lin, C. K., Quan, Z. W., Li, Y. Y., Li, C. X., et al. (2007). Biofunctionalization of CeF(3):Tb(3+) nanoparticles. *Nanotechnology* 18:075601. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/18/7/075601
- Kong, T., Zeng, J., Wang, X. P., Yang, X. Y., Yang, J., McQuarrie, S., et al. (2008b). Enhancement of radiation cytotoxicity in breast-cancer cells by localized attachment of gold nanoparticles. *Small* 4, 1537–1543. doi: 10.1002/smll.2007 00794
- Kortov, V. S. (2010). Nanophosphors and outlooks for their use in ionizing radiation detection. *Radiat. Meas.* 45, 512–515. doi: 10.1016/j.radmeas.2009. 11.009
- Le Duc, G., Miladi, I., Alric, C., Mowat, P., Bräuer-Krisch, E., Bouchet, A., et al. (2011). Toward an image-guided microbeam radiation therapy using gadolinium-based nanoparticles. ACS Nano 5, 9566–9574. doi: 10.1021/nn202797h
- Lempicki, A., Wojtowicz, A. J., and Berman, E. (1993). Fundamental limits of scintillator performance. *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. A* 333, 304–311. doi: 10.1016/0168-9002(93)91170-R
- Létant, S. E., and Wang, T. F. (2006). Semiconductor quantum dot scintillation under γ-ray irradiation. *Nano Lett.* 6, 2877–2880. doi: 10.1021/nl06 20942
- Leung, M. K. K., Chow, J. C. L., Chithrani, B. D., Lee, M. J. G., Oms, B., and Jaffray, D. A. (2011). Irradiation of gold nanoparticles by x-rays: monte carlo simulation of dose enhancements and the spatial properties of the secondary electrons production. *Med. Phys.* 38, 624–631. doi: 10.1118/1.3539623
- Liu, Y., Chen, W., Wang, S., and Joly, A. G. (2008). Investigation of water-soluble x-ray luminescence nanoparticles for photodynamic activation. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 92, 043901. doi: 10.1063/1.2835701
- Liu, Y., Zhou, S., Tu, D., Chen, Z., Huang, M., Zhu, H., et al. (2012). Amine-Functionalized lanthanide-doped zirconia nanoparticles: optical spectroscopy, time-resolved fluorescence resonance energy transfer biodetection, and targeted imaging. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134, 15083–15090. doi: 10.1021/ja3 06066a
- Low, P. S., Henne, W. A., and Doorneweerd, D. D. (2008). Discovery and development of folic-acid-based receptor targeting for imaging and therapy of cancer and inflammatory diseases. Acc. Chem. Res. 41, 120–129. doi: 10.1021/ar7000815
- Malyy, T. S., Vistovskyy, V. V., Khapko, Z. A., Pushak, A. S., Mitina, N. E., Zaichenko, A. S., et al. (2013). Recombination luminescence of LaPO4-Eu and LaPO4-Pr nanoparticles. J. Appl. Phys. 113, 224305. doi: 10.1063/1.48 08797
- McKigney, E. A., Del Sesto, R. E., Jacobsohn, L. G., Santi, P. A., Muenchausen, R. E., Ott, K. C., et al. (2007a). Nanocomposite scintillators for radiation detection

and nuclear spectroscopy. Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. A 579, 15–18. doi: 10.1016/j.nima.2007.04.004

- McKigney, E. A., Muenchausen, R. E., Cooke, D. W., Del Sesto, R. E., Gilbertson, R. D., Bacrania, M. K., et al. (eds.). (2007b). LaF₃:Ce nanocomposite scintillator for gamma-ray detection. *Proc. SPIE6706*. doi: 10.1117/12.737364
- McMahon, S. J., Mendenhall, M. H., Jain, S., and Currell, F. (2008). Radiotherapy in the presence of contrast agents: a general figure of merit and its application to gold nanoparticles. *Phys. Med. Biol.* 53, 5635–5651. doi: 10.1088/0031-9155/53/20/005
- Miladi, I., Duc, G. L., Kryza, D., Berniard, A., Mowat, P., Roux, S., et al. (2013). Biodistribution of ultra small gadolinium-based nanoparticles as theranostic agent: application to brain tumors. J. Biomater. Appl. 28, 385–394. doi: 10.1177/0885328212454315
- Moghimi, S. M., and Farhangrazi, Z. S. (2014). Just so stories: the random acts of anti-cancer nanomedicine performance. *Nanomedicine*. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2014.04.011. [Epub ahead of print].
- Moretti, F., Patton, G., Belsky, A., Fasoli, M., Vedda, A., Trevisani, M., et al. (2014). Radioluminescence sensitization in scintillators and phosphors: trap engineering and modeling. J. Phys. Chem. C 118, 9670–9676. doi: 10.1021/jp50 1717z
- Morgan, N. Y., Kramer-Marek, G., Smith, P. D., Camphausen, K., and Capala, J. (2009). Nanoscintillator conjugates as photodynamic therapy-based radiosensitizers: calculation of required physical parameters. *Radiat. Res.* 171, 236–244. doi: 10.1667/RR1470.1
- Moses, W. W., and Derenzo, S. E. (1989). Cerium fluoride, a new fast, heavy scintillator. *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.* 36, 173–176. doi: 10.1109/23.34428
- Moses, W. W., and Derenzo, S. E. (1990). The scintillation properties of ceriumdoped lanthanum fluoride. *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. A* 299, 51–56. doi: 10.1016/0168-9002(90)90746-S
- Moses, W. W., Derenzo, S. E., Weber, M. J., Ray-Chaudhuri, A. K., and Cerrina, F. (1994). Scintillation mechanisms in cerium fluoride. *J. Lumin.* 59, 89–100. doi: 10.1016/0022-2313(94)90026-4
- Ngwa, W., Makrigiorgos, G. M., and Berbeco, R. I. (2010). Applying gold nanoparticles as tumor-vascular disrupting agents during brachytherapy: estimation of endothelial dose enhancement. *Phys. Med. Biol.* 55:6533. doi: 10.1088/0031-9155/55/21/013
- Nichols, J. W., and Bae, Y. H. (2014). EPR: evidence and fallacy. J. Control. Release 190C, 451–464. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.03.057
- Niedre, M. J., Secord, A. J., Patterson, M. S., and Wilson, B. C. (2003). *In vitro* tests of the validity of singlet oxygen luminescence measurements as a dose metric in photodynamic therapy. *Cancer Res.* 63, 7986–7994.
- Niedre, M., Patterson, M. S., and Wilson, B. C. (2002). Direct near-infrared luminescence detection of singlet oxygen generated by photodynamic therapy in cells *in vitro* and tissues *in vivo*. *Photochem*. *Photobiol*. 75, 382–391. doi: 10.1562/0031-8655(2002)0750382DNILDO2.0.CO2
- Rahman, W. N., Bishara, N., Ackerly, T., He, C. F., Jackson, P., Wong, C., et al. (2009). Enhancement of radiation effects by gold nanoparticles for superficial radiation therapy. *Nanomedicine* 5, 136–142. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2009. 01.014
- Razzak, R., Zhou, J., Yang, X., Pervez, N., Bedard, E. L., Moore, R. B., et al. (2013). The biodistribution and pharmacokinetic evaluation of choline-bound gold nanoparticles in a human prostate tumor xenograft model. *Clin. Invest. Med.* 36, E133–E142.
- Robbins, D. J. (1980). On predicting the maximum efficiency of phosphor systems excited by ionizing radiation. J. Electrochem. Soc. 127, 2694–2702. doi: 10.1149/1.2129574
- Rodnyi, P., Melchakov, E., Zakharov, N., Munro, I., and Hopkirk, A. (1995). Fast luminescence of cerium doped lanthanum fluoride. *J. Lumin.* 65, 85–89. doi: 10.1016/0022-2313(95)00055-U
- Scaffidi, J. P., Gregas, M. K., Lauly, B., Zhang, Y., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2011). Activity of psoralen-functionalized nanoscintillators against cancer cells upon X-ray excitation. ACS Nano 5, 4679–4687. doi: 10.1021/nn200511m
- Selvin, P. R. (1996). Lanthanide-based resonance energy transfer. IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron. 2, 1077–1087. doi: 10.1109/2944.577339
- Selvin, P. R. (2002). Principles and biophysical applications of lanthanidebased probes. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 31, 275–302. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biophys.31.101101.140927
- Seve, A., Couleaud, P., Lux, F., Tillement, O., Arnoux, P., Andre, J.-C., et al. (2012). Long-distance energy transfer photosensitizers arising in hybrid

nanoparticles leading to fluorescence emission and singlet oxygen luminescence quenching. *Photochem. Photobiol. Sci.* 11, 803–811. doi: 10.1039/c2pp0 5324a

- Song, C. W., Shakil, A., Osborn, J. L., and Iwata, K. (2009). Tumour oxygenation is increased by hyperthermia at mild temperatures. *Int. J. Hyperthermia* 25, 91–95. doi: 10.1080/02656730902744171
- Song, K., Xu, P., Meng, Y. D., Geng, F., Li, J., Li, Z., et al. (2013). Smart gold nanoparticles enhance killing effect on cancer cells. *Int. J. Oncol.* 42, 597–608. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2012.1721
- Starkewolf, Z. B., Miyachi, L., Wong, J., and Guo, T. (2013). X-ray triggered release of doxorubicin from nanoparticle drug carriers for cancer therapy. *Chem. Commun.* 49, 2545–2547. doi: 10.1039/c3cc38100e
- Su, X. Y., Liu, P. D., Wu, H., and Gu, N. (2014). Enhancement of radiosensitization by metal-based nanoparticles in cancer radiation therapy. *Cancer Biol. Med.* 11, 86–91. doi: 10.7497/j.issn.2095-3941.2014. 02.003
- van Dam, G. M., Themelis, G., Crane, L. M., Harlaar, N. J., Pleijhuis, R. G., Kelder, W., et al. (2011). Intraoperative tumor-specific fluorescence imaging in ovarian cancer by folate receptor-alpha targeting: first in-human results. *Nat. Med.* 17, 1315–1319. doi: 10.1038/nm.2472
- Van den Heuvel, F., Locquet, J. P., and Nuyts, S. (2010). Beam energy considerations for gold nano-particle enhanced radiation treatment. *Phys. Med. Biol.* 55, 4509–4520. doi: 10.1088/0031-9155/55/16/S06
- van der Zee, J., González, D., van Rhoon, G. C., van Dijk, J. D. P., van Putten, W. L. J., and Hart, A. A. M. (2000). Comparison of radiotherapy alone with radiotherapy plus hyperthermia in locally advanced pelvic tumours: a prospective, randomised, multicentre trial. *Lancet* 355, 1119–1125. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02059-6
- Verma, J., Lal, S., and Van Noorden, C. J. (2014). Nanoparticles for hyperthermic therapy: synthesis strategies and applications in glioblastoma. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 9, 2863–2877. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S57501
- Vernon, C. C., Hand, J. W., Field, S. B., Machin, D., Whaley, J. B., van der Zee, J., et al. (1996). Radiotherapy with or without hyperthermia in the treatment of superficial localized breast cancer: results from five randomized controlled trials. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 35, 731–744. doi: 10.1016/0360-3016(96)00154-X
- Vistovskyy, V., Malyy, T., Pushak, A., Vas'kiv, A., Shapoval, A., Mitina, N., et al. (2014). Luminescence and scintillation properties of LuPO4-Ce nanoparticles. *J. Lumin.* 145, 232–236. doi: 10.1016/j.jlumin.2013.07.027
- Withers, N. J., Sankar, K., Akins, B. A., Memon, T. A., Gu, T., Gu, J., et al. (2008). Rapid degradation of CdSe/ZnS colloidal quantum dots exposed to gamma irradiation. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 93, 173101. doi: 10.1063/1.2978073
- Wojtowicz, A. J., Balcerzyk, M., Berman, E., and Lempicki, A. (1994). Optical spectroscopy and scintillation mechanisms of CexLa1-xF3. *Phys. Rev. B* 49, 14880–14895. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevB.49.14880
- Wojtowicz, A. J., Berman, E., Koepke, C., and Lempicki, A. (1992). Stoichiometric cerium compounds as scintillators. I. CeF3. *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.* 39, 494–501. doi: 10.1109/23.159654
- Wuister, S. F., de Mello Donega, C., and Meijerink, A. (2004). Efficient energy transfer between nanocrystalline YAG:Ce and TRITC. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 6, 1633–1636. doi: 10.1039/b401299b
- Wust, P., Hildebrandt, B., Sreenivasa, G., Rau, B., Gellermann, J., Riess, H., et al. (2002). Hyperthermia in combined treatment of cancer. *Lancet Oncol.* 3, 487–497. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(02)00818-5
- Xu, W. C., Luo, T., Li, P., Zhou, C. Q., Cui, D. X., Pang, B., et al. (2012). RGDconjugated gold nanorods induce radiosensitization in melanoma cancer cells by downregulating alpha(v)beta(3) expression. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 7, 915–924. doi: 10.2147/JJN.S28314
- Yao, L., Daniels, J., Moshnikova, A., Kuznetsov, S., Ahmed, A., Engelman, D. M., et al. (2013). pHLIP peptide targets nanogold particles to tumors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 465–470. doi: 10.1073/pnas.12196 65110
- Zagar, T. M., Oleson, J. R., Vujaskovic, Z., Dewhirst, M. W., Craciunescu, O. I., Blackwell, K. L., et al. (2010). Hyperthermia combined with radiation therapy for superficial breast cancer and chest wall recurrence: a review of the randomised data. *Int. J. Hyperthermia* 26, 612–617. doi: 10.3109/02656736.2010.487194
- Zhang, X.-D., Chen, J., Min, Y., Park, G. B., Shen, X., Song, S.-S., et al. (2014). Metabolizable Bi2Se3 nanoplates: biodistribution, toxicity, and uses for

cancer radiation therapy and imaging. Adv. Funct. Mater. 24, 1718–1729. doi: 10.1002/adfm.201302312

- Zhang, X. D., Guo, M. L., Wu, H. Y., Sun, Y. M., Ding, Y. Q., Feng, X., et al. (2009). Irradiation stability and cytotoxicity of gold nanoparticles for radiotherapy. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 4, 165–173. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S6723
- Zhang, X. D., Wu, D., Shen, X., Chen, J., Sun, Y. M., Liu, P. X., et al. (2012). Size-dependent radiosensitization of PEG-coated gold nanoparticles for cancer radiation therapy. *Biomaterials* 33, 6408–6419. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.05.047

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 12 August 2014; paper pending published: 24 August 2014; accepted: 21 September 2014; published online: 14 October 2014.

Citation: Cooper DR, Bekah D and Nadeau JL (2014) Gold nanoparticles and their alternatives for radiation therapy enhancement. Front. Chem. 2:86. doi: 10.3389/ fchem.2014.00086

This article was submitted to Chemical Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Chemistry.

Copyright © 2014 Cooper, Bekah and Nadeau. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Pedro M. D. Moreno¹* and Ana P. Pêgo^{1,2,3}

¹ Instituto de Engenharia Biomédica, Nanobiomaterials for Targeted Therapies Group, Porto, Portugal

² Faculdade de Engenharia, Universidade do Porto, Porto, Portugal

³ Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar, Universidade do Porto, Porto, Portugal

Edited by:

João Conde, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA

Reviewed by:

Juewen Liu, University of Waterloo, Canada Ramon Eritja, Institut de Química Avançada de Catalunya - Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas, Spain

*Correspondence:

Pedro M. D. Moreno, Instituto de Engenharia Biomédica, Nanobiomaterials for Targeted Therapies Group, Rua do Campo Alegre, 823, Porto, Portugal e-mail: pedro.moreno@ineb.up.pt Under clinical development since the early 90's and with two successfully approved drugs (Fomivirsen and Mipomersen), oligonucleotide-based therapeutics has not yet delivered a clinical drug to the market in the cancer field. Whilst many pre-clinical data has been generated, a lack of understanding still exists on how to efficiently tackle all the different challenges presented for cancer targeting in a clinical setting. Namely, effective drug vectorization, careful choice of target gene or synergistic multi-gene targeting are surely decisive, while caution must be exerted to avoid potential toxic, often misleading off-target-effects. Here a brief overview will be given on the nucleic acid chemistry advances that established oligonucleotide technologies as a promising therapeutic alternative and ongoing cancer related clinical trials. Special attention will be given toward a perspective on the hurdles encountered specifically in the cancer field by this class of therapeutic oligonucleotides and a view on possible avenues for success is presented, with particular focus on the contribution from nanotechnology to the field.

Keywords: antisense, oligonucleotides, cancer, therapeutics, nanomedicine

OPENING THE THERAPEUTIC LANDSCAPE BY EVOLUTION OF NUCLEIC ACIDS CHEMISTRY

Oligonucleotides have been under investigation for over 30 years, whilst achieving only two approved drugs. Those were, Fomivirsen, approved by the FDA in 1998 for the treatment of cytomegalovirus retinitis in patients with AIDS, but discontinued for low demand, and Mipomersen, FDA approved in 2013, targeting ApoB100 for the treatment of homozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia (HoFH), a rare genetic disorder that leads to excessive levels of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol. These are both single-stranded antisense oligonucleotide drugs (most commonly known as AONs) that together with siRNA (a double-stranded oligonucleotide) make up, at present, the therapeutic antisense oligonucleotide field. In this paper more emphasis will be put on AONs due to their longer time in development and history of clinical trials.

Progress in this field has been proceeding at a steady but somewhat slow pace, driven mostly by the speed at which the different intra and extracellular obstacles encountered by the oligonucleotide drugs are being tackled. The most important hurdles have been (i) the poor stability against extra- and intracellular degradation (mostly by action of nucleases), (ii) inefficient intracellular delivery to target cells or tissues, (iii) inadequate affinity toward the intended target sequence and (iv) potential off-target/toxicity effects. Finally for most applications (v) immunostimulation has also been a matter of concern.

The pursuit of clinically relevant antisense drugs has led the field to develop different types of chemical modifications to native DNA or RNA in an attempt to overcome the aforementioned limitations. Most widely used modifications can be divided in two simple categories: (a) backbone structure and (b) sugar ring modifications (**Table 1**).

The main goals of these chemical modifications have been to achieve increased resistance to degradation by exo- and endonucleases; increase affinity, and in some cases selectivity, toward target RNA/DNA sequences and to modulate the immunostimulation properties of the oligonucleotides.

In the case of phosphorothioate (PS) modification (one of the first and widely used modifications introduced in therapeutic antisense oligonucleotides) (Eckstein, 1967), it has also led to better pharmacokinetics and extended circulation times for AONs systemically applied in a "naked" form (i.e., unprotected by delivery agents). This effect has been attributed to unspecific binding to serum proteins such as albumin (Srinivasan et al., 1995; Crooke et al., 1996; Watanabe et al., 2006).

Mechanistically, AONs work via binding to a specific RNA target sequence resulting in the block of RNA function. This can be achieved through steric hindrance (non-degradative pathway) and concomitant RNA translation block, or target degradation. The latter occurs by the action of an endogenous enzyme, RNase H, or alternatively, by a catalytic cleavage activity embedded into the oligonucleotide itself (e.g., ribozymes and DNAzymes) (Bennett and Swayze, 2010). Notably, the non-degradative mechanism, through steric hindrance, has recently been exploited, with great success, for modulation of pre-mRNA splice patterns by affecting the binding of trans-splicing regulatory factors to the pre-mRNA (Hammond and Wood, 2011; Bestas et al., 2014; Disterer et al., 2014).





The mechanism of action of AONs has to be carefully considered when deciding for the type of nucleotide modifications and design of the oligonucleotide (here including number and position of modified nucleotides). Thus, in contrast to PS modifications that maintain the anionic character of oligonucleotides, PNAs and PMOs completely substitute the phosphodiester linkage by either a polyamide backbone (Nielsen et al., 1991) or a phosphorodiamidate group (Summerton and Weller, 1997), respectively, hence being uncharged nucleotide analogs. On the other hand sugar ring modifications can influence the nucleoside conformation promoting the preferential adoption of an A-form (dsRNA type) or B-form (dsDNA type) helix when in a doublestranded structure. In the case of 2'O-Me RNA (Kawai et al., 1992; Nishizaki et al., 1997), MOE (Manoharan, 1999) and LNA (Koshkin et al., 1998; Obika et al., 1998), all promote the A-form while 2'*F*-ANA (Berger et al., 1998) the B-form. Contrasting all the aforementioned, UNA, with its unlocked ring configuration, does not impart any conformation restrictions (Pasternak and Wengel, 2011).

All of the abovementioned nucleotide modifications have thus been used with few restrictions when designing steric hindrance AONs, since their incorporation mainly focus on achieving enhanced binding affinity and selectivity toward a target sequence. In contrast, the design of AONs for target degradation through the action of RNAse H has to obey the enzyme's structural preferences for cleaving DNA/RNA duplexes (Minshull and Hunt, 1986; Nakamura et al., 1991). Hence, all modifications too divergent from natural DNA nucleotides need to be carefully considered to not hinder the enzyme action. This can be accomplished by the design of "gapmer" AONs containing the modified nucleotides on the 5' and 3' terminus flanking a central unmodified DNA nucleotides stretch (Monia et al., 1993; Stanton et al., 2012). Specifically, in the case of the two approved drugs, Fomivirsen is a PS modified DNA oligonucleotide applied by intraocular injection, whereas Mipomersen is a second generation AON gapmer with MOE modifications at the ends and PS throughout, applied as an intravascular injection.

BRIEF OVERVIEW ON ANTISENSE OLIGONUCLEOTIDES CLINICAL TRIALS RELATED TO CANCER

An increasing number of clinical trials with AONs are ongoing, which shows that the field is rapidly forwarding. In **Table 2** a list of recently completed and on-going clinical trials is presented.

Other studies have unfortunately failed, in different phases, to reach their expected endpoints or to show significant benefit, leading to a stop in the corresponding AON development. Some aspects of antisense technology have contributed to this and are next discussed.

CHALLENGES FOR ANTISENSE TECHNOLOGY—1. UNSPECIFIC MODES OF ACTION

Along their development path, oligonucleotides have unraveled much of their potential but also many of their limitations.

As discussed above, introduction of PS modifications led to the first evidences that antisense drugs could become a reality in a clinical setting, essentially by increasing resistance to degradation and extending circulation times after systemic administration (mostly due to unspecific serum-protein binding). These properties improved the oligonucleotide therapeutic potential, despite some decreased affinity for the target sequence (when comparing to regular DNA oligonucleotides) (Kibler-Herzog et al., 1991). On

DRUG	AON (carrier)	TARGET	INDICATION	STATUS	DEVELOPER
Custirsen (OGX-011)	rsen (OGX-011) 2′- <i>O</i> -MOE-PS gapmer ODN ("naked")		(i) castrate resistant prostate cancer; (ii) non-small cell lung cancer	I and (ii) Phase III (recruiting)	OncoGenex
EGFR antisense DNA	Phoshorothioate ODN ("naked")	EGFR	Advanced Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma	Phase I/II (recruiting)	University of Texas
Apatorsen (OGX-427)	2'- <i>O</i> -MOE-PS gapmer ODN ("naked")	Hsp27	prostate cancer; pancreatic; non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer; other	ion-squamous non-small cell	
ISIS-STAT3Rx (ISIS 481464/ AZD9150)	cEt-PS gapmer ODN ("naked")	STAT3	Lymphoma; hepatocellular carcinoma	Phase I/II (recruiting)	Astrazeneca (ISIS Pharmaceuticals)
ISIS-ARRx (AZD5312)	cEt-PS gapmer ODN ("naked")	Androgen Receptor	Advanced solid tumors (prostate cancer indications)	Phase I (recruiting)	Astrazeneca (ISIS Pharmaceuticals)
Trabedersen (AP 12009)	Phoshorothioate ODN ("naked")	TGFβ2	(i) Pancreatic Neoplasms, Melanoma, Colorectal Neoplasms; (ii) Glioblastoma; Anaplastic Astrocytoma	(i) Phase I; (ii) Phase Ilb (both completed)	Isarna Therapeutics
EZN-2968	LNA-PS gapmer ODN ("naked")	HIF-1α	Advanced solid tumors	Phase I (completed)	Enzon Pharmaceuticals (Santaris Pharma)
LErafAON-ETU	DNA-PS modified at 5' and 3' end (lipossome)		Advanced Cancer	Phase I (completed)	INSYS Therapeutics Inc

Table 2 | On-going and recently completed anti-cancer AON clinical trials.

ODN-oligodeoxynucleotide; cEt-constrained Ethyl.

the other hand, this unspecific protein binding feature can potentially lead to associated toxicities or cellular effects not entirely sequence specific, such as complement activation, increased coagulation times and unwanted immune activation (Brown et al., 1994; Krieg and Stein, 1995; Henry et al., 1999; Mou et al., 2001; Krieg et al., 2003; Senn et al., 2005). These effects, however, are most often oligonucleotide length and concentration dependent (Webb et al., 2001). Immune activation, on the other hand, is also enhanced by specific nucleotide sequences (CpG motifs) (Barchet et al., 2008), although this can be minimized by different types of nucleotide modifications (Henry et al., 2000). Nevertheless, immune activation is an important factor that has previously led to erroneous interpretations of data when inhibition of tumor growth was not primarily driven by the antisense mechanism but by the immunostimulatory properties of CpG sequences found in certain AONs (Badros et al., 2005; Gekeler et al., 2006). Regarding potential PS-derived unspecific cellular effects these have been proposed to affect the mechanism of action of an anti-cancer oligonucleotide drug by the down-regulation of several anti-apoptotic proteins and glycolytic enzymes. These were actually seen as important contributors to the apoptotic action (Stessl et al., 2009; Winkler et al., 2010).

Another important concern relates to hybridization dependent toxicity, deriving from exaggerated pharmacological action (a consequence also seen with any other chemical drug), or offtarget hybridization. The latter can be minimized by designing the antisense drug taking into account a detailed bioinformatics analysis for identification of both, genes with perfect matches or with partial complementarity (looking out for 1–3 mismatches as the most relevant ones) (Bennett and Swayze, 2010).

The above considerations have raised some difficulties, especially *in vivo*, for the exact prediction of the mechanism of action of an antisense drug and are among the causes probably hampering a more resolute demonstration of the therapeutic relevance of antisense drugs toward not only cancer but also other diseases in general. This concern can be demonstrated by the case of the antisense drug LY2275796 (a second generation AON with PS and MOE modifications targeting eIF-4E) where, besides target gene downregulation, housekeeping genes were considerably affected as well, raising the question to whether the antisense action was sequence specific or also mediated by off-target effects (Hong et al., 2011).

This scenario only reinforces the need for an in-depth pharmacologic and pharmacokinetic analysis at the preclinical stage of AON development.

CHALLENGES FOR ANTISENSE TECHNOLOGY—2. DELIVERY

The efficient and targeted delivery of nucleic acid therapeutics is seen as, if not the biggest, one of the most important challenges for this class of drugs. The most commonly used nucleic acids drugs (namely, plasmid DNA, siRNA and AONs) have specific features influencing their cellular uptake and delivery vector development. AONs, due to the short chain size have very low charge density, in addition, being single-stranded, they have the aromatic bases exposed (not buried inside a double helix), which confers a slight hydrophobic character to the molecule. These properties, enable some level of interaction with the cell membrane, which can be further potentiated by PS modifications, making possible, although still extremely inefficient, their use without the help of any vector formulations (Watts and Corey, 2012). This has been recently emphasized by the demonstration that short LNA modified AONs were able to sustain gene downregulation in a large variety of cell lines when administered in vitro unassisted by transfection agents (also referred as gymnotic delivery), although some cell lines still seem to be completely refractory to this type of AON uptake (Stein et al., 2010). The results obtained by gymnotic delivery seem to correlate well with the obtained in vivo gene silencing efficiencies for the "naked" LNA administration; in fact, a better prediction of in vivo potency was obtained in comparison to data resulting from transfection-mediated in vitro AON delivery, a more standard method to preliminarily analyze AON efficiency (Stein et al., 2010). A similar study showed downregulation of different cancer gene targets, by the gymnotic delivery of LNA-AON in over 30 cell lines, although discrepancies between both studies are seen when relating intracellular localization of the AONs (nuclear vs. cytoplasmatic) and efficient down-regulation activity (Zhang et al., 2011).

Despite several studies demonstrating some activity when using "naked" AONs in vivo, and their wide tissue distribution, it has also been realized that these preferentially accumulate in the liver and kidney and to a lesser extent in spleen, lymph nodes and bone marrow (Agrawal et al., 1995; Iversen et al., 1995; Graham et al., 1998; Geary, 2009; Straarup et al., 2010). Liver, as a primary location of oligonucleotide accumulation has received a greater level of attention with some of the most promising AON trials taking advantage of this effect, as seen with Mipomersen (Hovingh et al., 2013). Liver accumulation has been attributed to the role of this organ in clearance by the reticulum endothelium system (RES). This results from the abundant presence of phagocytic Kupffer cells, together with the high blood flow received and, importantly, the existence of a fenestrated vasculature with an average 100-200 nm pore diameter between endothelial lining cells (Wisse et al., 2008). It should be noted that the pharmacokinetics of AONs are dependent on chemistry, with the most favorable properties relating to the presence of PS linkages and the polyanionic character of the molecules. Thus, AONs based on PNA and PMO when administered as "naked" formulations in vivo, are rapidly cleared from circulation while showing poorer tissue distribution (Dirin and Winkler, 2013).

Tumor tissue also shares some of the abovementioned features, specially regarding its specific microvasculature characteristics (*viz.* for solid tumors). Fenestrations of 100–700 nm have been found in some tumor vessels, which together with a poor lymphatic drainage give rise to the enhanced permeability and retention effect (EPR) (Jang et al., 2003), responsible for the accumulation of macromolecules or nanoparticles in tumors. Another effect to consider is the usually high interstitial fluid pressure (IFP) in tumors that obviates the normal rapid convective flow from blood to the tissue interstitium (due to osmotic and hydrostatic pressure differences). This effect is counterproductive in terms of drug accessibility to the tumor tissue, which then has to rely in slow diffusion processes. A dense structure of interstitial matrix and cells also mounts a final barrier to the diffusion process (Chauhan et al., 2011). Finally, the uneven leakiness of vessels found in tumors further contributes to a highly heterogeneous process of drug penetration. Another consideration is that the larger the tumor the bigger the regional differences within the tumor itself. This is illustrated by the presence of a necrotic core with an almost complete absence of blood flow, a seminecrotic region with poor blood flow within un-branched vessels, a stable region with branched vessels and good flow and an active angiogenic front where blood flow is variable and can be substantially higher than in surrounding host normal tissues (Jain, 2012).

These hindrances can result in AONs despite reaching tumor tissue, not being able to accumulate to a significant extent in the tumor tissue, with the additional drawback of distributing unevenly throughout the tissue (Plenat et al., 1995; Delong et al., 1997; Devi et al., 2005).

Certainly these delivery issues hamper a more effective translation of anti-cancer antisense oligonucleotides to the clinic.

PERSPECTIVES ON AON VECTORIZATION FOR CANCER THERAPEUTICS

Given the wide tissue distribution properties of AONs and their preferential accumulation in organs other than tumor tissue, this can lead to the necessity of using high amounts of AONs in order to reach a meaningful biological effect, raising concerns due to presence of high AON concentrations in unspecific tissue/organs. In addition, although some level of localization to tumor tissue is attained due to the EPR effect, there can be a large heterogeneity in the targeting and distribution of AONs between tumors and within the same tumor. Not achieving a homogeneous and abundant distribution of AONs to the entire tumor can result in differential intracellular concentrations of the AON affecting functional efficiency and ultimately leading to some cells evading the anti-cancer action.

The development of nanocarriers for AON delivery could have a positive contribution in AON anti-cancer efficiency while minimizing toxicity, although their utility must be evaluated in a caseby-case basis. Nanoparticle systems will be also affected by inter and intra-tumor heterogeneity, where differences between tumor mass strongly influence the EPR and IFP effects. In fact, the EPR effect is more prevalent in tumors of 100 mm³ which limits its use when targeting small or unvascularized primary or secondary tumor (metastases) (Adiseshaiah et al., 2010). While AONs associated with nanoparticle systems can take greater advantage of the EPR effect, when "naked" administration is employed these will be affected to a wider extent by IFP similarly to small drugs Interestingly, this could mean that free AONs could have an advantage when dealing with a tumor with a less disturbed vascular architecture or when tumor vasculature normalization drugs are used (Juliano et al., 2009; Chauhan et al., 2012). This view can, however, be too simplistic as shown in a work dealing with imaging and modulation of AON microdistribution in solid tumor xenografts (Mocanu et al., 2007). It was seen that a drug-induced decrease in IFP was not accompanied by an expected improved distribution of the AON, in contrast to what has been reported

for some small drugs. This was attributed to a strong association of the AON with regions of necrosis/hypoxia or due to the effect of the drug promoting neovascularization and the less permeable status of the newly formed vessels. Also, one could reason that the tumor matrix and the specific collagen content along with the status of other fibrilliary proteins could affect distribution of AONs (Netti et al., 2000; Mocanu et al., 2007), especially when dealing with PS-AONs due to their unspecific binding properties. In contrast to tumor normalization, the EPR effect can be transiently augmented by modulation of blood pressure and local increase of blood flow through the use of angiotensin-II-induced hypertension and nitric oxide releasing agents (Fang et al., 2011). In this way uptake of nanoparticle systems could be favored.

In terms of available systems for vectorization of AONs these can be divided in nanoparticle systems formed by interactions of different carrier formulations with the AONs or nanoconjugates where AONs are covalently linked to different functional molecules (e.g., peptides, sugars) (Juliano et al., 2012; Yin et al., 2014).

Carrier formulations that have been frequently used for delivery of different nucleic acids comprise cationic lipids and polymers. The basic driving force of complex formation is the electrostatic interaction. In brief, the carrier system needs to (i) protect the nucleic-acid from extracellular and intracellular degradation, until it reaches its target, (ii) achieve a prolonged circulation time in order to be accumulated in the location of interest, (iii) efficiently interact with the cellular membrane to promote uptake (generally through endocytosis processes), (iv) promote escape from endocytic vesicles and finally (v) dissociate from the active nucleic-acid in order for it to function (Yin et al., 2014).

Cationic lipids generally used with nucleic acids (forming lipoplexes) comprise DOTMA, DOSPE, DOTAP, but also neutral lipids such as the fusogenic DOPE have been incorporated to improve transfection efficiency (Simoes et al., 2005). Some of these lipids have been studied specifically with AONs (Jaaskelainen et al., 2000; Meidan et al., 2001; Gokhale et al., 2002) but few have been utilized in pre-clinical or clinical work. A liposome formulation of c-raf antisense oligonucleotide constitutes the first example of an AON-lipoplex taken into clinical development stages (Zhang et al., 2009).

Polymers have been also used. These have an immense chemical diversity and are easy to chemically manipulate thus enabling tuning of properties by functionalization. Some examples of polymeric systems that have been utilized are poly(L-Lysine) (Stewart et al., 1996) and poly(ethylene imine) (Seong et al., 2006). However, some issues regarding efficiency and toxicity have warranted the development of other systems based on natural and biodegradable polymers such as chitosan (Gomes et al., 2014).

Also worth mentioning are delivery systems based on inorganic nanoparticles, an emerging field, of which, gold nanoparticles are perhaps the most representative ones (Ding et al., 2014). A detailed view on the intracellular transport (e.g., understanding its endocytic route) (Wu et al., 2014) and careful evaluation of toxicity profile (e.g., genotoxicity, membrane damage) (Alkilany and Murphy, 2010) can provide important information to the advancement of the technology into clinical development. Taking into consideration the previously mentioned tumor features, some design specificities should be taken into account when implementing an AON-nanocomplex strategy as anticancer therapeutic platform. Regarding size, the smaller the particle the better the intra-tumoral transport (<10 nm), however the EPR effect will be less significant than for bigger particles (10– 200 nm) (Netti et al., 2000). On the other hand, particles on the higher size range will present a limited capacity to extravasate from vessel pores, but for the same reason will be more specific. Also, bigger sizes determine a higher clearance by the RES, although this can be counteracted by steric stabilization through poly(ethylene glycol) surface modification (Van Vlerken et al., 2007).

Surface charge also plays a crucial role. While cationic particles tend to target tumor endothelium and exhibit a higher vascular permeability than neutral or anionic ones, the fastest and more homogenously distribution in tumor interstitium is seen for the neutral particles. Presence of charge in particles contributes to aggregation with different components of the tumor matrix thus hindering transport. Accordingly, neutral or zwitterionic particles, or even particles with the property to change charge according to the microenvironment should perhaps be the best options (Chauhan et al., 2011). Shape, an often-overlooked property, likewise affects transport. Here factors such as rigidity and form (spherical vs. rod) come into play with flexible nanometer-sized particles showing, in principle, better transport characteristics (Chauhan et al., 2011).

In conclusion, the field of anti-cancer AONs is rapidly advancing, supported in part by the growing number of chemical modifications that conferred superior properties to AONs. However, specific and efficient delivery to tumors is still of uttermost importance. Uniform distribution throughout the tumor is an important challenge particularly due to intra-tumoral regional specificities and a progressive microenvironment. A further challenge lies in the dynamic nature of tumors that may correlate with temporal and spatial changes in expression of the AON target genes.

Multi-gene targeting AONs and efficient tumor targeting vectorization systems will, thus, be of uttermost importance in the development of a successful anti-cancer AON strategy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the FEDER funds through the Programa Operacional Factores de Competitividade— COMPETE and the Portuguese funds through FCT—Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (PTDC/CTM-NAN/115124/2009, HMSP-ICT/0020/2010 and PEst-C/SAU/LA0002/2013) that supported this work. Pedro M. D. Moreno is supported by a Marie Curie Action of the European Community's Seventh Framework Program (PIEF-GA-2011-300485).

REFERENCES

- Adiseshaiah, P. P., Hall, J. B., and McNeil, S. E. (2010). Nanomaterial standards for efficacy and toxicity assessment. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 2, 99–112. doi: 10.1002/wnan.66
- Agrawal, S., Temsamani, J., Galbraith, W., and Tang, J. (1995). Pharmacokinetics of antisense oligonucleotides. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* 28, 7–16. doi: 10.2165/00003088-199528010-00002

- Alkilany, A. M., and Murphy, C. J. (2010). Toxicity and cellular uptake of gold nanoparticles: what we have learned so far? J. Nanopart. Res. 12, 2313–2333. doi: 10.1007/s11051-010-9911-8
- Badros, A. Z., Goloubeva, O., Rapoport, A. P., Ratterree, B., Gahres, N., Meisenberg, B., et al. (2005). Phase II study of G3139, a Bcl-2 antisense oligonucleotide, in combination with dexamethasone and thalidomide in relapsed multiple myeloma patients. J. Clin. Oncol. 23, 4089–4099. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.14.381
- Barchet, W., Wimmenauer, V., Schlee, M., and Hartmann, G. (2008). Accessing the therapeutic potential of immunostimulatory nucleic acids. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 20, 389–395. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2008.07.007
- Bennett, C. F., and Swayze, E. E. (2010). RNA targeting therapeutics: molecular mechanisms of antisense oligonucleotides as a therapeutic platform. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 50, 259–293. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pharmtox. 010909.105654
- Berger, I., Tereshko, V., Ikeda, H., Marquez, V. E., and Egli, M. (1998). Crystal structures of B-DNA with incorporated 2'-deoxy-2'-fluoro-arabino-furanosyl thymines: implications of conformational preorganization for duplex stability. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 26, 2473–2480. doi: 10.1093/nar/26.10.2473
- Bestas, B., Moreno, P. M., Blomberg, K. E., Mohammad, D. K., Saleh, A. F., Sutlu, T., et al. (2014). Splice-correcting oligonucleotides restore BTK function in X-linked agammaglobulinemia model. *J. Clin. Invest.* 124, 4067–4081. doi: 10.1172/JCI76175
- Brown, D. A., Kang, S. H., Gryaznov, S. M., Dedionisio, L., Heidenreich, O., Sullivan, S., et al. (1994). Effect of phosphorothioate modification of oligodeoxynucleotides on specific protein binding. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269, 26801–26805.
- Chauhan, V. P., Stylianopoulos, T., Boucher, Y., and Jain, R. K. (2011). Delivery of molecular and nanoscale medicine to tumors: transport barriers and strategies. *Annu. Rev. Chem. Biomol. Eng.* 2, 281–298. doi: 10.1146/annurev-chembioeng-061010-114300
- Chauhan, V. P., Stylianopoulos, T., Martin, J. D., Popovic, Z., Chen, O., Kamoun, W. S., et al. (2012). Normalization of tumour blood vessels improves the delivery of nanomedicines in a size-dependent manner. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 7, 383–388. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2012.45
- Crooke, S. T., Graham, M. J., Zuckerman, J. E., Brooks, D., Conklin, B. S., Cummins, L. L., et al. (1996). Pharmacokinetic properties of several novel oligonucleotide analogs in mice. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 277, 923–937.
- Delong, R. K., Nolting, A., Fisher, M., Chen, Q., Wickstrom, E., Kligshteyn, M., et al. (1997). Comparative pharmacokinetics, tissue distribution, and tumor accumulation of phosphorothioate, phosphorodithioate, and methylphosphonate oligonucleotides in nude mice. *Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev.* 7, 71–77. doi: 10.1089/oli.1.1997.7.71
- Devi, G. R., Beer, T. M., Corless, C. L., Arora, V., Weller, D. L., and Iversen, P. L. (2005). *In vivo* bioavailability and pharmacokinetics of a c-MYC antisense phosphorodiamidate morpholino oligomer, AVI-4126, in solid tumors. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 11, 3930–3938. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-2091
- Ding, Y., Jiang, Z., Saha, K., Kim, C. S., Kim, S. T., Landis, R. F., et al. (2014). Gold nanoparticles for nucleic acid delivery. *Mol. Ther.* 22, 1075–1083. doi: 10.1038/mt.2014.30
- Dirin, M., and Winkler, J. (2013). Influence of diverse chemical modifications on the ADME characteristics and toxicology of antisense oligonucleotides. *Expert Opin. Biol. Ther.* 13, 875–888. doi: 10.1517/14712598.2013.774366
- Disterer, P., Kryczka, A., Liu, Y., Badi, Y. E., Wong, J. J., Owen, J. S., et al. (2014). Development of therapeutic splice-switching oligonucleotides. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 25, 587–598. doi: 10.1089/hum.2013.234
- Eckstein, F. (1967). A dinucleoside phosphorothioate. Tetrahedron Lett. 8, 1157–1160. doi: 10.1016/S0040-4039(00)90656-7
- Fang, J., Nakamura, H., and Maeda, H. (2011). The EPR effect: unique features of tumor blood vessels for drug delivery, factors involved, and limitations and augmentation of the effect. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 63, 136–151. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2010.04.009
- Geary, R. S. (2009). Antisense oligonucleotide pharmacokinetics and metabolism. Expert Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol. 5, 381–391. doi: 10.1517/17425250902877680
- Gekeler, V., Gimmnich, P., Hofmann, H. P., Grebe, C., Rommele, M., Leja, A., et al. (2006). G3139 and other CpG-containing immunostimulatory phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotides are potent suppressors of the growth of human tumor xenografts in nude mice. *Oligonucleotides* 16, 83–93. doi: 10.1089/oli.2006.16.83

- Gokhale, P. C., Zhang, C., Newsome, J. T., Pei, J., Ahmad, I., Rahman, A., et al. (2002). Pharmacokinetics, toxicity, and efficacy of ends-modified raf antisense oligodeoxyribonucleotide encapsulated in a novel cationic liposome. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 8, 3611–3621.
- Gomes, C. P., Ferreira Lopes, C. D., Duarte Moreno, P. M., Varela-Moreira, A., Alonso, M. J., and Pêgo, A. P. (2014). Translating chitosan to clinical delivery of nucleic acid-based drugs. *MRS Bull.* 39, 60–70. doi: 10.1557/mrs.2013.314
- Graham, M. J., Crooke, S. T., Monteith, D. K., Cooper, S. R., Lemonidis, K. M., Stecker, K. K., et al. (1998). *In vivo* distribution and metabolism of a phosphorothioate oligonucleotide within rat liver after intravenous administration. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 286, 447–458.
- Hammond, S. M., and Wood, M. J. (2011). Genetic therapies for RNA mis-splicing diseases. *Trends Genet.* 27, 196–205. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2011.02.004
- Henry, S. P., Templin, M. V., Gillett, N., Rojko, J., and Levin, A. A. (1999). Correlation of toxicity and pharmacokinetic properties of a phosphorothioate oligonucleotide designed to inhibit ICAM-1. *Toxicol. Pathol.* 27, 95–100. doi: 10.1177/019262339902700117
- Henry, S., Stecker, K., Brooks, D., Monteith, D., Conklin, B., and Bennett, C. F. (2000). Chemically modified oligonucleotides exhibit decreased immune stimulation in mice. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 292, 468–479.
- Hong, D. S., Kurzrock, R., Oh, Y., Wheler, J., Naing, A., Brail, L., et al. (2011). A phase 1 dose escalation, pharmacokinetic, and pharmacodynamic evaluation of eIF-4E antisense oligonucleotide LY2275796 in patients with advanced cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 17, 6582–6591. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0430
- Hovingh, K., Besseling, J., and Kastelein, J. (2013). Efficacy and safety of mipomersen sodium (Kynamro). *Expert Opin. Drug Saf.* 12, 569–579. doi: 10.1517/14740338.2013.793670
- Iversen, P. L., Copple, B. L., and Tewary, H. K. (1995). Pharmacology and toxicology of phosphorothioate oligonucleotides in the mouse, rat, monkey and man. *Toxicol. Lett.* 82–83, 425–430. doi: 10.1016/0378-4274(95)03572-9
- Jaaskelainen, I., Peltola, S., Honkakoski, P., Monkkonen, J., and Urtti, A. (2000). A lipid carrier with a membrane active component and a small complex size are required for efficient cellular delivery of anti-sense phosphorothioate oligonucleotides. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 10, 187–193. doi: 10.1016/S0928-0987(00)00068-3
- Jain, R. K. (2012). Delivery of molecular and cellular medicine to solid tumors. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 64, 353–365. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2012.09.011
- Jang, S. H., Wientjes, M. G., Lu, D., and Au, J. L. (2003). Drug delivery and transport to solid tumors. *Pharm. Res.* 20, 1337–1350. doi: 10.1023/A:1025785505977
- Juliano, R., Bauman, J., Kang, H., and Ming, X. (2009). Biological barriers to therapy with antisense and siRNA oligonucleotides. *Mol. Pharm.* 6, 686–695. doi: 10.1021/mp900093r
- Juliano, R. L., Ming, X., and Nakagawa, O. (2012). The chemistry and biology of oligonucleotide conjugates. Acc. Chem. Res. 45, 1067–1076. doi: 10.1021/ar2002123
- Kawai, G., Yamamoto, Y., Kamimura, T., Masegi, T., Sekine, M., Hata, T., et al. (1992). Conformational rigidity of specific pyrimidine residues in tRNA arises from posttranscriptional modifications that enhance steric interaction between the base and the 2'-hydroxyl group. *Biochemistry* 31, 1040–1046. doi: 10.1021/bi00119a012
- Kibler-Herzog, L., Zon, G., Uznanski, B., Whittier, G., and Wilson, W. D. (1991). Duplex stabilities of phosphorothioate, methylphosphonate, and RNA analogs of two DNA 14-mers. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 19, 2979–2986. doi: 10.1093/nar/19.11.2979
- Koshkin, A. A., Singh, S. K., Nielsen, P., Rajwanshi, V. K., Kumar, R., Meldgaard, M., et al. (1998). LNA (Locked Nucleic Acids): synthesis of the adenine, cytosine, guanine, 5-methylcytosine, thymine and uracil bicyclonucleoside monomers, oligomerisation, and unprecedented nucleic acid recognition. *Tetrahedron* 54, 3607–3630. doi: 10.1016/S0040-4020(98)00094-5
- Krieg, A. M., Guga, P., and Stec, W. (2003). P-chirality-dependent immune activation by phosphorothioate CpG oligodeoxynucleotides. *Oligonucleotides* 13, 491–499. doi: 10.1089/154545703322860807
- Krieg, A. M., and Stein, C. A. (1995). Phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotides: antisense or anti-protein? Antisense Res. Dev. 5, 241.
- Manoharan, M. (1999). 2'-carbohydrate modifications in antisense oligonucleotide therapy: importance of conformation, configuration and conjugation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1489, 117–130. doi: 10.1016/S0167-4781(99)00138-4
- Meidan, V. M., Glezer, J., Amariglio, N., Cohen, J. S., and Barenholz, Y. (2001). Oligonucleotide lipoplexes: the influence of oligonucleotide composition on

complexation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1568, 177-182. doi: 10.1016/S0304-4165(01)00216-1

- Minshull, J., and Hunt, T. (1986). The use of single-stranded DNA and RNase H to promote quantitative "hybrid arrest of translation" of mRNA/DNA hybrids in reticulocyte lysate cell-free translations. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 14, 6433–6451. doi: 10.1093/nar/14.16.6433
- Mocanu, J. D., Yip, K. W., Skliarenko, J., Shi, W., Busson, P., Lo, K. W., et al. (2007). Imaging and modulating antisense microdistribution in solid human xenograft tumor models. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 13, 5935–5941. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-3085
- Monia, B. P., Lesnik, E. A., Gonzalez, C., Lima, W. F., McGee, D., Guinosso, C. J., et al. (1993). Evaluation of 2'-modified oligonucleotides containing 2'-deoxy gaps as antisense inhibitors of gene expression. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 14514–14522.
- Mou, T. C., Gray, C. W., Terwilliger, T. C., and Gray, D. M. (2001). Ff gene 5 protein has a high binding affinity for single-stranded phosphorothioate DNA. *Biochemistry* 40, 2267–2275. doi: 10.1021/bi002136f
- Nakamura, H., Oda, Y., Iwai, S., Inoue, H., Ohtsuka, E., Kanaya, S., et al. (1991). How does RNase H recognize a DNA.RNA hybrid? *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 11535–11539. doi: 10.1073/pnas.88.24.11535
- Netti, P. A., Berk, D. A., Swartz, M. A., Grodzinsky, A. J., and Jain, R. K. (2000). Role of extracellular matrix assembly in interstitial transport in solid tumors. *Cancer Res.* 60, 2497–2503.
- Nielsen, P. E., Egholm, M., Berg, R. H., and Buchardt, O. (1991). Sequence-selective recognition of DNA by strand displacement with a thymine-substituted polyamide. *Science* 254, 1497–1500. doi: 10.1126/science.1962210
- Nishizaki, T., Iwai, S., Ohtsuka, E., and Nakamura, H. (1997). Solution structure of an RNA.2'-O-methylated RNA hybrid duplex containing an RNA.DNA hybrid segment at the center. *Biochemistry* 36, 2577–2585. doi: 10.1021/bi962297c
- Obika, S., Nanbu, D., Hari, Y., Andoh, J.-I., Morio, K.-I., Doi, T., et al. (1998). Stability and structural features of the duplexes containing nucleoside analogues with a fixed N-type conformation, 2'-O,4'-C-methyleneribonucleosides. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 39, 5401–5404. doi: 10.1016/S0040-4039(98)01084-3
- Pasternak, A., and Wengel, J. (2011). Unlocked nucleic acid–an RNA modification with broad potential. Org. Biomol. Chem. 9, 3591–3597. doi: 10.1039/c0ob01085e
- Plenat, F., Klein-Monhoven, N., Marie, B., Vignaud, J. M., and Duprez, A. (1995). Cell and tissue distribution of synthetic oligonucleotides in healthy and tumor-bearing nude mice. An autoradiographic, immunohistological, and direct fluorescence microscopy study. Am. J. Pathol. 147, 124–135.
- Senn, J. J., Burel, S., and Henry, S. P. (2005). Non-CpG-containing antisense 2'-methoxyethyl oligonucleotides activate a proinflammatory response independent of Toll-like receptor 9 or myeloid differentiation factor 88. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 314, 972–979. doi: 10.1124/jpet.105.084004
- Seong, J. H., Lee, K. M., Kim, S. T., Jin, S. E., and Kim, C. K. (2006). Polyethylenimine-based antisense oligodeoxynucleotides of IL-4 suppress the production of IL-4 in a murine model of airway inflammation. J. Gene Med. 8, 314–323. doi: 10.1002/jgm.848
- Simoes, S., Filipe, A., Faneca, H., Mano, M., Penacho, N., Duzgunes, N., et al. (2005). Cationic liposomes for gene delivery. *Expert Opin. Drug Deliv.* 2, 237–254. doi: 10.1517/17425247.2.2.237
- Srinivasan, S. K., Tewary, H. K., and Iversen, P. L. (1995). Characterization of binding sites, extent of binding, and drug interactions of oligonucleotides with albumin. *Antisense Res. Dev.* 5, 131–139.
- Stanton, R., Sciabola, S., Salatto, C., Weng, Y., Moshinsky, D., Little, J., et al. (2012). Chemical modification study of antisense gapmers. *Nucleic Acid Ther*. 22, 344–359. doi: 10.1089/nat.2012.0366
- Stein, C. A., Hansen, J. B., Lai, J., Wu, S., Voskresenskiy, A., Hog, A., et al. (2010). Efficient gene silencing by delivery of locked nucleic acid antisense oligonucleotides, unassisted by transfection reagents. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, e3. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp841
- Stessl, M., Marchetti-Deschmann, M., Winkler, J., Lachmann, B., Allmaier, G., and Noe, C. R. (2009). A proteomic study reveals unspecific apoptosis induction

and reduction of glycolytic enzymes by the phosphorothioate antisense oligonucleotide oblimersen in human melanoma cells. *J. Proteomics* 72, 1019–1030. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2009.06.001

- Stewart, A. J., Pichon, C., Meunier, L., Midoux, P., Monsigny, M., and Roche, A. C. (1996). Enhanced biological activity of antisense oligonucleotides complexed with glycosylated poly-L-lysine. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 50, 1487–1494.
- Straarup, E. M., Fisker, N., Hedtjarn, M., Lindholm, M. W., Rosenbohm, C., Aarup, V., et al. (2010). Short locked nucleic acid antisense oligonucleotides potently reduce apolipoprotein B mRNA and serum cholesterol in mice and non-human primates. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 7100–7111. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq457

Summerton, J., and Weller, D. (1997). Morpholino antisense oligomers: design, preparation, and properties. Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev. 7, 187–195. doi: 10.1089/oli.1.1997.7.187

- Van Vlerken, L. E., Vyas, T. K., and Amiji, M. M. (2007). Poly(ethylene glycol)modified nanocarriers for tumor-targeted and intracellular delivery. *Pharm. Res.* 24, 1405–1414. doi: 10.1007/s11095-007-9284-6
- Watanabe, T. A., Geary, R. S., and Levin, A. A. (2006). Plasma protein binding of an antisense oligonucleotide targeting human ICAM-1 (ISIS 2302). *Oligonucleotides* 16, 169–180. doi: 10.1089/oli.2006.16.169
- Watts, J. K., and Corey, D. R. (2012). Silencing disease genes in the laboratory and the clinic. J. Pathol. 226, 365–379. doi: 10.1002/path.2993
- Webb, M. S., Tortora, N., Cremese, M., Kozlowska, H., Blaquiere, M., Devine, D. V., et al. (2001). Toxicity and toxicokinetics of a phosphorothioate oligonucleotide against the c-myc oncogene in cynomolgus monkeys. *Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev.* 11, 155–163. doi: 10.1089/108729001300338681
- Winkler, J., Stessl, M., Amartey, J., and Noe, C. R. (2010). Off-target effects related to the phosphorothioate modification of nucleic acids. *Chem. Med. Chem.* 5, 1344–1352. doi: 10.1002/cmdc.201000156
- Wisse, E., Jacobs, F., Topal, B., Frederik, P., and De Geest, B. (2008). The size of endothelial fenestrae in human liver sinusoids: implications for hepatocytedirected gene transfer. *Gene Ther.* 15, 1193–1199. doi: 10.1038/gt.2008.60
- Wu, X. A., Choi, C. H., Zhang, C., Hao, L., and Mirkin, C. A. (2014). Intracellular fate of spherical nucleic acid nanoparticle conjugates. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 136, 7726–7733. doi: 10.1021/ja503010a
- Yin, H., Kanasty, R. L., Eltoukhy, A. A., Vegas, A. J., Dorkin, J. R., and Anderson, D. G. (2014). Non-viral vectors for gene-based therapy. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 15, 541–555. doi: 10.1038/nrg3763
- Zhang, C., Newsome, J. T., Mewani, R., Pei, J., Gokhale, P. C., and Kasid, U. N. (2009). Systemic delivery and pre-clinical evaluation of nanoparticles containing antisense oligonucleotides and siRNAs. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 480, 65–83. doi: 10.1007/978-1-59745-429-2_5
- Zhang, Y., Qu, Z., Kim, S., Shi, V., Liao, B., Kraft, P., et al. (2011). Down-modulation of cancer targets using locked nucleic acid (LNA)-based antisense oligonucleotides without transfection. *Gene Ther.* 18, 326–333. doi: 10.1038/gt.2010.133

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 August 2014; paper pending published: 10 September 2014; accepted: 23 September 2014; published online: 14 October 2014.

Citation: Moreno PMD and Pêgo AP (2014) Therapeutic antisense oligonucleotides against cancer: hurdling to the clinic. Front. Chem. 2:87. doi: 10.3389/fchem. 2014.00087

This article was submitted to Chemical Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Chemistry.

Copyright © 2014 Moreno and Pêgo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Cancer immunotherapy: nanodelivery approaches for immune cell targeting and tracking

João Conniot¹, Joana M. Silva¹, Joana G. Fernandes¹, Liana C. Silva¹, Rogério Gaspar¹, Steve Brocchini², Helena F. Florindo¹* and Teresa S. Barata²*

¹ Faculdade de Farmácia, Instituto de Investigação do Medicamento (iMed.ULisboa), Universidade de Lisboa, Lisboa, Portugal
² EPSRC Centre for Innovative Manufacturing in Emergent Macromolecular Therapies, UCL School of Pharmacy, London, UK

Edited by:

João Conde, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA

Reviewed by:

Min-Ho Kim, Kent State University, USA Jinjun Shi, Havard Medical School, USA

*Correspondence:

Helena F. Florindo, Faculdade de Farmácia, Instituto de Investigação do Medicamento (iMed.ULisboa), Universidade de Lisboa, Avenida Professor Gama Pinto, Edificio E, 1649-003 Lisboa, Portugal e-mail: hflorindo@ff.ul.pt; Teresa S. Barata, EPSRC Centre for Innovative Manufacturing in Emergent Macromolecular Therapies, UCL School of Pharmacy, 29-39 Brunswick Square, London WC1N 1AX, UK e-mail: t.barata@ucl.ac.uk

Cancer is one of the most common diseases afflicting people globally. New therapeutic approaches are needed due to the complexity of cancer as a disease. Many current treatments are very toxic and have modest efficacy at best. Increased understanding of tumor biology and immunology has allowed the development of specific immunotherapies with minimal toxicity. It is important to highlight the performance of monoclonal antibodies, immune adjuvants, vaccines and cell-based treatments. Although these approaches have shown varying degrees of clinical efficacy, they illustrate the potential to develop new strategies. Targeted immunotherapy is being explored to overcome the heterogeneity of malignant cells and the immune suppression induced by both the tumor and its microenvironment. Nanodelivery strategies seek to minimize systemic exposure to target therapy to malignant tissue and cells. Intracellular penetration has been examined through the use of functionalized particulates. These nano-particulate associated medicines are being developed for use in imaging, diagnostics and cancer targeting. Although nano-particulates are inherently complex medicines, the ability to confer, at least in principle, different types of functionality allows for the plausible consideration these nanodelivery strategies can be exploited for use as combination medicines. The development of targeted nanodelivery systems in which therapeutic and imaging agents are merged into a single platform is an attractive strategy. Currently, several nanoplatform-based formulations, such as polymeric nanoparticles, micelles, liposomes and dendrimers are in preclinical and clinical stages of development. Herein, nanodelivery strategies presently investigated for cancer immunotherapy, cancer targeting mechanisms and nanocarrier functionalization methods will be described. We also intend to discuss the emerging nano-based approaches suitable to be used as imaging techniques and as cancer treatment options.

Keywords: nanosystems, cancer, targeted delivery, cell tracking, immunotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Cancer is a heterogeneous disease that results from a multi-step process, characterized by uncontrolled tumor cell proliferation, invasion and metastasis. Tumor cells have also the ability to evade cell death (Fernald and Kurokawa, 2013) and to escape immune system surveillance (Zitvogel et al., 2006).

Despite improvements in diagnosis and therapies, cancer is still the most fatal disease worldwide with 11.5 million deaths being predicted in 2030. Strategies for cancer treatment include chemotherapy, radiotherapy, immunotherapy and surgery (Wu et al., 2014). Many of these approaches are unspecific with severe side effects (Peer et al., 2007). More effective and specific alternative treatments continue to be needed. In fact, it has been described that those single treatment regimens have limited chances to eliminate cancer cells in a permanent manner due to its heterogeneous nature (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000; Helmy et al., 2013).The success of cancer therapy is dependent on the development of additional strategies to overcome severe

side effects, drug resistance and circumvent tumor evasion mechanisms (Girardi et al., 2001; Dunn et al., 2002; Koebel et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2014b; Xu et al., 2014).

Although the general body immune response is often not robust enough to escape to cancer cell tactics (Palucka and Banchereau, 2012), our understanding of tumor immunology has been evolving. It is accepted that tumor cells, parts of tumor cells or even specific substances isolated from tumor cells can be recognized by the immune system, which can then respond to these malignant cells. The possibility for immune systembased responses has brought new insights into the development of novel cancer immunotherapy treatments. Immunotherapy has begun to meet its promise for cancer treatment. Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) to specific targets that are engaged with tumor mechanisms are used clinically, including alemtuzumab (lymphocytic leukemia) and trastuzumab (breast cancer) (Kirkwood et al., 2012). Additionally, cancer vaccination has shown encouraging preclinical results and has also been extensively explored, being mostly directed to the destruction of tumors by strengthening the immune system (Rosenberg, 2001; Palucka and Banchereau, 2012).

The recognition of the crucial role of T-lymphocytes in cancer for immune-mediated treatments has contributed to the exhaustive characterization of tumor-associated antigens (TAAs). Of particular interest are the cytotoxic T Lymphocytes (CTL), which upon antigen recognition can selectively target and destroy malignant cells presenting epitopes which have been recognized. However, their isolated response is often not enough and the development of an optimal cancer vaccine seems to be dependent on an effective stimulation and cooperation between CTL and T helper (Th) cells specific for a tumor epitope (Fong and Engleman, 2000; Banchereau et al., 2001; Palucka and Banchereau, 2012).

In addition to the evolution of tumor immunology, there has been progress in the development of nanodelivery systems. These systems have the potential to overcome some of the drawbacks of current chemotherapy and radiotherapy therapies. As reviewed by Chow and Ho (2013), nanosystems can display improved pharmacokinetics and targeting of tissues and cells to enhance efficacy, specificity and lower toxicity. Accordingly, nanosystems designed to target immune molecules and cells may allow the development of approaches that will use the patient's immune system as a more specific tool to fight cancer.

Nano-based platforms have also been explored for immune cell labeling, using fluorescence and molecular imaging techniques. As a result, immune cell mechanisms engaged in cancer development and tumor metastasis can thus be better understood, guiding the development of advanced platforms able to specifically target and track immune cells.

CANCER AND THE IMMUNE SYSTEM INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNITY TO CANCER

The immune system is composed of two main branches—innate and adaptive immune responses. The innate immunity is a non-specific first line defense of our body against antigens. It comprises anatomic, physiologic, phagocytic, and inflammatory barriers, such as skin or macrophages and neutrophils. On the other hand, adaptive immunity is a highly specific component of the immune system, which is stimulated by a specific antigen challenge to the organism. Still, the latter is not independent from the innate response, since antigen-presenting cells (APCs), involved in innate immunity, play a pivotal role in specific immunity activation (Roitt and Delves, 2001; Kindt et al., 2006).

Dendritic cells (DCs), along with macrophages and B lymphocytes, are described as APCs (Roitt and Delves, 2001; Gogolak et al., 2003; Kindt et al., 2006). DCs are the most powerful "professional" APCs, being present in the majority of mammalian tissues and acting as an interface between innate and adaptive immunity. They control and regulate the immune system. DCs are organized in an intricate network throughout the human lymphatic and non-lymphatic tissues, having different functions, depending on their stage of maturation (Banchereau et al., 2003; Bodey et al., 2004; Palucka and Banchereau, 2012). Non-activated immature DCs capture antigens and induce tolerance in the steady state, whereas mature antigen-loaded DCs

can prime an antigen-specific immune response. DCs can also be categorized in three main subsets—(i) Langerhans cells (LCs); (ii) interstitial DCs (intDCs) and (iii) plasmocytoid DCs (pDCs). Though all subsets derive from the same precursor cells—CD34+ hematopoietic stem cells, found in the marrow—they are originated from two major distinct pathways (Banchereau et al., 2003). LCs and intDCs arise from the myeloid pathway, are CD11c+ and both produce IL-2. LCs are present in stratified epithelia, like skin and upper airways, whilst intDCs may be found in all other tissues. Additionally, intDCs can secrete IL-10 and elicit naïve B cell differentiation (Gogolak et al., 2003). The other parallel pathway originates phenotypically CD11c— pDCs with the ability to produce high amounts of type I interferon and to modulate T cell differentiation (Gogolak et al., 2003).

In tumor immunology, DCs are crucial for the presentation of TAAs and to stimulate the immune system after DC activation (Palucka and Banchereau, 2012). DCs patrol the different tissues, processing exogenous and endogenous antigens that are then presented to T lymphocytes, after DC maturation. The maturation process of DCs can be induced directly through "danger signals" detected by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) or triggered by the presence of inflammatory mediators, such as TNF- α or IL-1 β (Bodey et al., 2004).

Antigen presentation to T lymphocytes by DCs occurs through T-cell receptors (TCRs) that recognize antigens bound to major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules. MHC proteins can be sorted in two main groups: MHC class I-expressed on the membrane of the majority of nucleated cells in vertebratesand MHC class II, only found in APCs (Levine and Chain, 1991; Bodey et al., 2004). After the contact of a naïve T cell with MHC-antigen complex, T cells proliferate and differentiate in both memory T cells and effector T cells. Effector T cells may be divided in T helper (Th-CD4+) or T cytotoxic (Tc-CD8+) cells (Guermonprez et al., 2002; Gogolak et al., 2003). The stimulation of Tc cells can lead to the generation of CTLs that secrete low levels of cytokines, unlike Tc cells. However, they display cellkilling action, controlling and eliminating cells that exhibit any type of antigen, such as infected cells or tumor cells (Gogolak et al., 2003). Other innate lymphocytes subsets, such as $\gamma\delta$ T cells, natural killer (NK) and natural killer T (NKT) cells, have been reported as being engaged in a complex immunomodulatory network, displaying anti-tumor activity. Preclinical studies described that NKT cells can exhibit anti-tumor or immune-regulatory mechanisms (Gajewski et al., 2013).

The interaction among B cells, T cells and mature DCs results in an integrated immune response. Therefore, DC migration from the tumor site of antigen capture to secondary lymphoid organs can thus greatly broaden antigen-specific T cell responses, promoting effective anti-tumor immune responses that will lead to tumor rejection and regression (Palucka and Banchereau, 2012).

A promising nano-based strategy has been designed in order to develop synthetic DCs for T cell activation and immunotherapy, based on semi-flexible and filamentous polymers (Mandal et al., 2013). Effective antitumor-immune responses are thus dependent on the development of alternative systems to deliver antigens to DCs and promote their presentation to T cells. These factors are important to bear in mind when developing an effective vaccine (Gajewski et al., 2013).

CANCER IMMUNE REGULATION AND EVASION MECHANISMS Cancer immunosurveillance

Paul Ehrlich proposed the concept of the immune system as a useful strategy against cancer, in the beginning of the Twentieth century (Ehrlich, 1909). Some decades after, Thomas and Burnet postulated the immunosurveillance theory based on Ehrlich's hypothesis. Cancer arousal was suggested to be caused by the lack of efficiency of the immune system or the modification in antigen expression of tumor cells, leading to its evasion (Burnet, 1957; Thomas, 1982). Thomas and Burnet also claimed that antitumor immune response generally happens at an early stage of the cancer development (Burnet, 1957; Thomas, 1982). Therefore, once the tumor has grown, it escaped the immunosurveillance barrier and started developing additional mechanisms to evade from the immune system (Ahmad et al., 2004). Nevertheless, Strutman's later studies showed that cancer susceptibility of immune-competent mice was similar to that observed in mice with major immunodeficiency, setting against the immunosurveillance hypothesis (Shankaran et al., 2001; Dunn et al., 2002). In the beginning of this century, the immunosurveillance hypothesis was revised, as several studies have shown that the immune system may not only destroy tumor cells but also shape their phenotypes, leading to reduction of immunogenicity (Shankaran et al., 2001; Dunn et al., 2002; Schreiber et al., 2011).

Currently, there is increasing evidence that tumor cells can be recognized and destroyed by the immune system, as developing tumor cells often co-express tumor antigens and ligands for activating receptors (Schreiber et al., 2011). Therefore, it is important to describe which immune components display major roles in tumor rejection. It is also important to clarify the appropriate time and efficient type of action (Swann and Smyth, 2007).

Cancer immunoediting and cancer-related inflammation

As reviewed by Schreiber et al. (2011), cancer immunoediting can be divided in three different phases: "elimination," "equilibrium" and "escape."

In the first stage—"elimination"—both innate and adaptive immunities act combined to identify the formation of tumor cells and to destroy them, resembling the immunosurveillance theory. Although many mechanisms are still poorly known, it has been reported that cytokines, "danger signals" and DCs have important roles in this phase (Sims et al., 2010; Vesely et al., 2011). It has also been suggested that the required components for an effective "elimination" depend on specific characteristics of the tumor cells, such as its origin or anatomical location (Sims et al., 2010). If the "elimination" stage is well succeeded, tumor cells are destroyed, constituting an endpoint for cancer immunoediting (Schreiber et al., 2011; Vesely et al., 2011).

The next stage—"equilibrium"—is described as a period of tumor latency. In other words, when a tumor cell survives the elimination phase, the adaptive immune response can control tumor cell growth and shape its immunogenicity. "Equilibrium" is believed to be the longest phase of cancer immunoediting process. It seems to allow cancer cells to reside in patients' body even decades before it restarts to grow and become clinically evident (Schreiber et al., 2011; Vesely et al., 2011).

The third phase—"escape"—occurs when tumor cells have developed the ability to evade the mechanisms of recognition of the immune system and/or their elimination. Tumor cells are thought to progress from "equilibrium" phase to "escape" through several mechanisms and/or pathways. For instance, an alteration in immune system response, which may be triggered by cancer-induced immunosuppression or a change in tumor cells induced by immunoediting, or even immune system deterioration (Schreiber et al., 2011; Vesely et al., 2011).

Cancer immune evasion mechanisms

Cellular immunity has been shown to play a major role in the control of tumor generation. Even though, recent findings revealed that tumors often manage to evade it through several different mechanisms. It has been reported that there is a reduction or even loss of MHCI molecules, mostly associated to gene mutations or impairment of MHCI-dependent antigen processing (Garrido and Algarra, 2001; Ahmad et al., 2004; Vesely et al., 2011). In addition, an antigenic drift in cancer cells has lately been observed and appears to be related with the mutation, loss or down-expression of TAAs in tumor cells (Uyttenhove et al., 1997; Ahmad et al., 2004). Similarly, the lack or reduction of the expression of costimulatory patterns by tumor cells direct T lymphocytes to an anergy state. These mechanisms altogether seem to reduce and difficult the detection of cancer cells by CTLs and NK cells, which consequently leads to tumor growth (Ahmad et al., 2004).

Alterations in apoptotic receptor signaling seem to help tumor cells to evade the immune system. Molecules such as phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), protein kinase B and Fas ligand (FasL) have modified expression and might be implicated in this process (Davidson et al., 1998; Osaki et al., 2004).

Tumor eradication is also dependent on the manipulation of immunosuppressive properties of tumor microenvironment, where inducing and suppressing cytokine imbalance impairs DC activation and maturation, compromising immune cell effector properties and supporting tumor growth. Tumor cells can indeed secrete immunosuppressive molecules, including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), IL-10 and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) (Fortis et al., 1996; Tsushima et al., 1996; Oyama et al., 1998). VEGF appears to be responsible for down-regulation of NF- κ B expression, which interferes in DC maturation and differentiation, limiting the immune response against tumor cells (Oyama et al., 1998). On the other hand, TGF- β 1 is an immune suppressive cytokine involved in the conversion of CD4+T cells into immunosuppressive T regulatory (Treg) cells that are mainly produced by DCs and tumor cells (Zou, 2005).

These immunosuppressive molecules are interesting targets to achieve tumor growth inhibition and might be a very useful tool for cancer immunotherapy. The use of nanoparticles (NPs) containing small interfering RNA (siRNA) to knock-down TGF- β in the tumor microenvironment has resulted in increased levels of CD8+ T cells and lower number of Treg cells, leading to tumor growth inhibition by 52% (Xu et al., 2014). A similar strategy using polyethylenimine-capped silica NPs carrying VEGF siRNA has been designed as a highly effective approach for lung cancer

growth suppression and metastasis (Chen et al., 2014b). High levels of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase have also been found in tumor microenvironment, reducing tryptophan pool levels, which drive T lymphocytes to be arrested at G1 phase of the cell cycle (Ahmad et al., 2004).

TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT: TUMOR-INFLITRATING IMMUNE CELLS AND RELATED REGULATORY PATHWAYS

The progress of cancer disease results from several mechanisms developed by tumors to evade antitumor immune responses (Section Cancer immune evasion mechanisms), which has been associated mostly to tumor microenvironment molecular pathways and infiltrating cells at this particular region, rather than the ignorance and defects of anti-tumor T cells (Gajewski et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2013). In fact, the presence of different cells and their dynamic interaction with malignant cells have a profound effect on tumor progression (Mishra et al., 2010; Bussolati et al., 2011; Cortez-Retamozo et al., 2012; Rahir and Moser, 2012).

It is widely accepted that the density of T cell infiltrates within tumor microenvironment is the most important factor to predict cancer patients' survival (Eerola et al., 2000; Oble et al., 2009; Mahmoud et al., 2011). Nevertheless, macrophages are also currently recognized as a fundamental cell type. As a heterogeneous population, its dual function toward cancer is determined by their polarization status (Mantovani and Sica, 2010). Macrophages are regulated by transcription factors, which will lead to different phenotypes of tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs). M1 and M2 have been already characterized, being associated to the pathogenesis of several diseases, namely inflammatory and tumor diseases (Sica et al., 2006). Indeed, pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages, after being activated by IFN-y, favor Th1 immune cell activity and potentiate the eradication of malignant cells. On the other hand, M2 phenotype enables Th2 immune responses and regulate tissue repair, presenting pro-tumoral abilities in several tumor types (Sica and Mantovani, 2012; Cornelissen et al., 2014). Moreover, the production of several cytokines, such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-10, VEGF, and TGF-β by M2 TAMs elicits the proliferation and metastasis of tumor cells (Biswas and Mantovani, 2010). As a result, it has been described that the number of M2 macrophages and the overall M2/M1 ratio of TAMs are important predictors of survival for distinct types of cancers, namely melanoma (Erdag et al., 2012; Herwig et al., 2013), ovarian cancer (Lan et al., 2013; Colvin, 2014), T-cell (Niino et al., 2010), and B-cell lymphomas (Nam et al., 2014), breast (Leek et al., 1996) and pancreatic cancer (Ino et al., 2013).

It is important to mention however that the M1 and M2 classification of TAMs is not static, being usually very complex and seems to be dictated by several mediators resultant from cellular cross-talk and environmental conditions (Cai et al., 2012; Escribese et al., 2012; Shime et al., 2012). Even tough, the causes underlying the differentiation of TAMs to M1 or M2 phenotypes are not yet fully understood. Type I interferon pathway seems to be fundamental for the activation of innate immune response against tumor cells. However, the production of type I interferon by DCs remain an underexplored issue (Fuertes et al., 2011).

DCs are also present within tumor microenvironment, where they can recognize and capture live and dying tumor cells (Dhodapkar et al., 2008; Ma et al., 2013). Their presence in tumors of different stages and grades correlates to prolonged disease survival and lower invasiveness, as reviewed in Palucka and Banchereau (2012). Even though, some of this heterogeneous hematopoietic lineage displays anti-tumor effects while others present immunosuppressive functions at tumor site. Actually, tumor-infiltrating DCs functionality may vary according to the combination of environmental factors and pathways within variable tumor site. Among DC subsets, it should be emphasized the role of tumor-infiltrating plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) and CD8 α +DCs lineage, being the first often related to T cell tolerance, while the latter is in fact particularly efficient in the cross-presentation of antigens via MHCI pathways and thus in cytotoxic T-cell immunity (Hildner et al., 2008; Fuertes et al., 2011; Watkins et al., 2011).

The characterization of different solid tumors, as melanoma, showed the presence of tumor-infiltrating lymphoid cell lineage, including CD8+ T cells. Their function is mainly compromised by immune system-inhibitory pathways at tumor microenvironment, enabling T cell anergy (Gajewski et al., 2013). It has been reported the presence of high amounts of CD4+ Foxp3+ regulatory T cells (Treg cells) that are attracted by the chemokine CCL22 via CCR4 (Toulza et al., 2010; Spranger et al., 2013). However, the function of T-cell subsets within tumor microenvironment is highly complex, depending on several factors, such as the type of receptors primed.

Another hypothesis for the presence of T cells within the tumor microenvironment of certain tumors may be related to the formation of a lymph node-like structure called tertiary lymphoid tissues, where it is possible to find B cells, T cells and activated DCs (Messina et al., 2012). Still, it is not clear if the formation of those lymphoid structures is involved in tumor growth *in vivo*. On the other hand, tumor-infiltrated T cells can express CCL21. CCL21 is related to tumor tolerance by stimulating naïve T cells to which the presentation of TAAs will not be efficient due to the absence of co-stimulatory factors (Shields et al., 2010).

NK, NKT and $\gamma\delta T$ cells also seem to have an important role in the immunomodulation of tumor microenvironment (Peng et al., 2007; Mishra et al., 2010; Marcu-Malina et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012). The antitumor effect of NK has been linked to solid and hematopoietic tumors, while $\gamma\delta T$ cells and NKT cells have been involved in tumor inhibition. However, they show immunoregulatory functions in certain circumstances that are not completely known (Peng et al., 2007; Mishra et al., 2010; Marcu-Malina et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012). A promising strategy has been focused in the stimulation of DCs by α -galactosylceramide to prime NKT, promoting the production of IFN- γ (Shimizu et al., 2013).

Besides these cells, tumor stroma has also been associated with tumor growth and includes different elements as collagen, endothelial cells, fibroblast and several macrophage subsets, which contributes for tumor immune evasion. In addition, higher levels of angiogenic factors were found in tumors where the presence of tumor-infiltrating T cells is poor (Danhier et al., 2010). The major immunosuppressive mechanisms include the secretion of IL-10, TGF- β , and CCL22 by M2 macrophages (Condeelis and Pollard, 2006). The trafficking of T cells within tumor microenvironment has been related to the secretion of different chemokines
by stromal cells, namely CXCL9 and CXCL10 (Gooden et al., 2011).

Nevertheless, the inherent complexity of the immune regulation within tumor microenvironment and the incomplete definition of those multiple mechanisms demand additional efforts to characterize these processes. Such characterization would support the development of translational alternative immunotherapies (Mellman et al., 2011). For example, the presence of tumor-infiltrating T cells within tumor site may indicate that this particular type of tumor is a potential candidate for an immunotherapeutic strategy due to their ability to support the migration of T cells toward this particular region. However, the multiple factors involved in the immune system inhibition indicate that the use of complementary targeted strategies to improve the presence of anti-tumor T cells and the knock-down of immune inhibitory pathways may lead to optimal therapeutic approaches.

Combinatory approaches for cancer therapy need indeed to consider the successful modulation of the tumor-associated cvtokine network and cell communication within tumor microenvironment. This will prevent the inhibition of anti-tumor responses and down-regulate the proliferation of malignant cells. The characterization of these immunoregulatory processes and the deeper understanding of the immunological features within tumor microenvironment have fostered the recognition of biomarkers. Such recognition has been driving the design of novel targeted therapies to block those pathways, including targeted nanomedicines to tumor microenvironment to better avoid offtargeted effects. The anti-CTL4 monoclonal antibody ipilumimab approved in 2011 by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to treat patients with advanced melanoma, constitutes the first successful approach that targets one of those inhibitory pathways (Mellman et al., 2011).

The design of these tumor-targeted systems is also influenced by a variety of specific features presented by this region, when compared to healthy tissues. Among those different properties, vasculature and pH have been the most explored toward the development of alternative and specific therapeutic nanosystems (Fernald and Kurokawa, 2013; Torchilin, 2011). Angiogenesis guarantees the supply of oxygen and different nutrients to tumor cells. It results from the action of different factors, as proangiogenic proteins, extracellular matrix proteins and matrix metalloproteinases. This process is fundamental for the progression of the disease and has guided the development of different targeted nanocarriers due to the particular morphology of the blood vessels, as reviewed by Torchilin (2011). In fact, abnormal architecture of blood vessel caused by incomplete angiogenesis allows the retention of different nanodelivery systems specifically at this particular tumor region, due to the so-called "Enhanced Permeability and Retention" (EPR), which will be described in Section Passive Targeting.

CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS

Cancer immunotherapy has been explored for some decades. This term is often used to describe treatments based on modulation of the immune system through "active" or "passive" approaches. The concept of immunotherapy relies on specific immune mechanisms and targets, which could confer greater efficacy and specificity with less toxicity. Therefore, improving the presence of anti-tumor T cells and the knock-down of immune inhibitory pathways, leading to optimal therapeutic approaches.

ACTIVE CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

Active cancer immunotherapy or cancer vaccination consists in direct stimulation of the patient's immune system so it can act against tumor cells. Unlike infectious disease vaccination, which efficiency is based mainly on neutralizing antibodies and B-lymphocyte response, cancer vaccination depends on the induction of CTL responses and on the administration of TAAs to stimulate a systemic immune response.

Cancer vaccines are expected to induce a tumor specific immune response able to either eliminate the malignant cells or keep it under constant restraint, delaying tumor recurrence and prolonging survival. Both prophylactic and therapeutic vaccinebased cancer therapies have been proposed to enhance a specific immune response to tumor cells, concerning DC activity, as summarized in Vacchelli et al. (2012). It has also been reported the prominence of DCs on CTL induction, thus becoming a striking target for cancer vaccination (Section Strategies for DC Targeting).

The extensive research has led to engineered biotech molecules, such as proteins, peptides, antibodies and oligonucleotides, designed to enhance immune-based mechanisms, being promising players to re-shape the future of immunotherapeutic outcomes. However, as these candidates move toward clinical investigation, it becomes clear that their biological effect depends on the development of a tool able to attain their transport across biological barriers. Accordingly, the potential of these bioactive molecules has pointed nanomedicines as an approach to ensure the target selectivity and safety required for their therapeutic *in situ* efficacy, enabling their clinical application.

As discussed by Silva et al. (2013), an ideal vaccination strategy involves the administration of the most immunogenic TAAs along with the most effective adjuvants, including delivery platforms. This will prime the tumor- specific T cells, induce tumorspecific antibodies and kill tumor cells by host immune effector mechanisms.

Several TAAs have been identified and characterized permitting their use in the design of targeted delivery systems (Bos et al., 2012; Engels et al., 2013). TAAs can be sorted as shared tumor antigens—when present in many types of tumors and with a distinct or absent expression on normal tissues (i.e., MAGE, GAGE and NY-ESO1)- or unique tumor antigens. These antigens result from point mutations or splicing alterations and are expressed only by a specific tumor (Higgins et al., 2009; Pejawar-Gaddy et al., 2010). However, those newly identified antigens, as recombinant proteins, are usually weakly immunogenic, requiring multiple administrations and their association with adjuvants. It has been described that both antigen and adjuvant must act in a concerted way on the same APC, which can be provided by a singular delivery system (Schlosser et al., 2008; Krishnamachari et al., 2011; Raaijmakers et al., 2013).

As previously mentioned, the focus of cancer vaccines is the stimulation of a cell-mediated immunity, rather than humoral

responses. As many TAAs are intracellular proteins, fragments of these peptides must be presented on the cell surface bound to MHC class I molecules to be recognized by the immune system (Henderson et al., 2005). Indeed, after the recognition of TAA-MHCI complexes, in lymph nodes (Manolova et al., 2008), CD8+ T lymphocytes can proliferate and differentiate into CTLs. CTLs are then able to migrate to peripheral tissues to develop contact-mediated cytotoxicity activity and secrete effector cytokines as IFN- γ and TNF- α , leading to local inflammation (Ahlers and Belyakov, 2010).

Pattern recognition receptors, mainly the toll-like receptor (TLR) family, are suitable targets to potentiate the presentation of TAAs through MHCI pathway to CD8+ T cells and increase cancer immunotherapy efficacy. Among TLR agonists, both cytosine phosphorothioate-guanine motifs (CpG; TLR9ligand), double stranded RNA mimic polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (poly(I:C); TLR3-ligand) and monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) have been associated to stronger anti-tumor immune responses (Banchereau et al., 2003; Hildner et al., 2008; Radford and Caminschi, 2013).

Generally, TAAs and TLR ligands carried by polymeric particles have the ability to escape the degradation in endosomes and reach the cytosol in higher concentrations than those administered in soluble form. Those antigens can thus be presented by MHC-I molecules more effectively and for longer periods of time, leading to an effective cellular response, which is fundamental for a successful eradication of cancer cells.

PASSIVE CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

Passive immunotherapy is based on the administration of *ex vivo* generated immune effector molecules or cells, such as antibodies and CTLs, respectively. These molecules or cells can target specific receptors, leading to enhanced efficacy of the treatment and also to fewer side effects.

Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs)

Monoclonal antibodies are the main cancer immunotherapy used currently in clinic to treat solid tumors and lymphomas (Krishnamachari et al., 2011). For example, trastuzumab has been used to treat HER2⁺ breast cancer and adenocarcinoma, whilst alemtuzumab has been applied in chronic lymphocytic leukemia treatment (Lee et al., 2013).

The mechanism of action of mAbs is related to their ability to interfere with both growth factor ligands and receptors or pro-apoptotic targets, inducing apoptosis of cancer cells. Besides, mAbs may activate components of the immune system through Fc-region-based mechanisms. This leads to antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) and complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) responses by macrophages and NK cells (Krishnamachari et al., 2011).

The use of mAbs in clinic has been increasing in the last decades. The first generation of mAbs used in cancer therapy was originated from mouse. Their origin often resulted in limited half-life, decreasing mAbs efficacy. Further progresses conducted to the development of chimeric mAbs, with enhanced properties, and then humanized mAbs. Nowadays, fully human mAbs are already available (Lee et al., 2013). Several novel mAbs for

different cancer types are presently in clinical trials, as reviewed by Lee et al. (2013). For example, ganitumab—for pancreatic cancer –and necitumumab—for non-small cell lung cancer—are now in phase III of clinical trials.

Adoptive T-cell therapy

This approach is based on the transfer of mature tumor-reactive T lymphocytes to act against tumor cells. Unlike cancer vaccines, this strategy is independent from an immune response elicited by an exogenous antigen. Instead, it relies on the delivery of a great amount of *ex vivo*-expanded cells (Gajewski, 2012; Kirkwood et al., 2012; Helmy et al., 2013).

Adoptive T-cell therapy with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) has been proposed. In a successful study, autologous TILs—T cells with potent antitumor activity found within tumors—were harvested, activated *ex vivo* and reinfused in patients. The total remission was reported in more than 20% of the treated patients (Rosenberg et al., 2011).

Complementary research has been made to improve T-cell adoptive therapies. Genetically engineered T cells are under study, in order to manipulate the properties of the administered T-cell population, such as proliferation and migration characteristics (Liu and Rosenberg, 2001; Hinrichs et al., 2011). Also, T cells have been genetically modified to have antitumor specificity by introducing a T-cell receptor for a particular tumor, as previously described in a review by Helmy et al. (2013).

DELIVERY STRATEGIES FOR IMMUNE CELL TARGETING AND TRACKING

STRATEGIES FOR DC TARGETING

Since the role of DCs in inducing CTL immunity is well established, several studies have been made in order to use DC-based cancer vaccines in tumor immunotherapy.

Ex vivo

These vaccines use isolated CD14+ monocytes or CD34+ DC precursors from an individual. After being isolated, these cells are then cultured and differentiated in immature DCs (Romani et al., 1994; Chapuis et al., 1997). The following process is TAA-loading of DCs, which consists in adding proteins, peptides or tumor lysates to its culture medium or through transfection. Additional maturation stimuli, such as CD40L or pro-inflammatory cytokines, may be used to ensure DCs will be able to induce a strong cellular immune response. Finally, loaded mature DCs are administered back into the patient by intravenous (i.v.), subcutaneous (s.c.), intradermal (i.d.), intratumoral (i.t.) or intralymphatic (i.l.) route (Hamdy et al., 2011).

The use of a tumor cell to stimulate DCs seems to induce a better immune response, but it is limited by a possible induction of autoimmune diseases, due to the lack of antigen specificity among the undefined antigen found at cancer cell surface.

Whichever the type of antigen used to pulse DCs, although it has been reported that this approach is safe and able to induce CTL immunity, the clinical observed goal is low, possibly due to the *in vivo* general complex interactions between immune cells (Rosenberg et al., 2004).

DC therapy involves the isolation, culture and stimulation of patient's monocytes and macrophages ex vivo using TAAs (Cho et al., 2011). When administered back to the patient, antigenloaded DCs will bypass the in vivo uptake of tumor antigens. DCs are already activated and therefore they are able to migrate to the secondary lymph nodes wherein they will trigger T cells. However, the relative short half-life of TAA-MHC complexes on DC membrane surface, and the low percentage (3-5%) of DCs that can migrate to the lymph nodes and contact with T cells can contribute to the low rate of success of these vaccines (De Vries et al., 2003; Hamdy et al., 2011). Also, being produced specifically for a particular patient, ex vivo DC-based vaccines are a highly complex, laborious, time-consuming and expensive approach. Futhermore, the vaccine quality might depend on the clinic where it is produced, once there are several variable parameters in the process, such as dose of DCs and posology (Hamdy et al., 2011).

The type of DCs stimulated, antigen loading method and DC maturation level are also important aspects to be characterized to better understand the adjuvant role of DCs.

In vivo

To overcome the lack of clinical efficacy of *ex vivo* DC-based cancer vaccines, it is extremely recommended to develop an alternative way to target antigens directly to DCs *in vivo*, which can be achieved using peptide-based vaccines. These are mainly based on MHCI peptides, which are simple to produce and administer, and guarantee DC activation and expansion for prolonged periods of time (**Figure 1**) (Cheong et al., 2010; Silva et al., 2013). However, the cytoplasmic delivery of the antigen is limited by low membrane permeability and frequent destruction after intracellular entry, being their immunogenicity considerably lower than the traditional vaccines. Hence, their association to potent adjuvants,



FIGURE 1 | Nanoparticulate cancer vaccines. (A) NPs are able to deliver several TAAs and adjuvants simultaneously, enabling a coordinated activation of DCs. NPs can also be functionalized in order to actively target DCs *in vivo*, increase their cellular internalization and immunogenicity or even target specific intracellular compartments. **(B)** NP-based cancer vaccines can be targeted to DCs *in vivo* and after their internalization induce the maturation of these cells. TAAs and adjuvants are simultaneously released inside the same DC which guaranties its coordinated activation.

TAAs are presented trough MHC class I and class II molecules to CD8+ and CD4+ naïve T cells which recognize the processed antigens through TCRs. Activated CD8+ T cells differentiate into CTLs, which can destroy tumor cells, and memory T cells, that are important to avoid recidivism and metastasis. CD4+ T cells should differentiate in Th1 cells, which will potentiate the action of CTLs and will also activate cells of the innate immune system, such as NK cells, granulocytes and macrophages that play a role in the tumor destruction process as well.

as particulate vaccine delivery systems, or immunomodulatory molecules is being widely investigated (Al-Hanbali et al., 2006; Hillaireau and Couvreur, 2009; Sharp et al., 2009; Shahar et al., 2010; Smith et al., 2012).

Numerous studies have demonstrated that these delivery platforms could increase the uptake of antigens and adjuvants by DCs, leading to better immune responses (Diwan et al., 2002; Schlosser et al., 2008; Florindo et al., 2009a). *In vivo* DC-targeted vaccines are able to deliver, within the same platform, both antigens and additional stimuli (i.e., adjuvants) to the same cell in its natural environment, enhancing and maximizing the outcome (Kazzaz et al., 2006). Particulate delivery systems range from micro and nanoparticles, liposomes, to virus-like particles (VLPs). Unlike *ex vivo* DC vaccines, the clinical intervention is limited to vaccine administration, sparing time in fastidious cycles of blood withdrawal and *in vitro* cell culture. Also, it offers on-shelf products, which can be produced at large scale with cost reduction and increased quality.

NANOTECHNOLOGY-BASED APPROACHES AS IMMUNE CELL TARGETED DELIVERY SYSTEMS

Nano-based systems have been described as platforms for targeting and delivery of not only therapeutic agents, but also nanodevices and analytical systems for theranostics. The range of applications of nanosystems can include drug delivery, cancer and gene therapy, as well as imaging and cell tracking through biomarkers and biosensors (Rawat et al., 2006) (Supplementary Material). Nanosystems have been used to increase the resolution of clinical imaging, with improved sensitivity and specificity, leading to earlier diagnostics and real-time results. This may allow the use of prophylactic measures, to avoid the progress of the disease or to greater efficacy of therapies, due to an earlier treatment (Riehemann et al., 2009).

The development of nano-based systems has provided protection strategies for incorporated agents, such as biomolecules nucleic acids, peptides and proteins—which are generally quickly degraded when administered *in vivo*. Therapeutic agents can be embedded, encapsulated, or even adsorbed or conjugated onto the nanosystems, which can be modified and associated to other adjuvants to achieve an optimized release profile (Mahapatro and Singh, 2011). Usual concerns about the administration of these biomolecules have been eased, since lower doses are generally used and a more restricted distribution is achieved (Rawat et al., 2006). In fact, the widely recognized versatility of nanotechnology strategies allows the accurate design of multifunctional nanocarriers. These, in turn, can be functionalized by ligands of different natures to promote a targeted delivery of their cargo both at cellular and subcellular level.

Nanocarriers can also potentiate the cytosolic delivery of biomolecules as siRNA and miRNA, important gene expression regulators, providing their escape from endo-lysosomal compartments. miRNAs are short oligonucleotides (18–22 nucleotides) and are involved in multiple pathways related to the development and differentiation of cells, and in the pathogenesis of cancer, constituting a valuable target Chen et al., 2014b; Gajos-Michniewicz et al., 2014). However, its *in vivo* application demands the development of cell-specific delivery approaches to promote their biological effect, which are currently underexplored.

The modulation and regulation of the pathophysiology dynamics at the molecular level has enabled nanomedicines to achieve a disease control with an unprecedented precision. Therefore, several nano-based systems composed by diverse materials, and thus presenting different characteristics, have been proposed and sorted in polymeric, lipid, metal and inorganic nanocarriers (**Figure 2**). Among them, it is important to underline liposomes, polymeric nanoparticles and micelles and dendrimers.

Besides the strong demand to develop alternative therapeutic options to address unmet clinical needs, the novel nanotechnology-based platforms have although important challenges, not only for industry but also for government agencies. Efficacy and safety are evaluated on proof-of-concept studies, but the manufacturing process must be robust by identifying all its critical points and thus implementing "quality-by-design" (QbD) concept or improved process analytical technologies (PAT).

Liposomes

Liposomes consist of self-assembled lipid bilayer membranes with size ranging from 90 to 150 nm, which are formed by phospholipids and cholesterol that enclose an aqueous core (**Figure 3A**). Phospholipids are composed by hydrophilic heads and hydrophobic long tails. Thus, as previously described in several reviews, their structure allows hydrophilic molecules to be incorporated within the inner compartments, while the hydrophobic compounds will be entrapped within the hydrophobic bilayer (Sahoo and Labhasetwar, 2003; Aslan et al., 2013; Sharma et al., 2013).

The potential use of liposomes as delivery systems is based on the fact that they provide a slow and sustained release, improving the accumulation of the entrapped molecules. Also, on their ability to decrease cytotoxicity of incorporated molecules, since they modulate the biodistribution and pharmacokinetics (Khan et al., 2008; Sharma et al., 2013). Having in consideration their biocompatibility, the biodegradability and ability to cross lipid bilayers and cell membranes, liposomes have been proposed as delivery platforms for vaccines, anticancer drugs and gene therapy (Ewert et al., 2005). However, one of the major drawbacks of conventional liposomes is the short circulation time, being rapidly removed by mononuclear phagocytes of the reticular endothelial system (RES). Stealth liposomes, or long-circulating liposomes, have been developed to overcome this problem. They consist in liposomes that are sterically stabilized, presenting thus a prolonged half-life (Frank, 1993; Krishnamachari et al., 2011).

Regarding the success attained by liposomal platforms in the clinic and advanced-stage clinical trials, several liposomal-based delivery systems are nowadays offered as an anticancer strategy, such as liposomal doxorubicin, cytarabine and cisplatin (Abraham et al., 2005; Huwyler et al., 2008; Aslan et al., 2013). The use of liposomes for doxorubicin delivery prevents the damage of heart and renal healthy tissues that is usually induced by the extreme toxicity of the drug (Abraham et al., 2005). Moreover, doxorubicin has already been formulated in active targeted liposomes for breast cancer therapy, using engineered peptide ligands (Sharma et al., 2013). Other attractive approach is the use of



liposomes as carriers for antisense oligonucleotides, as siRNA, in cancer therapy (Tari et al., 1996).

Van Broekhoven et al. (2004) have reported a DC-targeting vaccine, based on a liposomal formulation, as an outstanding platform to induce a highly effective immunity against tumor cells (Van Broekhoven et al., 2004). Preclinical studies of liposome-DNA complexes have also been described, constituting an effective strategy to elicit anti-tumor immunity (U'ren et al., 2006).

The phase I clinical trial of a liposomal cancer vaccine for breast, ovarian and prostate cancer has already been reported. It has been proved that this peptide vaccine, which is intended to elicit multi-functional T-cell responses, is safe and immunogenic (Berinstein et al., 2012).

Additionally, liposomes have been studied as carriers for alternative bioorganic and biodegradable contrast agents, as glycogen and poly-L-Lysine. With these liposomes, it was possible to develop an *in vivo* multi-color magnetic resonance imaging for lymph node mapping (Chan et al., 2014).

Polymeric nanoparticles (NPs)

Polymeric NPs are submicron-sized polymeric colloidal particles with excellent features as vehicle for the delivery of **drugs, biomolecules and genes** (Panyam and Labhasetwar, 2003; Mahapatro and Singh, 2011).

Polymer properties such as biocompatibility, low toxicity and biodegradability have highlighted polymeric NPs as an interesting delivery strategy. The chemical structure of the polymers is easily modified, allowing the development of multifunctional engineered systems. Nanoparticle size, shape and surface properties can also be tailored, as well as the degradation kinetics and mechanical properties (Albertsson, 2002).

Polymeric NPs are usually highly stable and can easily entrap and/or adsorb both hydrophilic and hydrophobic molecules with good efficacy (Gelperina et al., 2005). The drug entrapment protects molecules from degradation (Singh and Lillard, 2009). Additionally, as nano-sized polymeric particles, these carriers are easily transported through extra and intracellular barriers. As a result, entrapped agents may be delivered site-specifically, for instance in inflamed areas or tumors, after crossing the endothelium (Prokop and Davidson, 2008; Singh and Lillard, 2009).

Two different types of polymeric NPs are usually considered: nanospheres and nanocapsules (**Figure 3B**). Nanospheres consist in a polymeric matrix in which the drug or cargo is homogenously dispersed, whereas nanocapsules are vesicular systems formed by



FIGURE 3 | (A) Liposomes are phospholipid and cholesterol self-assembled bilayer membranes that enclose an aqueous core, where hydrophilic molecules can be incorporated. Hydrophobic compounds can also be incorporated in the lipid bilayer. Liposomes can be classified in (i) small unilamellar vesicles (SUVs); (ii) large unilamellar vesicles (LUVs) and (iii) multilamellar vesicles (MLVs), according to their size and lamellarity.
(B) Polymeric nanoparticles are submicron spherical entities composed by a polymeric compact net than can either constitute a polymeric matrix—in the case of nanospheres—or a polymeric wall surrounding a vesicular core—nanocapsules. Nanoparticles can transport hydrophilic and hydrophobic molecules either entrapped in the polymeric matrix or core, or adsorbed to their surface. (C) Polymeric micelles are self-assembled spherical

nanocarriers formed by amphiphilic block copolymers. In aqueous medium, the block copolymers arrange themselves in a disposition where the most hydrophobic parts of their chains form a hydrophobic core—where hydrophobic molecules can be incorporated –, and the most hydrophilic regions of the polymer chain are displayed outoward. **(D)** Dendrimers are hyperbranched nanocarriers formed by a central core, branching monomers and functionalized peripheral groups. Dendrimer synthesis can start from the core element (divergent polymerization) or from the peripheral branching units (convergent polymerization), resulting in a structure with a hydrophilic surface and a hydrophobic central core. Molecules can be transported by dendrimers either incorporated in the core and branches, either conjugated to the terminal groups.

a polymer wall that surrounds a core containing the cargo (Singh and Lillard, 2009).

Several methods have been used to produce polymeric nanoparticles. Some of the most studied are spray-drying, salting

out, nanoprecipitation and emulsion-based methods, The latter, in particular, lies on an emulsification process with the removal of organic solvents used for polymer dissolution, by extraction or evaporation. The emulsified organic drops containing the polymer originate nanoparticles, when the organic solvent is eliminated (Lassalle and Ferreira, 2007).

Nevertheless, it is important to bear in mind that the chosen method will influence the characteristics of the obtained NPs, such as the size and the surface. Besides, it is crucial to have a great knowledge about the different experimental variables, in order to achieve the intended formulation characteristics (Gorner et al., 1999; Lassalle and Ferreira, 2007).

A large number of polymers from different origins have already been described as useful materials for polymeric NP production and used in preclinical studies. Polymers can be from natural origin, as chitosan, or synthesized, as polylactic acid and poly-lactic-co-glycolic acid (PLGA) (Krishnamachari et al., 2011; Mizrahy and Peer, 2012). Particulate adjuvants, such as PLGA and PCL NPs, have generated a lot of interest due to their biodegradability, biocompatibility and mechanical strength. (Danhier et al., 2012) has nicely reviewed the main properties and applications of PLGA-based nanocarriers. These NPs can also act as adjuvants, maintaining the antigenicity and immunogenicity of encapsulated proteins. In fact, PLGA, used for decades in humans, is the most studied polymer for vaccine formulation and it was shown to increase antibody and cellular responses to antigen-loaded PLGA NP (Johansen et al., 2000; Shen et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2014a). PCL has a great potential for developing antigen controlled release matrices by its low degradation rate, hydrophobicity, good drug permeability, in vitro stability and low toxicity. The adjuvant effect of PCL NPs to induce immune responses against an infectious disease was previously confirmed by several studies (Benoit et al., 1999; Florindo et al., 2008, 2009b; Labet and Thielemans, 2009). If the encapsulated antigen fails to induce DC activation, these NPs can be modified with maturation signals at their surface for direct ligandreceptor interaction, as mannose receptor is overexpressed at DCs and macrophage cell surface. Chitosan NPs, for instance, are an interesting strategy for gene delivery, namely small interfering RNA (siRNA). As chitosan is positively charged, electrostatic interactions occur with negatively charged siRNA, and thus the biomolecule is safely carried to its in vivo target (Aslan et al., 2013).

Nanocarriers produced using polypeptide-based polyanionic, zwitteronic and polycationic polymers (e.g., polyglutamic acid, polyarginine) have also been described (Christian et al., 2009). These are endosomolytic polymers and have been used to promote the cytosolic delivery of these biomolecules. Although clinical trials with peptide-based cancer nanovaccines have shown little success, more recent research has been developed to improve them, using novel polymeric NPs systems.

It has been reported that PLGA NPs loaded with melanoma antigens can elicit effective anti-tumor activity by CTLs *in vivo* (Zhang et al., 2011; Ma et al., 2012). DC-targeting chitosan NPs, carrying IL-12, were also used in a preclinical study. The administration of this nanovaccine in an animal model resulted in suppression of tumor growth and increased induction of apoptosis (Kim et al., 2006).

Regarding immune cell tracking, biodegradable PLGA NPs have been used in a combined multimodal imaging strategy for a DC-targeting nanovaccine. Superparamagnetic iron oxide particles and a fluorescently labeled antigens were incorporated within the same nanosystem, allowing not only the analysis and quantification of NPs uptake, but also the subcellular tracking of NPs (Cruz et al., 2011).

Polymeric micelles

Polymeric micelles are self-assembled spherical nanocarriers formed by amphiphilic block copolymers in aqueous medium (**Figure 3C**). A hydrophobic core and a hydrophilic surface compose these structures, and their size ranges from 10 to 100 nm (Torchilin, 2001; Jhaveri and Torchilin, 2014).

Polymer micelles have been investigated as delivery systems for poorly water-soluble/hydrophobic drugs due to the hydrophobic core. It has been shown that micelles can enhance the bioavailability of hydrophobic molecules, which is reassured because they protect the drug from *in vivo* degradation (Torchilin, 2001; Jhaveri and Torchilin, 2014). Other advantages of polymeric micelles are the low toxicity, the prolonged circulation time and good levels of accumulation in tumor areas (Ganta et al., 2008). In an experiment with nude mice xenograft model, PLGA-PEG polymeric micelles have shown increased tumoral uptake (Yoo and Park, 2004).

Novel pH-responsive polymer micelles formed by an N-(2-hydroxypropyl) methacrylamide corona and a propylacrylic acid (PAA)/dimethylaminoethyl methacrylate (DMAEMA)/butyl methacrylate (BMA) core have already been investigated for antigen trafficking modulation in DCs. The results showed that this nanosystem facilitates the antigen delivery to DCs in the lymph nodes and enhances CD8+ T cell responses, being thus a potential carrier for cancer vaccines (Keller et al., 2014). Also, micelles formed by DMAEMA and pyridyl disulfide ethyl methacrylate (PDSEMA), carrying both CpG ODN and protein antigens, have shown to elicit and increase cellular and humoral immune response by modulating and stimulating antigen cross-presentation, as summarized by Wilson et al. (2013).

Dendrimers

Dendrimers consist in hyperbranched spherical nanocarriers formed by a central core, branching monomers and functionalized peripheral groups. Dendrimers can be produced by convergent or divergent polymerization of branching units, resulting in a structure with a hydrophilic surface and a hydrophobic central core (Figure 3D) (Lee et al., 2005). Their main physicochemical features are low viscosity, hyperbranched molecular topology, marcromolecular size, high density of chemical functionality and multiple end groups that can be chemically functionalized (Lee et al., 2005). Also, the depolymerization of dendrimers can be tailored in order to control the release profile of the loaded agents, as described in a review by Wong et al. (2012). Besides vaccines, therapeutic and targeting carriers, dendrimers have also been reported as diagnostic tools due to their ability to protect imaging agents, decreasing its toxicity and enhancing specificity (Yang et al., 2009).

Nowadays, the most described family of dendrimers is the well-studied polyamidoamine (PAMAM). Poly(propyleneimine) and peptide dendrimers, such as poly(L-glutamic acid) dendrimers, have also been studied (Nanjwade et al., 2009).

Linear poly(glutamic acid) is a poly(amino acid) polymer with considerable potential for antigen delivery to DCs, and adjuvant properties for DC maturation, able to induce CTLs (Yoshikawa et al., 2008). Additionally, it has been shown to be safe for use in clinic (Chipman et al., 2006) providing the necessary safety profile for human use. These glycopeptide dendrimers have shown promise for antitumor and antiviral prophylactic or therapeutic vaccines, as well as antiviral agents (Niederhafner et al., 2008). Several formulations have reached clinical trials as vaccines against breast (Gilewski et al., 2007), prostate (Slovin et al., 2003), and small cell lung cancers (Krug et al., 2004) with encouraging results. Even though, further investigation must be done in order to guarantee the long-term safety, before they become clinically available (Aslan et al., 2013).

INFLUENCE OF NANO-BASED TECHNOLOGY PROPERTIES IN CELLULAR UPTAKE

Arguably, the weakest link in preclinical experimentation of nanodelivery systems is the continued failure to document dynamic processes (over time) using complex biosystems as models, i.e., a systems biology approach. The outcome of different classes of nanomedicines under preclinical and clinical evaluation has demonstrated that their main biological consequences of cellular or subcellular targeting and access are closely related to materials intrinsic properties (Ehmann et al., 2013).

The uptake of TAAs, carried within nano-platforms, by DCs is in fact influenced by several particulate physicochemical properties. Size, shape, surface charge, hydrophobicity and receptor interactions are generally underlined (Foged et al., 2005; Bachmann and Jennings, 2010). Particulate vaccines, such as whole-cell vaccines, virosomes, VLPs or formulated delivery platforms such as liposomes, micro and NPs have great surfaces with electrostatic or receptor-interacting properties, leading to an increased interaction when compared to soluble antigens (Bachmann and Jennings, 2010). Also, it has been reported that particulate size can direct the DC subset target. However, the ideal dimensions of NPs for APC uptake are still under discussion. In fact, small size platforms (<200 nm) may drain freely to LNs, being thus taken up by LN-resident DC subsets such as $CD8\alpha+$, which seems an advantage for cancer immunotherapeutic approaches. However, delivery systems greater than 200 nm appear to be taken up by circulant monocytes, which differentiate after particle uptake and migrate to LNs afterwards (Manolova et al., 2008). According to Foged and colleagues, NP size should be 0.5 µm or less to be quickly and efficiently incorporated by DCs (Foged et al., 2005).

Size

NP size appears to influence the cellular uptake mechanism and the endocytic pathway of NPs, dictating their ultimate intracellular fate and thus overall biological effect. NPs may be assimilated by receptor-mediated endocytosis, clathrin-dependent and/or caveolae-mediated, and phagocytosis, or through a receptor independent mechanism—macropinocytosis. Particulate systems with a larger diameter (>0.5 μ m) tend to be assimilated through macropinocytosis and/or phagocytosis by some specific cells, as macrophages and Langerhans cells in the skin. Smaller particles usually enter the cell through endocytosis. NPs with size <150 nm are generally taken by cells via classic receptor-mediated endocytosis (clathrin-dependent) or endocytosis caveolae-mediated if ranging from 50 to 80 nm (Pelkmans and Helenius, 2002). These NPs with size equivalent to viruses are usually able to initiate a virus-like immune response with activation of CTL and Th1. On the other hand, larger particles normally generate a similar immune response to that induced by bacteria, with Th2 activation and antibody production (Xiang et al., 2006).

Shape

Besides size, it has also been reported that particle shape may influence cellular uptake and biodistribution. Although it has been suggested non-spherical particles may be valuable for their increased blood circulation time, due to reduced phagocytosis by unspecific cells, they also demonstrated decreased cellular uptake, when compared to spherical NPs. According to Gratton et al., rodshaped NPs show the highest uptake performance, followed by spheres, cylinders and finally cubical NPs (Gratton et al., 2008).

Surface charge

NP surface charge also seems to play an important role in their particle internalization and thus will also determine the nature of the induced immune response (Xiang et al., 2006). As cell membrane charge is negative, positively charged molecules/systems will show high affinity to it. After cellular uptake, it has been observed that negatively charged or neutral NPs tend to localize within lysosomes, whilst positively charged NPs showed ability to escape from these. Cationic NPs were found in the perinuclear area and have been reported as effective for uptake by macrophages and DCs (Thiele et al., 2003; Yue et al., 2011). On the other hand, the interaction of those delivery systems with cell depends on multiple factors and some studies have reported the presence of neutral NP at endoplasmic reticulum, suggesting their ability to escape degradation at lysossomal/endossomal compartment (Zhou et al., 2014).

NANOCARRIERS FOR TUMOR AND IMMUNE CELL TARGETING Passive targeting

Passive targeting results from the transport of nano-based systems across the abnormal leaky vasculature of tumors, into the tumor interstitium or cells, by their movement within fluids convection—or by passive diffusion. Whereas convection is observed for larger molecules, compounds with low molecular weight cross the membranes by diffusion, depending only on the concentration gradient (Iyer et al., 2006; Danhier et al., 2010).

As blood vessels architecture and its regulation are compromised, caused by unpaired angiogenesis, nanocarriers tend to accumulate selectively in tumor interstitium due to the "Enhanced Permeability and Retention (EPR) effect." The increased size of gaps in endothelial cells creates pores ranging from 10 to 1000 nm, which along with the poor lymphatic drainage, contributes to the EPR effect, that was first described by Matsumura and Maeda (1986); Yuan et al. (1995); Danhier et al. (2010). This effect has become very important for the design of targeted nanocarriers for cancer therapies. It has been reported that NP levels of accumulation in tumor interstitium are 10–50-fold higher than in normal tissues, leading to improved therapeutic efficacy and less side effects (Iyer et al., 2006; Danhier et al., 2010).

Active targeting

Nanotechnology-based strategies have been explored as platforms for drug delivery, cancer vaccination and/or diagnosis, due to their capacity for overcoming biological barriers and to modulate payloads' intracellular trafficking. These nanoparticulate systems present a good potential for site-selective delivery by binding recognition ligands to NP surface, which can enhance NP endocytosis, influencing their intracellular trafficking and thus inducing prolonged effects (Danhier et al., 2010).

Surface functionalization of nano-based systems (**Figure 4**) has been used to improve tissue and cell surface antigen targeting, thus moderating non-specific distribution and prolonging the blood circulation time of nano-based systems (Alexis et al., 2008).

PEGylation is a widespread strategy to improve the half-life time of nanocarriers, through steric stabilization and "stealth" properties. It relies on the introduction of poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) molecules by conjugation, grafting or adsorption onto the surface of nanosystems (**Figure 5**). The terminal groups of PEG chains also present very suitable moieties to attach functional ligands and attain active-targeted carriers (Freichels et al., 2012). The conjugation of antibody fragments to PEG ends, using disulfide bonds, may consist in an interesting strategy to develop platforms for active targeting (Brocchini et al., 2008). $D-\alpha$ -tocopheryl polyethylene glycol succinate (TPGS) has been reported as an alternative to PEG (Pan and Feng, 2008).

Active-targeted nanosystems are based on the design of nanocarriers with bioactive ligands placed onto their surface or periphery. They will be recognized by overexpressed molecular patterns at the tissues/cells intended to target, facilitating NP recognition and subsequent receptor-mediated endocytosis (Figure 6) (Cheng et al., 2007; Kumar et al., 2009; Danhier et al., 2010; Aslan et al., 2013; Nicolas et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013a; Gao et al., 2014). Surface modifications represent an outstanding tool for cell targeting allowing a specific contact of nanoparticulate systems with critical immune cells, as evidenced in Stephan et al. (2010). For example, the ligand DEC-205 is highly expressed by CD8+DCs, cells particularly efficient at "cross-presenting" exogenous antigens on MHCI, constituting a highly relevant pathway for the development of a cytolytic immune response. Moreover, recent studies have indicated that the triggering of CD40 on APCs can lead to CD8 T-cell effectors, without the need of common stimulation by MHCII-related Th cells via CD40 ligands (Vonderheide et al., 2013). Mannose receptors at DCs are also associated to ligand internalization and further processing and presentation by immune cells, leading to a more extensive immune response (Lu et al., 2007; Carrillo-Conde et al., 2011; Silva et al., 2013).

These ligands, such as peptides, antibodies and antibody fragments, carbohydrates and even vitamins, may be either attached before the nanocarrier production or afterwards. Liking ligands



functionalized differently in order to attain distinct goals. PEG or TGPS functionalization provide stealth properties to NPs, avoiding capture by phagocytic cells and increasing their circulation time. Functionalization of NPs with imaging agents, such as fluorescent probes, radionuclides or contrast agents (e.g., gold or magnetic NPs), provide applicability of NPs to diagnostic, theranostic or even *in vivo* real-time imaging. The immunogenicity of NPs can be increased for immunotherapy or

prophylactic vaccination. Different molecules can be used for that propose, such as PAMPs (several carbohydrates, lipids or nucleic acids) or immunogenic polymers (e.g., chitosan, alginate, poloxamers). Specific tissue and cell targeting can be achieved through the functionalization of NPs with antibodies directed to specific or overexpressed antigens. Cell-penetrating peptides can improve NP internalization. pH-sensitive coatings allow drug release in specific tissues or intracellular compartments in a pH-dependent manner.



FIGURE 5 | The stealth effect from NP functionalization with PEG. (A) Particulate foreign entities in body fluids are promptly covered with opsonins, such as the immunoglobulins IgG and IgA and the complement proteins C3b C4b, in a process called opsonization. Opsonins mark the particulate entity to phagocytosis through their recognition by Fc receptors on phagocytic cells, such as macrophages. (B) Functionalization of NPs with PEG by grafting, conjugation or adsorption—note the "mushroom-like" (a) or "brush-like" (b) configuration of PEG chains—provides steric stabilization and stealth properties, preventing the adsorption of opsonins at the surface of nanoparticles. PEG hydrophilicity attracts water molecules to particle surface avoiding the adsorption of opsonins at NP surface, rendering them "invisible" to phagocytic cells.

prior to nanocarrier production may be advantageous, so that the conjugation yield of the ligand to the polymer can be assessed and controlled. Nanocarriers can be thus produced with a well-characterized (co)polymer and the density of ligands on their surface can be tailored. Physicochemical properties of the polymers must be evaluated after ligand conjugation, because the hydrophilic/hydrophobic balance may be altered, particularly if macromolecules are linked (Betancourt et al., 2009; Sperling and Parak, 2010; Nicolas et al., 2013).

The strategy of attaching ligand molecules after nanocarrier production is usually applied, when antibodies, proteins and polypeptides are chosen as targeting agents. As some organic solvents are generally used in the preparation of nanosystems, this method is preferred to avoid denaturation of the secondary structure of the ligands. Also, since they are bulky molecules, they will disturb the hydrophilic/hydrophobic balance which can difficult the method of nanocarrier production (Nicolas et al., 2013). The drawbacks of this approach are related with subsequent purification of the formulation and its characterization. The processes frequently used for purification, such as centrifugation, filtration and dialysis, may degrade or alter the nanosystems. Additionally, it is usually difficult to prove that the ligand is covalently linked to the surface of the nanocarrier and not only adsorbed (Nicolas et al., 2013).

Ligation strategies for functionalization. Several pathways have been developed to attach ligands onto nanosystems surface, such as the carbodiimide strategy, the Michael addition pathway, the biotin–streptavidin approach and the Copper-catalized ligation method (Betancourt et al., 2009; Nicolas et al., 2013). The native terminal groups of some polymers or specific moieties,

introduced through chemical modifications, are generally used to apply these schemes of functionalization. For instance, carboxylic acid terminals in aliphatic polyesters and poly(ethylene glycol) (Betancourt et al., 2009).

The most used scheme is based on the carbodiimide chemistry. It relies on the coupling of a molecule containing a terminal amine group with another with an N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) ester end or an end group that can be easily esterified to NHS moiety (Betancourt et al., 2009; Nicolas et al., 2013). The Michael addition pathway is based on the thiol-maleimide coupling. Maleimide-polymers are used to produce nanocarriers, which are then decorated with thiol-containing targeting agents (Betancourt et al., 2009; Nicolas et al., 2013). However, the presence of native thiol groups in some molecules, as proteins and peptides, is usually low (or absent in some cases) and many are hard to access. To overcome this, disulfide bonds can be reduced in thiol groups or heterobifunctional cross-linking agents may be used (Nicolas et al., 2013). The biotin-streptavidin approach utilizes a strong non-covalent biological interaction between biotin and avidin (Betancourt et al., 2009; Nicolas et al., 2013). Still, for this strategy, a targeting agent is usually chemically bound to avidin, which is a bulky glycoprotein that may then obstruct the interaction ligand-receptor, essential for targeting (Betancourt et al., 2009). The Copper-catalized ligation is a highly efficient method, based on a cycloaddition reaction that fits in the "click chemistry" class of reactions. The chemical reaction is developed in mild conditions and with little or absent byproducts. The major disadvantage of this approach is the elimination of the Cu-based catalyst used for the reaction (Nicolas et al., 2013).

Functionalization of nanosystems for immune cell targeting. Extensive research has been made regarding cell surface receptors in immune cells, the so-called PRRs. PRRs recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPS) and are involved in several stages of the immune response, from its initiation and proliferation, to its execution (Kumar et al., 2009). Different types of molecules may act as PAMPs, known as "danger signals," for instance lipids, lipoproteins, proteins, carbohydrates and nucleic acids. The recognition of PAMPs by PRRs triggers immune responses by activating multifactorial signaling pathways. This leads to the induction of inflammatory responses mediated by several cytokines and chemokines (Kumar et al., 2009).

Several classes of PRRs have been reviewed, such as TLRs, retinoic-acid inducible gene (RIG)-like receptors (RLRs), nucleotide oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs), DNA receptors (cytosolic sensors for DNA), scavenger receptors, and C-type lectin receptors (CLRs) (Kumar et al., 2009; Carrillo-Conde et al., 2011; Shen et al., 2013; Silva et al., 2013). In mammals, the most studied PRR class is the TLRs class. TLRs are predominantly expressed by APCs, as DCs, but they are also found on cells of the adaptive immune system, such as in $\alpha\beta$ T cells, regulatory T cells, and $\gamma\delta$ T cells, as well as NKT cells (Wesch et al., 2011). Through TLR activation, both the innate and the adaptive immune responses can be engaged, either by direct activation of TLRs with their ligands on T and B cells, or by



internalization. **(A)** Functionalization of NPs with antibodies allows the targeting of antigens exclusively expressed or overexpressed by target cells (e.g., anti-CD205 antibody to target CD205 on DCs or anti-HER2 antibody to target HER2 on breast cancer cells). **(B)** In order to target DCs, NPs can be functionalized with molecules that mimic PAMPs, normally carbohydrates, nucleic acids or lipids, which are recognized by PRRs expressed by DCs. For instance, mannose or fucose residues are recognized by the mannose receptors—a C-lectin receptor. Bacterial lipopolysaccharide or flagellin target

TLR4 and TLR5 on DCs, respectively. **(C)** Cell-penetrating peptides are small amino acid sequences normally used by viruses or bacteria to facilitate cellular invasion by those pathogens and can be used to increase the internalization of NPs. Functionalized NPs see their internalization by target cells increased essentially by two mechanisms: induction of endocytosis upon ligand-receptor binding, which happens to NPs functionalized with ligands such as antibodies, PAMPs or some penetrating peptides that induce receptor-mediated endocytosis (e.g., integrins) or **(D)** through direct cell penetration across the plasma membrane (e.g., antimicrobial peptides or histidine-rich peptides) **(E)** or both (e.g., HIV TAT peptide).

indirect mechanisms involving TLR-activated DCs (Silva et al., 2013). C-type lectin receptors (CLRs) belong to another class of PRRs expressed by APCs. This receptor family is characterized by the presence of domains that bind to carbohydrates (Van Kooyk, 2008). CLRs are specific receptors particularly engaged in the internalization of antigens. CLRs enable the intracellular uptake and processing of antigens, as well as influence their cytosolic fate and the loading on MHC class I and II (Unger and Van Kooyk, 2011).

Regarding the involvement of PRRs in several strategic immune pathways, the design of nano-based systems for immune cell targeting can be extremely interesting. Not only because a more specific delivery can be achieved, but also because the cellular internalization of the targeted nanosystem can be modulated and potentiated. Additionally, the attachment of PRRs ligands on the surface of nanocarriers may boost their immunogenicity, which can be an outstanding strategy for the development of vaccines, since it allows the incorporation of an antigen and the "danger signal" in the same platform (Silva et al., 2013).

NANOCARRIERS FOR IMAGING APPROACHES

The importance of a deeper knowledge of the dynamic cancer immunological processes has long been realized. The study of these processes *in vivo*, with living cells and the whole organism, is essential to answer this issue more accurately. Cancer disease processes will be better understood and thus improved therapies can surely be developed. For the visualization of these biological dynamic processes *in vivo*, methods have to provide a real-time *in situ* fast response, as well as be non-invasive and with high sensitivity and stability (Wang et al., 2013b).

The use of targeted nanoplatforms for this purpose enables a more specific interaction with the intended target, with minimal interference to the biological system (Ballou et al., 2004). Additionally, nanocarriers may be functionalized with single or multiple ligands, which may be important for the design of complex experiments. The targeting of ligands may enhance the selective recognition of the nanodelivery systems by cells, facilitating their endocytosis. This will allow nanosystems to be used as non-invasive localization, monitoring and assessment platforms, for instance, for site-specific intracellular characterizations and real-time tracking (Ruan et al., 2007).

Fluorescence imaging techniques

Fluorescence imaging is an optical imaging method based on the excitation/emission of molecules (Cai and Chen, 2007). The use of fluorescent molecular probes-as fluorescent dyes and fluorescent proteins-has been widely applied in the labeling of biomolecules, cells and tissues. Although these probes are already used in vivo, for instance in retinal angiography and visualization of arteries, they are unsuitable for real-time imaging assays, regarding their low photostability and sensitivity at the cellular and molecular levels (Santra and Malhotra, 2011). The application of fluorophores in real-time in vivo imaging has also been limited by the high absorption of optical signal by tissues and body fluids in the UV and visible wavelength. The light scattering caused by tissues that attenuate the optical signal and the tissue auto-fluorescence that influences the background signal is also a limitation (Santra and Malhotra, 2011). Additionally, some fluorescent probes may be toxic for cells and body (Li et al., 2013). Several NP-based strategies have been proposed to overcome the limitations of fluorescent dyes for real-time in vivo imaging (Supplementary Material) (Santra and Malhotra, 2011; Wang et al., 2013b).

Fluorescent-labeled NPs are more stable in the body and increase the detection sensitivity and photostability. In the same platforms, a great number of probe molecules can be incorporated, in opposite to a single conventional molecule. Also, in NPs, fluorescent dyes can be protected from quenching and degradation (Santra and Malhotra, 2011; Wang et al., 2013b).

The most extensively studied nanosystems for fluorescence imaging are quantum dots (QDs) (Cai and Chen, 2007), inorganic fluorescent NPs that can be based on metallic or semiconductor materials, such as CdSe and CdTe (Ballou et al., 2004). As reviewed by Cai and Chen, in ideal conditions, QDs can have better properties than organic fluorescence probes. These include high resistance to degradation and photobleaching, high quantum yields, high molar extinction coefficients, continuous absorption spectra covering from UV to near-infrared, long fluorescence lifetimes (>10 ns), narrow emission spectra and very long effective Stokes shifts (Cai and Chen, 2007). QDs have been used for innumerous applications, from cell tracking (Voura et al., 2004) to mapping of sentinel lymph nodes (Ballou et al., 2007). QDs can be used to identify several ligands in the same experiment, using multiple colors and intensities to detect different structures (Ballou et al., 2004). The potential use of DC-targeting QDs as both fluorescent NPs for in vivo and in vitro imaging, and antigen-delivery system has also been investigated. In this

study, it was proved that QDs display promising properties for combined priming and immunoimaging of DC (Sen et al., 2008). Functionalization and modifications of the surface of QDs with PEG chains and ligands for active targeting, such as peptides and antibodies, have been under research to improve the application of these nanosystems in the biomedical field (Ballou et al., 2007; Cai and Chen, 2007). QD conjugates are already commercially available for immunospecific labeling (Ballou et al., 2004). Thus, the development of multifunctional nanoplatforms holds a great promise for the future of biomedicine, since it will be possible to combine simultaneously both diagnosis and therapy in the same nanostructure (Kim et al., 2008a).

Several other groups have suggested the use of silica-based NPs (siNPs) as an interesting strategy to perform imaging assays using fluorescence (Santra et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2008a; Wang et al., 2013b). siNPs have been used for high sensitive and specific *in situ* labeling and tracking of cell surface receptors (He et al., 2004, 2007). Relying on the affinity of antigen-antibody or ligand-receptor interactions, NPs were functionalized with antibodies and ligands and applied as an immunediagnostic method (He et al., 2002). siNPs have also been used as a non-invasive tool for intracellular labeling, tracking and sensing in living cells, contributing with novel information about dynamic biological processes of subcellular structures, such as lysosomes and endo-somes (Shi et al., 2010). Finally, siNPs were applied to better understand the biodistribution and fate of NPs, *in vivo* (Wang et al., 2013b).

Molecular imaging techniques

The key role of immune cells in the development of future immunotherapeutic approaches against chronic pathologies, mainly cancer diseases, has fostered the design and optimization of different real-time imaging techniques, avoiding the classic *ex vivo* histologic analysis (Kircher et al., 2011; Ahrens and Bulte, 2013; Liu and Li, 2014). In fact, most of the information obtained for immune cell tracking has arisen from optical and confocal microscopy and flow cytometry. Two-photon microscopy allowed the observation of different immune cells in their biological environment at real time (Progatzky et al., 2013). However, despite being a powerful tool to observe these highly motile cells and characterize their interaction with native environment, this imaging technique is unsuitable for detection of deeper events due to tissue opacity (Dzhagalov et al., 2012).

Bioluminescence imaging techniques, on the other hand, enable deeper tissue penetrations while tracking immune cells *in vivo*. Even though, it is one of the most commonly used techniques for immune cell tracking *in vivo*, allowing whole-body non-invasive tomography. This technique is only useful for preclinical studies in small animals, due to the limits related to the attenuation of light in tissues (Kircher et al., 2011).

All near-infrared (NIR) multiphoton microscopy methods are potential techniques for deep tissue imaging but further studies are needed to better characterize the capabilities of these NIRexcitation techniques and background reduction (Joshi et al., 2013).

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), ultrasound, positron emission tomography (PET) (Yaghoubi et al., 2009), single

photon emission tomography (SPECT) and X-ray computed tomography (CT) are the imaging techniques approved for medical applications (Bernsen et al., 2014). PET and SPECT are high-sensitivity and low-resolution techniques, while MRI and CT provide high-resolution images (Liu and Li, 2014). However, the use of radionuclide-based techniques, as PET and SPECT, has brought questions regarding their safety (Laskey et al., 2010). In addition, their combination with additional methods is fundamental to obtain an anatomical image. Therefore, the combination of these different imaging modalities constitutes a multimodality imaging method that has been explored in preclinical and clinical development, including SPECT/CT and MRI/PET (Naumova et al., 2014).

Among these techniques, MRI is the most versatile and sensitive method allowing the study of immune cell morphology and function (Ahrens and Bulte, 2013). In fact, innovative and safer techniques are emerging from the use of different biocompatible cell labeling probes and MRI to obtain high-resolution images without using ionizing radiation (Sosnovik and Nahrendorf, 2012; Thu et al., 2012). The signal used for MRI arises from the water protons (1H) or different fluorinated molecules (e.g., ¹⁹F) under a static magnetic field and after pulsed by a radio-frequency radiation, which alters the equilibrium of their nuclei. The MRI signal will then result from a transient voltage determined by the properties of labeled tissue (Ahrens and Bulte, 2013).

This non-invasive and safe imaging technique has been expected to track immune cells *in vivo*, enabling the characterization of their biodistribution and fate. MRI also seems suitable for the detection/quantification of surface markers and secreted factors resultant from biological processes occurred *in vivo* at a particular disease stage (Lu et al., 2013; Naumova et al., 2014). The rapid evolution in this field, advanced by the potential efficacy of next-generation cellular-based therapeutic approaches (e.g., immunotherapy and stem cell-based therapy), will certainly make this method a crucial tool to follow detailed biological and immunological processes *in vivo*.

The successful application of these *in vivo* cell-tracking tools can potentially optimize image-guided diagnostics and the overall efficacy of different therapeutic options. Particularly, those based on the modulation of endogenous cells support the selection of a specific treatment, the choice of the best administration route and also the use of a correct dose for each patient (Ahrens and Bulte, 2013).

Different exogenous cell-labeling probes have been explored but superparamagnetic iron oxide (SPIO) nanoparticles and perfluorocarbon (PFC) nanoemulsions seem to be the most promising for those advanced MRI-based techniques (Supplementary Material). Moreover, these are the unique *in vivo* MRI celllabeling techniques approved for human clinical trials, and thus will be further discussed (Ahrens and Bulte, 2013).

Nano-based systems for MRI real-time tracking of immune cells. Different nanosystems (Supplementary Material) have been developed for MRI-based *in vivo* cell tracking, but the negative contrast agents based on SPIO and PFC constitute the most explored ways to control MRI signal and consequent detection (Hawrylak et al., 1993; Bulte and Kraitchman, 2004). SPIO

contrast agents are small particles composed by ferrous and ferric oxides, usually coated by dextran. Even though, these ionic NPs have been modified by other biodegradable polymer (e.g., chitosan, PEG, siloxanes, polyaniline, glyceryl monooleate) and labeled with targeting moieties to potentiate their delivery to certain tissues (Supplementary Material) (Shubayev et al., 2009; Dilnawaz et al., 2010). These MRI-based contrast agents strongly perturb the magnetic field of the region in which they are embedded. The water molecules will sense that alteration in the magnetic field and the resultant loss of signal will lead to a dark image (Ahrens and Bulte, 2013). On the other hand, fluorinated-based probes directly label targeted cells and thus the MRI signal is dependent on the number of fluorine atoms and labeled cells, which can be observed in their biological environment (Srinivas et al., 2012).

The labeling of cells using these nano-based systems can be performed ex vivo or in vivo, through their direct administration in the body. The labeling of immune cells ex vivo with SPIO NPs has been explored to track and clarify migratory patterns of diverse immune cells, as NK (Daldrup-Link et al., 2005), cells from T lineage (Kircher et al., 2011), and DCs (De Vries et al., 2005; Rohani et al., 2011) used during immunotherapeutic cancer approaches. Innovative immunotheranostic strategies under development combine these metal ion-based NP with targeted nanoparticulate cancer vaccines. One interesting study has shown multifunctional iron oxide NPs formulated in order to deliver carcinoembryonic antigens to DCs and be detected by MRI (Cho et al., 2011). Alternatively, some SPIO NPs have been developed to label DCs membranes by modifying their surface with CD11c antibodies, promoting receptor-mediated endocytosis (Ahrens et al., 2003; Yu et al., 2012). Despite being a promising approach against cancer disease, their clinical translation is still unclear.

The *ex vivo* labeling of a DC-based cancer vaccine by SPIO NP was used in the first clinical trial that involved the cell tracking by MRI techniques, where it was possible to detect the target lymph node only in half of the patients with melanoma (De Vries et al., 2005).

T cells have been sorted and cultured with SPIO NPs, mostly coated by transfection agents, as poly-L-lysine or protamine sulfate, to promote their capture due to the non-phagocytic nature of these immune cells (Arbab et al., 2005; Thorek and Tsourkas, 2008; Thu et al., 2012). These intracellular labeling was also attempted through the use cell-penetrating peptides and HIV-TAT (Torchilin, 2008).

The *in vivo* labeling of immune cells by SPIO NPs is often used to track monocytes and macrophages to characterize inflammatory events, due to their phagocytic behavior (Settles et al., 2011). The *in vivo* labeling can be achieved by the intravenous administration of SPIO NPs, or alternatively after their direct injection into tumor tissue. Both options were successfully used to label immune cells and track their migration pattern toward lymph nodes, which allows for example the definition of tumor specific stage (Harisinghani et al., 2003).

It is important to emphasize that the cell labeling strategy must not alter the function and normal phenotype of immune cells, which could limit the efficacy of cellular-based therapies. The SPIO NPs are known as safe systems due to their biodegradability nature and usual rapid metabolization *in vivo* (Yu et al., 2012). Therefore, the SPIO-based cell labeling is mostly suitable for short-term studies. On the other hand, false positives may be detected after the accumulation of the detection agent in macrophages after the destruction of labeled cells (Ahrens et al., 2003; Thorek and Tsourkas, 2008). This disadvantage is in fact common to different imaging reagent-labeled techniques.

The ¹⁹F MRI is a highly sensitive technique that allows the direct quantification of labeled immune cells, as T cells and phagocytic cells, either *in vivo* or *ex vivo* (Srinivas et al., 2009; Helfer et al., 2010). Unlike SPIO NPs, this labeling method usually does not detect false positives and, once is not metabolized *in vivo*, constitutes a suitable approach for long-term studies (Janjic and Ahrens, 2009; Srinivas et al., 2012).

The droplet surface of these PFC colloidal systems has been changed with charged entities to potentiate their efficient delivery at intracellular level. Therefore, the safety of these labeling systems is increased, which has been shown using different immune cells, as DCs and T cells (Ahrens et al., 2005; Srinivas et al., 2009; Helfer et al., 2010; Ahrens and Bulte, 2013).

Recent studies have shown the promising combination of ¹⁹F labeling techniques with fluorescence or NIR probes, as well as with nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) (Patel et al., 2013). Even though, the use of these colloidal system for cell tracking is considerably recent and further studies are urged in order to confirm these indications.

ANIMAL MODELS FOR THE TRANSLATION OF IMMUNOTHERAPEUTIC APPROACHES

The successful translation of alternative immune-based approaches for cancer therapy into the clinic is highly dependent on the development of preclinical animal models that adequately mimic human disease progression. Several models have been developed and successfully used to study cancer mechanisms of disease and the efficacy of conventional therapeutic options (Budhu et al., 2014).

Accordingly, models currently used to evaluate therapeutic antitumor efficacy at preclinical level are based on transgenic systems and the transplantation of in vitro grown cancer cells into healthy animals or in humanized mouse models-human tumor xenograft models (Ostrand-Rosenberg, 2004). The implantation of human cell lines dictates the use of immunocompromised mice -T-cell deficient-to allow the establishment of cancer disease. Besides being one of the most used models to study cancer disease and the effect of cytotoxic therapies, those are definitely not suitable to test the efficacy of immunotherapeutic strategies as it is not possible to evaluate the effect of adaptive immune response in tumor development (Legrand et al., 2009). However, different approaches are currently being explored to improve their application toward the reconstitution of the immune system using human cells (Carpenito et al., 2009; Legrand et al., 2009; Pedroza-Gonzalez et al., 2011). Still, the evaluation of the outcome of different immunotherapeutic options has been possible due to development of different mouse cancer cell lines, which can be further modified if needed: B16 melanoma, CT26 colon carcinoma, TRAMP (transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate model) prostate cancer, 4T1 breast cancer, EL4 T lymphoma (Greenberg et al., 1995). Even tough, there is usually a rapid tumor growth after the subcutaneous administration of those cells and therefore these models do not mimic the longlasting host-tumor interactions resultant from the spontaneous implementation of this disease. On the other hand, the transplantable tumors are very versatile for prophylactic studies as it allows establishment of different vaccination settings, allowing an immune response before the induction of cancer disease and consequent immunosuppressive outcomes.

The spontaneous and multi-step tumor development, including the cross-talk between cells within tumor microenvironment is possible in genetic modified animals (Dougan et al., 2011). However, these animals need to be evaluated for longer periods of time. In addition, the presence of mutations in a permanent manner, in contrast to what happens in cancer disease, has been associated with higher variability and tolerance and consequently, lower effectiveness of different immunotherapeutic options (Hurwitz et al., 2000; Ercolini et al., 2005).

As a result, there is an urgent need for animal models recapitulating cancer disease, and all results should be discussed having in consideration animal model specificities and limitations. In addition, different types of animal models should be tested in order to better characterize the obtained antitumor evidences for clinical translation.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Despite the improvement observed in chemotherapy and radiotherapy for cancer treatment, the battle against this disease seems to have more chances to be achieved through the combination of different therapeutic modalities. Immunotherapeutic approaches have emerging as promising tools to address the heterogeneity of this disease, namely those immune cell mediated cancer therapies. It is possible to underline the advances obtained with the approval of anti-CTL4 monoclonal antibody by the FDA, and great expectations have arisen from the use of different approaches to modulate the function of immune cells within tumor site. Among those strategies, the outcome of cancer vaccines can be highlighted. To monitor and guide the development of cellular therapies and the *in situ* manipulation of immune cells, the improvement of non-invasive imaging strategies to obtain detailed information regarding the biological processes within the complex tumor microenvironment is imperative. We foresee the use of non-toxic nanotechnology-based systems able to combine the specific (i) targeting of immune cells, promoting the controlled delivery of different molecular entities to modulate the cell-cell interactions; and (ii) tracking through the inclusion of different probes to improve safety, specificity and sensitivity of cell-labeling methods and imaging approaches. These immunotheranostics are expected to enable a rational definition of treatment plans for a particular patient, resulting in better clinical outcomes and enhanced control of the disease, which can also promote their translation into marketed systems.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia, Ministério da Ciência e da Tecnologia, Portugal

(PhD Grant SFRH/BD/87150/2012 to João Conniot, SFRH/BD/64295/2009 to Joana M. Silva PTDC/SAU-FAR/119389/2010 and Pest-OE/SAU/UI4013/2011). Funding from the UK Engineering & Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC) for the EPSRC Centre for Innovative Manufacturing in Emergent Macromolecular Therapies is gratefully acknowledged. Financial support from the consortium of industrial and governmental users is also acknowledged. The authors have no other relevant affiliations or financial involvement with any organization or entity with a financial interest or financial conflict with the subject matter or materials discussed in the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://www.frontiersin.org/journal/10.3389/fchem. 2014.00105/abstract

REFERENCES

- Abraham, S. A., Waterhouse, D. N., Mayer, L. D., Cullis, P. R., Madden, T. D., and Bally, M. B. (2005). The liposomal formulation of doxorubicin. *Meth. Enzymol.* 391, 71–97. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(05)91004-5
- Agemy, L., Sugahara, K. N., Kotamraju, V. R., Gujraty, K., Girard, O. M., Kono, Y., et al. (2010). Nanoparticle-induced vascular blockade in human prostate cancer. *Blood* 116, 2847–2856. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-03-274258
- Ahlers, J. D., and Belyakov, I. M. (2010). Memories that last forever: strategies for optimizing vaccine T-cell memory. *Blood* 115, 1678–1689. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-06-227546
- Ahmad, M., Rees, R. C., and Ali, S. A. (2004). Escape from immunotherapy: possible mechanisms that influence tumor regression/progression. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 53, 844–854. doi: 10.1007/s00262-004-0540-x
- Ahrens, E. T., and Bulte, J. W. (2013). Tracking immune cells *in vivo* using magnetic resonance imaging. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 13, 755–763. doi: 10.1038/nri3531
- Ahrens, E. T., Feili-Hariri, M., Xu, H., Genove, G., and Morel, P. A. (2003). Receptor-mediated endocytosis of iron-oxide particles provides efficient labeling of dendritic cells for *in vivo* MR imaging. *Magn. Reson. Med.* 49, 1006–1013. doi: 10.1002/mrm.10465
- Ahrens, E. T., Flores, R., Xu, H., and Morel, P. A. (2005). *In vivo* imaging platform for tracking immunotherapeutic cells. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 23, 983–987. doi: 10.1038/nbt1121
- Al-Hanbali, O., Rutt, K. J., Sarker, D. K., Hunter, A. C., and Moghimi, S. M. (2006). Concentration dependent structural ordering of poloxamine 908 on polystyrene nanoparticles and their modulatory role on complement consumption. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 6, 3126–3133. doi: 10.1166/jnn.2006.406
- Albertsson, A.-C. (2002). Degradable Aliphatic Polyesters. Berlin; London: Springer.
- Alexis, F., Pridgen, E., Molnar, L. K., and Farokhzad, O. C. (2008). Factors affecting the clearance and biodistribution of polymeric nanoparticles. *Mol. Pharm.* 5, 505–515. doi: 10.1021/mp800051m
- Arbab, A. S., Pandit, S. D., Anderson, S. A., Yocum, G. T., Bur, M., Frenkel, V., et al. (2006). Magnetic resonance imaging and confocal microscopy studies of magnetically labeled endothelial progenitor cells trafficking to sites of tumor angiogenesis. *Stem Cells* 24, 671–678. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2005-0017
- Arbab, A. S., Yocum, G. T., Kalish, H., Jordan, E. K., Anderson, S. A., Khakoo, A. Y., et al. (2004). Efficient magnetic cell labeling with protamine sulfate complexed to ferumoxides for cellular MRI. *Blood* 104, 1217–1223. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-02-0655
- Arbab, A. S., Yocum, G. T., Rad, A. M., Khakoo, A. Y., Fellowes, V., Read, E. J., et al. (2005). Labeling of cells with ferumoxides-protamine sulfate complexes does not inhibit function or differentiation capacity of hematopoietic or mesenchymal stem cells. *NMR Biomed.* 18, 553–559. doi: 10.1002/nbm.991
- Aslan, B., Ozpolat, B., Sood, A. K., and Lopez-Berestein, G. (2013). Nanotechnology in cancer therapy. J. Drug Target. 21, 904–913. doi: 10.3109/1061186X.2013.837469
- Bachmann, M. F., and Jennings, G. T. (2010). Vaccine delivery: a matter of size, geometry, kinetics and molecular patterns. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 10, 787–796. doi: 10.1038/nri2868

- Ballou, B., Ernst, L. A., Andreko, S., Harper, T., Fitzpatrick, J. A., Waggoner, A. S., et al. (2007). Sentinel lymph node imaging using quantum dots in mouse tumor models. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 18, 389–396. doi: 10.1021/bc060261j
- Ballou, B., Lagerholm, B. C., Ernst, L. A., Bruchez, M. P., and Waggoner, A. S. (2004). Noninvasive imaging of quantum dots in mice. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 15, 79–86. doi: 10.1021/bc034153y
- Banchereau, J., Paczesny, S., Blanco, P., Bennett, L., Pascual, V., Fay, J., et al. (2003). Dendritic cells: controllers of the immune system and a new promise for immunotherapy. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 987, 180–187. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb06047.x
- Banchereau, J., Schuler-Thurner, B., Palucka, A. K., and Schuler, G. (2001). Dendritic cells as vectors for therapy. *Cell* 106, 271–274. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00448-2
- Benoit, M. A., Baras, B., and Gillard, J. (1999). Preparation and characterization of protein-loaded poly(epsilon-caprolactone) microparticles for oral vaccine delivery. *Int. J. Pharm.* 184, 73–84.
- Berinstein, N. L., Karkada, M., Morse, M. A., Nemunaitis, J. J., Chatta, G., Kaufman, H., et al. (2012). First-in-man application of a novel therapeutic cancer vaccine formulation with the capacity to induce multi-functional T cell responses in ovarian, breast and prostate cancer patients. *J. Transl. Med.* 10, 156. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-10-156
- Bernsen, M. R., Vaissier, P. E., Van Holen, R., Booij, J., Beekman, F. J., and De Jong, M. (2014). The role of preclinical SPECT in oncological and neurological research in combination with either CT or MRI. *Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging* 41(Suppl. 1), S36–S49. doi: 10.1007/s00259-013-2685-3
- Betancourt, T., Byrne, J. D., Sunaryo, N., Crowder, S. W., Kadapakkam, M., Patel, S., et al. (2009). PEGylation strategies for active targeting of PLA/PLGA nanoparticles. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 91, 263–276. doi: 10.1002/jbm.a.32247
- Biswas, S. K., and Mantovani, A. (2010). Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 889–896. doi: 10.1038/ni.1937
- Blanco, E., Kessinger, C. W., Sumer, B. D., and Gao, J. (2009). Multifunctional micellar nanomedicine for cancer therapy. *Exp. Biol. Med. (Maywood)*. 234, 123–131. doi: 10.3181/0808-MR-250
- Bodey, B., Siegel, S. E., and Kaiser, H. E. (2004). Antigen presentation by dendritic cells and their significance in antineoplastic immunotherapy. *In Vivo* 18, 81–100.
- Bos, R., Marquardt, K. L., Cheung, J., and Sherman, L. A. (2012). Functional differences between low- and high-affinity CD8(+) T cells in the tumor environment. *Oncoimmunology* 1, 1239–1247. doi: 10.4161/onci.21285
- Brocchini, S., Godwin, A., Balan, S., Choi, J. W., Zloh, M., and Shaunak, S. (2008). Disulfide bridge based PEGylation of proteins. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 60, 3–12. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2007.06.014
- Budhu, S., Wolchok, J., and Merghoub, T. (2014). The importance of animal models in tumor immunity and immunotherapy. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 24, 46–51. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2013.11.008
- Bulte, J. W., Douglas, T., Witwer, B., Zhang, S. C., Strable, E., Lewis, B. K., et al. (2001). Magnetodendrimers allow endosomal magnetic labeling and *in vivo* tracking of stem cells. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 19, 1141–1147. doi: 10.1038/nbt 1201-1141
- Bulte, J. W., and Kraitchman, D. L. (2004). Iron oxide MR contrast agents for molecular and cellular imaging. NMR Biomed. 17, 484–499. doi: 10.1002/nbm.924
- Burnet, M. (1957). Cancer; a biological approach. I. The processes of control. Br. Med. J. 1, 779–786.
- Bussolati, B., Grange, C., and Camussi, G. (2011). Tumor exploits alternative strategies to achieve vascularization. FASEB J. 25, 2874–2882. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-180323
- Cai, W., Chen, K., Li, Z. B., Gambhir, S. S., and Chen, X. (2007). Dual-function probe for PET and near-infrared fluorescence imaging of tumor vasculature. *J. Nucl. Med.* 48, 1862–1870. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.107.043216
- Cai, W., and Chen, X. (2007). Nanoplatforms for targeted molecular imaging in living subjects. *Small* 3, 1840–1854. doi: 10.1002/smll.200700351
- Cai, W., Shin, D. W., Chen, K., Gheysens, O., Cao, Q., Wang, S. X., et al. (2006). Peptide-labeled near-infrared quantum dots for imaging tumor vasculature in living subjects. *Nano Lett.* 6, 669–676. doi: 10.1021/nl052405t
- Cai, X., Yin, Y., Li, N., Zhu, D., Zhang, J., Zhang, C. Y., et al. (2012). Re-polarization of tumor-associated macrophages to pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages by microRNA-155. J. Mol. Cell Biol. 4, 341–343. doi: 10.1093/jmcb/mjs044

- Carrillo-Conde, B., Song, E. H., Chavez-Santoscoy, A., Phanse, Y., Ramer-Tait, A. E., Pohl, N. L., et al. (2011). Mannose-functionalized "pathogen-like" polyanhydride nanoparticles target C-type lectin receptors on dendritic cells. *Mol. Pharm.* 8, 1877–1886. doi: 10.1021/mp200213r
- Carpenito, C., Milone, M. C., Hassan, R., Simonet, J. C., Lakhal, M., Suhoski, M. M., et al. (2009). Control of large, established tumor xenografts with genetically retargeted human T cells containing CD28 and CD137 domains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 3360–3365. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0813101106
- Chan, K. W., Bulte, J. W., and McMahon, M. T. (2014). Diamagnetic chemical exchange saturation transfer (diaCEST) liposomes: physicochemical properties and imaging applications. *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol.* 6, 111–124. doi: 10.1002/wnan.1246
- Chapuis, F., Rosenzwajg, M., Yagello, M., Ekman, M., Biberfeld, P., and Gluckman, J. C. (1997). Differentiation of human dendritic cells from monocytes *in vitro*. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 27, 431–441. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830270213
- Chen, M., Ouyang, H., Zhou, S., Li, J., and Ye, Y. (2014a). PLGA-nanoparticle mediated delivery of anti-OX40 monoclonal antibody enhances anti-tumor cytotoxic T cell responses. *Cell. Immunol.* 287, 91–99. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2014.01.003
- Chen, Y., Gu, H., Zhang, D. S., Li, F., Liu, T., and Xia, W. (2014b). Highly effective inhibition of lung cancer growth and metastasis by systemic delivery of siRNA via multimodal mesoporous silica-based nanocarrier. *Biomaterials* 35, 10058–10069. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.09.003
- Cheng, J., Teply, B. A., Sherifi, I., Sung, J., Luther, G., Gu, F. X., et al. (2007). Formulation of functionalized PLGA-PEG nanoparticles for *in vivo* targeted drug delivery. *Biomaterials* 28, 869–876. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2006.09.047
- Cheong, C., Matos, I., Choi, J. H., Dandamudi, D. B., Shrestha, E., Longhi, M. P., et al. (2010). Microbial stimulation fully differentiates monocytes to DC-SIGN/CD209(+) dendritic cells for immune T cell areas. *Cell* 143, 416–429. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.09.039
- Chipman, S. D., Oldham, F. B., Pezzoni, G., and Singer, J. W. (2006). Biological and clinical characterization of paclitaxel poliglumex (PPX, CT-2103), a macromolecular polymer-drug conjugate. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 1, 375–383.
- Cho, N. H., Cheong, T. C., Min, J. H., Wu, J. H., Lee, S. J., Kim, D., et al. (2011). A multifunctional core-shell nanoparticle for dendritic cell-based cancer immunotherapy. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 6, 675–682. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2011.149
- Chow, E. K., and Ho, D. (2013). Cancer nanomedicine: from drug delivery to imaging. Sci. Transl. Med. 5, 216rv214. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3005872
- Christian, D. A., Cai, S., Bowen, D. M., Kim, Y., Pajerowski, J. D., and Discher, D. E. (2009). Polymersome carriers: from self-assembly to siRNA and protein therapeutics. *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.* 71, 463–474. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2008.09.025
- Colvin, E. K. (2014). Tumor-associated macrophages contribute to tumor progression in ovarian cancer. *Front. Oncol.* 4:137. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00137
- Conde, J., Bao, C., Cui, D., Baptista, P. V., and Tian, F. (2014). Antibody-drug gold nanoantennas with Raman spectroscopic fingerprints for *in vivo* tumour theranostics. *J. Control. Release* 183, 87–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.03.045
- Condeelis, J., and Pollard, J. W. (2006). Macrophages: obligate partners for tumor cell migration, invasion, and metastasis. *Cell* 124, 263–266. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.01.007
- Cornelissen, R., Lievense, L. A., Maat, A. P., Hendriks, R. W., Hoogsteden, H. C., Bogers, A. J., et al. (2014). Ratio of intratumoral macrophage phenotypes is a prognostic factor in epithelioid malignant pleural mesothelioma. *PLoS ONE* 9:e106742. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0106742
- Cortez-Retamozo, V., Etzrodt, M., Newton, A., Rauch, P. J., Chudnovskiy, A., Berger, C., et al. (2012). Origins of tumor-associated macrophages and neutrophils. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 2491–2496. doi: 10.1073/pnas.11137 44109
- Couvreur, P., Stella, B., Reddy, L. H., Hillaireau, H., Dubernet, C., Desmaele, D., et al. (2006). Squalenoyl nanomedicines as potential therapeutics. *Nano Lett.* 6, 2544–2548. doi: 10.1021/nl061942q
- Cruz, L. J., Tacken, P. J., Bonetto, F., Buschow, S. I., Croes, H. J., Wijers, M., et al. (2011). Multimodal imaging of nanovaccine carriers targeted to human dendritic cells. *Mol. Pharm.* 8, 520–531. doi: 10.1021/mp100356k
- Daldrup-Link, H. E., Meier, R., Rudelius, M., Piontek, G., Piert, M., Metz, S., et al. (2005). *In vivo* tracking of genetically engineered, anti-HER2/neu directed natural killer cells to HER2/neu positive mammary tumors with magnetic resonance imaging. *Eur. Radiol.* 15, 4–13. doi: 10.1007/s00330-004-2526-7
- Danhier, F., Ansorena, E., Silva, J. M., Coco, R., Le Breton, A., and Preat, V. (2012). PLGA-based nanoparticles: an overview of biomedical applications. J. Control. Release 161, 505–522. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.01.043

- Danhier, F., Feron, O., and Preat, V. (2010). To exploit the tumor microenvironment: passive and active tumor targeting of nanocarriers for anti-cancer drug delivery. J. Control. Release 148, 135–146. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2010.08.027
- Davidson, W. F., Giese, T., and Fredrickson, T. N. (1998). Spontaneous development of plasmacytoid tumors in mice with defective Fas-Fas ligand interactions. *J. Exp. Med.* 187, 1825–1838.
- De Vries, I. J., Krooshoop, D. J., Scharenborg, N. M., Lesterhuis, W. J., Diepstra, J. H., Van Muijen, G. N., et al. (2003). Effective migration of antigen-pulsed dendritic cells to lymph nodes in melanoma patients is determined by their maturation state. *Cancer Res.* 63, 12–17.
- De Vries, I. J., Lesterhuis, W. J., Barentsz, J. O., Verdijk, P., Van Krieken, J. H., Boerman, O. C., et al. (2005). Magnetic resonance tracking of dendritic cells in melanoma patients for monitoring of cellular therapy. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 23, 1407–1413. doi: 10.1038/nbt1154
- Denardo, S. J., Denardo, G. L., Natarajan, A., Miers, L. A., Foreman, A. R., Gruettner, C., et al. (2007). Thermal dosimetry predictive of efficacy of 111In-ChL6 nanoparticle AMF–induced thermoablative therapy for human breast cancer in mice. J. Nucl. Med. 48, 437–444.
- Desmaele, D., Gref, R., and Couvreur, P. (2012). Squalenoylation: a generic platform for nanoparticular drug delivery. J. Control. Release 161, 609–618. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.07.038
- Devaraj, N. K., Keliher, E. J., Thurber, G. M., Nahrendorf, M., and Weissleder, R. (2009). 18F labeled nanoparticles for *in vivo* PET-CT imaging. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 20, 397–401. doi: 10.1021/bc8004649
- Dhodapkar, M. V., Dhodapkar, K. M., and Palucka, A. K. (2008). Interactions of tumor cells with dendritic cells: balancing immunity and tolerance. *Cell Death Differ.* 15, 39–50. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4402247
- Dilnawaz, F., Singh, A., Mohanty, C., and Sahoo, S. K. (2010). Dual drug loaded superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for targeted cancer therapy. *Biomaterials* 31, 3694–3706. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.01.057
- Diwan, M., Tafaghodi, M., and Samuel, J. (2002). Enhancement of immune responses by co-delivery of a CpG oligodeoxynucleotide and tetanus toxoid in biodegradable nanospheres. *J. Control. Release* 85, 247–262. doi: 10.1016/S0168-3659(02)00275-4
- Dougan, M., Li, D., Neuberg, D., Mihm, M., Googe, P., Wong, K. K., et al. (2011). A dual role for the immune response in a mouse model of inflammationassociated lung cancer. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 2436–2446. doi: 10.1172/JCI44796
- Dunn, G. P., Bruce, A. T., Ikeda, H., Old, L. J., and Schreiber, R. D. (2002). Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. *Nat. Immunol.* 3, 991–998. doi: 10.1038/ni1102-991
- Dzhagalov, I. L., Melichar, H. J., Ross, J. O., Herzmark, P., and Robey, E. A. (2012). Two-photon imaging of the immune system. *Curr. Protoc. Cytom. Chapter* 12, Unit12 26. doi: 10.1002/0471142956.cy1226s60
- Eerola, A. K., Soini, Y., and Paakko, P. (2000). A high number of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes are associated with a small tumor size, low tumor stage, and a favorable prognosis in operated small cell lung carcinoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 6, 1875–1881.
- Ehmann, F., Sakai-Kato, K., Duncan, R., Hernan Perez De La Ossa, D., Pita, R., Vidal, J. M., et al. (2013). Next-generation nanomedicines and nanosimilars: EU regulators' initiatives relating to the development and evaluation of nanomedicines. *Nanomedicine (Lond)*. 8, 849–856. doi: 10.2217/nnm.13.68
- Ehrlich, P. (1909). Beiträge zur Experimentellen Pathologie und Chemotherapie. Leipzig: Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft.
- Engels, B., Engelhard, V. H., Sidney, J., Sette, A., Binder, D. C., Liu, R. B., et al. (2013). Relapse or eradication of cancer is predicted by peptidemajor histocompatibility complex affinity. *Cancer Cell* 23, 516–526. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013.03.018
- Ercolini, A. M., Ladle, B. H., Manning, E. A., Pfannenstiel, L. W., Armstrong, T. D., Machiels, J. P., et al. (2005). Recruitment of latent pools of high-avidity CD8(+) T cells to the antitumor immune response. *J. Exp. Med.* 201, 1591–1602. doi: 10.1084/jem.20042167
- Erdag, G., Schaefer, J. T., Smolkin, M. E., Deacon, D. H., Shea, S. M., Dengel, L. T., et al. (2012). Immunotype and immunohistologic characteristics of tumorinfiltrating immune cells are associated with clinical outcome in metastatic melanoma. *Cancer Res.* 72, 1070–1080. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3218
- Escribese, M. M., Casas, M., and Corbi, A. L. (2012). Influence of low oxygen tensions on macrophage polarization. *Immunobiology* 217, 1233–1240. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2012.07.002

- Ewert, K., Evans, H. M., Ahmad, A., Slack, N. L., Lin, A. J., Martin-Herranz, A., et al. (2005). Lipoplex structures and their distinct cellular pathways. *Adv. Genet.* 53, 119–155. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2660(05) 53005-0
- Fang, J., Nakamura, H., and Maeda, H. (2011). The EPR effect: unique features of tumor blood vessels for drug delivery, factors involved, and limitations and augmentation of the effect. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 63, 136–151. doi: 10.1016/j. addr.2010.04.009
- Fernald, K., and Kurokawa, M. (2013). Evading apoptosis in cancer. Trends Cell Biol. 23, 620–633. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2013.07.006
- Florindo, H. F., Pandit, S., Goncalves, L. M., Alpar, H. O., and Almeida, A. J. (2008). Streptococcus equi antigens adsorbed onto surface modified poly-epsiloncaprolactone microspheres induce humoral and cellular specific immune responses. *Vaccine* 26, 4168–4177. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.05.074
- Florindo, H. F., Pandit, S., Goncalves, L. M., Videira, M., Alpar, O., and Almeida, A. J. (2009a). Antibody and cytokine-associated immune responses to S. *equi antigens entrapped in PLA nanospheres. Biomaterials* 30, 5161–5169. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.05.045
- Florindo, H. F., Pandit, S., Lacerda, L., Goncalves, L. M., Alpar, H. O., and Almeida, A. J. (2009b). The enhancement of the immune response against S. equi antigens through the intranasal administration of poly-epsilon-caprolactone-based nanoparticles. Biomaterials 30, 879–891. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.10.035
- Foged, C., Brodin, B., Frokjaer, S., and Sundblad, A. (2005). Particle size and surface charge affect particle uptake by human dendritic cells in an *in vitro* model. *Int. J. Pharm.* 298, 315–322. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2005.03.035
- Fong, L., and Engleman, E. G. (2000). Dendritic cells in cancer immunotherapy. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 18, 245–273. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.18.1.245
- Fortis, C., Foppoli, M., Gianotti, L., Galli, L., Citterio, G., Consogno, G., et al. (1996). Increased interleukin-10 serum levels in patients with solid tumours. *Cancer Lett.* 104, 1–5.
- Frank, J. A., Miller, B. R., Arbab, A. S., Zywicke, H. A., Jordan, E. K., Lewis, B. K., et al. (2003). Clinically applicable labeling of mammalian and stem cells by combining superparamagnetic iron oxides and transfection agents. *Radiology* 228, 480–487. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2281020638
- Frank, M. M. (1993). The reticuloendothelial system and bloodstream clearance. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 122, 487–488.
- Freichels, H., Pourcelle, V., Auzely-Velty, R., Marchand-Brynaert, J., and Jerome, C. (2012). Synthesis of poly(lactide-co-glycolide-co-epsilon-caprolactone)-graftmannosylated poly(ethylene oxide) copolymers by combination of "clip" and "click" chemistries. *Biomacromolecules* 13, 760–768. doi: 10.1021/bm201690w
- Fuertes, M. B., Kacha, A. K., Kline, J., Woo, S. R., Kranz, D. M., Murphy, K. M., et al. (2011). Host type I IFN signals are required for antitumor CD8+ T cell responses through CD8{alpha}+ dendritic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 208, 2005–2016. doi: 10.1084/jem.20101159
- Gajewski, T. F. (2012). Cancer immunotherapy. Mol. Oncol. 6, 242–250. doi: 10.1016/j.molonc.2012.01.002
- Gajewski, T. F., Schreiber, H., and Fu, Y. X. (2013). Innate and adaptive immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Nat. Immunol.* 14, 1014–1022. doi: 10.1038/ni.2703
- Gajos-Michniewicz, A., Duechler, M., and Czyz, M. (2014). MiRNA in melanomaderived exosomes. *Cancer Lett.* 347, 29–37. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2014.02.004
- Ganta, S., Devalapally, H., Shahiwala, A., and Amiji, M. (2008). A review of stimuliresponsive nanocarriers for drug and gene delivery. J. Control. Release 126, 187–204. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2007.12.017
- Gao, H., Xiong, Y., Zhang, S., Yang, Z., Cao, S., and Jiang, X. (2014). RGD and interleukin-13 peptide functionalized nanoparticles for enhanced glioblastoma cells and neovasculature dual targeting delivery and elevated tumor penetration. *Mol. Pharm.* 11, 1042–1052. doi: 10.1021/mp400751g
- Gao, X., Cui, Y., Levenson, R. M., Chung, L. W., and Nie, S. (2004). In vivo cancer targeting and imaging with semiconductor quantum dots. Nat. Biotechnol. 22, 969–976. doi: 10.1038/nbt994
- Garrido, F., and Algarra, I. (2001). MHC antigens and tumor escape from immune surveillance. Adv. Cancer Res. 83, 117–158. doi: 10.1016/S0065-230X(01) 83005-0
- Gelperina, S., Kisich, K., Iseman, M. D., and Heifets, L. (2005). The potential advantages of nanoparticle drug delivery systems in chemotherapy of tuberculosis. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 172, 1487–1490. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200504-613PP

Gianella, A., Jarzyna, P. A., Mani, V., Ramachandran, S., Calcagno, C., Tang, J., et al. (2011). Multifunctional nanoemulsion platform for imaging guided

therapy evaluated in experimental cancer. ACS Nano 5, 4422–4433. doi: 10.1021/nn103336a

- Gilad, A. A., Walczak, P., McMahon, M. T., Na, H. B., Lee, J. H., An, K., et al. (2008). MR tracking of transplanted cells with "positive contrast" using manganese oxide nanoparticles. *Magn. Reson. Med.* 60, 1–7. doi: 10.1002/mrm. 21622
- Gilewski, T. A., Ragupathi, G., Dickler, M., Powell, S., Bhuta, S., Panageas, K., et al. (2007). Immunization of high-risk breast cancer patients with clustered sTn-KLH conjugate plus the immunologic adjuvant QS-21. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 13, 2977–2985. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2189
- Girardi, M., Oppenheim, D. E., Steele, C. R., Lewis, J. M., Glusac, E., Filler, R., et al. (2001). Regulation of cutaneous malignancy by gammadelta T cells. *Science* 294, 605–609. doi: 10.1126/science.1063916
- Gogolak, P., Rethi, B., Hajas, G., and Rajnavolgyi, E. (2003). Targeting dendritic cells for priming cellular immune responses. J. Mol. Recognit. 16, 299–317. doi: 10.1002/jmr.650
- Gooden, M. J., De Bock, G. H., Leffers, N., Daemen, T., and Nijman, H. W. (2011). The prognostic influence of tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes in cancer: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Br. J. Cancer* 105, 93–103. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2011.189
- Gorner, T., Gref, R., Michenot, D., Sommer, F., Tran, M. N., and Dellacherie, E. (1999). Lidocaine-loaded biodegradable nanospheres. I. Optimization Of the drug incorporation into the polymer matrix. J. Control. Release 57, 259–268.
- Grange, C., Geninatti-Crich, S., Esposito, G., Alberti, D., Tei, L., Bussolati, B., et al. (2010). Combined delivery and magnetic resonance imaging of neural cell adhesion molecule-targeted doxorubicin-containing liposomes in experimentally induced Kaposi's sarcoma. *Cancer Res.* 70, 2180–2190. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2821
- Gratton, S. E., Ropp, P. A., Pohlhaus, P. D., Luft, J. C., Madden, V. J., Napier, M. E., et al. (2008). The effect of particle design on cellular internalization pathways. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 11613–11618. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0801763105
- Greenberg, N. M., Demayo, F., Finegold, M. J., Medina, D., Tilley, W. D., Aspinall, J. O., et al. (1995). Prostate cancer in a transgenic mouse. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 92, 3439–3443.
- Guermonprez, P., Valladeau, J., Zitvogel, L., Thery, C., and Amigorena, S. (2002). Antigen presentation and T cell stimulation by dendritic cells. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 20, 621–667. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.100301.064828
- Hamdy, S., Haddadi, A., Hung, R. W., and Lavasanifar, A. (2011). Targeting dendritic cells with nano-particulate PLGA cancer vaccine formulations. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 63, 943–955. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2011.05.021
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* 100, 57–70. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9
- Harisinghani, M. G., Barentsz, J., Hahn, P. F., Deserno, W. M., Tabatabaei, S., Van De Kaa, C. H., et al. (2003). Noninvasive detection of clinically occult lymph-node metastases in prostate cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 348, 2491–2499. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa022749
- Hashim, Z., Green, M., Chung, P. H., Suhling, K., Protti, A., Phinikaridou, A., et al. (2014). Gd-containing conjugated polymer nanoparticles: bimodal nanoparticles for fluorescence and MRI imaging. *Nanoscale* 6, 8376–8386. doi: 10.1039/c4nr01491j
- Hawrylak, N., Ghosh, P., Broadus, J., Schlueter, C., Greenough, W. T., and Lauterbur, P. C. (1993). Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) imaging of iron oxide-labeled neural transplants. *Exp. Neurol.* 121, 181–192. doi: 10.1006/exnr.1993.1085
- He, X., Chen, J., Wang, K., Qin, D., and Tan, W. (2007). Preparation of luminescent Cy5 doped core-shell SFNPs and its application as a near-infrared fluorescent marker. *Talanta* 72, 1519–1526. doi: 10.1016/j.talanta.2007.01.069
- He, X., Duan, J., Wang, K., Tan, W., Lin, X., and He, C. (2004). A novel fluorescent label based on organic dye-doped silica nanoparticles for HepG liver cancer cell recognition. *J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol.* 4, 585–589. doi: 10.1166/jnn. 2004.011
- He, X., Wang, K., Tan, W., Li, J., Yang, X., Huang, S., et al. (2002). Photostable luminescent nanoparticles as biological label for cell recognition of system lupus erythematosus patients. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 2, 317–320. doi: 10.1166/jnn.2002.105
- Helfer, B. M., Balducci, A., Nelson, A. D., Janjic, J. M., Gil, R. R., Kalinski, P., et al. (2010). Functional assessment of human dendritic cells labeled for *in vivo* (19)F magnetic resonance imaging cell tracking. *Cytotherapy* 12, 238–250. doi: 10.3109/14653240903446902

- Helmy, K. Y., Patel, S. A., Nahas, G. R., and Rameshwar, P. (2013). Cancer immunotherapy: accomplishments to date and future promise. *Ther. Deliv.* 4, 1307–1320. doi: 10.4155/tde.13.88
- Henderson, R. A., Mossman, S., Nairn, N., and Cheever, M. A. (2005). Cancer vaccines and immunotherapies: emerging perspectives. *Vaccine* 23, 2359–2362. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.01.082
- Herwig, M. C., Bergstrom, C., Wells, J. R., Holler, T., and Grossniklaus, H. E. (2013). M2/M1 ratio of tumor associated macrophages and PPAR-gamma expression in uveal melanomas with class 1 and class 2 molecular profiles. *Exp. Eye Res.* 107, 52–58. doi: 10.1016/j.exer.2012.11.012
- Higgins, J. P., Bernstein, M. B., and Hodge, J. W. (2009). Enhancing immune responses to tumor-associated antigens. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* 8, 1440–1449. doi: 10.4161/cbt.8.15.9133
- Hildner, K., Edelson, B. T., Purtha, W. E., Diamond, M., Matsushita, H., Kohyama, M., et al. (2008). Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. *Science* 322, 1097–1100. doi: 10.1126/science.1164206
- Hillaireau, H., and Couvreur, P. (2009). Nanocarriers' entry into the cell: relevance to drug delivery. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 66, 2873–2896. doi: 10.1007/s00018-009-0053-z
- Hinrichs, C. S., Borman, Z. A., Gattinoni, L., Yu, Z., Burns, W. R., Huang, J., et al. (2011). Human effector CD8+ T cells derived from naive rather than memory subsets possess superior traits for adoptive immunotherapy. *Blood* 117, 808–814. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-05-286286
- Hong, H., Yang, K., Zhang, Y., Engle, J. W., Feng, L., Yang, Y., et al. (2012). In vivo targeting and imaging of tumor vasculature with radiolabeled, antibodyconjugated nanographene. ACS Nano 6, 2361–2370. doi: 10.1021/nn204625e
- Hughes, M. S., Marsh, J. N., Zhang, H., Woodson, A. K., Allen, J. S., Lacy, E. K., et al. (2006). Characterization of digital waveforms using thermodynamic analogs: detection of contrast-targeted tissue *in vivo*. *IEEE Trans. Ultrason. Ferroelectr. Freq. Control* 53, 1609–1616. doi: 10.1109/TUFFC.2006.1678189
- Hurwitz, A. A., Foster, B. A., Kwon, E. D., Truong, T., Choi, E. M., Greenberg, N. M., et al. (2000). Combination immunotherapy of primary prostate cancer in a transgenic mouse model using CTLA-4 blockade. *Cancer Res.* 60, 2444–2448.
- Huwyler, J., Drewe, J., and Krahenbuhl, S. (2008). Tumor targeting using liposomal antineoplastic drugs. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 3, 21–29. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S1253
- Ino, Y., Yamazaki-Itoh, R., Shimada, K., Iwasaki, M., Kosuge, T., Kanai, Y., et al. (2013). Immune cell infiltration as an indicator of the immune microenvironment of pancreatic cancer. Br. J. Cancer 108, 914–923. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.32
- Ivkov, R., Denardo, S. J., Daum, W., Foreman, A. R., Goldstein, R. C., Nemkov, V. S., et al. (2005). Application of high amplitude alternating magnetic fields for heat induction of nanoparticles localized in cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 11, 7093s–7103s. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-1004-0016
- Iyer, A. K., Khaled, G., Fang, J., and Maeda, H. (2006). Exploiting the enhanced permeability and retention effect for tumor targeting. *Drug Discov. Today* 11, 812–818. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2006.07.005
- Jain, T. K., Foy, S. P., Erokwu, B., Dimitrijevic, S., Flask, C. A., and Labhasetwar, V. (2009). Magnetic resonance imaging of multifunctional pluronic stabilized iron-oxide nanoparticles in tumor-bearing mice. *Biomaterials* 30, 6748–6756. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.08.042
- Jang, B., Park, S., Kang, S. H., Kim, J. K., Kim, S. K., Kim, I. H., et al. (2012). Gold nanorods for target selective SPECT/CT imaging and photothermal therapy *in vivo*. *Quant. Imaging Med. Surg.* 2, 1–11. doi: 10.3978/.issn.2223-4292.2012.01.03
- Janjic, J. M., and Ahrens, E. T. (2009). Fluorine-containing nanoemulsions for MRI cell tracking. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 1, 492–501. doi: 10.1002/wnan.35
- Jarrett, B. R., Gustafsson, B., Kukis, D. L., and Louie, A. Y. (2008). Synthesis of 64Cu-labeled magnetic nanoparticles for multimodal imaging. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 19, 1496–1504. doi: 10.1021/bc800108v
- Jhaveri, A. M., and Torchilin, V. P. (2014). Multifunctional polymeric micelles for delivery of drugs and siRNA. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:77. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00077
- Johansen, P., Estevez, F., Zurbriggen, R., Merkle, H. P., Gluck, R., Corradin, G., et al. (2000). Towards clinical testing of a single-administration tetanus vaccine based on PLA/PLGA microspheres. *Vaccine* 19, 1047–1054. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(00)00343-1
- Joshi, P. P., Yoon, S. J., Chen, Y. S., Emelianov, S., and Sokolov, K. V. (2013). Development and optimization of near-IR contrast agents for immune

cell tracking. Biomed. Opt. Express 4, 2609–2618. doi: 10.1364/BOE.4. 002609

- Kaida, S., Cabral, H., Kumagai, M., Kishimura, A., Terada, Y., Sekino, M., et al. (2010). Visible drug delivery by supramolecular nanocarriers directing to single-platformed diagnosis and therapy of pancreatic tumor model. *Cancer Res.* 70, 7031–7041. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0303
- Kazzaz, J., Singh, M., Ugozzoli, M., Chesko, J., Soenawan, E., and O'Hagan, D. T. (2006). Encapsulation of the immune potentiators MPL and RC529 in PLG microparticles enhances their potency. *J. Control. Release* 110, 566–573. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2005.10.010
- Keller, S., Wilson, J. T., Patilea, G. I., Kern, H. B., Convertine, A. J., and Stayton, P. S. (2014). Neutral polymer micelle carriers with pH-responsive, endosomereleasing activity modulate antigen trafficking to enhance CD8 T cell responses. *J. Control. Release* 191, 24–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.03.041
- Kenny, G. D., Kamaly, N., Kalber, T. L., Brody, L. P., Sahuri, M., Shamsaei, E., et al. (2011). Novel multifunctional nanoparticle mediates siRNA tumour delivery, visualisation and therapeutic tumour reduction *in vivo. J. Control. Release* 149, 111–116. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2010.09.020
- Khan, D. R., Rezler, E. M., Lauer-Fields, J., and Fields, G. B. (2008). Effects of drug hydrophobicity on liposomal stability. *Chem. Biol. Drug Des.* 71, 3–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-0285.2007.00610.x
- Kikkeri, R., Lepenies, B., Adibekian, A., Laurino, P., and Seeberger, P. H. (2009). *In vitro* imaging and *in vivo* liver targeting with carbohydrate capped quantum dots. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 131, 2110–2112. doi: 10.1021/ja807711w
- Kim, J., Kim, H. S., Lee, N., Kim, T., Kim, H., Yu, T., et al. (2008a). Multifunctional uniform nanoparticles composed of a magnetite nanocrystal core and a mesoporous silica shell for magnetic resonance and fluorescence imaging and for drug delivery. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed Engl. 47, 8438–8441. doi: 10.1002/anie.200802469
- Kim, J., Lee, J. E., Lee, S. H., Yu, J. H., Lee, J. H., Park, T. G., et al. (2008b). Designed fabrication of a multifunctional polymer nanomedical platform for simultaneous cancer-targeted imaging and magnetically guided drug delivery. *Adv. Mater.* 20, 478. doi: 10.1002/adma.200701726
- Kim, S., Lim, Y. T., Soltesz, E. G., De Grand, A. M., Lee, J., Nakayama, A., et al. (2004). Near-infrared fluorescent type II quantum dots for sentinel lymph node mapping. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 22, 93–97. doi: 10.1038/nbt920
- Kim, S. W., Zimmer, J. P., Ohnishi, S., Tracy, J. B., Frangioni, J. V., and Bawendi, M. G. (2005). Engineering InAs(x)P(1-x)/InP/ZnSe III-V alloyed core/shell quantum dots for the near-infrared. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 127, 10526–10532. doi: 10.1021/ja0434331
- Kim, T. H., Jin, H., Kim, H. W., Cho, M. H., and Cho, C. S. (2006). Mannosylated chitosan nanoparticle-based cytokine gene therapy suppressed cancer growth in BALB/c mice bearing CT-26 carcinoma cells. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 5, 1723–1732. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0540
- Kindt, T. J., Goldsby, R. A., Osborne, B. A., and Kuby, J. (2006). *Kuby Immunology*. New York, NY; Basingstoke: W.H. Freeman.
- Kircher, M. F., Allport, J. R., Graves, E. E., Love, V., Josephson, L., Lichtman, A. H., et al. (2003). *In vivo* high resolution three-dimensional imaging of antigen-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte trafficking to tumors. *Cancer Res.* 63, 6838–6846.
- Kircher, M. F., Gambhir, S. S., and Grimm, J. (2011). Noninvasive cell-tracking methods. Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol. 8, 677–688. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2011.141
- Kirkwood, J. M., Butterfield, L. H., Tarhini, A. A., Zarour, H., Kalinski, P., and Ferrone, S. (2012). Immunotherapy of cancer in 2012. CA Cancer J. Clin. 62, 309–335. doi: 10.3322/caac.20132
- Koebel, C. M., Vermi, W., Swann, J. B., Zerafa, N., Rodig, S. J., Old, L. J., et al. (2007). Adaptive immunity maintains occult cancer in an equilibrium state. *Nature* 450, 903–907. doi: 10.1038/nature06309
- Kopelman, R., Koo, Y. E. L., Philbert, M., Moffat, B. A., Reddy, G. R., McConville, P., et al. (2005). Multifunctional nanoparticle platforms for *in vivo* MRI enhancement and photodynamic therapy of a rat brain cancer. *J. Magn. Magn. Mater.* 293, 404–410. doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2005.02.061
- Krishnamachari, Y., Geary, S. M., Lemke, C. D., and Salem, A. K. (2011). Nanoparticle delivery systems in cancer vaccines. *Pharm. Res.* 28, 215–236. doi: 10.1007/s11095-010-0241-4
- Krug, L. M., Ragupathi, G., Hood, C., Kris, M. G., Miller, V. A., Allen, J. R., et al. (2004). Vaccination of patients with small-cell lung cancer with synthetic fucosyl GM-1 conjugated to keyhole limpet hemocyanin. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 10, 6094–6100. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0482

Kumar, H., Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2009). Pathogen recognition in the innate immune response. *Biochem. J.* 420, 1–16. doi: 10.1042/BJ20090272

- Labet, M., and Thielemans, W. (2009). Synthesis of polycaprolactone: a review. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 38, 3484–3504. doi: 10.1039/b820162p
- Lan, C., Huang, X., Lin, S., Huang, H., Cai, Q., Wan, T., et al. (2013). Expression of M2-polarized macrophages is associated with poor prognosis for advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. *Technol. Cancer Res. Treat.* 12, 259–267. doi: 10.7785/tcrt.2012.500312
- Larson, D. R., Zipfel, W. R., Williams, R. M., Clark, S. W., Bruchez, M. P., Wise, F. W., et al. (2003). Water-soluble quantum dots for multiphoton fluorescence imaging *in vivo*. *Science* 300, 1434–1436. doi: 10.1126/science.1083780
- Laskey, W. K., Feinendegen, L. E., Neumann, R. D., and Dilsizian, V. (2010). Lowlevel ionizing radiation from noninvasive cardiac imaging: can we extrapolate estimated risks from epidemiologic data to the clinical setting? *JACC Cardiovasc. Imaging* 3, 517–524. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2009.11.017
- Lassalle, V., and Ferreira, M. L. (2007). PLA nano- and microparticles for drug delivery: an overview of the methods of preparation. *Macromol. Biosci.* 7, 767–783. doi: 10.1002/mabi.200700022
- Lee, C. C., Mackay, J. A., Frechet, J. M., and Szoka, F. C. (2005). Designing dendrimers for biological applications. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 23, 1517–1526. doi: 10.1038/nbt1171
- Lee, C. S., Cragg, M., Glennie, M., and Johnson, P. (2013). Novel antibodies targeting immune regulatory checkpoints for cancer therapy. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 76, 233–247. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12164
- Lee, H. J., Nguyen, Y. T., Muthiah, M., Vu-Quang, H., Namgung, R., Kim, W. J., et al. (2012). MR traceable delivery of p53 tumor suppressor gene by PEI-functionalized superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles. J. Biomed. Nanotechnol. 8, 361–371. doi: 10.1166/jbn.2012.1407
- Lee, J. H., Huh, Y. M., Jun, Y. W., Seo, J. W., Jang, J. T., Song, H. T., et al. (2007). Artificially engineered magnetic nanoparticles for ultra-sensitive molecular imaging. *Nat. Med.* 13, 95–99. doi: 10.1038/nm1467
- Lee, J. H., Lee, K., Moon, S. H., Lee, Y., Park, T. G., and Cheon, J. (2009a). Allin-one target-cell-specific magnetic nanoparticles for simultaneous molecular imaging and siRNA delivery. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed Engl.* 48, 4174–4179. doi: 10.1002/anie.200805998
- Lee, J. H., Smith, M. A., Liu, W., Gold, E. M., Lewis, B., Song, H. T., et al. (2009b). Enhanced stem cell tracking via electrostatically assembled fluorescent SPION-peptide complexes. *Nanotechnology* 20, 355102. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/20/35/355102
- Leek, R. D., Lewis, C. E., Whitehouse, R., Greenall, M., Clarke, J., and Harris, A. L. (1996). Association of macrophage infiltration with angiogenesis and prognosis in invasive breast carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 56, 4625–4629.
- Legrand, N., Ploss, A., Balling, R., Becker, P. D., Borsotti, C., Brezillon, N., et al. (2009). Humanized mice for modeling human infectious disease: challenges, progress, and outlook. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 5–9. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009. 06.006
- Levine, T. P., and Chain, B. M. (1991). The cell biology of antigen processing. Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 26, 439–473. doi: 10.3109/10409239109086790
- Li, F., Zhu, A., Song, X., Ji, L., and Wang, J. (2013). The internalization of fluorescence-labeled PLA nanoparticles by macrophages. *Int. J. Pharm.* 453, 506–513. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.06.033
- Li, J. M., Wang, Y. Y., Zhao, M. X., Tan, C. P., Li, Y. Q., Le, X. Y., et al. (2012). Multifunctional QD-based co-delivery of siRNA and doxorubicin to HeLa cells for reversal of multidrug resistance and real-time tracking. *Biomaterials* 33, 2780–2790. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.12.035
- Liang, S., Wang, Y., Yu, J., Zhang, C., Xia, J., and Yin, D. (2007). Surface modified superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: as a new carrier for biomagnetically targeted therapy. *J. Mater. Sci. Mater. Med.* 18, 2297–2302. doi: 10.1007/s10856-007-3130-6
- Liu, K., and Rosenberg, S. A. (2001). Transduction of an IL-2 gene into human melanoma-reactive lymphocytes results in their continued growth in the absence of exogenous IL-2 and maintenance of specific antitumor activity. *J. Immunol.* 167, 6356–6365. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.11.6356
- Liu, R. B., Engels, B., Arina, A., Schreiber, K., Hyjek, E., Schietinger, A., et al. (2012). Densely granulated murine NK cells eradicate large solid tumors. *Cancer Res.* 72, 1964–1974. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3208
- Liu, Z., Cai, W., He, L., Nakayama, N., Chen, K., Sun, X., et al. (2007). *In vivo* biodistribution and highly efficient tumour targeting of carbon nanotubes in mice. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2, 47–52. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2006.170

- Liu, Z., and Li, Z. (2014). Molecular Imaging in Tracking Tumor-Specific Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes (CTLs). *Theranostics* 4, 990–1001. doi: 10.7150/thno.9268
- Lu, J., Feng, F., and Jin, Z. (2013). Cancer diagnosis and treatment guidance: role of MRI and MRI probes in the era of molecular imaging. *Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol.* 14, 714–722.
- Lu, Y., Kawakami, S., Yamashita, F., and Hashida, M. (2007). Development of an antigen-presenting cell-targeted DNA vaccine against melanoma by mannosylated liposomes. *Biomaterials* 28, 3255–3262. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2007. 03.028
- Ma, W., Chen, M., Kaushal, S., McElroy, M., Zhang, Y., Ozkan, C., et al. (2012). PLGA nanoparticle-mediated delivery of tumor antigenic peptides elicits effective immune responses. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 7, 1475–1487. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S29506
- Ma, Y., Shurin, G. V., Peiyuan, Z., and Shurin, M. R. (2013). Dendritic cells in the cancer microenvironment. J. Cancer 4, 36–44. doi: 10.7150/jca.5046
- Madru, R., Kjellman, P., Olsson, F., Wingardh, K., Ingvar, C., Stahlberg, F., et al. (2012). 99mTc-labeled superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for multimodality SPECT/MRI of sentinel lymph nodes. *J. Nucl. Med.* 53, 459–463. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.111.092437
- Mahapatro, A., and Singh, D. K. (2011). Biodegradable nanoparticles are excellent vehicle for site directed *in-vivo* delivery of drugs and vaccines. *J. Nanobiotechnology* 9, 55. doi: 10.1186/1477-3155-9-55
- Mahmoud, S. M., Paish, E. C., Powe, D. G., Macmillan, R. D., Grainge, M. J., Lee, A. H., et al. (2011). Tumor-infiltrating CD8+ lymphocytes predict clinical outcome in breast cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 29, 1949–1955. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010. 30.5037
- Mandal, S., Eksteen-Akeroyd, Z. H., Jacobs, M. J., Hammink, R., Koepf, M., Lambeck, A. J. A., et al. (2013). Therapeutic nanoworms: towards novel synthetic dendritic cells for immunotherapy. *Chem. Sci.* 4, 4168–4174. doi: 10.1039/C3sc51399h
- Manolova, V., Flace, A., Bauer, M., Schwarz, K., Saudan, P., and Bachmann, M. F. (2008). Nanoparticles target distinct dendritic cell populations according to their size. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 38, 1404–1413. doi: 10.1002/eji.200737984
- Mantovani, A., and Sica, A. (2010). Macrophages, innate immunity and cancer: balance, tolerance, and diversity. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 22, 231–237. doi: 10. 1016/j.coi.2010.01.009
- Marcu-Malina, V., Heijhuurs, S., Van Buuren, M., Hartkamp, L., Strand, S., Sebestyen, Z., et al. (2011). Redirecting alphabeta T cells against cancer cells by transfer of a broadly tumor-reactive gammadeltaT-cell receptor. *Blood* 118, 50–59. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-12-325993
- Matsumura, Y., and Maeda, H. (1986). A new concept for macromolecular therapeutics in cancer chemotherapy: mechanism of tumoritropic accumulation of proteins and the antitumor agent smancs. *Cancer Res.* 46, 6387–6392.
- Mellman, I., Coukos, G., and Dranoff, G. (2011). Cancer immunotherapy comes of age. Nature 480, 480–489. doi: 10.1038/nature10673
- Messina, J. L., Fenstermacher, D. A., Eschrich, S., Qu, X., Berglund, A. E., Lloyd, M. C., et al. (2012). 12-Chemokine gene signature identifies lymph node-like structures in melanoma: potential for patient selection for immunotherapy? *Sci. Rep.* 2:765. doi: 10.1038/srep00765
- Mishra, R., Chen, A. T., Welsh, R. M., and Szomolanyi-Tsuda, E. (2010). NK cells and gammadelta T cells mediate resistance to polyomavirus-induced tumors. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000924. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000924
- Mizrahy, S., and Peer, D. (2012). Polysaccharides as building blocks for nanotherapeutics. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 41, 2623–2640. doi: 10.1039/c1cs15239d
- Morales-Avila, E., Ferro-Flores, G., Ocampo-Garcia, B. E., De Leon-Rodriguez, L. M., Santos-Cuevas, C. L., Garcia-Becerra, R., et al. (2011). Multimeric system of 99mTc-labeled gold nanoparticles conjugated to c[RGDfK(C)] for molecular imaging of tumor alpha(v)beta(3) expression. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 22, 913–922. doi: 10.1021/bc100551s
- Morales-Avila, E., Ferro-Flores, G., Ocampo-Garcia, B. E., and Gomez-Olivan, L. M. (2012). Engineered multifunctional RGD-gold nanoparticles for the detection of tumour-specific alpha(v)beta(3) expression: chemical characterisation and ecotoxicological risk assessment. *J. Biomed. Nanotechnol.* 8, 991–999. doi: 10.1166/jbn.2012.1452
- Nam, S. J., Go, H., Paik, J. H., Kim, T. M., Heo, D. S., Kim, C. W., et al. (2014). An increase of M2 macrophages predicts poor prognosis in patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma treated with rituximab, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine and prednisone. *Leuk. Lymphoma*. 55, 2466–2476. doi: 10.3109/ 10428194.2013.879713

- Nanjwade, B. K., Bechra, H. M., Derkar, G. K., Manvi, F. V., and Nanjwade, V. K. (2009). Dendrimers: emerging polymers for drug-delivery systems. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 38, 185–196. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2009.07.008
- Naumova, A. V., Modo, M., Moore, A., Murry, C. E., and Frank, J. A. (2014). Clinical imaging in regenerative medicine. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 32, 804–818. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2993
- Nicolas, J., Mura, S., Brambilla, D., Mackiewicz, N., and Couvreur, P. (2013). Design, functionalization strategies and biomedical applications of targeted biodegradable/biocompatible polymer-based nanocarriers for drug delivery. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 42, 1147–1235. doi: 10.1039/c2cs35265f
- Niederhafner, P., Reinis, M., Sebestik, J., and Jezek, J. (2008). Glycopeptide dendrimers, part III: a review. Use of glycopeptide dendrimers in immunotherapy and diagnosis of cancer and viral diseases. J. Pept. Sci. 14, 556–587. doi: 10.1002/psc.1011
- Niino, D., Komohara, Y., Murayama, T., Aoki, R., Kimura, Y., Hashikawa, K., et al. (2010). Ratio of M2 macrophage expression is closely associated with poor prognosis for Angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma (AITL). *Pathol. Int.* 60, 278–283. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1827.2010.02514.x
- Oble, D. A., Loewe, R., Yu, P., and Mihm, M. C. Jr. (2009). Focus on TILs: prognostic significance of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in human melanoma. *Cancer Immun.* 9, 3.
- Ocampo-Garcia, B., Ferro-Flores, G., Morales-Avila, E., and Ramirez Fde, M. (2011). Kit for preparation of multimeric receptor-specific (9)(9)mTcradiopharmaceuticals based on gold nanoparticles. *Nucl. Med. Commun.* 32, 1095–1104. doi: 10.1097/MNM.0b013e32834acf33
- Osaki, M., Kase, S., Adachi, K., Takeda, A., Hashimoto, K., and Ito, H. (2004). Inhibition of the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway enhances the sensitivity of Fasmediated apoptosis in human gastric carcinoma cell line, MKN-45. J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol. 130, 8–14. doi: 10.1007/s00432-003-0505-z
- Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. (2004). Animal models of tumor immunity, immunotherapy and cancer vaccines. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 16, 143–150. doi: 10.1016/j.coi. 2004.01.003
- Oyama, T., Ran, S., Ishida, T., Nadaf, S., Kerr, L., Carbone, D. P., et al. (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor affects dendritic cell maturation through the inhibition of nuclear factor-kappa B activation in hemopoietic progenitor cells. *J. Immunol.* 160, 1224–1232.
- Palucka, K., and Banchereau, J. (2012). Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nat. Rev. Cancer 12, 265–277. doi: 10.1038/nrc3258
- Pan, J., and Feng, S. S. (2008). Targeted delivery of paclitaxel using folate-decorated poly(lactide)-vitamin E TPGS nanoparticles. *Biomaterials* 29, 2663–2672. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.02.020
- Panyam, J., and Labhasetwar, V. (2003). Biodegradable nanoparticles for drug and gene delivery to cells and tissue. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 55, 329–347. doi: 10.1016/S0169-409X(02)00228-4
- Park, J. H., Von Maltzahn, G., Zhang, L., Derfus, A. M., Simberg, D., Harris, T. J., et al. (2009). Systematic surface engineering of magnetic nanoworms for *in vivo* tumor targeting. *Small* 5, 694–700. doi: 10.1002/smll.200801789
- Partlow, K. C., Chen, J., Brant, J. A., Neubauer, A. M., Meyerrose, T. E., Creer, M. H., et al. (2007). 19F magnetic resonance imaging for stem/progenitor cell tracking with multiple unique perfluorocarbon nanobeacons. *FASEB J.* 21, 1647–1654. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-6505com
- Patel, S. K., Zhang, Y., Pollock, J. A., and Janjic, J. M. (2013). Cyclooxgenase-2 inhibiting perfluoropoly (ethylene glycol) ether theranostic nanoemulsions*in vitro* study. *PLoS ONE* 8:e55802. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055802
- Pedroza-Gonzalez, A., Xu, K., Wu, T. C., Aspord, C., Tindle, S., Marches, F., et al. (2011). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin fosters human breast tumor growth by promoting type 2 inflammation. *J. Exp. Med.* 208, 479–490. doi: 10.1084/jem. 20102131
- Peer, D., Karp, J. M., Hong, S., Farokhzad, O. C., Margalit, R., and Langer, R. (2007). Nanocarriers as an emerging platform for cancer therapy. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2, 751–760. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2007.387
- Pejawar-Gaddy, S., Rajawat, Y., Hilioti, Z., Xue, J., Gaddy, D. F., Finn, O. J., et al. (2010). Generation of a tumor vaccine candidate based on conjugation of a MUC1 peptide to polyionic papillomavirus virus-like particles. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 59, 1685–1696. doi: 10.1007/s00262-010-0895-0
- Pelkmans, L., and Helenius, A. (2002). Endocytosis via caveolae. *Traffic* 3, 311–320. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0854.2002.30501.x
- Peng, G., Wang, H. Y., Peng, W., Kiniwa, Y., Seo, K. H., and Wang, R. F. (2007). Tumor-infiltrating gammadelta T cells suppress T and dendritic cell function

via mechanisms controlled by a unique toll-like receptor signaling pathway. *Immunity* 27, 334–348. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.05.020

- Poulose, A. C., Veeranarayanan, S., Mohamed, M. S., Raveendran, S., Nagaoka, Y., Yoshida, Y., et al. (2012). PEG coated biocompatible cadmium chalcogenide quantum dots for targeted imaging of cancer cells. *J. Fluoresc.* 22, 931–944. doi: 10.1007/s10895-011-1032-y
- Progatzky, F., Dallman, M. J., and Lo Celso, C. (2013). From seeing to believing: labelling strategies for *in vivo* cell-tracking experiments. *Interface Focus* 3, 20130001. doi: 10.1098/rsfs.2013.0001
- Prokop, A., and Davidson, J. M. (2008). Nanovehicular intracellular delivery systems. J. Pharm. Sci. 97, 3518–3590. doi: 10.1002/jps.21270
- Psimadas, D., Baldi, G., Ravagli, C., Bouziotis, P., Xanthopoulos, S., Franchini, M. C., et al. (2012). Preliminary evaluation of a 99mTc labeled hybrid nanoparticle bearing a cobalt ferrite core: *in vivo* biodistribution. *J. Biomed. Nanotechnol.* 8, 575–585. doi: 10.1166/jbn.2012.1412
- Raaijmakers, M. I., Rozati, S., Goldinger, S. M., Widmer, D. S., Dummer, R., and Levesque, M. P. (2013). Melanoma immunotherapy: historical precedents, recent successes and future prospects. *Immunotherapy* 5, 169–182. doi: 10.2217/ imt.12.162
- Rabin, O., Manuel Perez, J., Grimm, J., Wojtkiewicz, G., and Weissleder, R. (2006). An X-ray computed tomography imaging agent based on long-circulating bismuth sulphide nanoparticles. *Nat. Mater.* 5, 118–122. doi: 10.1038/nmat1571
- Radford, K. J., and Caminschi, I. (2013). New generation of dendritic cell vaccines. *Hum. Vaccin. Immunother.* 9, 259–264.
- Rahir, G., and Moser, M. (2012). Tumor microenvironment and lymphocyte infiltration. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 61, 751–759. doi: 10.1007/s00262-012-1253-1
- Rawat, M., Singh, D., Saraf, S., and Saraf, S. (2006). Nanocarriers: promising vehicle for bioactive drugs. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* 29, 1790–1798. doi: 10.1248/bpb.29.1790
- Reddy, G. R., Bhojani, M. S., McConville, P., Moody, J., Moffat, B. A., Hall, D. E., et al. (2006). Vascular targeted nanoparticles for imaging and treatment of brain tumors. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 12, 6677–6686. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-0946
- Reimer, P., and Balzer, T. (2003). Ferucarbotran (Resovist): a new clinically approved RES-specific contrast agent for contrast-enhanced MRI of the liver: properties, clinical development, and applications. *Eur. Radiol.* 13, 1266–1276. doi: 10.1007/s00330-002-1721-7
- Riehemann, K., Schneider, S. W., Luger, T. A., Godin, B., Ferrari, M., and Fuchs, H. (2009). Nanomedicine–challenge and perspectives. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed Engl.* 48, 872–897. doi: 10.1002/anie.200802585
- Rizvi, S. B., Rouhi, S., Taniguchi, S., Yang, S. Y., Green, M., Keshtgar, M., et al. (2014). Near-infrared quantum dots for HER2 localization and imaging of cancer cells. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 9, 1323–1337. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S51535
- Rohani, R., De Chickera, S. N., Willert, C., Chen, Y., Dekaban, G. A., and Foster, P. J. (2011). *In vivo* cellular MRI of dendritic cell migration using micrometer-sized iron oxide (MPIO) particles. *Mol. Imaging Biol.* 13, 679–694. doi: 10.1007/s11307-010-0403-0
- Roitt, I. M., and Delves, P. J. (2001). *Roitt's Essential Immunology*. Oxford: Blackwell Science.
- Romani, N., Gruner, S., Brang, D., Kampgen, E., Lenz, A., Trockenbacher, B., et al. (1994). Proliferating dendritic cell progenitors in human blood. *J. Exp. Med.* 180, 83–93.
- Rosenberg, S. A. (2001). Progress in human tumour immunology and immunotherapy. *Nature* 411, 380–384. doi: 10.1038/35077246
- Rosenberg, S. A., Yang, J. C., and Restifo, N. P. (2004). Cancer immunotherapy: moving beyond current vaccines. *Nat. Med.* 10, 909–915. doi: 10.1038/nm1100
- Rosenberg, S. A., Yang, J. C., Sherry, R. M., Kammula, U. S., Hughes, M. S., Phan, G. Q., et al. (2011). Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 17, 4550–4557. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0116
- Ruan, G., Agrawal, A., Marcus, A. I., and Nie, S. (2007). Imaging and tracking of tat peptide-conjugated quantum dots in living cells: new insights into nanoparticle uptake, intracellular transport, and vesicle shedding. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 129, 14759–14766. doi: 10.1021/ja074936k
- Sahoo, S. K., and Labhasetwar, V. (2003). Nanotech approaches to drug delivery and imaging. *Drug Discov. Today* 8, 1112–1120. doi: 10.1016/S1359-6446(03) 02903-9
- Santra, S., Dutta, D., Walter, G. A., and Moudgil, B. M. (2005). Fluorescent nanoparticle probes for cancer imaging. *Technol. Cancer Res. Treat.* 4, 593–602. doi: 10.1177/153303460500400603

- Santra, S., and Malhotra, A. (2011). Fluorescent nanoparticle probes for imaging of cancer. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 3, 501–510. doi: 10.1002/wnan.134
- Schlosser, E., Mueller, M., Fischer, S., Basta, S., Busch, D. H., Gander, B., et al. (2008). TLR ligands and antigen need to be coencapsulated into the same biodegradable microsphere for the generation of potent cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses. *Vaccine* 26, 1626–1637. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.01.030
- Schreiber, R. D., Old, L. J., and Smyth, M. J. (2011). Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. *Science* 331, 1565–1570. doi: 10.1126/science.1203486
- Sen, D., Deerinck, T. J., Ellisman, M. H., Parker, I., and Cahalan, M. D. (2008). Quantum dots for tracking dendritic cells and priming an immune response in vitro and in vivo. PLoS ONE 3:e3290. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003290
- Settles, M., Etzrodt, M., Kosanke, K., Schiemann, M., Zimmermann, A., Meier, R., et al. (2011). Different capacity of monocyte subsets to phagocytose iron-oxide nanoparticles. *PLoS ONE* 6:e25197. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025197
- Shahar, E., Gorodetsky, R., Gaberman, E., Aizenshtein, E., and Pitcovski, J. (2010). Targeted microbeads for attraction and induction of specific innate immune response in the tumor microenvironment. *Vaccine* 28, 7279–7287. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.08.083
- Shankaran, V., Ikeda, H., Bruce, A. T., White, J. M., Swanson, P. E., Old, L. J., et al. (2001). IFNgamma and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. *Nature* 410, 1107–1111. doi: 10.1038/350 74122
- Sharma, A., Jain, N., and Sareen, R. (2013). Nanocarriers for diagnosis and targeting of breast cancer. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2013;960821. doi: 10.1155/2013/960821
- Sharp, F. A., Ruane, D., Claass, B., Creagh, E., Harris, J., Malyala, P., et al. (2009). Uptake of particulate vaccine adjuvants by dendritic cells activates the NALP3 inflammasome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 870–875. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0804897106
- Shen, H., Ackerman, A. L., Cody, V., Giodini, A., Hinson, E. R., Cresswell, P., et al. (2006). Enhanced and prolonged cross-presentation following endosomal escape of exogenous antigens encapsulated in biodegradable nanoparticles. *Immunology* 117, 78–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2005.02268.x
- Shen, L., Higuchi, T., Tubbe, I., Voltz, N., Krummen, M., Pektor, S., et al. (2013). A trifunctional dextran-based nanovaccine targets and activates murine dendritic cells, and induces potent cellular and humoral immune responses *in vivo*. *PLoS ONE* 8:e80904. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080904
- Shi, H., He, X., Yuan, Y., Wang, K., and Liu, D. (2010). Nanoparticle-based biocompatible and long-life marker for lysosome labeling and tracking. *Anal. Chem.* 82, 2213–2220. doi: 10.1021/ac902417s
- Shields, J. D., Kourtis, I. C., Tomei, A. A., Roberts, J. M., and Swartz, M. A. (2010). Induction of lymphoidlike stroma and immune escape by tumors that express the chemokine CCL21. *Science* 328, 749–752. doi: 10.1126/science.1185837
- Shime, H., Matsumoto, M., Oshiumi, H., Tanaka, S., Nakane, A., Iwakura, Y., et al. (2012). Toll-like receptor 3 signaling converts tumor-supporting myeloid cells to tumoricidal effectors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 2066–2071. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1113099109
- Shimizu, K., Mizuno, T., Shinga, J., Asakura, M., Kakimi, K., Ishii, Y., et al. (2013). Vaccination with antigen-transfected, NKT cell ligand-loaded, human cells elicits robust *in situ* immune responses by dendritic cells. *Cancer Res.* 73, 62–73. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0759
- Shubayev, V. I., Pisanic, T. R. 2nd., and Jin, S. (2009). Magnetic nanoparticles for theragnostics. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 61, 467–477. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2009. 03.007
- Sica, A., and Mantovani, A. (2012). Macrophage plasticity and polarization: *in vivo* veritas. *J. Clin. Invest.* 122, 787–795. doi: 10.1172/JCI59643
- Sica, A., Schioppa, T., Mantovani, A., and Allavena, P. (2006). Tumour-associated macrophages are a distinct M2 polarised population promoting tumour progression: potential targets of anti-cancer therapy. *Eur. J. Cancer* 42, 717–727. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2006.01.003
- Silva, J. M., Videira, M., Gaspar, R., Preat, V., and Florindo, H. F. (2013). Immune system targeting by biodegradable nanoparticles for cancer vaccines. *J. Control. Release* 168, 179–199. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2013.03.010
- Sims, G. P., Rowe, D. C., Rietdijk, S. T., Herbst, R., and Coyle, A. J. (2010). HMGB1 and RAGE in inflammation and cancer. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 28, 367–388. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132603
- Singh, R., and Lillard, J. W. Jr. (2009). Nanoparticle-based targeted drug delivery. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 86, 215–223. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2008.12.004

- Slovin, S. F., Ragupathi, G., Musselli, C., Olkiewicz, K., Verbel, D., Kuduk, S. D., et al. (2003). Fully synthetic carbohydrate-based vaccines in biochemically relapsed prostate cancer: clinical trial results with alpha-N-acetylgalactosamine-O-serine/threonine conjugate vaccine. J. Clin. Oncol. 21, 4292–4298. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2003.04.112
- Smirnov, P., Lavergne, E., Gazeau, F., Lewin, M., Boissonnas, A., Doan, B. T., et al. (2006). *In vivo* cellular imaging of lymphocyte trafficking by MRI: a tumor model approach to cell-based anticancer therapy. *Magn. Reson. Med.* 56, 498–508. doi: 10.1002/mrm.20996
- Smith, P. J., Giroud, M., Wiggins, H. L., Gower, F., Thorley, J. A., Stolpe, B., et al. (2012). Cellular entry of nanoparticles via serum sensitive clathrin-mediated endocytosis, and plasma membrane permeabilization. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 7, 2045–2055. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S29334
- Sosnovik, D. E., and Nahrendorf, M. (2012). Cells and iron oxide nanoparticles on the move: magnetic resonance imaging of monocyte homing and myocardial inflammation in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction. *Circ. Cardiovasc. Imaging* 5, 551–554. doi: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.112. 978932
- Sperling, R. A., and Parak, W. J. (2010). Surface modification, functionalization and bioconjugation of colloidal inorganic nanoparticles. *Philos. Trans. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 368, 1333–1383. doi: 10.1098/rsta.2009.0273
- Spranger, S., Spaapen, R. M., Zha, Y., Williams, J., Meng, Y., Ha, T. T., et al. (2013). Up-regulation of PD-L1, IDO, and T(regs) in the melanoma tumor microenvironment is driven by CD8(+) T cells. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 5, 200ra116. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3006504
- Srinivas, M., Boehm-Sturm, P., Figdor, C. G., De Vries, I. J., and Hoehn, M. (2012). Labeling cells for *in vivo* tracking using (19)F MRI. *Biomaterials* 33, 8830–8840. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.08.048
- Srinivas, M., Turner, M. S., Janjic, J. M., Morel, P. A., Laidlaw, D. H., and Ahrens, E. T. (2009). *In vivo* cytometry of antigen-specific t cells using 19F MRI. *Magn. Reson. Med.* 62, 747–753. doi: 10.1002/mrm.22063
- Stelter, L., Pinkernelle, J. G., Michel, R., Schwartlander, R., Raschzok, N., Morgul, M. H., et al. (2010). Modification of aminosilanized superparamagnetic nanoparticles: feasibility of multimodal detection using 3T MRI, small animal PET, and fluorescence imaging. *Mol. Imaging Biol.* 12, 25–34. doi: 10.1007/s11307-009-0237-9
- Stephan, M. T., Moon, J. J., Um, S. H., Bershteyn, A., and Irvine, D. J. (2010). Therapeutic cell engineering with surface-conjugated synthetic nanoparticles. *Nat. Med.* 16, 1035–1041. doi: 10.1038/nm.2198
- Swann, J. B., and Smyth, M. J. (2007). Immune surveillance of tumors. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 1137–1146. doi: 10.1172/JCI31405
- Tagami, T., Foltz, W. D., Ernsting, M. J., Lee, C. M., Tannock, I. F., May, J. P., et al. (2011). MRI monitoring of intratumoral drug delivery and prediction of the therapeutic effect with a multifunctional thermosensitive liposome. *Biomaterials* 32, 6570–6578. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011. 05.029
- Tanaka, E., Choi, H. S., Fujii, H., Bawendi, M. G., and Frangioni, J. V. (2006). Image-guided oncologic surgery using invisible light: completed preclinical development for sentinel lymph node mapping. *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* 13, 1671–1681. doi: 10.1245/s10434-006-9194-6
- Tari, A., Khodadadian, M., Ellerson, D., Deisseroth, A., and Lopez-Berestein, G. (1996). Liposomal delivery of oligodeoxynucleotides. *Leuk. Lymphoma* 21, 93–97. doi: 10.3109/10428199609067585
- Thiele, L., Merkle, H. P., and Walter, E. (2003). Phagocytosis and phagosomal fate of surface-modified microparticles in dendritic cells and macrophages. *Pharm. Res.* 20, 221–228. doi: 10.1023/A:1022271020390
- Thomas, L. (1982). On immunosurveillance in human cancer. Yale J. Biol. Med. 55, 329–333.
- Thorek, D. L., and Tsourkas, A. (2008). Size, charge and concentration dependent uptake of iron oxide particles by non-phagocytic cells. *Biomaterials* 29, 3583–3590. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.05.015
- Thu, M. S., Bryant, L. H., Coppola, T., Jordan, E. K., Budde, M. D., Lewis, B. K., et al. (2012). Self-assembling nanocomplexes by combining ferumoxytol, heparin and protamine for cell tracking by magnetic resonance imaging. *Nat. Med.* 18, 463–467. doi: 10.1038/nm.2666
- Thu, M. S., Najbauer, J., Kendall, S. E., Harutyunyan, I., Sangalang, N., Gutova, M., et al. (2009). Iron labeling and pre-clinical MRI visualization of therapeutic human neural stem cells in a murine glioma model. *PLoS ONE* 4:e7218. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007218

- Torchilin, V. P. (2001). Structure and design of polymeric surfactant-based drug delivery systems. J. Control. Release 73, 137–172. doi: 10.1016/S0168-3659(01)00299-1
- Torchilin, V. (2011). Tumor delivery of macromolecular drugs based on the EPR effect. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 63, 131–135. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2010.03.011
- Torchilin, V. P. (2008). Cell penetrating peptide-modified pharmaceutical nanocarriers for intracellular drug and gene delivery. *Biopolymers* 90, 604–610. doi: 10.1002/bip.20989
- Toulza, F., Nosaka, K., Tanaka, Y., Schioppa, T., Balkwill, F., Taylor, G. P., et al. (2010). Human T-lymphotropic virus type 1-induced CC chemokine ligand 22 maintains a high frequency of functional FoxP3+ regulatory T cells. *J. Immunol.* 185, 183–189. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903846
- Tsushima, H., Kawata, S., Tamura, S., Ito, N., Shirai, Y., Kiso, S., et al. (1996). High levels of transforming growth factor beta 1 in patients with colorectal cancer: association with disease progression. *Gastroenterology* 110, 375–382.
- Unger, W. W., and Van Kooyk, Y. (2011). "Dressed for success" C-type lectin receptors for the delivery of glyco-vaccines to dendritic cells. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 23, 131–137. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2010.11.011
- U'ren, L., Kedl, R., and Dow, S. (2006). Vaccination with liposome–DNA complexes elicits enhanced antitumor immunity. *Cancer Gene. Ther.* 13, 1033–1044. doi: 10.1038/sj.cgt.7700982
- Uyttenhove, C., Godfraind, C., Lethe, B., Amar-Costesec, A., Renauld, J. C., Gajewski, T. F., et al. (1997). The expression of mouse gene P1A in testis does not prevent safe induction of cytolytic T cells against a P1A-encoded tumor antigen. *Int. J. Cancer* 70, 349–356.
- Vacchelli, E., Martins, I., Eggermont, A., Fridman, W. H., Galon, J., Sautes-Fridman, C., et al. (2012). Trial watch: peptide vaccines in cancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology* 1, 1557–1576. doi: 10.4161/onci.22428
- Van Broekhoven, C. L., Parish, C. R., Demangel, C., Britton, W. J., and Altin, J. G. (2004). Targeting dendritic cells with antigen-containing liposomes: a highly effective procedure for induction of antitumor immunity and for tumor immunotherapy. *Cancer Res.* 64, 4357–4365. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0138
- Van Kooyk, Y. (2008). C-type lectins on dendritic cells: key modulators for the induction of immune responses. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 36, 1478–1481. doi: 10.1042/BST0361478
- Vesely, M. D., Kershaw, M. H., Schreiber, R. D., and Smyth, M. J. (2011). Natural innate and adaptive immunity to cancer. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 29, 235–271. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101324
- Vonderheide, R. H., Bajor, D. L., Winograd, R., Evans, R. A., Bayne, L. J., and Beatty, G. L. (2013). CD40 immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 62, 949–954. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1427-5
- Voura, E. B., Jaiswal, J. K., Mattoussi, H., and Simon, S. M. (2004). Tracking metastatic tumor cell extravasation with quantum dot nanocrystals and fluorescence emission-scanning microscopy. *Nat. Med.* 10, 993–998. doi: 10.1038/nm1096
- Vu-Quang, H., Muthiah, M., Lee, H. J., Kim, Y. K., Rhee, J. H., Lee, J. H., et al. (2012). Immune cell-specific delivery of beta-glucan-coated iron oxide nanoparticles for diagnosing liver metastasis by MR imaging. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 87, 1159–1168. doi: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2011.08.091
- Wang, H. X., Xiong, M. H., Wang, Y. C., Zhu, J., and Wang, J. (2013a). N-acetylgalactosamine functionalized mixed micellar nanoparticles for targeted delivery of siRNA to liver. *J. Control. Release* 166, 106–114. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.12.017
- Wang, K., He, X., Yang, X., and Shi, H. (2013b). Functionalized silica nanoparticles: a platform for fluorescence imaging at the cell and small animal levels. Acc. Chem. Res. 46, 1367–1376. doi: 10.1021/ar3001525
- Wang, X., Xing, X., Zhang, B., Liu, F., Cheng, Y., and Shi, D. (2014). Surface engineered antifouling optomagnetic SPIONs for bimodal targeted imaging of pancreatic cancer cells. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 9, 1601–1615. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S58334
- Wang, Y. X., Hussain, S. M., and Krestin, G. P. (2001). Superparamagnetic iron oxide contrast agents: physicochemical characteristics and applications in MR imaging. *Eur. Radiol.* 11, 2319–2331. doi: 10.1007/s003300100908
- Watkins, S. K., Zhu, Z., Riboldi, E., Shafer-Weaver, K. A., Stagliano, K. E., Sklavos, M. M., et al. (2011). FOXO3 programs tumor-associated DCs to become tolerogenic in human and murine prostate cancer. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 1361–1372. doi: 10.1172/JCI44325
- Weng, K. C., Noble, C. O., Papahadjopoulos-Sternberg, B., Chen, F. F., Drummond, D. C., Kirpotin, D. B., et al. (2008). Targeted tumor cell internalization

and imaging of multifunctional quantum dot-conjugated immunoliposomes in vitro and in vivo. Nano Lett. 8, 2851–2857. doi: 10.1021/nl801488u

- Wesch, D., Peters, C., Oberg, H. H., Pietschmann, K., and Kabelitz, D. (2011). Modulation of gammadelta T cell responses by TLR ligands. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 68, 2357–2370. doi: 10.1007/s00018-011-0699-1
- Wilson, J. T., Keller, S., Manganiello, M. J., Cheng, C., Lee, C. C., Opara, C., et al. (2013). pH-Responsive nanoparticle vaccines for dual-delivery of antigens and immunostimulatory oligonucleotides. ACS Nano 7, 3912–3925. doi: 10.1021/nn305466z
- Wong, A. D., Dewit, M. A., and Gillies, E. R. (2012). Amplified release through the stimulus triggered degradation of self-immolative oligomers, dendrimers, and linear polymers. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 64, 1031–1045. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2011.09.012
- Wu, D., Gao, Y., Qi, Y., Chen, L., Ma, Y., and Li, Y. (2014). Peptide-based cancer therapy: opportunity and challenge. *Cancer Lett.* 351, 13–22. doi: 10.1016/j. canlet.2014.05.002
- Xiang, S. D., Scholzen, A., Minigo, G., David, C., Apostolopoulos, V., Mottram, P. L., et al. (2006). Pathogen recognition and development of particulate vaccines: does size matter? *Methods* 40, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ymeth.2006.05.016
- Xie, H., Diagaradjane, P., Deorukhkar, A. A., Goins, B., Bao, A., Phillips, W. T., et al. (2011). Integrin alphavbeta3-targeted gold nanoshells augment tumor vasculature-specific imaging and therapy. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 6, 259–269. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S15479
- Xie, J., Chen, K., Huang, J., Lee, S., Wang, J., Gao, J., et al. (2010). PET/NIRF/MRI triple functional iron oxide nanoparticles. *Biomaterials* 31, 3016–3022. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.01.010
- Xu, Z., Wang, Y., Zhang, L., and Huang, L. (2014). Nanoparticle-delivered transforming growth factor-beta siRNA enhances vaccination against advanced melanoma by modifying tumor microenvironment. ACS Nano 8, 3636–3645. doi: 10.1021/nn500216y
- Yaghoubi, S. S., Jensen, M. C., Satyamurthy, N., Budhiraja, S., Paik, D., Czernin, J., et al. (2009). Noninvasive detection of therapeutic cytolytic T cells with 18F-FHBG PET in a patient with glioma. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Oncol.* 6, 53–58. doi: 10.1038/ncponc1278
- Yang, J., Lee, C. H., Ko, H. J., Suh, J. S., Yoon, H. G., Lee, K., et al. (2007). Multifunctional magneto-polymeric nanohybrids for targeted detection and synergistic therapeutic effects on breast cancer. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 46, 8836–8839. doi: 10.1002/anie.200703554
- Yang, W., Cheng, Y., Xu, T., Wang, X., and Wen, L. P. (2009). Targeting cancer cells with biotin-dendrimer conjugates. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 44, 862–868. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2008.04.021
- Yoo, H. S., and Park, T. G. (2004). Folate receptor targeted biodegradable polymeric doxorubicin micelles. J. Control. Release 96, 273–283. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2004.02.003
- Yoshikawa, T., Okada, N., Oda, A., Matsuo, K., Matsuo, K., Kayamuro, H., et al. (2008). Nanoparticles built by self-assembly of amphiphilic gamma-PGA can deliver antigens to antigen-presenting cells with high efficiency: a new tumor-vaccine carrier for eliciting effector T cells. *Vaccine* 26, 1303–1313. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.12.037
- Yu, M. K., Park, J., and Jon, S. (2012). Targeting strategies for multifunctional nanoparticles in cancer imaging and therapy. *Theranostics* 2, 3–44. doi: 10.7150/thno.3463
- Yu, X., Chen, L., Li, K., Li, Y., Xiao, S., Luo, X., et al. (2007). Immunofluorescence detection with quantum dot bioconjugates for hepatoma *in vivo. J. Biomed. Opt.* 12, 014008. doi: 10.1117/1.2437744
- Yuan, F., Dellian, M., Fukumura, D., Leunig, M., Berk, D. A., Torchilin, V. P., et al. (1995). Vascular permeability in a human tumor xenograft: molecular size dependence and cutoff size. *Cancer Res.* 55, 3752–3756.
- Yue, Z. G., Wei, W., Lv, P. P., Yue, H., Wang, L. Y., Su, Z. G., et al. (2011). Surface charge affects cellular uptake and intracellular trafficking of chitosan-based nanoparticles. *Biomacromolecules* 12, 2440–2446. doi: 10.1021/bm101482r
- Zavaleta, C., De La Zerda, A., Liu, Z., Keren, S., Cheng, Z., Schipper, M., et al. (2008). Noninvasive Raman spectroscopy in living mice for evaluation of tumor targeting with carbon nanotubes. *Nano Lett.* 8, 2800–2805. doi: 10.1021/nl801362a
- Zhang, L., Zhou, H., Belzile, O., Thorpe, P., and Zhao, D. (2014). Phosphatidylserine-targeted bimodal liposomal nanoparticles for *in vivo* imaging of breast cancer in mice. *J. Control. Release* 183, 114–123. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.03.043

- Zhang, Q., Zhang, A., Yang, P., and Shen, J. (2013). Synthesis of CdSe quantum dots using various long-chain fatty acids and their phase transfer. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 13, 4235–4241.: 10.1166/jnn.2013.7433
- Zhang, Z., Jiang, Q., Jiang, F., Ding, G., Zhang, R., Wang, L., et al. (2004). In vivo magnetic resonance imaging tracks adult neural progenitor cell targeting of brain tumor. Neuroimage 23, 281–287. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004. 05.019
- Zhang, Z., Tongchusak, S., Mizukami, Y., Kang, Y. J., Ioji, T., Touma, M., et al. (2011). Induction of anti-tumor cytotoxic T cell responses through PLGA-nanoparticle mediated antigen delivery. *Biomaterials* 32, 3666–3678. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.01.067
- Zhou, Y., Zhang, C., and Liang, W. (2014). Development of RNAi technology for targeted therapy - a track of siRNA based agents to RNAi therapeutics. *J. Control. Release.* doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.04.044. [Epub ahead of print].
- Zitvogel, L., Tesniere, A., and Kroemer, G. (2006). Cancer despite immunosurveillance: immunoselection and immunosubversion. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 6, 715–727. doi: 10.1038/nri1936
- Zou, W. (2005). Immunosuppressive networks in the tumour environment and their therapeutic relevance. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 5, 263–274. doi: 10.1038/nrc1586

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 September 2014; accepted: 31 October 2014; published online: 26 November 2014.

Citation: Conniot J, Silva JM, Fernandes JG, Silva LC, Gaspar R, Brocchini S, Florindo HF and Barata TS (2014) Cancer immunotherapy: nanodelivery approaches for immune cell targeting and tracking. Front. Chem. 2:105. doi: 10.3389/fchem. 2014.00105

This article was submitted to Chemical Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Chemistry.

Copyright © 2014 Conniot, Silva, Fernandes, Silva, Gaspar, Brocchini, Florindo and Barata. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Biomolecular corona on nanoparticles: a survey of recent literature and its implications in targeted drug delivery

Ryan M. Pearson¹, Vanessa V. Juettner¹ and Seungpyo Hong^{1,2}*

¹ Department of Biopharmaceutical Sciences, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

² Department of Bioengineering, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

Edited by:

João Conde, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA

Reviewed by:

Jose Maria Montenegro Martos, University of Marburg, Germany Kenneth A. Dawson, University College Dublin, Ireland

*Correspondence:

Seungpyo Hong, Department of Biopharmaceutical Sciences, University of Illinois at Chicago, 833 S. Wood St., Rm 335, Chicago, IL 60612, USA e-mail: sphong@uic.edu

INTRODUCTION

Medical applications of nanoparticles (NPs) are wide-reaching as evidenced by their rapid development as therapeutic and diagnostic agents (Peer et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2008; Hubbell and Langer, 2013). In particular, significant advances have been made in cancer therapy by pursuing NPs as drug delivery systems (Gu et al., 2007; Pearson et al., 2012; van der Meel et al., 2013), however, many challenges, especially with regard to achieving precise control over nano-bio interactions, still remain to be addressed (Chauhan and Jain, 2013; Pearson et al., 2014). As increasingly more complex NP formulations move toward later stages of clinical development, the need to understand and overcome those challenges is becoming imminent.

One of the most important challenges affecting NP-based drug delivery is the formation of the "biomolecule" or "protein" corona (Cedervall et al., 2007). As NPs enter physiological fluids, proteins and other biomolecules such as lipids adsorb to their surfaces with various exchange rates leading to the formation of the biomolecular corona (Figure 1A) (Nel et al., 2009; Monopoli et al., 2012; Saptarshi et al., 2013). As a consequence, the "synthetic identity" of the NP is lost and a distinct "biological identity" is acquired. This new identity governs how the NP is "seen" by cells and subsequently alters the way in which NPs interact with cells. The composition of the biomolecular corona is dynamic and is highly dependent on the initial biological environment, indicating the possibility of exposure memory (Milani et al., 2012). Opsonin adsorption such as immunoglobulin (IgG), complement, and others contribute to the deteriorated in vivo properties of NPs by promoting immune system recognition and rapid clearance from circulation. In contrast, dysopsonins such as albumin can coat NP surfaces and enhance their biological properties by reducing complement activation, increasing blood circulation time, and reducing toxicity (Peng et al., 2013). The binding of lipids and other lipoproteins to NP surfaces can alter

Achieving controlled cellular responses of nanoparticles (NP) is critical for the successful development and translation of NP-based drug delivery systems. However, precise control over the physicochemical and biological properties of NPs could become convoluted, diminished, or completely lost as a result of the adsorption of biomolecules to their surfaces. Characterization of the formation of the "biomolecular" corona has thus received increased attention due to its impact on NP and protein structure as well as its negative effect on NP-based targeted drug delivery. This review presents a concise survey of the recent literature concerning the importance of the NP-biomolecule corona and how it can be utilized to improve the *in vivo* efficacy of targeted delivery systems.

Keywords: nanoparticle, biomolecular corona, targeted drug delivery, in vivo efficacy

the uptake and transport of NPs (Hellstrand et al., 2009). Taking these observations into consideration, the concept of the personalized biomolecular corona has arisen, suggesting that NP coronas should be characterized in a disease specific manner and not merely based on generalizations obtained from the literature (Hajipour et al., 2014).

While biomolecule adsorption alters many physicochemical properties of the NP such as size, shape, surface composition, and aggregation state, NPs may also induce conformational changes to the secondary structure of adsorbed proteins altering their biological activities (Monopoli et al., 2012). In many cases, protein adsorption to NPs can induce fibrillation, immunosensitivity, and misfolding, substantially altering properties such as biodistribution and circulation half-life, cellular uptake, intracellular localization, tumor accumulation, and toxicity (Linse et al., 2007; Aggarwal et al., 2009; Karmali and Simberg, 2011). Conversely, cases have demonstrated that biomolecule adsorption serves to protect the body from the toxicity of bare NPs, facilitating receptor-mediated interactions, and improving pharmacokinetic profiles, which demonstrates its potential advantages (Peng et al., 2013).

Fundamental forces including electrostatic interactions, hydrogen bonding, hydrophobic interactions, and chargetransfer drive the association of biomolecules to the surface of NPs (Nel et al., 2009). A recent report by Tenzer et al., found that the biomolecular corona forms almost instantaneously (in less than 30 s) and is comprised of almost 300 different proteins, although it typically consists of a similar set of proteins in various quantities (Tenzer et al., 2013). However, it has been suggested that NPs cannot accommodate as many proteins on their surfaces and a significantly lower number of proteins are present because current analyses are performed over large numbers of NPs and represent macroscopic averages of protein composition (Monopoli et al., 2012). The "hard" corona is the first layer of



the corona, consisting of tightly and nearly irreversibly bound biomolecules. Atop the hard corona lie the "soft" corona layers that are composed of more leniently associated biomolecules classified by rapid exchange rates. With increasing time, less abundant, less mobile, and higher binding affinity proteins will subsequently replace the highly abundant, lower affinity proteins (Vroman effect) (Vroman et al., 1980). However, a recent study questioned the applicability of the Vroman effect to NPs and found that the composition of the hard corona was constant over time although the total amount of adsorbed proteins was changed (Tenzer et al., 2013). Properties of NPs such as size and surface hydrophobicity have also been demonstrated to affect the composition and exchange rates of proteins such as transferrin (Tf) and albumin (Ashby et al., 2014).

Although the formation of the biomolecular corona is unavoidable and plays a significant role in determining the biological behaviors of NPs, its importance has only recently received significant scientific attention. This mini review describes the importance of the NP-biomolecule corona on determining biological responses, supported by a number of recently published reports. We will succinctly cover important aspects related to biomolecular corona formation, how it is influenced by various physicochemical properties of NPs, the impact of NPs on the structure of proteins, and the impact of the biomolecular corona on the biological interactions of NPs.

PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF NPs AND THEIR EFFECT ON BIOMOLECULAR CORONA FORMATION

The physicochemical properties of NPs determine the type of corona formed. Since the interactions between NPs and proteins occur at an interface, surface characteristics of NPs ultimately drive NP-biomolecule association. To better understand corona formation, many methods have been established (Monopoli et al., 2013; Bertoli et al., 2014). Using a bioinformatics-inspired approach, Walkey et al., developed a protein corona fingerprint model that accounts for 64 different parameters to predict the cellular interactions of NPs (Walkey et al., 2014). This model was found to be 50% more accurate than pre-existing models that only consider size, aggregation state, and surface charge. Many material properties act in concert to drive biomolecular corona formation, in this section we will focus on the effect of size, surface charge, and hydrophobicity.

It is generally accepted that a positive correlation exists for NP size and protein association. For example, a two-fold increase in protein association was measured for 110 nm silver NPs (AgNPs), compared to 20 nm AgNPs (Shannahan et al., 2013). However, an inverse correlation was also reported between the amount of mouse serum protein adsorbed and the size of 5, 15, and 80 nm AuNPs (Martin et al., 2013). It was suggested that differences in curvature enabled a larger number of hydrophobic proteins to bind to the smaller NPs in this case.

Recent reports have supported the correlation between surface charge of NPs and biomolecule association. Poly(vinyl alcohol)coated superparamagnetic iron oxide NPs (SPIONs) with negative and neutral surface charges adsorbed more serum proteins than dextran-coated SPIONs, leading to increased circulation times (Sakulkhu et al., 2014a). Biomolecule association to PSt NPs with different sizes (50 and 100 nm) and three different surface charges [charge neutral (plain), negatively charged (carboxylmodified), and positively charged (amine-modified)] were studied to elucidate the effect of size and surface charge of NPs on protein adsorption (Lundqvist et al., 2008). A size dependency in biomolecular corona composition was observed for both types of charged PSt NPs. For example, 100 nm negatively charged PSt NPs displayed a higher fraction of unique proteins, including Ig mu chain C region, apolipoprotein L1, and complement C1q, present in their coronas, as demonstrated by low homology in biomolecule composition compared to similar 50 nm NPs.

The connection between NP hydrophobicity and protein association has been also demonstrated to be of great importance. Isothermal titration calorimetry was used to assess the stoichiometry, affinity, and enthalpy of NP-protein interactions (Cedervall et al., 2007; Lindman et al., 2007). Titration of human serum albumin into solutions of NPs comprised of different compositions of N-isopropylacrylamine (NIPAM): N-tertbutylacrylamide (BAM), it was found that more hydrophobic NPs (50:50) bound higher numbers of albumin than more hydrophilic NPs (85:15). Larger NPs bound more albumins than smaller NP counterparts. Importantly, it was also shown that apolipoprotein A-I association was 50-fold greater for 50:50 NPs than 65:35 NPs, demonstrating favorable interactions of the proteins with the hydrophobic NPs.

Although correlations have been found with those properties, it should be noted that they could only act as predictive indicators of biomolecule association to NPs. This is important since the composition of biomolecules associated with NPs *in vitro* has been shown to be different than *in vivo* (Sakulkhu et al., 2014b). Nonetheless, the findings suggested that the surface properties of NP are responsible for driving biomolecule adsorption to the NP. Therefore, to further realize the potential of NPs as drug delivery vehicles, it is critical to coat their surface with a non-fouling layer, e.g., poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG), polyoxazoline, poly(vinyl alcohol), or polyglycerol, to minimize biomolecule association and therefore achieve more controllable cellular responses (Owens and Peppas, 2006; Romberg et al., 2008; Amoozgar and Yeo, 2012).

IMPACT OF PEG LAYERS ON BIOMOLECULAR CORONA FORMATION

Modification of the surface of NPs with a layer of PEG, or PEGylation, is known to reduce opsonization and enhance blood circulation time of NPs by providing a "stealth" effect, i.e., invisible to immune cell recognition (Owens and Peppas, 2006). Recently, a number of studies have been reported to characterize the role of the PEG conformation (i.e., brush or mushroom) and its impact on biomolecular corona formation.

The effect of PEG density on corona formation has been evaluated on numerous occasions. For example, NPs prepared from the particle replication in non-wetting templates (PRINT) method were prepared with two different PEG densities corresponding to the brush (0.083 PEG/nm²) and mushroom (0.028 PEG/nm²) regimes (Perry et al., 2012). Brush NPs displayed lower binding of bovine serum albumin (BSA) by nearly three-fold and four-fold less than non-PEGylated NPs. Significant differences between NPs with the two PEG conformations in terms of diminished macrophage uptake or increased circulation half-lives were not directly measured, but brush NPs performed better than mushroom NPs on average. At constant size, a similar result was obtained using AuNPs, where an increase in PEG grafting densities resulted in decreased serum protein adsorption (Walkey et al., 2011). In contrast, distinct differences were observed in terms of protein adsorption when size was considered. The same study found an inverse correlation between particle size and protein adsorption. The increased protein binding onto the smaller NPs was attributed to higher surface curvature and lower PEG-PEG steric interactions, which allowed a greater amount of the bare surface of the AuNP exposed (Figure 1B) (Walkey et al., 2011). When macrophage uptake was considered, two trends were observed. First, increased PEG density on similarly sized NPs resulted in decreased uptake. Second, at similar PEG densities, smaller NPs were taken up to a lesser extent than larger ones. Contrary to those results, in a study using PEGylated singlewalled carbon nanotubes (SWCNT), brush SWCNTs were found to display shortened blood circulation times, faster renal clearance, and increased spleen vs. liver uptake, compared to mushroom SWCNTs (Sacchetti et al., 2013). Although these studies presented contrasting results with regard to PEG conformation, it is clear that the presence of PEG minimized biomolecular corona formation that was translated to enhanced pharmacokinetics of various NPs. However, to distinctly determine the role of PEG and PEG density in NP formulations, it is necessary to verify the biological properties of NPs in a case-by-case manner to obtain the desired response.

CONFORMATIONAL CHANGES OF ADSORBED PROTEINS CAUSED BY NPs

Achieving control over the toxicity of NPs is critical to ensure their optimal therapeutic effects. When a NP enters the body, it can alter the proteins that form its protein corona, and therefore induce toxicity during therapy. Some of these changes include alterations in protein conformation, protein function, and defective transport leading to the overexpression of inflammatory factors (Baugh and Donnelly, 2003; Wolfram et al., 2014a).

Many physicochemical properties of NPs affect protein adsorption, which influences how NPs interact with cells and tissues. The proteins adsorbed on the surface of the NPs can still be recognized as the native proteins by an interacting cell, and as a result, these denatured or misfolded proteins can trigger inappropriate cellular processes (Lynch et al., 2006). In a study investigating protein stability using silica NPs, conformational changes in protein variants of carbonic anhydrase II on NP surfaces occurred in a step-wise manner, where the least stable variants exhibited the quickest misfolding kinetics (Karlsson et al., 2000). When exposed to NPs for longer periods of time, all variants eventually folded into the same unstable state.

A number of studies have been dedicated to characterizing the interaction of albumin with NPs. AuNPs, for example, modified albumin from its stable secondary conformation to its unstable tertiary conformation (Shang et al., 2007). In the case of charged-PSt NPs, it was observed that albumin maintained its native secondary structure while associated with carboxylated NPs enabling its interaction with the albumin receptor. However, amine-terminated NPs denatured albumin and subsequently led to a loss of specificity toward the albumin receptor in favor for scavenger receptors, indicating that the transition to unstable proteins alters their activity in the body (Fleischer and Payne, 2014). This illustrated that the misfolding of proteins can result in an alteration of the cell surface receptors targeted by NPs, which could decrease their targeting efficacy (Fleischer and Payne, 2014).

Mortimer et al., investigated the role of scavenger receptors in NP-protein interactions (Mortimer et al., 2014). Albumin binding to synthetic layered silicate NPs (LSNs) induced protein unfolding akin to heat denaturation of albumin. Class A scavenger receptors, which are the dominant receptors involved in the mononuclear phagocyte system (MPS), required the presence of the albumin corona to recognize the LSNs.

The conformational changes of albumin can not only lead to increased NP clearance, but also alter their cellular uptake. A study characterized the biomolecular corona of negatively charged disulfide-stabilized poly (methacrylic acid) nanoporous polymer particles (PMA_{SH} NPPs) following incubation in complete media containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). Adsorption of BSA, a major component in FBS, onto the surface of the NPPs was found to result in a conformational change from its native state. Notably, denatured BSA on NPPs caused a

Table 1 | Considerations of the biomolecular corona to design more effective NPs.

reduction in the internalization efficiency of the NPs into human monocytic cells, compared to the bare particles, due to reduced cell membrane adhesion. However, a different conformation of BSA, triggered class A scavenger receptor-mediated phagocytosis in differentiated macrophage-like cells (dTHP-1) without a significant impact on the overall degree of cell internalization. Recognizing that both composition and orientation of the protein corona are important for the assessment of biological interactions may lead to the prevention of off target cellular interactions of NPs (Yan et al., 2013).

CONSIDERATIONS OF THE BIOMOLECULAR CORONA FOR NP-BASED TARGETED DRUG DELIVERY

NP interactions with biomolecules can significantly affect the efficacies of nanomedicine. Alterations in conformations or activities of biomolecules can dramatically impair NP-based drug delivery. These alterations may result in changes in cellular uptake, drug release, and biodistribution profiles. Importantly, new methods to study those NP-cell interactions at the molecular level will yield insight into how the biomolecule corona can alter the fate of NPs (Bertoli et al., 2014).

In Table 1, we have summarized the major considerations one must take when designing and evaluating targeted NP drug delivery systems to achieve optimum efficacy.

Size is an important property of NPs that affects their distribution within the body. Biomolecular corona formation can increase the original size and alter the pharmacokinetics of NPs (Lundqvist et al., 2008). In some cases, this size increase could be beneficial since NPs smaller than 5 nm are readily excreted through renal filtration (Choi et al., 2007; Sunoqrot et al., 2014). Yet, the size increase caused by biomolecule adsorption may result in a

		References
PHYSICOCHEMIC	CAL PROPERTIES OF NPs AND THEIR EFFECT ON BIOMOLECULAR CORONA FORMATION	
Size	Larger NPs adsorb more proteins to their surfaces	Shannahan et al., 2013
Surface charge	Charged NPs adsorb more proteins to their surfaces. Alteration of particle zeta potential	Lundqvist et al., 2008
Hydrophobicity	More hydrophobic NPs adsorb more proteins to their surfaces.	Cedervall et al., 2007; Lindman et al., 2007
IMPACT OF PEG	LAYERS ON BIOMOLECULAR CORONA FORMATION	
High density brush	n PEG conformation adsorbed less protein than mushroom conformations	Walkey et al., 2011; Perry et al., 2012
CONFORMATION	VAL CHANGES OF ADSORBED PROTEINS CAUSED BY NPs	
Results in protein misfolding (changes in secondary structure)		Karlsson et al., 2000; Shang et al., 2007; Fleischer and Payne, 2014
Cryptic epitope exposure upon protein interaction with NP		Mortimer et al., 2014
Inappropriate receptor recognition after NP-protein interaction		Yan et al., 2013
CONSIDERATION	IS OF THE BIOMOLECULAR CORONA FOR NP-BASED TARGETED DRUG DELIVERY	
<i>In vitro</i> experimen	ts should be carried out in physiologically relevant conditions	Mirshafiee et al., 2013; Salvat et al., 2013
PEG backfilling may be used to overcome the negative effects of the protein corona on targeted drug delivery systems		Dai et al., 2014
Biomolecular corona formation can enhance pharmacokinetics of NPs		Peng et al., 2013
Biomolecular coro	na formation mitigates the toxicity of NPs	Ge et al., 2011; Mortensen et al., 2013

decreased therapeutic efficacy of NPs for diseases such as pancreatic cancer that require nanotherapies with particles sizes smaller than 50 nm (Cabral et al., 2011).

Considering those changes caused by the biomolecular corona, it appears essential to characterize the therapeutic and targeting efficacies of NPs under relevant conditions. Silicon dioxide (SiO₂) NPs were functionalized with Tf to validate their ability to maintain targeted interactions in physiologically relevant cell culture conditions. In FBS-containing medium, Tf-functionalized NPs lost their ability to selectively target A549 lung cancer cells (**Figures 1C,D**) (Salvati et al., 2013). Mirshafiee et al., prepared 75 nm SiO₂ NPs and studied their ability to react with synthetic, surface-bound azide groups using copper-free click chemistry (Mirshafiee et al., 2013). The results of this study confirmed that the biomolecular corona creates a barrier that screens the interaction of the ligand and its target on a separate surface.

While NP characteristics, such as size, shape, and surface charge, change due to biomolecular corona formation, drug release kinetics from the NPs can either be enhanced or disrupted. Liposomes can undergo shrinkage due to osmotic forces and may undergo a burst-release effect upon entering the blood, resulting in rapid drug release (Wolfram et al., 2014b). In contrast, protein binding on NPs has been shown to delay drug release, which prevented drug diffusion through the NP matrix (Paula et al., 2013) and reduced the burst effect (Behzadi et al., 2014).

The biomolecular corona may alter the toxicity profiles of NPs in a positive manner as well. Evidence has accumulated that the biomolecular corona may mitigate NP-induced toxicities. Decreased negative cellular impacts of carbon nanotubes were observed when they were coated with plasma proteins. Nanotubes with a higher protein density displayed less toxicity than those with a lower protein density (Ge et al., 2011). The effect of the biomolecular corona of 22 nm silica NPs with different surface charges on toxicity was also evaluated. The corona formed on each NP was confirmed to be unique, and SiO₂-COOH NPs exhibited lower toxicity than bare SiO₂ and SiO₂-NH₂ (Mortensen et al., 2013). These results indicated that NP-protein interactions can be utilized to reduce toxicities of some NPs that are otherwise known to be toxic to biological systems.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The biomolecular corona has been demonstrated to have a major impact on the biological behaviors of NPs. Physicochemical properties of NPs including size, surface charge, and hydrophobicity affect the relative amounts, types, and conformations of proteins that adsorb onto the NP.

NPs functionalized with disease-specific targeting ligands are positioned to revolutionize the treatment of debilitating diseases such as cancer by achieving targeted and selective cellular interactions. However, the biomolecular corona diminishes those cellular interactions by making the ligands inaccessible at their surfaces. Therefore, development of strategies to overcome the negative impact of the protein corona on NP targeting is necessary. Recently, attaching targeting ligands to longer PEG tethers in combination with backfilling of the remaining bare surface with short PEG chains has been shown to promote the formation of targeted interactions *in vitro* (Dai et al., 2014). It is seemingly obvious that characterization and biological evaluations NPs must be performed in the presence of physiologically relevant protein levels, which will ultimately result in the enhanced *in vivo* efficacy of targeted drug delivery platforms.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was partially supported by National Science Foundation (NSF) under the grant # DMR-1409161 and National Cancer Institute (NCI) under the grant # R01 CA182580-01. Ryan M. Pearson also acknowledges partial support from the Dean's Scholarship of UIC for his graduate education.

REFERENCES

- Aggarwal, P., Hall, J. B., McLeland, C. B., Dobrovolskaia, M. A., and McNeil, S. E. (2009). Nanoparticle interaction with plasma proteins as it relates to particle biodistribution, biocompatibility and therapeutic efficacy. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 61, 428–437. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2009.03.009
- Amoozgar, Z., and Yeo, Y. (2012). Recent advances in stealth coating of nanoparticle drug delivery systems. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 4, 219–233. doi: 10.1002/wnan.1157
- Ashby, J., Pan, S., and Zhong, W. (2014). Size and surface functionalization of iron oxide nanoparticles influence the composition and dynamic nature of their protein corona. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 6, 15412–15419. doi: 10.1021/am503909q
- Baugh, J. A., and Donnelly, S. C. (2003). Macrophage migration inhibitory factor: a neuroendocrine modulator of chronic inflammation. J. Endocrinol. 179, 15–23. doi: 10.1677/joe.0.1790015
- Behzadi, S., Serpooshan, V., Sakhtianchi, R., Müller, B., Landfester, K., Crespy, D., et al. (2014). Protein corona change the drug release profile of nanocarriers: the "overlooked" factor at the nanobio interface. *Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces*. doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2014.09.009. [Epub ahead of print].
- Bertoli, F., Davies, G.-L., Monopoli, M. P., Moloney, M., Gun'ko, Y. K., Salvati, A., et al. (2014). Magnetic nanoparticles to recover cellular organelles and study the time resolved nanoparticle-cell interactome throughout uptake. *Small* 10, 3307–3315. doi: 10.1002/smll.201303841
- Cabral, H., Matsumoto, Y., Mizuno, K., Chen, Q., Murakami, M., Kimura, M., et al. (2011). Accumulation of sub-100 nm polymeric micelles in poorly permeable tumours depends on size. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 6, 815–823. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2011.166
- Cedervall, T., Lynch, I., Lindman, S., Berggård, T., Thulin, E., Nilsson, H., et al. (2007). Understanding the nanoparticle–protein corona using methods to quantify exchange rates and affinities of proteins for nanoparticles. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 2050–2055. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0608582104
- Chauhan, V. P., and Jain, R. K. (2013). Strategies for advancing cancer nanomedicine. Nat. Mater. 12, 958–962. doi: 10.1038/nmat3792
- Choi, H. S., Liu, W., Misra, P., Tanaka, E., Zimmer, J. P., Itty Ipe, B., et al. (2007). Renal clearance of quantum dots. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 25, 1165–1170. doi: 10.1038/nbt1340
- Dai, Q., Walkey, C., and Chan, W. C. W. (2014). Polyethylene glycol backfilling mitigates the negative impact of the protein corona on nanoparticle cell targeting. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 53, 5093–5096. doi: 10.1002/anie.201309464
- Fleischer, C. C., and Payne, C. K. (2014). Secondary structure of corona proteins determines the cell surface receptors used by nanoparticles. J. Phys. Chem. B. doi: 10.1021/jp502624n. [Epub ahead of print].
- Ge, C., Du, J., Zhao, L., Wang, L., Liu, Y., Li, D., et al. (2011). Binding of blood proteins to carbon nanotubes reduces cytotoxicity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 16968–16973. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1105270108
- Gu, F. X., Karnik, R., Wang, A. Z., Alexis, F., Levy-Nissenbaum, E., Hong, S., et al. (2007). Targeted nanoparticles for cancer therapy. *Nano Today* 2, 14–21. doi: 10.1016/S1748-0132(07)70083-X
- Hajipour, M. J., Laurent, S., Aghaie, A., Rezaee, F., and Mahmoudi, M. (2014). Personalized protein coronas: a "key" factor at the nanobiointerface. *Biomater. Sci.* 2, 1210–1221. doi: 10.1039/C4BM00131A
- Hellstrand, E., Lynch, I., Andersson, A., Drakenberg, T., Dahlbäck, B., Dawson, K. A., et al. (2009). Complete high-density lipoproteins in nanoparticle corona. *FEBS J.* 276, 3372–3381. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07062.x

Hubbell, J. A., and Langer, R. (2013). Translating materials design to the clinic. Nat. Mater. 12, 963–966. doi: 10.1038/nmat3788

Karlsson, M., Mårtensson, L.-G., Jonsson, B.-H., and Carlsson, U. (2000). Adsorption of human carbonic anhydrase II variants to silica nanoparticles occur stepwise: binding is followed by successive conformational changes to a molten-globule-like state. *Langmuir* 16, 8470–8479. doi: 10.1021/la0002738

Karmali, P. P., and Simberg, D. (2011). Interactions of nanoparticles with plasma proteins: implication on clearance and toxicity of drug delivery systems. *Expert Opin. Drug Deliv.* 8, 343–357. doi: 10.1517/17425247.2011.554818

Lindman, S., Lynch, I., Thulin, E., Nilsson, H., Dawson, K. A., and Linse, S. (2007). Systematic investigation of the thermodynamics of HSA adsorption to N-iso-propylacrylamide/N-tert-butylacrylamide copolymer nanoparticles. Effects of particle size and hydrophobicity. *Nano Lett.* 7, 914–920. doi: 10.1021/ nl062743+

Linse, S., Cabaleiro-Lago, C., Xue, W. F., Lynch, I., Lindman, S., Thulin, E., et al. (2007). Nucleation of protein fibrillation by nanoparticles. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 104, 8691–8696. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0701250104

Lundqvist, M., Stigler, J., Elia, G., Lynch, I., Cedervall, T., and Dawson, K. A. (2008). Nanoparticle size and surface properties determine the protein corona with possible implications for biological impacts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 14265–14270. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0805135105

Lynch, I., Dawson, K. A., and Linse, S. (2006). Detecting cryptic epitopes created by nanoparticles. *Sci. STKE* 2006:pe14. doi: 10.1126/stke.3272006pe14

Martin, S., Manuela, S.-B., Hakan, S., Shinji, T., Alexander, W., Carsten, S., et al. (2013). Serum protein identification and quantification of the corona of 5, 15 and 80 nm gold nanoparticles. *Nanotechnology* 24:265103. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/24/26/265103

Milani, S., Baldelli Bombelli, F., Pitek, A. S., Dawson, K. A., and R\u00e4dler, J. (2012). Reversible versus irreversible binding of transferrin to polystyrene nanoparticles: soft and hard corona. ACS Nano 6, 2532–2541. doi: 10.1021/nn204951s

Mirshafiee, V., Mahmoudi, M., Lou, K., Cheng, J., and Kraft, M. L. (2013). Protein corona significantly reduces active targeting yield. *Chem. Commun.* 49, 2557–2559. doi: 10.1039/c3cc37307j

Monopoli, M., Pitek, A., Lynch, I., and Dawson, K. (2013). "Formation and characterization of the nanoparticle–protein corona," in *Nanomaterial Interfaces in Biology*, eds P. Bergese and K. Hamad-Schifferli (New York, NY: Humana Press), 137–155. doi: 10.1007/978-1-62703-462-3_11

Monopoli, M. P., Aberg, C., Salvati, A., and Dawson, K. A. (2012). Biomolecular coronas provide the biological identity of nanosized materials. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 7, 779–786. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2012.207

Mortensen, N. P., Hurst, G. B., Wang, W., Foster, C. M., Nallathamby, P. D., and Retterer, S. T. (2013). Dynamic development of the protein corona on silica nanoparticles: composition and role in toxicity. *Nanoscale* 5, 6372–6380. doi: 10.1039/c3nr33280b

Mortimer, G. M., Butcher, N. J., Musumeci, A. W., Deng, Z. J., Martin, D. J., and Minchin, R. F. (2014). Cryptic epitopes of albumin determine mononuclear phagocyte system clearance of nanomaterials. ACS Nano 8, 3357–3366. doi: 10.1021/nn405830g

Nel, A. E., Madler, L., Velegol, D., Xia, T., Hoek, E. M. V., Somasundaran, P., et al. (2009). Understanding biophysicochemical interactions at the nano-bio interface. *Nat. Mater.* 8, 543–557. doi: 10.1038/nmat2442

Owens, D. E. III., and Peppas, N. A. (2006). Opsonization, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics of polymeric nanoparticles. *Int. J. Pharm.* 307, 93–102. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2005.10.010

Paula, A. J., Araujo Junior, R. T., Martinez, D. S., Paredes-Gamero, E. J., Nader, H. B., Duran, N., et al. (2013). Influence of protein corona on the transport of molecules into cells by mesoporous silica nanoparticles. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 5, 8387–8393. doi: 10.1021/am4014693

Pearson, R. M., Hsu, H.-J., Bugno, J., and Hong, S. (2014). Understanding nano-bio interactions to improve nanocarriers for drug delivery. *MRS Bull.* 39, 227–237. doi: 10.1557/mrs.2014.9

Pearson, R. M., Sunoqrot, S., Hsu, H.-J., Bae, J. W., and Hong, S. (2012). Dendritic nanoparticles: the next generation of nanocarriers? *Ther. Deliv.* 3, 941–959. doi: 10.4155/tde.12.76

Peer, D., Karp, J. M., Hong, S., Farokhzad, O. C., Margalit, R., and Langer, R. (2007). Nanocarriers as an emerging platform for cancer therapy. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2, 751–760. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2007.387

Peng, Q., Zhang, S., Yang, Q., Zhang, T., Wei, X.-Q., Jiang, L., et al. (2013). Preformed albumin corona, a protective coating for nanoparticles based drug delivery system. *Biomaterials* 34, 8521–8530. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.07.102

Perry, J. L., Reuter, K. G., Kai, M. P., Herlihy, K. P., Jones, S. W., Luft, J. C., et al. (2012). PEGylated PRINT nanoparticles: the impact of PEG density on protein binding, macrophage association, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics. *Nano Lett.* 12, 5304–5310. doi: 10.1021/nl302638g

Romberg, B., Hennink, W. E., and Storm, G. (2008). Sheddable coatings for long-circulating nanoparticles. *Pharm. Res.* 25, 55–71. doi: 10.1007/s11095-007-9348-7

Sacchetti, C., Motamedchaboki, K., Magrini, A., Palmieri, G., Mattei, M., Bernardini, S., et al. (2013). Surface polyethylene glycol conformation influences the protein corona of polyethylene glycol-modified single-walled carbon nanotubes: potential implications on biological performance. ACS Nano 7, 1974–1989. doi: 10.1021/nn400409h

Sakulkhu, U., Mahmoudi, M., Maurizi, L., Salaklang, J., and Hofmann, H. (2014a). Protein corona composition of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles with various physico-chemical properties and coatings. *Sci. Rep.* 4:5020. doi: 10.1038/srep05020

Sakulkhu, U., Maurizi, L., Mahmoudi, M., Motazacker, M., Vries, M., Gramoun, A., et al. (2014b). *Ex situ* evaluation of the composition of protein corona of intravenously injected superparamagnetic nanoparticles in rats. *Nanoscale* 6, 11439–11450. doi: 10.1039/C4NR02793K

Salvati, A., Pitek, A. S., Monopoli, M. P., Prapainop, K., Bombelli, F. B., Hristov, D. R., et al. (2013). Transferrin-functionalized nanoparticles lose their targeting capabilities when a biomolecule corona adsorbs on the surface. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 8, 137–143. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2012.237

Saptarshi, S. R., Duschl, A., and Lopata, A. L. (2013). Interaction of nanoparticles with proteins: relation to bio-reactivity of the nanoparticle. J. Nanobiotechnol. 11:26. doi: 10.1186/1477-3155-11-26

Shang, L., Wang, Y., Jiang, J., and Dong, S. (2007). pH-dependent protein conformational changes in albumin:gold nanoparticle bioconjugates: a spectroscopic study. *Langmuir* 23, 2714–2721. doi: 10.1021/la062064e

Shannahan, J. H., Lai, X., Ke, P. C., Podila, R., Brown, J. M., and Witzmann, F. A. (2013). Silver nanoparticle protein corona composition in cell culture media. *PLoS ONE* 8:e74001. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074001

Sunoqrot, S., Bugno, J., Lantvit, D., Burdette, J. E., and Hong, S. (2014). Prolonged blood circulation nd enhanced tumor accumulation of folatetargeted dendrimer-polymer hybrid nanoparticles. J. Control. Release 191, 115–122. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.05.006

Tenzer, S., Docter, D., Kuharev, J., Musyanovych, A., Fetz, V., Hecht, R., et al. (2013). Rapid formation of plasma protein corona critically affects nanoparticle pathophysiology. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 8, 772–781. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2013.181

van der Meel, R., Vehmeijer, L. J. C., Kok, R. J., Storm, G., and van Gaal, E. V. B. (2013). Ligand-targeted particulate nanomedicines undergoing clinical evaluation: current status. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 65, 1284–1298. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2013.08.012

Vroman, L., Adams, A. L., Fischer, G. C., and Munoz, P. C. (1980). Interaction of high molecular weight kininogen, factor XII, and fibrinogen in plasma at interfaces. *Blood* 55, 156–159.

Walkey, C. D., Olsen, J. B., Guo, H., Emili, A., and Chan, W. C. W. (2011). Nanoparticle size and surface chemistry determine serum protein adsorption and macrophage uptake. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134, 2139–2147. doi: 10.1021/ja2084338

Walkey, C. D., Olsen, J. B., Song, F., Liu, R., Guo, H., Olsen, D. W., et al. (2014). Protein corona fingerprinting predicts the cellular interaction of gold and silver nanoparticles. ACS Nano 8, 2439–2455. doi: 10.1021/nn406018q

Wolfram, J., Suri, K., Yang, Y., Shen, J., Celia, C., Fresta, M., et al. (2014b). Shrinkage of pegylated and non-pegylated liposomes in serum. *Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces* 114, 294–300. doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2013.10.009

Wolfram, J., Yang, Y., Shen, J., Moten, A., Chen, C., Shen, H., et al. (2014a). The nano-plasma interface: implications of the protein corona. *Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces.* doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2014.02.035. [Epub ahead of print].

Yan, Y., Gause, K. T., Kamphuis, M. M. J., Ang, C.-S., O'Brien-Simpson, N. M., Lenzo, J. C., et al. (2013). Differential roles of the protein corona in the cellular uptake of nanoporous polymer particles by monocyte and macrophage cell lines. ACS Nano 7, 10960–10970. doi: 10.1021/nn404481f

Zhang, L., Gu, F. X., Chan, J. M., Wang, A. Z., Langer, R. S., and Farokhzad, O. C. (2008). Nanoparticles in medicine: therapeutic applications and developments. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 83, 761–769. doi: 10.1038/sj.clpt.6100400 **Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 August 2014; accepted: 11 November 2014; published online: 27 November 2014.

Citation: Pearson RM, Juettner VV and Hong S (2014) Biomolecular corona on nanoparticles: a survey of recent literature and its implications in targeted drug delivery. Front. Chem. 2:108. doi: 10.3389/fchem.2014.00108

This article was submitted to Chemical Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Chemistry.

Copyright © 2014 Pearson, Juettner and Hong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The application of magnetic nanoparticles for the treatment of brain tumors

Keon Mahmoudi¹ and Costas G. Hadjipanayis²*

¹ Georgia Institute of Technology, School of Biology, Atlanta, GA, USA

² Brain Tumor Nanotechnology Laboratory, Department of Neurosurgery, Winship Cancer Institute of Emory University, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA, USA

*Correspondence: chadjip@emory.edu

Edited by:

Jesús M. De La Fuente, Universidad de Zaragoza, Spain

Reviewed by:

Manuel Ocana, Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas, Spain María Luisa García-Martín, Andalusian Centre for Nanomedicine and Biotechnology, Spain

Keywords: nanotheranostics, magnetic nanoparticles, hyperthermia, nanoparticles, imaging, glioblastoma

INTRODUCTION

Glioblastoma (GBM), a World Health Organization (WHO) grade IV astrocytoma, is the most common and difficult primary brain tumor to treat (Braun et al., 2012). Even when detected early, the median survival rate for patients is 12–15 months (Adamson et al., 2009; Johnson and O'Neill, 2012). The challenge in treating GBM arises from its resistance to therapies such as radiotherapy and chemotherapy. GBM tumors are quite infiltrative into the surrounding normal brain permitting tumors to recur locally in the majority of patients.

The current standard of care treatment for GBM involves surgery and radiation, with concurrent and adjuvant chemotherapy (Stupp et al., 2005). Surgery permits the bulk of a GBM tumor to be removed in most cases. All patients have residual tumor cells residing away from the resection cavity that eventually lead to local tumor recurrence and the demise of the majority of patients (Hou et al., 2006). The infiltrating GBM cells reside centimeters away from the main tumor mass in normal brain making it difficult for complete surgical removal (Kim et al., 2014). Chemotherapy and radiotherapy of patients after surgery attempts to target these cells to prolong overall patient survival. The blood brain barrier (BBB) represents another challenge to the treatment of GBM tumors by preventing the accumulation of most chemotherapeutics into the brain to target the infiltrative cancer cells (Salazar et al., 1976; Bidros and Vogelbaum, 2009). Surgery and adjuvant therapies pose risks to the patient such as neurologic deficits and systemic toxicities. Known side effects of radiation therapy with chemotherapy for brain tumors include chronic fatigue, nausea, and cognitive deficits (Loehrer et al., 2011).

The BBB remains a formidable challenge in the treatment of GBM and malignant brain tumors. Its selective permeability is due to the presence of specialized endothelial cells, astrocytes, pericytes, and neuronal terminals (Tajes et al., 2014). The semi-permeable membrane that comprises the BBB prevents sufficient exposure of tumors to most chemotherapeutic drugs that are commonly used to fight tumor progression (Liu et al., 2010). Local disruption of the BBB is found within GBM tumors. The tumor vessels in GBM tumors are abnormal both structurally and functionally (Batchelor et al., 2007). The abnormal tumor vessels further impair delivery of therapeutics and create a hypoxic microenvironment that can reduce the effectiveness of radiation and chemotherapy. Antiangiogenic therapy attempts to normalize the tumor vasculature and improve the tumor microenvironment (Jain, 2001, 2005). Outside of the main tumor mass, the BBB is intact where brain cancer cells infiltrate into the surrounding normal brain. The oral chemotherapy agent, temozolomide (Temodar), can penetrate the BBB and has resulted in prolongation of overall survival patient survival by several months (Stupp et al., 2005).

The challenges associated with the treatment of GBM tumors require novel approaches for a greater impact on patient survival and quality of life for patients.

MAGNETIC NANOPARTICLES (MNPs)

MNPs are most commonly comprised of ferromagnetic iron-oxide (Fe₃O₄). They are invisible to the naked eye, typically measuring 1-100 nm in diameter (Sandhiya et al., 2009). MNPs can be designed to target cancer by modification of their surface with the addition of a peptide or antibody specific to cancer cells (Hadjipanayis et al., 2010). For biomedical applications, they can deliver targeted therapy to specific regions of the body. MNPs can be administered into the blood stream systemically and directed to a target with application of an external magnetic field (Pankhurst et al., 2003). Particles can be engineered to carry a drug, which can be released once the particles reach their target. In vivo experiments have shown the effects of MNPs within a magnetic field on glioma cells lasting up to 100 min postexposure (Braun et al., 2012). In a separate study with rabbits, intravenous injection of specially designed MNPs and subsequent exposure to an external magnetic field resulted in permanent remission of squamous cell carcinoma tumors (Chertok et al., 2008). While intravenous administration is feasible with tumors in other parts of the body, the BBB remains a formidable challenge for systemic delivery of agents for treatment of brain tumors. For the treatment of patients with GBMs, direct intratumoral delivery provides the

greatest concentration of therapeutic while minimizing systemic toxicities.

MRI CONTRAST ENHANCEMENT OF BRAIN TUMORS

MNPs also serve as a powerful aid for the imaging of brain tumors. Their inherent ferromagnetic qualities provide sensitive contrast enhancement with MR imaging (Liu et al., 2010). Accumulation of MNPs in brain tumors appears as a hypointensity on T2-weighted imaging including gradient echo imaging (Na et al., 2007). Functionalized MNPs can be engineered to target brain cancer cells which can in turn be identified with MR imaging. For standard visualization of tumors, MNPs can provide more sensitive imaging of tumors when used as a contrast agent for MRI (Kumar et al., 2010).

Ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (USPIONPs), a subclass of superparamagnetic MNPs, are the most effective types of MNPs that can be used for imaging purposes (Thorek et al., 2006). Their systemic half-life is two to three times greater than standard MNPs and are capable of being imaged by MRI for longer periods of time (Varallyay et al., 2002). In a recent study, it was noted that USPIONPs can be used to detect areas within brain tumors with increased blood flow, which may be indicative of tumor recurrence (Gambarota and Leenders, 2011). They can also be used to identify areas of pseudoprogression in brain tumors after standard adjuvant therapies such as radiotherapy and chemotherapy (Gahramanov et al., 2011).

HYPERTHERMIA

Hyperthermia for the treatment of different cancers has been well described in the past. Elevation of targeted areas of the body above 40°C can result in cancer cell death (Wust et al., 2002). In one study, researchers concluded that even moderate hyperthermia at a temperature around 45°C was enough to cause tumor cells to undergo apoptosis (Pu et al., 2013). Furthermore, local or regional hyperthermia can result in elevated blood flow, which may assist in the delivery of other treatments, such as chemotherapy, which could result in a synergistic antitumor effect (Kampinga, 2006; Issels, 2008).

While local or regional hyperthermia can be effective in treating cancer involving different parts of the body, treating brain tumors is difficult due to the surrounding skull (Jordan et al., 1999). Heat applied to the head is shielded by the skull which results in less than optimal temperature increases in the brain. Temperature elevation of the entire brain for prolonged periods of time would result in side effects and toxicities to patients. To provide a more targeted hyperthermia effect for brain tumors, MNPs may be delivered intratumorally prior to treatment with alternating magnetic fields. This process, known as thermotherapy, aims to deliver a greater hyperthermia effect locally to brain tumors while minimizing heating of the surrounding brain.

THERMOTHERAPY

Due to the side effects and toxicities of subjecting the entire brain to hyperthermia for extended periods of time, localized treatment is necessary for effective brain tumor therapy. Direct implantation of MNPs into brain tumors can bypass the BBB and allow for a maximum hyperthermic effect provided in a targeted manner Figure 1. Brain autopsies of two GBM patients after MNP injection, confirmed that the MNPs were retained within tumor tissue after implantation (Van Landeghem et al., 2009). Once injected into tumors, MNPs are subjected to an alternating magnetic field (AMF) which produces heat via the Brownian Néel relaxation process (Thiesen and Jordan, 2008; Deissler et al., 2014).

The localized hyperthermic effect, known as thermotherapy, involves the application of an alternating magnetic field (Maier-Hauff et al., 2011) Figure 1. When applying a magnetic field to the target area, the strength of the hyperthermic treatment is dependent on a variety of factors including the strength of the AMF, the size and concentration of the MNPs, and the time in which the field is applied to the tumor region (Yanase et al., 1997; Guedes et al., 2004; Meenach et al., 2010). Targeted treatment is necessary because prolonged application of hyperthermia to healthy tissue can result in unwanted side effects and toxicities (Fajardo, 1984). In order to minimize the risk of systemic toxicities, the hyperthermic treatment is only

applied for a brief period of time to allow for the MNPs within the targeted region to heat up and cause necrosis or death of the cancer cells. In human patients with brain tumors, it was determined that hyperthermia with temperatures from 42°C to 49°C were safe and caused very few side effects for the patient (Maier-Hauff et al., 2007).

Thermotherapy does induce the death of malignant cells (Marcos-Campos et al., 2011). When a MNP is subjected to an alternating magnetic field, its internal temperature increases. This heat is then transferred locally to the abnormal cells situated around the nanoparticles which further results in tumor death (Fajardo, 1984). With thermotherapy, only the targeted tumor region is exposed to increased temperatures, resulting in localized necrosis. When clinicians studied the benefits of using thermotherapy in conjunction with radiotherapy in relapsed GBM, they reported an overall survival of 13.4 months compared to just 6.2 months with radiotherapy and Temozolomide alone (Maier-Hauff et al., 2011). Current limitations to the use of MNPs for thermotherapy of brain tumor patients include the high MNP concentration required to generate hyperthermia precluding the use of MRI, as well as the effective delivery of the MNPs (Wankhede et al., 2012).

The decreased resistance to heat observed in GBM cells is not as clearly presented when conducting experiments with in vitro samples (Issels, 2008). Cancer cells that reside in tumors are more susceptible to damage from heat than cancer cells that are in vitro (Rhee et al., 1990). This contrasts heavily with the significant difference in immunity that is observed when experiments are conducted using in vivo models. One explanation for this difference is that the vascular network within the tumor is abnormal which can lead to areas that have a difference in pH as well as decreased availability of oxygen (Issels, 2008).

CONCLUSION

Thermotherapy involving the use of an AMF in conjunction with MNPs has proven to be an effective method for treating patients with GBM. Initial tests have shown that MNPs have minimal toxicities to patients, though further testing must be done to confirm these findings



(Mahmoudi et al., 2012). Much like other methods that are used to combat GBM, MNPs do not serve as a cure on their own; they have shown to be most effective when used as an adjuvant therapy with other treatment modalities. Combining fractionated radiotherapy with thermotherapy has shown a survival advantage in patients with relapsed GBM (Maier-Hauff et al., 2011).

With further research, scientists can bioengineer multitasking MNPs that can be used for imaging, drug delivery, and localized thermotherapy (Hadjipanayis et al., 2013). Better targeting of MNPs may provide more effective treatment of GBM. The bioconjugation of drugs, monoclonal antibodies, or peptides specific to cancer cells will improve targeting. MNPs appear to be well tolerated when delivered directly into the human brain with few side effects associated with them. Further testing of MNPs with standard of care chemotherapy, such as temozolomide, needs to be completed in patients with malignant brain tumors. MNPs will likely assume a larger role in brain cancer treatment, with other adjuvant therapies being used to complement magnetic nanoparticles (Kim et al., 2014).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Eric Jablonowski for his assistance with producing the figures. We would like to thank Drs. Alexandros Bouras and Milota Kaluzova for their assistance with reviewing the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Adamson, C., Kanu, O. O., Mehta, A. I., Di, C., Lin, N., Mattox, A. K., et al. (2009). Glioblastoma multiforme: a review of where we have been and where we are going. *Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs* 18, 1061–1083. doi: 10.1517/135437809030 52764
- Batchelor, T. T., Sorensen, A. G., Di Tomaso, E., Zhang, W. T., Duda, D. G., Cohen, K. S., et al. (2007). AZD2171, a pan-VEGF receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, normalizes tumor vasculature and alleviates edema in glioblastoma patients. *Cancer Cell* 11, 83–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2006.11.021
- Bidros, D. S., and Vogelbaum, M. A. (2009). Novel drug delivery strategies in neurooncology. *Neurotherapeutics* 6, 539–546. doi: 10.1016/j.nurt.2009.04.004
- Braun, S., Oppermann, H., Mueller, A., Renner, C., Hovhannisyan, A., Baran-Schmidt, R., et al. (2012). Hedgehog signaling in glioblastoma multiforme. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* 13, 487–495. doi: 10.4161/cbt.19591

- Chertok, B., Moffat, B. A., David, A. E., Yu, F., Bergemann, C., Ross, B. D., et al. (2008). Iron oxide nanoparticles as a drug delivery vehicle for MRI monitored magnetic targeting of brain tumors. *Biomaterials* 29, 487–496. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2007.08.050
- Deissler, R. J., Wu, Y., and Martens, M. A. (2014). Dependence of brownian and neel relaxation times on magnetic field strength. *Med. Phys.* 41, 012301. doi: 10.1118/1.4837216
- Fajardo, L. F. (1984). Pathological effects of hyperthermia in normal tissues. *Cancer Res.* 44, 4826s–4835s.
- Gahramanov, S., Raslan, A. M., Muldoon, L. L., Hamilton, B. E., Rooney, W. D., Varallyay, C. G., et al. (2011). Potential for differentiation of pseudoprogression from true tumor progression with dynamic susceptibility-weighted contrastenhanced magnetic resonance imaging using ferumoxytol vs. gadoteridol: a pilot study. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 79, 514–523. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2009.10.072
- Gambarota, G., and Leenders, W. (2011). Characterization of tumor vasculature in mouse brain by USPIO contrast-enhanced MRI. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 771, 477–487. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-219-9 25
- Guedes, M. H. A., Guedes, M. E. A., Morais, P. C., Da Silva, M. F., Santos, T. S., Alves, J. P. Jr., et al. (2004). Proposal of a magnetohyperthermia system: preliminary biological tests. *J. Magn. Magn. Mat.* 272–276(Pt 3), 2406–2407. doi: 10.1016/j.jmmm.2003.12.709
- Hadjipanayis, C. G., Bouras, A., and Chang, S. (2013). Applications of multifunctional nanoparticles in malignant brain tumours. *Eur. Assoc. Neurooncol. Mag.* 4, 9–15.
- Hadjipanayis, C. G., Machaidze, R., Kaluzova, M., Wang, L., Schuette, A. J., Chen, H., et al. (2010). EGFRVIII antibody-conjugated iron oxide nanoparticles for magnetic resonance imagingguided convection-enhanced delivery and targeted therapy of glioblastoma. *Cancer Res.* 70, 6303–6312. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472
- Hou, L. C., Veeravagu, A., Hsu, A. R., and Tse, V. C. (2006). Recurrent glioblastoma multiforme: a review of natural history and management options. *Neurosurg. Focus* 20, E5. doi: 10.3171/foc.2006.20.4.2
- Issels, R. D. (2008). Hyperthermia adds to chemotherapy. *Eur. J. Cancer* 44, 2546–2554. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2008.07.038
- Jain, R. K. (2001). Normalizing tumor vasculature with anti-angiogenic therapy: a new paradigm for combination therapy. *Nat. Med.* 7, 987–989. doi: 10.1038/nm0901-987
- Jain, R. K. (2005). Normalization of tumor vasculature: an emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy. *Science* 307, 58–62. doi: 10.1126/science.1104819
- Johnson, D., and O'Neill, B. (2012). Glioblastoma survival in the United States before and during the temozolomide era. J. Neuro Oncol. 107, 359–364. doi: 10.1007/s11060-011-0749-4
- Jordan, A., Scholz, R., Wust, P., Fähling, H., and Roland, F. (1999). Magnetic fluid hyperthermia (MFH): cancer treatment with AC magnetic field

induced excitation of biocompatible superparamagnetic nanoparticles. J. Magn. Magn. Mat. 201, 413–419. doi: 10.1016/S0304-8853(99)00088-8

- Kampinga, H. H. (2006). Cell biological effects of hyperthermia alone or combined with radiation or drugs: a short introduction to newcomers in the field. *Int. J. Hyperthermia* 22, 191–196. doi: 10.1080/02656730500532028
- Kim, S.-S., Rait, A., Kim, E., Pirollo, K. F., Nishida, M., Farkas, N., et al. (2014). A nanoparticle carrying the p53 gene targets tumors including cancer stem cells, sensitizes glioblastoma to chemotherapy and improves survival. ACS Nano 8, 5494–5514. doi: 10.1021/nn5014484
- Kumar, M., Medarova, Z., Pantazopoulos, P., Dai, G., and Moore, A. (2010). Novel membranepermeable contrast agent for brain tumor detection by MRI. *Magn. Reson. Med.* 63, 617–624. doi: 10.1002/mrm.22216
- Liu, H.-L., Hua, M.-Y., Yang, H.-W., Huang, C.-Y., Chu, P.-C., Wu, J.-S., et al. (2010). Magnetic resonance monitoring of focused ultrasound/magnetic nanoparticle targeting delivery of therapeutic agents to the brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 107, 15205–15210. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1003 388107
- Loehrer, P. J. Sr., Feng, Y., Cardenes, H., Wagner, L., Brell, J. M., Cella, D., et al. (2011). Gemcitabine alone versus gemcitabine plus radiotherapy in patients with locally advanced pancreatic cancer: an eastern cooperative oncology group trial. J. Clin. Oncol. 29, 4105–4112. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.34.8904
- Mahmoudi, M., Hofmann, H., Rothen-Rutishauser, B., and Petri-Fink, A. (2012). Assessing the *in vitro* and *in vivo* toxicity of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles. *Chem. Rev.* 112, 2323–2338. doi: 10.1021/cr2002596
- Maier-Hauff, K., Rothe, R., Scholz, R., Gneveckow, U., Wust, P., Thiesen, B., et al. (2007). Intracranial thermotherapy using magnetic nanoparticles combined with external beam radiotherapy: results of a feasibility study on patients with glioblastoma multiforme. J. Neurooncol. 81, 53–60. doi: 10.1007/s11060-006-9195-0
- Maier-Hauff, K., Ulrich, F., Nestler, D., Niehoff, H., Wust, P., Thiesen, B., et al. (2011). Efficacy and safety of intratumoral thermotherapy using magnetic iron-oxide nanoparticles combined with external beam radiotherapy on patients with recurrent glioblastoma multiforme. *J. Neurooncol.* 103, 317–324. doi: 10.1007/s11060-010-0389-0
- Marcos-Campos, I., Asín, L., Torres, T. E., Marquina, C., Tres, A., Ibarra, M. R., et al. (2011). Cell death induced by the application of alternating magnetic fields to nanoparticle-loaded dendritic cells. *Nanotechnology* 22:205101. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/22/20/205101
- Meenach, S. A., Hilt, J. Z., and Anderson, K. W. (2010). Poly(ethylene glycol)-based magnetic hydrogel nanocomposites for hyperthermia cancer therapy. *Acta Biomater.* 6, 1039–1046. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2009.10.017
- Na, H. B., Lee, J. H., An, K., Park, Y. I., Park, M., Lee, I. S., et al. (2007). Development of a T1 contrast agent for magnetic resonance imaging using MnO nanoparticles. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 46, 5397–5401. doi: 10.1002/anie.200604775

- Pankhurst, Q. A., Connolly, J., Jones, S. K., and Dobson, J. (2003). Applications of magnetic nanoparticles in biomedicine. J. Phys. D 36, R167. doi: 10.1088/0022-3727/36/13/201
- Pu, P.-Y., Zhang, Y.-Z., and Jiang, D.-H. (2013). Apoptosis induced by hyperthermia in human glioblastoma cell line and murine glioblastoma. *Chin. J. Cancer Res.* 12, 257–262. doi: 10.1007/BF02983501
- Rhee, J. G., Eddy, H. A., Harrison, G. H., and Salazar, O. M. (1990). Heat-sensitive state of mouse mammary carcinoma cells in tumors. *Radiat. Res.* 123, 165–170. doi: 10.2307/3577540
- Salazar, O. M., Rubin, P., McDonald, J. V., and Feldstein, M. L. (1976). High dose radiation therapy in the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme: a preliminary report. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 1, 717–727. doi: 10.1016/0360-3016(76)90155-3
- Sandhiya, S., Dkhar, S. A., and Surendiran, A. (2009). Emerging trends of nanomedicine–an overview. *Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol.* 23, 263–269. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-8206.2009.00692.x
- Stupp, R., Mason, W. P., Van Den Bent, M. J., Weller, M., Fisher, B., Taphoorn, M. J., et al. (2005). Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 352, 987–996. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa043330
- Tajes, M., Ramos-Fernandez, E., Weng-Jiang, X., Bosch-Morato, M., Guivernau, B., Eraso-Pichot, A., et al. (2014). The blood-brain barrier: structure, function and therapeutic approaches to cross it. *Mol. Membr. Biol.* 31, 152–167. doi: 10.3109/09687688.2014.937468
- Thiesen, B., and Jordan, A. (2008). Clinical applications of magnetic nanoparticles for hyperthermia. Int. J. Hyperthermia. 24, 467–474. doi: 10.1080/02656730802104757
- Thorek, D. L., Chen, A. K., Czupryna, J., and Tsourkas, A. (2006). Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticle probes for molecular imaging. *Ann. Biomed. Eng.* 34, 23–38. doi: 10.1007/s10439-005-9002-7
- Van Landeghem, F. K. H., Maier-Hauff, K., Jordan, A., Hoffmann, K.-T., Gneveckow, U., Scholz, R., et al. (2009). Post-mortem studies in glioblastoma patients treated with thermotherapy using magnetic nanoparticles. *Biomaterials* 30, 52–57. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.09.044
- Varallyay, P., Nesbit, G., Muldoon, L. L., Nixon, R. R., Delashaw, J., Cohen, J. I., et al. (2002). Comparison of two superparamagnetic viral-sized iron oxide particles ferumoxides and ferumoxtran-10 with a gadolinium chelate in imaging intracranial tumors. *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 23, 510–519.
- Wankhede, M., Bouras, A., Kaluzova, M., and Hadjipanayis, C. G. (2012). Magnetic nanoparticles: an emerging technology for malignant brain tumor imaging and therapy. *Exp. Rev. Clin. Pharmacol.* 5, 173–186. doi: 10.1586/ecp.12.1
- Wust, P., Hildebrandt, B., Sreenivasa, G., Rau, B., Gellermann, J., Riess, H., et al. (2002). Hyperthermia in combined treatment of cancer. *Lancet Oncol.* 3, 487–497. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(02)00818-5
- Yanase, M., Shinkai, M., Honda, H., Wakabayashi, T., Yoshida, J., and Kobayashi, T. (1997). Intracellular hyperthermia for cancer using magnetite cationic liposomes: *ex vivo* study. *Jpn. J. Cancer Res.* 88, 630–632. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.1997.tb00429.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 16 September 2014; accepted: 17 November 2014; published online: 03 December 2014.

Citation: Mahmoudi K and Hadjipanayis CG (2014) The application of magnetic nanoparticles for the treatment of brain tumors. Front. Chem. **2**:109. doi: 10.3389/ fchem.2014.00109

This article was submitted to Chemical Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Chemistry.

Copyright © 2014 Mahmoudi and Hadjipanayis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of

the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Molecular imaging of breast cancer: present and future directions

David Alcantara *, Manuel Pernia Leal, Irene García-Bocanegra and Maria L. García-Martín

Laboratory of Metabolomics and Molecular Imaging, BIONAND, Centro Andaluz de Nanomedicina y Biotecnología (Junta de Andalucía, Universidad de Málaga), Malaga, Spain

Edited by:

João Conde, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA

Reviewed by:

Marc Poirot, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale, France Giuseppe Esposito, Georgetown University Hospital, USA

*Correspondence:

David Alcantara, Laboratory of Metabolomics and Molecular Imaging, Centro Andaluz de Nanomedicina y Biotecnologia (BIONAND), C/Servero Ochoa, 35, 29590 Campanillas, Malaga, Spain e-mail: dalcantara@bionand.es Medical imaging technologies have undergone explosive growth over the past few decades and now play a central role in clinical oncology. But the truly transformative power of imaging in the clinical management of cancer patients lies ahead. Today, imaging is at a crossroads, with molecularly targeted imaging agents expected to broadly expand the capabilities of conventional anatomical imaging methods. Molecular imaging will allow clinicians to not only see where a tumor is located in the body, but also to visualize the expression and activity of specific molecules (e.g., proteases and protein kinases) and biological processes (e.g., apoptosis, angiogenesis, and metastasis) that influence tumor behavior and/or response to therapy. Breast cancer, the most common cancer among women and a research area where our group is actively involved, is a very heterogeneous disease with diverse patterns of development and response to treatment. Hence, molecular imaging is expected to have a major impact on this type of cancer, leading to important improvements in diagnosis, individualized treatment, and drug development, as well as our understanding of how breast cancer arises.

Keywords: breast cancer, molecular imaging of breast, breast cancer diagnosis, contrast agents, breast imaging techniques, breast magnetic resonance imaging

INTRODUCTION

Modern clinical cancer treatments require precise positional information. Where is the tumor located? How large is it? Is it confined, or has it spread to the lymph nodes? Does it involve any critical anatomical structures that would alter the treatment strategy? These questions are being answered, at ever-increasing spatial resolution, through the application of traditional anatomical imaging methods such as computed xray tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and ultrasound (US). Although these methods still represent the mainstay of clinical imaging, it has become clear that the acquisition of molecular and physiological information by nuclear magnetic resonance and optical imaging technologies could vastly enhance our ability to fight cancer (Weissleder, 2006).

Emerging genomic and proteomic technologies have the potential to transform the way in which breast cancer is clinically managed. Molecular imaging is poised to play a central role in this transformation, because it will allow the integration of molecular and physiological information specific to each patient with anatomical information obtained by conventional imaging methods. The hope is that clinical molecular imaging will one day be used to achieve the following: (i) the early detection of molecular or physiological alterations that signal the presence of cancer when it is still at a curable stage, (ii) the ability to evaluate and adjust treatment protocols in real time, and (iii) the ability to streamline the cancer drug development process.

The development of new breast cancer therapeutics is expensive, time-consuming, and often requires vast numbers of patients. Molecular imaging is currently one of the most powerful non-invasive techniques used in clinical diagnosis that exhibits a high potential to improve the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of drug development programs. In this article we present a short review on the main techniques and the perspectives of future Breast Cancer Imaging.

IMAGING TECHNIQUES FOR BREAST CANCER

Mammography and ultrasound are the most common methods used for diagnosis and guided intervention in breast disease. The relevance of breast MRI has been also increased, fulfiling an important role in operated breasts and suspicious lesions. Multiple diagnostic techniques, including tomosynthesis, mammography and ultrasound contrast elastography, 3D ultrasound, diffusion and perfusion and breast spectroscopy, have also been developed. Moreover, the use of the American College of Radiology (ARC) BIRADS scale (Breast Imaging Reporting and Data System) has been implemented in diagnostic centers during the last decade (American College of Radiology, 2003). BIRADS classification started in the late 1980s to address a lack of standardization and uniformity in mammography practice reporting (McLelland et al., 1991). The BIRADS lexicon provided new opportunities for quality assurance, communication, research, and improved patient care. Many well-respected groups participated in this development initiative to establish a broad base of support (D'orsi and Kopans, 1997; Burnside et al., 2009; Mercado, 2014).

The BIRADS scale is a classification of breast disease according to radiological findings that includes six grades of malignancy and indicates the actions that must be followed for each grade (**Figure 1**). The implementation of BIRADS has allowed us to


homogenize the diagnosis and injury treatment methods in all centers.

BIRADS CLASSIFICATION

- **Category 0:** Additional imaging evaluation and/or comparison to prior mammograms is needed.
- Category 1: Negative.
- Category 2: Benign (non-cancerous) finding.
- **Category 3:** Probably benign finding Follow-up in a short time frame is suggested.
- **Category 4:** Suspicious abnormality Biopsy should be considered:

Category 4A: Finding with a low suspicion of being cancer.

Category 4B: Finding with an intermediate suspicion of being cancer.

Category 4C: Finding of moderate concern of being cancer, but not as high as Category 5.

- **Category 5:** Highly suggestive of malignancy Appropriate action should be taken.
- **Category 6:** Known biopsy-proven malignancy Appropriate action should be taken.

The main diagnosis and monitoring techniques of breast disease include mammography, ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

MAMMOGRAPHY

Mammography is the most commonly used method for the monitoring and diagnosis of breast disease. In recent years, digital mammography has been developed, which requires lower doses of radiation as compared to a conventional mammography, and also allows the post-processing of images.

Mammography is also used to guide interventional breast techniques, such as stereotactic mammography. Two mammographic views, cranio-caudal and oblique medium lateral are usually performed and complemented with other projections according to needs. This technique has high sensitivity for the diagnosis of microcalcifications. It is also used for breast screening, allowing the detection of breast lesions at a very early stage, which increases considerably the life expectancy of affected patients. According to the screening program, a mammography is usually performed every two years (two projections) in women over the age of 40 or 50, with double read by two different radiologists (Houssami et al., 2009).

However, mammography still present some drawbacks. Firstly, it is an ionizing technique, and although the radiation dose has considerably decreased, it is still relevant if we take into account that the breast is a radiosensitive tissue. Secondly, mammography cannot differentiate between liquid lesions, including cysts, and solid lesions, which is a major limitation for the accurate identification of tumor masses.

Two innovative techniques are included within mammography:

Contrast-enhanced mammography

Contrast mammography, as well as MRI, allows dynamic vascular studies to be performed. Several parameters can be extracted from the enhancement curve that provide useful diagnostic information, such as the slope and the time to peak. Thus, lesions with early and intense enhancement are suggestive of malignancy (Fallenberg et al., 2014).

This type of study has been satisfactorily used for the analysis of inconclusive lesions, the detection of occult lesions, the monitoring of disease progression and to assess chemotherapy response (Dromain et al., 2009).

Tomosynthesis

Tomosynthesis techniques allow us to carry out threedimensional breast studies. It consists of a mammography device that uses a rotary head tube, performing different projections of a static breast with a specified angle (between 15° and 45°). It can be considered a tomographic application of digital mammography. Tomosynthesis has even been proposed as a new screening method (Waldherr et al., 2013). Tomosynthesis has demonstrated superior accuracy compared to mammography in tumor measurements and reduced the suspicious presentations of normal tissues and tissue overlap, and facilitated accurate differentiation of lesion types (Fornvik et al., 2010; Alakhras et al., 2013).

ULTRASOUND

Ultrasound complements mammography, being a required method for the management and diagnosis of breast pathology (**Figure 2**). Because it does not use ionizing radiation, ultrasound is not only the first diagnostic tool in young women who have little risk of breast cancer, but also the first diagnostic technique in



FIGURE 2 | Breast cancer ultrasound images.

pregnant and breastfeeding women. Moreover, it has high sensitivity to show tumor margins and the internal characteristics of tissue, and it is used as complementary technique to mammography for the study of dense breasts and to assess lymph node status. It is also frequently used for breast intervention, for guided biopsy and for the placement of harpoons. In recent years, different ultrasound techniques for the breast pathology studies have been developed, including:

Ultrasound contrast

Ultrasound contrast involves the intravenous injection of perfluorocarbon microbubbles to observe the behavior of breast lesions by ultrasound. The perfusion area and the signal intensity curves in relation to time are obtained using this method. Ultrasound contrast is used for diagnosis, detection of recurrence and monitoring of treatment response, and is particularly useful as a guide for puncture of suspicious lymph nodes, as metastatic lymph node areas do not capture contrast and can be therefore differentiated from healthy areas.

On the other hand, 3D ultrasound is particularly useful for the study of breast lesion with contrast, because it allows the assessment of nodes with contrast in three dimensions (Jia et al., 2014).

Elastography

This technique is based on the same principle as breast tenderness and can determine the hardness of the lesion by measuring the elastic properties of tissues by ultrasound, as the lower the hardness of a lesion, the higher the probability of being benign, and vice versa. Elastography has been shown to be very useful in the assessment of benign lesions (BIRADS 3) (Itoh et al., 2006; Scaperrotta et al., 2008).

MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING (MRI)

MRI is an important diagnostic tool frequently used to study breast disease. It currently has specific indications, including evaluation of response to treatment, screening in high-risk patients, study of occult breast cancer, study of tumor recurrence and assessment of breast prostheses. MRI can be also recommended for the staging of breast cancer, the study of microcalcifications, breast discharge, premalignant lesions, residual tumor in operated patients or in case of inconclusive findings by mammography and ultrasound (Mann et al., 2008; Sardanelli et al., 2010). The MRI techniques applied to the study of breast cancer are based on both the assessment of the morphological features of the lesions and the characteristics of contrast enhancement of these lesions. Malignant tumors have a disorganized angiogenesis showing specific morphological and functional characteristics.

The MRI study includes pre-contrast T2 sequences and postcontrast 3D T1-weighted gradient Eco. Several parameters are analyzed in the contrast studies, such as the slope of the enhancement curve during both the uptake and wash out phases, the time to peak enhancement or the maximal relative enhancement. These analyses can differentiate benign from malignant lesions. Image post-processing plays an important role in dynamic contrast MRI because it provides the radiologist with additional parametric information that can be crucial for a more accurate diagnosis. Thus, typical post-processing processes include subtraction of images, projections of maximum signal intensity (MIP), multiplanar reconstructions (MPR) and time curves of suspicious lesions uptake (Kuhl, 2007; Partridge, 2008).

Currently, there are two classification systems for the diagnostic criteria in breast MRI: the Fischer and the ACR classifications. Both present common diagnostic criteria, integrating morphological and dynamic uptake information. The ACR classification presents common criteria with the BIRADS classification of mammography and ultrasound (Agrawal et al., 2009; Morris Ea et al., 2013). During the last few years, other MR techniques have been proposed for the study of breast cancer, namely diffusion MRI and spectroscopy.

Diffusion MRI

Diffusion MRI techniques are based on the application of field gradients to enhance the signal lost due to the Brownian motion of water molecules. The diffusion weighting is determined by the strength and duration of the diffusion gradients, and the time between the gradient pulses, which is all quantified by the bfactor. The exponential fit of signal intensity vs. the b values provides the apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC), whose values reflect the restriction of water motion in any given tissue and, in the case of tumor growth, it has been related to cellularity. Malignant tumors usually have high cellularity and therefore present low ADC values as compared to benign lesions. Diffusion MRI is a quick technique that does not require the use of contrast agents and its implementation has been recommended as part of a routine protocol for breast MRI. The main disadvantages of diffusion MRI are the low spatial resolution and the lack of specificity to differentiate between benign and malignant tumors (Guo et al., 2002; Peters et al., 2008).

MR spectroscopy

Breast spectroscopy provides information about the metabolic profile of tumor tissue, being the most important metabolite in breast spectroscopy tCho (total choline), which has been related to tumor proliferation activity. The use of spectroscopy has been shown to increase the specificity of MR for the differentiation of benign and malignant lesions. Several studies indicate the association between the choline peak with the response to the treatment. In this sense, Tozaki et al. (2010) found that the reduction of choline peak is more sensitive to determining the response to treatment than the decrease of tumor size. Furthermore, the combination of spectroscopy and diffusion MRI data have demonstrated a high specificity to characterize benign and malignant lesions (Tsougos et al., 2014).

CONTRAST AGENTS

In spite of the multiple image diagnostic tools commented on above, radiologists still find some difficulties when diagnosing early stage breast tumor malignancies due to the lack of sensibility given for these techniques. Early detection has become one of the most important issues in the cancer treatment, and researchers have improved this issue by developing external substances called contrast agents that enhance the sensibility of images in the region of interest. This fact allows improvement to the quality and the follow-up of molecular processes at the cellular and molecular levels of the region under study. The more common contrast agents used in clinical studies are gadolinium- and iodine-based structures for magnetic resonance imaging and mammography (X-ray) respectively, however other contrast agents such as radiotracers are being investigated as potential biomarkers for daily clinical practice.

MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING CONTRAST AGENTS

As noted above, the gadolinium-based contrast agents are the most commonly used in clinical practice, generating a positive image of the nearby tissues. The presence of gadolinium ions shortens the T₁ relaxation time, thus generating an increase of the intensity in the images (bright signal or positive image) that help to distinguish malignancies from other benign pathologies (Zhou and Lu, 2013). However, gadolinium is a high toxic paramagnetic cation (Gd^{3+}) that needs to be protected from the body, so gadolinium is mainly reacted with chelate ligands thus minimizing the toxicity effects from the free gadolinium (Gd^{3+}) . Therefore, the most typically used gadolinium chelates as MRI contrast agents in clinical practice are gadopentetate dimeglumine (Gd-DTPA, Magnevist®), gadoterate dimeglumine (Gd-DOTA, Dotarem[®]), gadoteridol (Gd(HP-DO3A), Prohance[®]), and gadodiamine (Gd(DTPA-BMA), Omniscan®). These contrast agents, approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), present excellent biodistribution within the extracellular space, and fast renal clearance from the body with half-lives of 1-2 h. Albeit the most used gadolinium-based contrast agents are the Gd-chelates, complex gadolinium-based contrast agents have been developed to improve their T1 relaxation time and pharmacokinetics. These complexes provide well-defined advantages over Gd-chelates due to slow rotational motion, they are a combination of Gd-chelates, such as Gd-DTPA and Gd-DOTA, and dendrimers (Li et al., 2013) or liposomes (Huang and Tsourkas, 2013; Zhou and Lu, 2013). For instance, poly(amidoamine) PAMAM dendrimers in different generations have shown higher r1 relaxivity and size-dependent pharmacokinetics, low generation (2-4) presented renal clearance, and high generation (5-10) presented minimal renal clearance. A recent modification in the design of contrast agent dendrimers resulted in the development of dendrimer nanoclusters (DNCs), as a combination of small PAMAM dendrimers. These DNCs were easily synthesized in high yields and also exhibited higher r1 values than the small units of

PAMAM-based contrast agents (Cheng et al., 2010). These Gdchelates were also combined with liposomes via encapsulation in the inner core or immobilization at the liposome surface, being the immobilization most used since the relaxivity is higher than in the encapsulated method, thus exhibiting a low water exchange rate with the gadolinium encapsulated in the inner core of the liposome.

X-RAY CONTRAST AGENTS

Iodine-based contrast agents improve the visualization of images in radiography and CT by increasing the density of tissues and also the vessels. Similarly to dynamic MRI using Gd chelates, relevant information can be extracted from the different uptake kinetics of these contrast agents that helps in differentiating malignant lesions from benign tissues. In case of malignant tissues, the iodine is rapidly absorbed and desorbed (more contrast), while in the benign ones the absorption takes place slowly (less contrast), thus giving differences in the tissue density of the images. Iodine contrast agents could be sorted into two groups depending on the binding to the iodine: covalent (non-ionic) or ionic contrast agents (Robbins and Pozniak, 2010). The ionic contrast agents present are better contrast agents than the nonionic ones due to their higher osmolality, with the consequently increased delivery or disassociation of iodine (Barrett et al., 1992). However, the ionic iodine contrast agents induces more toxicity (more side effects) mainly due to the large amount of iodine ions delivered (higher osmolality injected in comparison with serum), being also recently reported that these contrast agents could affect the thyroid in some patients (Rhee et al., 2012). Therefore, in order to minimize the toxicity, the contrast agents used for the clinical practice present values close to the serum, and nonionic bonds such as Iohexol 300 mg Iodine/mL (Omnipaque) and Iodixanol 320 mg Iodine/mL (Visipaque).

POSITRON EMISSION MAMMOGRAPHY (PEM)

PEM is high-resolution PET scanner that provides functional imaging specifically for breast cancer detection (Kalles et al., 2013). PEM can isolate and enhance breast images with more accuracy than full-body PET scans and works much like a fullbody PET scan (see Section PET and SPECT). In this technique, the contrast agents used in the evaluation of breast cancer are radiotracers (Penuelas et al., 2012), in particular radioactive labeled sugar-like molecules. These radiotracers help the diagnostic accuracy of the cancer, especially in the early stages, metastasis, and also cancer progression during the treatment. ¹⁸Ffluorodeoxiglucose (FDG) (Caldarella et al., 2014) is the most typical radiotracer used as a contrast agent in PEM. FDG is an analog of glucose that is accumulated, after injection, mostly in cancer tissues, since those present a faster metabolism in comparison with the normal tissues allowing a more clear vision of the suspected malignant tissues by PEM. Another radiotracer is the 3'-deoxy-3'-[¹⁸F]fluorothymidine (¹⁸FLT). This radiotracer is not still used as a routine breast cancer contrast agent in clinical practice, but it has been tested as a biomarker for imaging cellular proliferation. ¹⁸FLT is a structural analog of DNA nucleoside thymidine that is trapped in the cell thus informing about the stage or monitoring the evolution of the tumor cells (Caldarella

et al., 2014). In addition to the imaging of breast cancer proliferation and progression, the N-[¹¹C]methylcholine (¹¹C-choline) is used as a radiotracer (Contractor et al., 2009) since the choline is modified to phosphocholine due to the increase of the activity of the enzyme choline kinase- α as noted above in the MR spectroscopy section.

MOLECULAR IMAGING TECHNIQUES FOR BREAST CANCER

The term "molecular imaging" refers to the non-invasive visualization and measurement of biological processes at the cellular and molecular levels in a living system using endogenous or exogenous markers.

There are many different imaging modalities that can be used for molecular imaging, the most relevant ones being: nuclear imaging (PET and SPECT), optical imaging and magnetic resonance imaging.

The direct observation of endogenous markers can be achieved with magnetic resonance in vivo spectroscopic imaging (MRSI) (Begley et al., 2012; Bolan, 2013) or some advanced optical methods, such as Raman spectroscopy (Kallaway et al., 2013). The first one is based on classical nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy, which allows the detection and quantification of molecules containing magnetic nuclei, typically ¹³C, ³¹P, ¹⁹F or ¹H, being ¹H NMR the most widely used *in vivo*. The combination of NMR sequences with field gradients in MRI scanners allows for the spatial localization of the observable metabolites, giving rise to MRSI. Both ¹H and ³¹P MRSI have been used for the metabolic characterization of breast tumors at a high magnetic field (Klomp et al., 2011). Raman spectroscopy is based on inelastic scattering of photons after interaction with vibrating molecules and thus provides information about tissue composition (Brozek-Pluska et al., 2012; Li et al., 2014).

The term molecular imaging, however, most commonly refers to the use of exogenous markers (contrast agents) to visualize and measure *in vivo* processes. For breast cancer diagnosis, PET and SPECT have been widely used in clinical practice, whereas MRI is expected to have a major impact in the near future, and optical imaging is mainly used in preclinical studies.

PET AND SPECT

PET imaging uses radioactive isotopes that emit positrons, *such as* ¹⁸F, ¹⁵O, ¹³N, or ¹¹C; whereas SPECT imaging uses isotopes that emit gamma photons, such as ^{99m}Tc, ¹²³I, or ¹²⁵I. Positrons travel short distances in tissues, in the order of millimeters, and collide with surrounding electrons (annihilation), producing two high energy gamma rays that travel in opposite directions to one another and are detected by the PET camera. The time delay between the detection of paired opposite direction is used to calculate the location of the annihilation event. In SPECT, a single photon is emitted per event and detected by rotating gamma cameras.

Most PET radioisotopes are short-lived, ranging from a few minutes to 2 h, which implies the availability of an on-site cyclotron to produce them and therefore increases the cost of PET imaging dramatically. SPECT radioisotopes are longer-lived, in the order of hours (6 h for 99m Tc), allowing for longer image

acquisition times. On the other hand, PET shows higher sensitivity as compared to SPECT.

Both PET and SPECT provide information about physiological activity, such as glucose metabolism, blood flow and perfusion, and oxygen utilization (Kjaer, 2006). However, they lack anatomical detail, which has led to the development of hybrid systems that combine PET and SPECT with other image modalities, CT and MRI.

Both whole-body and dedicated PET/CT scanners are currently available. Dedicated systems have higher sensitivity allowing for the detection of small tumors and thus being more accurate for molecular imaging, whereas whole-body scanners provide valuable information for locoregional and distant staging (Koolen et al., 2012). PET/MRI is a more recent technology that offers the advantage of lower exposure to radiation and higher contrast resolution, together with the possibility of adding functional information from other MRI modalities, which has great potential for molecular imaging. However, further technological developments are still needed to get optimal performance of a fully integrated PET/MRI system (Pace et al., 2014). SPECT/CT has shown to be a valuable tool for sentinel lymph node detection (Husarik and Steinert, 2007; Lerman et al., 2007; Van Der Ploeg et al., 2009; Coffey and Hill, 2010).

OPTICAL IMAGING

Optical molecular imaging of the breast is based on the use of near-infrared (NIR) light to excite exogenous fluorescent probes that have been designed to selectively target breast tumor cells (Levi et al., 2007; Poellinger, 2012). The use of NIR-fluorophores for immunohistochemical characterization of excised tumor specimens is a common *in vitro* diagnostic technique. The goal of molecular imaging, however, is to detect these fluorophores *in vivo*, thus avoiding the need for biopsies. There are technical limitations, though, that need to be addressed if these methods are to be used on patients, like tissue penetration and background signal contamination. To date, the use of NIR optical imaging *in vivo* is limited to tumor xenografts in preclinical studies (Oliveira et al., 2012; Sano et al., 2012; Van De Ven et al., 2012) or intraoperative imaging for tumor margin detection and lymph node mapping (Lee et al., 2010; Verbeek et al., 2014).

MOLECULAR MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING

MRI has attracted a great deal of interest in the era of molecular imaging, as it is the most versatile diagnostic imaging modality, able to provide excellent anatomical detail, together with functional and metabolic information (**Figure 3**). Furthermore, its non-ionizing nature offers the possibility of performing longitudinal follow-up studies without any risk for the patient.

The majority of the MRI signal comes from the water protons (¹H) and the contrast from the local differences in water content, water motion and magnetic relaxation times, T_1 and T_2 , of the water protons. Although intrinsic contrast is sufficient for most MRI applications, the use of exogenous contrast agents is often required for accurate diagnosis. Most MRI contrast agents are based on either gadolinium chelates or superparamagnetic nanoparticles (SPIONs), these being the base for molecular imaging.



In contrast to nuclear and optical imaging modalities, which are based on the direct detection of molecular probes, molecular magnetic resonance imaging is an indirect method that detects the effect of the contrast agents on the magnetic properties of the surrounding water molecules. This is a crucial aspect in understanding MRI-based molecular imaging, as explained below.

The major drawbacks of MRI for molecular imaging applications are, on the one hand, its inherent low sensitivity, due to the small difference in atoms between the high and the low energy states, and on the other hand, the lack of specificity of conventional MRI contrast agents. Thus, molecular imaging probes have to be able to strongly increase sensitivity and at the same time show high specificity. In this regard, SPIONs (Lodhia et al., 2010; Ittrich et al., 2013; Jin et al., 2014) have important advantages over other magnetic contrast agents because they produce signal enhancement through local field inhomogeneities, which affects the T2 of a large number of water molecules, thus leading to very strong signal enhancement. Nonetheless, other types of contrast agents have also been proposed for magnetic resonance molecular imaging, such as Gd-based nanoparticles (Huang and Tsourkas, 2013). Finally, the functionalization of these nanosystems using technological approaches adds both specificity and biocompatibility.

Some studies have already shown the great potential of magnetic resonance for molecular imaging of breast cancer using targeted nanoparticles (Li et al., 2013; Yan et al., 2013). Although these studies have been only conducted in animal models, it can be expected that, in the near future, the rapidly growing field of nanomedicine will facilitate the translation of these methodologies to the clinics.

PERSPECTIVES

Although molecular imaging is able to visualize breast tumor morphology and functional and metabolic processes within the tumor at several levels, the sensitivity of the different molecular imaging techniques is varied depending on the type of marker used in signaling the biological processes. At present, the main milestones for future molecular imaging development in breast cancer are:

1. To enhance knowledge of molecular drivers behind breast cancer subtypes, progression and metastasis.

- 2. To develop validated markers for chemosensitivity and radiosensitivity.
- 3. To validate multimodality imaging biomarkers for minimally invasive diagnosis and monitoring of responses in primary and metastatic disease.
- 4. To develop interventions and support to improve the survivorship experience.

In 2012, the charity Breast Cancer Campaign facilitated a series of workshops where specialists and other stakeholders revealed the main gaps in the prevention and treatment of breast cancer (Eccles et al., 2013). Top problems in molecular imaging of breast cancer (and recent research on the field) to be highlighted are:

- 1. There is a need to increase the use of functional screening techniques to learn about tumor heterogeneity, identify features associated with response or resistance to treatment and accelerate the rate at which promising ones enter clinical evaluation. The "Europe Against Cancer" programme has created quality assurance guidelines used for all mammography-based screening for breast cancer. They were created to maximize results while minimizing negative effects. The Mammography Quality Standards Act (MQSA) in the United States has mandated that all mammography clinics be certified (Von Karsa and Arrossi, 2013). Resistance to chemotherapy has brought to light the issue of tumor heterogeneity. Approximately 70% of human breast tumors are ER positive and depend on estrogen for growth. The use of selective ER modulators, such as tamoxifen, in ER-expressing tumors was one of the first examples for successful targeted therapy based on the tumor's molecular classification (Swaby et al., 2007). What induces endocrine resistance in these tumors has been one of the longest standing and most intense areas of breast cancer research. The somatic evolution of tumor progression was discovered in 2012, but the results raised additional questions that could not be answered at that time (Greaves and Maley, 2012). One of the most exciting outcomes of comprehensive cancer-genome-sequencing studies is that we finally have the tools to follow clonal and subclonal evolution of tumors and see the complexity of cancers as a whole (Polyak, 2014).
- 2. Evaluation of emerging imaging biomarkers of primary and metastatic breast cancer. A biomarker is a crucial tool for measuring the progress of disease and the effects of treatment for better clinical outcomes in breast cancer patients. The current questions of therapeutic choices can focus now on the understanding that breast cancer is truly a collection of genetically-specific heterogeneous diseases, each demonstrating different clinical behavior and therapeutic response (De Mattos-Arruda et al., 2013). Several biomarkers have been proposed as new breast cancer targets, including MicroRNAs (mi-RNA) (Mulrane et al., 2014), proteins (Kondo, 2014), antibodies (Knowles and Wu, 2012), or glycans (Adamczyk et al., 2012). One promising direction is the detection and imaging of circulating cell-free DNA (cf-DNA). Since 2002, cf-DNA has been shown to represent a good non-invasive biomarker, as it can be isolated from human plasma, serum

and other body fluids (Utting et al., 2002). It was also reported that the concentration of DNA in the bloodstream of patients with breast cancer was higher than healthy controls (Fleischhacker and Schmidt, 2007). Thus, the detection of cf-DNA provides new opportunities for management of cancer patients, adding a useful new tool for diagnosis, staging and prognosis (Esposito et al., 2014). Imaging of cf-DNA after chemotherapy treatment has been described by using fluorochrome-functionalized nanoparticles (Cho et al., 2013). Very recently, cf-DNA from plasma samples has been imaged by AFM and allowed to confirm the specific size pattern of tumor-derived cf-DNA (Mouliere et al., 2014).

- 3. Increased specificity and improved clinical translation of radiotracers for positron emission tomography/single-photon emission computed tomography (PET/SPECT). Since the discovery of GLUT family proteins overexpression associated with certain tumors, a variety of radiolabeled glucose derivatives have been developed as SPECT and PET tumor imaging agents. [18F]FDG is by far the most widely used in PET imaging for cancer diagnosis. Unfortunately, clinical usage is limited due to the need for the presence of cyclotron in 18F production. Generator produced isotopes, such as 99mTc and 68Ga, are readily available and affordable. The availability of a generator and kit chemistry to prepare 99mTc and 68Ga-based molecular probes may have a significant impact on nuclear medicine (Liu et al., 2014). It has been shown that 99mTcglucarate may behave as a suitable alternative to 18F-FDG as a promising breast tumor imaging agent and needs to be further investigated (Gambini et al., 2011). Thus, using generatorproduced isotopes to label glucose analogs is the major focus of ongoing research.
- 4. Identification and assessment of using imaging biomarkers currently associated with other cancer indicators in additional hallmarks such as hypoxia, invasion and changes in metabolism. During the past decades, researchers have tried to elucidate the mechanisms that underlie cancer-related death. However, this remains a challenge, as genomic instability causes a constantly changing genetic profile of tumors, and local variations in the microenvironment cause heterogeneity in tumor cell behavior (Polyak, 2014).
- 5. How to validate novel imaging biomarkers in adequately powered multi-center clinical trials. While applied molecular biology to cancer has made great advancements, the development of clinically validated biomarkers for primary breast cancer has remained an unconquerable task. Chemo-N0 (1993–1998) was the first prospective randomized multicenter trial in Node-negative breast cancer designed to prospectively evaluate the clinical utility of a biomarker. Its results established uPA/PAI-1 as a clinically useful biomarker for assessing long-term prognosis in early breast cancer and benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy in the high-risk group; it is thus wellsuited for routine risk assessment in node-negative breast cancer (Harbeck et al., 2013). The Node Negative Breast Cancer Trial (NNBC), initiated by the Swedish Breast Cancer Group, was able to validate a prognostic index consisting of a proliferation factor, PR-status, and tumor size. The index may be helpful for prognostic considerations and for selection of

patients in need of adjuvant therapy (Klintman et al., 2013). Although still in their infancy, circulating mi-RNAs and cf-DNA are beginning to be recognized as vital to future strategies on therapies for breast cancer (Ng et al., 2013; Esposito et al., 2014). mi-RNAs have become the rising stars for novel molecular targeting treatments because of their ability to regulate multiple genes in molecular pathways (Si et al., 2013). Very recently, a Phase 1 clinical study of MRX34, the first miRNA to advance into a human clinical trial for liver cancer, was approved (Mirna Therapeutics, 2014).

- 6. Methods of reporting intratumoral heterogeneity and locate the most beneficial areas for biopsies and radiotherapy. Within the plethora of imaging modalities, diffusion weighted magnetic resonance imaging (DW-MRI) has shown promise for the detection and characterization of breast cancer. Apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) values allow quantification of the diffusion signal, and can facilitate in differentiating benign and malignant breast tumors as well as identifying early response in tumors undergoing preoperative treatment (Partridge and McDonald, 2013 and the references cited therein). On the other hand, the heterogeneous nature of cancer still presents an important challenge in cancer imaging and therapeutics (Seoane and De Mattos-Arruda, 2014). This heterogeneity also confers to the different breast cancer subtypes a specific invasional kinetic pattern, as has been recently shown by Yamaguchi et al. using MRI studies (Yamaguchi et al., 2014). Although breast MRI accuracy for assessing residual disease is good and surpasses other diagnostic techniques, overestimation and underestimation of residual disease have also been observed. This is largely because of the various treatment types and breast cancer subtypes (Lobbes et al., 2013). With some limitations and taking into consideration that many of the experiments have been performed in mice, intravital microscopy (IVM) is another technique that has proven its power to elucidate the cellular and molecular events that underlie the hallmarks of cancer. Fluorescence-guided surgical procedures have also benefited from IVM, which translates into more promising uses in the clinical setting (Ellenbroek and Van Rheenen, 2014).
- 7. Extension of methods that identify and define subtypes of cancerous tumors -DCIS, TNBC and luminal types-with non-invasive procedures (which may identify mixed lesions missed by homogenized or limited sample analyses) and assess heterogeneity between metastases. In recent years, there has been an explosion in the field of nanomedicine with the development of new nanoparticles for the diagnosis and treatment of cancer, and the related term "nanooncology" has been adopted by many (Thakor and Gambhir, 2013). The development of new contrast agents for MRI opens a new way for non-invasive breast cancer characterization. Special attention is made to iron oxide nanoparticles, currently one of the best options in clinic due to its lack of toxicity (Kievit and Zhang, 2011; Rosen et al., 2012). Meier et al. used magnetic nanoparticles (SPIONs) decorated with folic acid to image FRpositive human breast cancer cell lines non-invasively (Meier et al., 2010). Very recently, Sun et al. have developed SPIONs functionalized with extra domain-B of fibronectin (EDB-FN)

peptide for *in vivo* imaging of breast tumor initiating cells (BTICs) by MRI (Sun et al., 2014). The development of new algorithms in contrast enhanced MRI is also enabling good discrimination of triple-negative cancers from non-triple-negative cancers, as well as between triple-negative cancers and benign fibroadenomas (Agner et al., 2014). This computer assisted diagnosis opens a new window for quick breast cancer identification and therapeutical match.

- 8. Combination of multidisciplinary inter-field data. It has been recommended that imaging studies (both preclinical and clinical) would need to be coregistered with linked genomic and proteomic information in order to fully understand the biological implications of the images registered (Segal et al., 2007; Lambin et al., 2012; Waterton and Pylkkanen, 2012). Currently, imaging studies are often separated from tissue collection due to a lack of appreciation of how the coordination could benefit.
- 9. Identification and evaluation of biomarkers with therapeutic responses. More extensive usage of orthotopic xenograft and transgenic murine models of primary and metastatic breast cancer will demand robust preclinical imaging approaches. Trials that make use of these images will experience increased accuracy for novel agents, which in turn can speed up the development of successful treatments and the early cessation of those that show no promise (publication of negative results has been recommended by many researchers Alcantara et al., 2010; Anderson et al., 2013). These preclinical trials might also lead to sequential and combination treatment regimens.

As has been listed above, there are many new and emerging molecular imaging technologies that can benefit breast cancer patients. Other molecular imaging procedures under development often combine imaging systems to form hybrid technologies that improve accuracy and allow physicians to see how cancer may be affecting other systems in the body. One of the more promising research areas is in investigational PET imaging biomarkers, such as fluorothymidine (FLT) and fluoroestrogen (FES). FLT has shown promise for the demonstration of tumor proliferation and FES for the demonstration of estrogen receptors. Other exciting area of study is radioimmunotherapy, a form of treatment that targets cancer-killing radiation directly to cancer cells (out of the scope of this review).

CONCLUSIONS

The past 40 years have seen stunning improvements in the ability of noninvasive imaging to characterize structures and functions. These strides have come from the progressive evolution of conventional imaging techniques, with relatively little impact from imaging targeted to specific molecular moieties. Although the basic science of molecular imaging continues to make impressive strides, the regulatory and commercial landscape is limiting to these investigational imaging agents.

We anticipate that future needs will include the development of nanomaterials that are specific for immune cell subsets and can be used as imaging surrogates for nanotherapeutics. New *in vivo* imaging clinical tools for noninvasive macrophage quantification are thus ultimately expected to become relevant to predicting patients' clinical outcome, defining treatment options and monitoring responses to therapy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Financial support was provided by the Andalusian Ministry of Health (PI2013-0559 to Maria L. García-Martín). David Alcantara holds a Senior Marie Curie Fellowship (FP7-PEOPLE-2012-IEF, grant number 327151) from the European Commission. Manuel Pernia Leal thanks to the Andalusian Mobility Research Program for Nanomedicine (Fundación Pública Andaluza Progreso y Salud; Andalusian Ministry of Health) and the Talentia Postdoctoral Fellowship Program (grant agreement 267226; Andalusian Knowledge Agency; Andalusian Regional Ministry of Economy, Innovation, Science and Employment) for the Postdoctoral Fellowships.

REFERENCES

- Adamczyk, B., Tharmalingam, T., and Rudd, P. M. (2012). Glycans as cancer biomarkers. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1820, 1347–1353. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen. 2011.12.001
- Agner, S. C., Rosen, M. a., englander, s., tomaszewski, j. e., feldman, m. d., zhang, p., et al. (2014). computerized image analysis for identifying triple-negative breast cancers and differentiating them from other molecular subtypes of breast cancer on dynamic contrast-enhanced MR images: a feasibility study. *Radiology* 272, 91–99. doi: 10.1148/radiol.14121031
- Agrawal, G., Su, M. Y., Nalcioglu, O., Feig, S. A., and Chen, J. H. (2009). Significance of breast lesion descriptors in the ACR BI-RADS MRI lexicon. *Cancer* 115, 1363–1380. doi: 10.1002/cncr.24156
- Alakhras, M., Bourne, R., Rickard, M., Ng, K. H., Pietrzyk, M., and Brennan, P. C. (2013). Digital tomosynthesis: a new future for breast imaging? *Clin. Radiol.* 68, e225–236. doi: 10.1016/j.crad.2013.01.007

Alcantara, D., Blois, J., and Ceacero, C. (2010). Editorial. All Results J. Biol. 1, 1-3.

- American College of Radiology. (2003). Breast Imaging Reporting and Data System Atlas. Reston, VA: BI-RADS Atlas.
- Anderson, G., Sprott, H., and Olsen, B. R. (2013). Opinion: publish negative results. *Scientist*. Available online at: http://www.the-scientist.com/?articles. view/articleNo/33968/title/Opinion--Publish-Negative-Results/
- Barrett, B. J., Parfrey, P. S., McDonald, J. R., Hefferton, D. M., Reddy, E. R., and McManamon, P. J. (1992). Nonionic low-osmolality versus ionic highosmolality contrast material for intravenous use in patients perceived to be at high risk: randomized trial. *Radiology* 183, 105–110. doi: 10.1148/radiology.183.1.1549654
- Begley, J. K., Redpath, T. W., Bolan, P. J., and Gilbert, F. J. (2012). *In vivo* proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy of breast cancer: a review of the literature. *Breast Cancer Res.* 14, 207. doi: 10.1186/bcr3132
- Bolan, P. J. (2013). Magnetic resonance spectroscopy of the breast: current status. Magn. Reson. Imaging Clin. N. Am. 21, 625–639. doi: 10.1016/j.mric.2013. 04.008
- Brozek-Pluska, B., Musial, J., Kordek, R., Bailo, E., Dieing, T., and Abramczyk, H. (2012). Raman spectroscopy and imaging: applications in human breast cancer diagnosis. *Analyst* 137, 3773–3780. doi: 10.1039/c2an1 6179f
- Burnside, E. S., Sickles, E. A., Bassett, L. W., Rubin, D. L., Lee, C. H., Ikeda, D. M., et al. (2009). The ACR BI-RADS[®] experience: learning from history. J. Am. Coll. Radiol. 6, 851–860. doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2009.07.023
- Caldarella, C., Treglia, G., and Giordano, A. (2014). Diagnostic performance of dedicated positron emission mammography using fluorine-18fluorodeoxyglucose in women with suspicious breast lesions: a meta-analysis. *Clin. Breast Cancer* 14, 241–248. doi: 10.1016/j.clbc.2013.12.004
- Cheng, Z., Thorek, D. L., and Tsourkas, A. (2010). Gadolinium-conjugated dendrimer nanoclusters as a tumor-targeted T1 magnetic resonance imaging contrast agent. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 49, 346–350. doi: 10.1002/anie. 200905133
- Cho, H., Alcantara, D., Yuan, H., Sheth, R. A., Chen, H. H., Huang, P., et al. (2013). Fluorochrome-functionalized nanoparticles for imaging DNA in biological systems. ACS Nano 7, 2032–2041. doi: 10.1021/nn305962n

- Coffey, J. P., and Hill, J. C. (2010). Breast sentinel node imaging with low-dose SPECT/CT. Nucl. Med. Commun. 31, 107–111. doi: 10.1097/MNM.0b013e3 2832ed3a6
- Contractor, K. B., Kenny, L. M., Stebbing, J., Al-Nahhas, A., Palmieri, C., Sinnett, D., et al. (2009). [11C]choline positron emission tomography in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 15, 5503–5510. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0666
- De Mattos-Arruda, L., Cortes, J., Santarpia, L., Vivancos, A., Tabernero, J., Reis-Filho, J. S., et al. (2013). Circulating tumour cells and cell-free DNA as tools for managing breast cancer. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 10, 377–389. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2013.80
- D'orsi, C. J., and Kopans, D. B. (1997). Mammography interpretation: the BI-RADS method. *Am. Fam. Physician* 55, 1548–1550, 1552.
- Dromain, C., Balleyguier, C., Adler, G., Garbay, J. R., and Delaloge, S. (2009). Contrast-enhanced digital mammography. *Eur. J. Radiol.* 69, 34–42. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2008.07.035
- Eccles, S. A., Aboagye, E. O., Ali, S., Anderson, A. S., Armes, J., Berditchevski, F., et al. (2013). Critical research gaps and translational priorities for the successful prevention and treatment of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* 15, R92. doi: 10.1186/bcr3493
- Ellenbroek, S. I. J., and Van Rheenen, J. (2014). Imaging hallmarks of cancer in living mice. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 14, 406–418. doi: 10.1038/nrc3742
- Esposito, A., Bardelli, A., Criscitiello, C., Colombo, N., Gelao, L., Fumagalli, L., et al. (2014). Monitoring tumor-derived cell-free DNA in patients with solid tumors: clinical perspectives and research opportunities. *Cancer Treat. Rev.* 40, 648–655. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2013.10.003
- Fallenberg, E. M., Dromain, C., Diekmann, F., Renz, D. M., Amer, H., Ingold-Heppner, B., et al. (2014). Contrast-enhanced spectral mammography: does mammography provide additional clinical benefits or can some radiation exposure be avoided? *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 146, 371–381. doi: 10.1007/s10549-014-3023-6
- Fleischhacker, M., and Schmidt, B. (2007). Circulating nucleic acids (CNAs) and cancer–a survey. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1775, 181–232. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2006.10.001
- Fornvik, D., Zackrisson, S., Ljungberg, O., Svahn, T., Timberg, P., Tingberg, A., et al. (2010). Breast tomosynthesis: accuracy of tumor measurement compared with digital mammography and ultrasonography. *Acta Radiol.* 51, 240–247. doi: 10.3109/02841850903524447
- Gambini, J. P., Cabral, P., Alonso, O., Savio, E., Figueroa, S. D., Zhang, X., et al. (2011). Evaluation of 99mTc-glucarate as a breast cancer imaging agent in a xenograft animal model. *Nucl. Med. Biol.* 38, 255–260. doi: 10.1016/j.nucmedbio.2010.08.002
- Greaves, M., and Maley, C. C. (2012). Clonal evolution in cancer. Nature 481, 306–313. doi: 10.1038/nature10762
- Guo, Y., Cai, Y. Q., Cai, Z. L., Gao, Y. G., An, N. Y., Ma, L., et al. (2002). Differentiation of clinically benign and malignant breast lesions using diffusion-weighted imaging. *J. Magn. Reson. Imaging* 16, 172–178. doi: 10.1002/jmri.10140
- Harbeck, N., Schmitt, M., Meisner, C., Friedel, C., Untch, M., Schmidt, M., et al. (2013). Ten-year analysis of the prospective multicentre Chemo-N0 trial validates American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO)-recommended biomarkers uPA and PAI-1 for therapy decision making in node-negative breast cancer patients. *Eur. J. Cancer* 49, 1825–1835. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2013. 01.007
- Houssami, N., Given-Wilson, R., and Ciatto, S. (2009). Early detection of breast cancer: overview of the evidence on computer-aided detection in mammography screening. *J. Med. Imaging Radiat. Oncol.* 53, 171–176. doi: 10.1111/j.1754-9485.2009.02062.x
- Huang, C. H., and Tsourkas, A. (2013). Gd-based macromolecules and nanoparticles as magnetic resonance contrast agents for molecular imaging. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* doi: 10.2174/1568026611313040002
- Husarik, D. B., and Steinert, H. C. (2007). Single-photon emission computed tomography/computed tomographyfor sentinel node mapping in breast cancer. *Semin. Nucl. Med.* 37, 29–33. doi: 10.1053/j.semnuclmed.2006.08.001
- Itoh, A., Ueno, E., Tohno, E., Kamma, H., Takahashi, H., Shiina, T., et al. (2006). Breast disease: clinical application of US elastography for diagnosis. *Radiology* 239, 341–350. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2391041676
- Ittrich, H., Peldschus, K., Raabe, N., Kaul, M., and Adam, G. (2013). Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles in biomedicine: applications and

developments in diagnostics and therapy. Rofo 185, 1149–1166. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1335438

- Jia, W. R., Chai, W. M., Tang, L., Wang, Y., Fei, X. C., Han, B. S., et al. (2014). Three-dimensional contrast enhanced ultrasound score and dynamic contrastenhanced magnetic resonance imaging score in evaluating breast tumor angiogenesis: correlation with biological factors. *Eur. J. Radiol.* 83, 1098–1105. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2014.03.027
- Jin, R., Lin, B., Li, D., and Ai, H. (2014). Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for MR imaging and therapy: design considerations and clinical applications. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 18C, 18–27. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2014. 08.002
- Kallaway, C., Almond, L. M., Barr, H., Wood, J., Hutchings, J., Kendall, C., et al. (2013). Advances in the clinical application of Raman spectroscopy for cancer diagnostics. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn. Ther.* 10, 207–219. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2013.01.008
- Kalles, V., Zografos, G. C., Provatopoulou, X., Koulocheri, D., and Gounaris, A. (2013). The current status of positron emission mammography in breast cancer diagnosis. *Breast Cancer* 20, 123–130. doi: 10.1007/s12282-012-0433-3
- Kievit, F. M., and Zhang, M. (2011). Surface engineering of iron oxide nanoparticles for targeted cancer therapy. Acc. Chem. Res. 44, 853–862. doi: 10.1021/ar2000277
- Kjaer, A. (2006). Molecular imaging of cancer using PET and SPECT. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 587, 277–284. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4020-5133-3_21
- Klintman, M., Nilsson, F., Bendahl, P.-O., Fernö, M., Liljegren, G., Emdin, S., et al. (2013). A prospective, multicenter validation study of a prognostic index composed of S-phase fraction, progesterone receptor status, and tumour size predicts survival in node-negative breast cancer patients: NNBC, the node-negative breast cancer trial. Ann. Oncol. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdt186
- Klomp, D. W., Van De Bank, B. L., Raaijmakers, A., Korteweg, M. A., Possanzini, C., Boer, V. O., et al. (2011). 31P MRSI and 1H MRS at 7 T: initial results in human breast cancer. *NMR Biomed.* 24, 1337–1342. doi: 10.1002/nbm.1696
- Knowles, S. M., and Wu, A. M. (2012). Advances in immuno-positron emission tomography: antibodies for molecular imaging in oncology. J. Clin. Oncol. 30, 3884–3892. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.42.4887
- Kondo, T. (2014). Inconvenient truth: cancer biomarker development by using proteomics. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1844, 861–865. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2013. 07.009
- Koolen, B. B., Vogel, W. V., Vrancken Peeters, M. J., Loo, C. E., Rutgers, E. J., and Valdes Olmos, R. A. (2012). Molecular imaging in breast cancer: from whole-body PET/CT to dedicated breast PET. J. Oncol. 2012, 438647. doi: 10.1155/2012/438647
- Kuhl, C. (2007). The current status of breast MR imaging. Part I. Choice of technique, image interpretation, diagnostic accuracy, and transfer to clinical practice. *Radiology* 244, 356–378. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2442051620
- Lambin, P., Rios-Velazquez, E., Leijenaar, R., Carvalho, S., Van Stiphout, R. G., Granton, P., et al. (2012). Radiomics: extracting more information from medical images using advanced feature analysis. *Eur. J. Cancer* 48, 441–446. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2011.11.036
- Lee, B. T., Hutteman, M., Gioux, S., Stockdale, A., Lin, S. J., Ngo, L. H., et al. (2010). The FLARE intraoperative near-infrared fluorescence imaging system: a firstin-human clinical trial in perforator flap breast reconstruction. *Plast. Reconstr. Surg.* 126, 1472–1481. doi: 10.1097/PRS.0b013e3181f059c7
- Lerman, H., Lievshitz, G., Zak, O., Metser, U., Schneebaum, S., and Even-Sapir, E. (2007). Improved sentinel node identification by SPECT/CT in overweight patients with breast cancer. J. Nucl. Med. 48, 201–206. Availabe online at: http:// jnm.snmjournals.org/content/48/2/201
- Levi, J., Cheng, Z., Gheysens, O., Patel, M., Chan, C. T., Wang, Y., et al. (2007). Fluorescent fructose derivatives for imaging breast cancer cells. *Bioconjug. Chem.* 18, 628–634. doi: 10.1021/bc060184s
- Li, K., Wen, S., Larson, A. C., Shen, M., Zhang, Z., Chen, Q., et al. (2013). Multifunctional dendrimer-based nanoparticles for *in vivo* MR/CT dual-modal molecular imaging of breast cancer. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 8, 2589–2600. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S46177
- Li, Q., Gao, Q., and Zhang, G. (2014). Classification for breast cancer diagnosis with Raman spectroscopy. *Biomed. Opt. Express* 5, 2435–2445. doi: 10.1364/BOE.5.002435
- Liu, T., Zhang, J., Wang, X., Yang, J., Tang, Z., and Lu, J. (2014). Radiolabeled glucose derivatives for tumor imaging using SPECT and PET. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 21, 24–34. doi: 10.2174/09298673113209990254

- Lobbes, M. B. I., Prevos, R., Smidt, M., Tjan-Heijnen, V. C. G., Van Goethem, M., Schipper, R., et al. (2013). The role of magnetic resonance imaging in assessing residual disease and pathologic complete response in breast cancer patients receiving neoadjuvant chemotherapy: a systematic review. *Insights Imaging* 4, 163–175. doi: 10.1007/s13244-013-0219-y
- Lodhia, J., Mandarano, G., Ferris, N., Eu, P., and Cowell, S. (2010). Development and use of iron oxide nanoparticles (Part 1): synthesis of iron oxide nanoparticles for MRI. *Biomed. Imaging Interv. J.* 6:e12. doi: 10.2349/biij. 6.2.e12
- Mann, R. M., Kuhl, C. K., Kinkel, K., and Boetes, C. (2008). Breast MRI: guidelines from the European Society of Breast Imaging. *Eur. Radiol.* 18, 1307–1318. doi: 10.1007/s00330-008-0863-7
- McLelland, R., Hendrick, R. E., Zinninger, M. D., and Wilcox, P. A. (1991). The American College of Radiology Mammography Accreditation Program. AJR Am. J. Roentgenol. 157, 473–479. doi: 10.2214/ajr.157.3.1872231
- Meier, R., Henning, T. D., Boddington, S., Tavri, S., Arora, S., Piontek, G., et al. (2010). Breast cancers: MR imaging of folate-receptor expression with the folate-specific nanoparticle P1133. *Radiology* 255, 527–535. doi: 10.1148/radiol.10090050
- Mercado, C. L. (2014). BI-RADS update. Radiol. Clin. North Am. 52, 481–487. doi: 10.1016/j.rcl.2014.02.008
- Mirna Therapeutics, I. (2014). A Multicenter Phase I Study of MRX34, MicroRNA miR-RX34 Liposomal Injection, ed C.P.R.I.O. Available online at: ClinicalTrials.gov
- Morris, E. A., Comstock, C. E., Lee, C. H., et al. (2013). "ACR BI-RADS® magnetic resonance imaging," in ACR BI-RADS® Atlas, Breast Imaging Reporting and Data System (Reston, VA: American College of Radiology).
- Mouliere, F., El Messaoudi, S., Pang, D., Dritschilo, A., and Thierry, A. R. (2014). Multi-marker analysis of circulating cell-free DNA toward personalized medicine for colorectal cancer. *Mol. Oncol.* 8, 927–941. doi: 10.1016/j.molonc.2014.02.005
- Mulrane, L., Klinger, R., McGee, S. F., Gallagher, W. M., and O'connor, D. P. (2014). microRNAs: a new class of breast cancer biomarkers. *Expert Rev. Mol. Diagn.* 14, 347–363. doi: 10.1586/14737159.2014.901153
- Ng, E. K. O., Li, R., Shin, V. Y., Jin, H. C., Leung, C. P. H., Ma, E. S. K., et al. (2013). Circulating microRNAs as specific biomarkers for breast cancer detection. *PLoS ONE* 8:e53141. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053141
- Oliveira, S., Van Dongen, G. A., Stigter-Van Walsum, M., Roovers, R. C., Stam, J. C., Mali, W., et al. (2012). Rapid visualization of human tumor xenografts through optical imaging with a near-infrared fluorescent anti-epidermal growth factor receptor nanobody. *Mol. Imaging* 11, 33–46.
- Pace, L., Nicolai, E., Luongo, A., Aiello, M., Catalano, O. A., Soricelli, A., et al. (2014). Comparison of whole-body PET/CT and PET/MRI in breast cancer patients: lesion detection and quantitation of 18F-deoxyglucose uptake in lesions and in normal organ tissues. *Eur. J. Radiol.* 83, 289–296. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2013.11.002
- Partridge, S. C. (2008). Future applications and innovations of clinical breast magnetic resonance imaging. *Top. Magn. Reson. Imaging* 19, 171–176. doi: 10.1097/RMR.0b013e31818a4090
- Partridge, S. C., and McDonald, E. S. (2013). Diffusion Weighted Magnetic Resonance Imaging of the Breast: Protocol Optimization, Interpretation, and Clinical Applications. *Magn. Reson. Imaging Clin. N. Am.* 21, 601–624. doi: 10.1016/j.mric.2013.04.007
- Penuelas, I., Dominguez-Prado, I., Garcia-Velloso, M. J., Marti-Climent, J. M., Rodriguez-Fraile, M., Caicedo, C., et al. (2012). PET tracers for clinical imaging of breast cancer. J. Oncol. 2012, 710561. doi: 10.1155/2012/ 710561
- Peters, N. H., Borel Rinkes, I. H., Zuithoff, N. P., Mali, W. P., Moons, K. G., and Peeters, P. H. (2008). Meta-analysis of MR imaging in the diagnosis of breast lesions. *Radiology* 246, 116–124. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2461061298
- Poellinger, A. (2012). Near-infrared imaging of breast cancer using optical contrast agents. J. Biophotonics 5, 815–826. doi: 10.1002/jbio.201200123
- Polyak, K. (2014). Tumor heterogeneity confounds and illuminates: a case for Darwinian tumor evolution. *Nat. Med.* 20, 344–346. doi: 10.1038/ nm.3518
- Rhee, C. M., Bhan, I., Alexander, E. K., and Brunelli, S. M. (2012). Association between iodinated contrast media exposure and incident hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 172, 153–159. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2011.677

- Robbins, J. B. P., Pozniak, M. A., (2010). *Contrast Media Tutorial*. Reston, VA: American College of Radiology. Available online at: https://www.radiology. wisc.edu/fileShelf/contrastCorner/files/ContrastAgentsTutorial.pdf
- Rosen, J. E., Chan, L., Shieh, D.-B., and Gu, F. X. (2012). Iron oxide nanoparticles for targeted cancer imaging and diagnostics. *Nanomed. Nanotechnol. Biol. Med.* 8, 275–290. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2011.08.017
- Sano, K., Mitsunaga, M., Nakajima, T., Choyke, P. L., and Kobayashi, H. (2012). *In vivo* breast cancer characterization imaging using two monoclonal antibodies activatably labeled with near infrared fluorophores. *Breast Cancer Res.* 14, R61. doi: 10.1186/bcr3167
- Sardanelli, F., Boetes, C., Borisch, B., Decker, T., Federico, M., Gilbert, F. J., et al. (2010). Magnetic resonance imaging of the breast: recommendations from the EUSOMA working group. *Eur. J. Cancer* 46, 1296–1316. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2010.02.015
- Scaperrotta, G., Ferranti, C., Costa, C., Mariani, L., Marchesini, M., Suman, L., et al. (2008). Role of sonoelastography in non-palpable breast lesions. *Eur. Radiol.* 18, 2381–2389. doi: 10.1007/s00330-008-1032-8
- Segal, E., Sirlin, C. B., Ooi, C., Adler, A. S., Gollub, J., Chen, X., et al. (2007). Decoding global gene expression programs in liver cancer by noninvasive imaging. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 25, 675–680. doi: 10.1038/nbt1306
- Seoane, J., and De Mattos-Arruda, L. (2014). The challenge of intratumour heterogeneity in precision medicine. J. Intern. Med. 276, 41–51. doi: 10.1111/joim.12240
- Si, H., Sun, X., Chen, Y., Cao, Y., Chen, S., Wang, H., et al. (2013). Circulating microRNA-92a and microRNA-21 as novel minimally invasive biomarkers for primary breast cancer. *J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol.* 139, 223–229. doi: 10.1007/s00432-012-1315-y
- Sun, Y., Kim H. S., Park, J., Li, M., Tian, L., Choi, Y., et al. (2014). MRI of breast tumor initiating cells using the extra domain-B of fibronectin targeting nanoparticles *Theranostics* 4, 845–857. doi: 10.7150/thno.8343
- Swaby, R., Sharma, C. N., and Jordan, V. C. (2007). SERMs for the treatment and prevention of breast cancer. *Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disord.* 8, 229–239. doi: 10.1007/s11154-007-9034-4
- Thakor, A. S., and Gambhir, S. S. (2013). Nanooncology: the future of cancer diagnosis and therapy. CA Cancer J. Clin. 63, 395–418. doi: 10.3322/caac.21199
- Tozaki, M., Sakamoto, M., Oyama, Y., Maruyama, K., and Fukuma, E. (2010). Predicting pathological response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer with quantitative 1H MR spectroscopy using the external standard method. *J. Magn. Reson. Imaging* 31, 895–902. doi: 10.1002/jmri.22118
- Tsougos, I., Svolos, P., Kousi, E., Athanassiou, E., Theodorou, K., Arvanitis, D., et al. (2014). The contribution of diffusion tensor imaging and magnetic resonance spectroscopy for the differentiation of breast lesions at 3T. Acta Radiol. 55, 14–23. doi: 10.1177/0284185113492152
- Utting, M., Werner, W., Dahse, R., Schubert, J., and Junker, K. (2002). Microsatellite analysis of free tumor DNA in urine, serum, and plasma of patients: a minimally invasive method for the detection of bladder cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 8, 35–40. Available online at: http://clincancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/ 8/1/35.full
- Van Der Ploeg, I. M., Olmos, R. A., Kroon, B. B., Rutgers, E. J., and Nieweg, O. E. (2009). The hidden sentinel node and SPECT/CT in breast cancer patients. *Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging* 36, 6–11. doi: 10.1007/s00259-008-0910-2
- Van De Ven, S. M., Elias, S. G., Chan, C. T., Miao, Z., Cheng, Z., De, A., et al. (2012). Optical imaging with her2-targeted affibody molecules can monitor hsp90 treatment response in a breast cancer xenograft mouse model. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 18, 1073–1081. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-3213
- Verbeek, F. P., Troyan, S. L., Mieog, J. S., Liefers, G. J., Moffitt, L. A., Rosenberg, M., et al. (2014). Near-infrared fluorescence sentinel lymph node mapping in breast cancer: a multicenter experience. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 143, 333–342. doi: 10.1007/s10549-013-2802-9
- Von Karsa, L., and Arrossi, S. (2013). Development and implementation of guidelines for quality assurance in breast cancer screening: the European experience. Salud Publica Mex. 55, 318–328. Available online at: http://www.scielosp.org/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0036-36342013000 400010&lng=en
- Waldherr, C., Cerny, P., Altermatt, H. J., Berclaz, G., Ciriolo, M., Buser, K., et al. (2013). Value of one-view breast tomosynthesis versus two-view mammography in diagnostic workup of women with clinical signs and symptoms and in women recalled from screening. *AJR Am. J. Roentgenol.* 200, 226–231. doi: 10.2214/AJR.11.8202

- Waterton, J. C., and Pylkkanen, L. (2012). Qualification of imaging biomarkers for oncology drug development. *Eur. J. Cancer* 48, 409–415. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2011.11.037
- Weissleder, R. (2006). Molecular imaging in cancer. Science 312, 1168–1171. doi: 10.1126/science.1125949
- Yamaguchi, K., Abe, H., Newstead, G., Egashira, R., Nakazono, T., Imaizumi, T., et al. (2014). Intratumoral heterogeneity of the distribution of kinetic parameters in breast cancer: comparison based on the molecular subtypes of invasive breast cancer. *Breast Cancer* 1–7. doi: 10.1007/s12282-013-0512-0. [Epub ahead of print].
- Yan, C., Wu, Y., Feng, J., Chen, W., Liu, X., Hao, P., et al. (2013). Anti-alphavbeta3 antibody guided three-step pretargeting approach using magnetoliposomes for molecular magnetic resonance imaging of breast cancer angiogenesis. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* 8, 245–255. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S38678
- Zhou, Z., and Lu, Z. R. (2013). Gadolinium-based contrast agents for magnetic resonance cancer imaging. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 5, 1–18. doi: 10.1002/wnan.1198

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 October 2014; accepted: 01 December 2014; published online: 18 December 2014.

Citation: Alcantara D, Leal MP, García-Bocanegra I and García-Martin ML (2014) Molecular imaging of breast cancer: present and future directions. Front. Chem. **2**:112. doi: 10.3389/fchem.2014.00112

This article was submitted to Chemical Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Chemistry.

Copyright © 2014 Alcantara, Leal, García-Bocanegra and García-Martin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A biological perspective toward the interaction of theranostic nanoparticles with the bloodstream – what needs to be considered?

Martin J. D. Clift¹*, Jean-François Dechézelles¹, Barbara Rothen-Rutishauser¹ and Alke Petri-Fink^{1,2}

¹ BioNanomaterials, Adolphe Merkle Institute, University of Fribourg, Fribourg, Switzerland

² Department of Chemistry, University of Fribourg, Fribourg, Switzerland

*Correspondence: martin.clift@unifr.ch

Edited by:

João Conde, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA

Reviewed by:

Matthew Samuel Powys Boyles, Salzburg University, Austria

Keywords: blood, bloostream, nanomedicine, red blood cells, white blood cells, platelets, in vitro

Nanomedicine intends to create and further use novel materials at the nanoscale in order to provide an improvement upon current medical applications for human healthcare (ESF, 2005; Etheridge et al., 2013). In line with the advances made within nanotechnology since the late twentieth century (Mamalis, 2007) nanomedicine has received heightened attention due to its potential advantages, most notably within (cancer) theranostics (Muthu et al., 2014). The field of theranostics aims to utilize the physico-chemical characteristics of nanosized materials in order to intensify the effectiveness in diagnosing and treating diseases at the molecular level (Kim et al., 2013). Such a perspective is notably paramount for cancer types that are difficult to identify as well as apply therapy toward (e.g., secondary cancer) (Muthu et al., 2014).

Despite the well documented and proposed benefits of therapeutics in the nanosize range (Krol et al., 2013), for the majority of nanoparticles (NPs) [defined as "a nano-object with all three dimensions in the nanoscale (1-100 nm)'' (BSI, 2007; ISO 27687, 2008)], the ability to merge the expansive divide between developing a significant advancement within material science and creating a biologically relevant therapeutic has proven to be a highly non-trivial task. One important reason for this is the relatively limited specific understanding of the biological interaction of therapeutic NPs following their administration into the human body and their subsequent delivery to the target site (e.g., tumor) (Capco and Chen, 2014). The objective of this opinion article therefore, is to provide a biological perspective upon what must be considered in the development of theranostic NPs.

WHERE SHOULD FOCUS BE GIVEN?

For biologically effective theranostic NPs, determining their dispersity, biocompatibility and biostability within different biological environments is imperative. For this, an understanding of the dynamic interaction between NPs with liquid and cellular systems as well as their subsequent biological impact must be gained. This outlook is not straight-forward and requires an intensive, multi-interdisciplinary research focus with cross-talk/feedback loops between the material scientists developing the materials and the biologists/clinicians wishing to study/apply them.

Initially, from a material perspective, there are an abundance of complex hurdles that must be overcome when developing any proposed nanotheranostic (Petros and DeSimone, 2010). Whether the NPs are manufactured for use as a treatment e.g., degenerative disease states (e.g., Alzheimer disease) (Liu et al., 2005), infectious diseases (e.g., hepatitis B) (Li et al., 2010) cancer (McMillan et al., 2014), or as a diagnostic tool (Niemirowicz et al., 2012), a systematic chemistry approach must be used (Davis et al., 2008). Whilst the specific shape of the NPs is of extreme interest regarding their efficiency as a theranostic agent (Liu et al., 2012), it is the precise material applied that is important, as well as the surface layer and the subsequent

surface attachment of therapeutic agents and additional molecules (e.g., fluorophores, receptor-targetting moieties) to the modality (Petros and DeSimone, 2010), while keeping within the nanosize range. Additionally, determining their dispersity (i.e., colloidal stability) and biostability can also be laborious and problematic (Petros and DeSimone, 2010). Although these issues are not trivial, once the NP is engineered and ready for use, one of the main, biologically-based obstacles is to determine the ease of directing this modality to the site of interest within the human body without causing any undesirable effects (e.g., recognition and/or clearance by the immune system).

Successful targeting of theranostic NPs is an onerous concept (Nicolaides et al., 2014), and is commonly overlooked in favor of immediately focussing upon the effectiveness of the theranostic agent upon the specific target site (i.e., cancer cells for cancer therapeutics) (Xie et al., 2011). For example, a plethora of studies have been published which have shown the effectiveness of theranostic NPs in either the delivery of a drug to cells (Najafi et al., 2014), or destructing cancer cells with or without external stimuli (e.g., light, magnetic field) (Hayashi et al., 2014). Naturally, this approach is of extreme importance, and absolutely vital toward the development of any theranostic based NPs. However, the precise effective nature (i.e., efficacy) of the NPs upon the chosen target site can be considered as inextricably linked to the efficient transport of NPs from their administration site into the human body to the specifically chosen target site (Davis et al., 2008). Therefore it is essential that the interpretation of the effectiveness of theranostic NPs directly upon the target site is considered after gaining a controlled understanding of the biological impact upon the NPs following their transport through different biological environments to said target site.

Thus, in order to fully elucidate the impact of the transport processes following administration of theranostic NPs until reaching their target site, comprehension as to what biological entities interact with the NPs, how their physico-chemical characteristics may be altered over time and from interaction with different environments, as well as subsequently how these potential adaptations might affect the effectiveness of the NPs when they engage with the intended site of interest is decidedly necessary. Focus upon these key aspects would further enable the enhanced development of theranostic NPs from a materials' perspective, allowing them to be optimized for maximal benefit toward their proposed application. Through this approach, significant improvement to the efficacy of the NPs to the target site would be obtained concomitantly. Nonetheless, which route of transport toward the target site of the applied theranostic NPs should be studied first?

APPROACHING THE PROBLEM

The main administration route for most theranostic-based NPs is *via* intravenous injection (Nichols and Bae, 2012). Thus, the initial biological environment that these theranostic-based NPs will encounter is the complex cellular and molecular milieu of the human blood circulation (as described in **Figure 1**). Thus, foremost direction toward understanding its impact upon theranostic NPs is paramount.

To systematically study the impact of the bloodstream upon thernostic NPs, *in vivo* (i.e., rodents) assessment would rapidly determine the efficacy of NPs formulated for theranostics. Yet, despite encompassing a "whole-body" scenario, it would not provide species specificity, which would be necessary for the inevitable application of NPs as theranostic agents. Primates would therefore be ideal, as used in the study by





Ye et al. (2012), who showed the applicability of quantum dots as useful theranostic tools. However, neither in vivo strategy would provide the basis for a systematic study as to how NPs may interact with their numerous local environments (i.e., within the bloodstream) prior to arriving at their intended target site in the human body. By adopting an in vitro perspective however, it would enable a controlled outlook toward studying the impact of each biological constituent of the human bloodstream upon the chosen theranostic NPs. Difficulties in this approach arise however, since it would only allow for monoculture, or, at the most, co-culture systems to be used to conduct such investigations. Although advanced in vitro systems concerning the bloodstream and its

constituent parts are being established, such as the advanced platelet model system recently reported by Thon et al. (2014), a finite model system that mimics the bloodstream is currently lacking. Therefore, currently, to comprehend how biological environments, such as the bloodstream, may impact upon the effectiveness of theranostic NPs a combined *in vitro* and *in vivo* approach should be integrated as a vital component in the development of theranostic NPs.

On an additional note, it is prudent to note that such a systematic study of any therapeutic NPs from the specific exposure site, via the potential transport route to the target site should be performed in order to gauge their potential effectiveness following administration. In this

regard, it is also relevant to highlight that a series of other exposure routes, including ingestion, cutaneous and inhalation (Melancon et al., 2012), the latter for which theranostic applications are being derived (Pison et al., 2006), also pose a potential access route for NPs into the blood circulation via translocation across cellular barriers (Kreyling et al., 2012). Furthermore, the use of NPs to coat implants (i.e., for antimicrobial purposes) has recently increased (Kempe et al., 2010), and therefore it is possible that these could further concentrate the NPs gaining access into the human bloodstream, also via barrier cell translocation. Yet, the presence of NPs within the bloodstream from these exposure routes represents a secondary, non-specific exposure scenario and relates to a risk perspective. Whilst risk assessment is not the purpose of this article, it is worth to highlight that this issue has received limited attention to date, and requires further, in-depth investigation which could advantageously coincide with the advancement of NPs for nanomedicine-based applications (i.e., understanding their biocompatibility).

MOVING FORWARD

Due to the lack of an advanced *in vitro* model system, as previously highlighted, determining the role of each component of the bloodstream as to its potential impact upon theranostic NPs is imperative to their overall development. However which constituents are important?

Most notably, the immediate and abundant adherence of proteins (as well as lipids) to the surface of any theranostic NPs entering the bloodstream (Lynch et al., 2006) can create a possible issue towards the surface molecules attached for a specific therapeutic purpose (i.e., receptor-binding sequence), as well as a loss in colloidal stability due to aggregation (Hirsch et al., 2014). Although NPs with varying physico-chemical characteristics can be manipulated for nanotheranostics, it has become abundantly apparent that similar proteins are consistently found upon the surface of NPs independent of their surface coating/charge (Hirsch et al., 2013). Whilst this is a dynamic process upon the surface of NPs, there remains a hard protein layer on top of the NPs at all times, thus posing a significant issue

to material scientists. Yet, if coated with abundant proteins, these can engage with the epitopes on the immune cells, and so it is difficult to decipher if the steric repulsive barrier of a polymer shell would still remain effective enough to prevent uptake by these phagocytic cells, or not. Although, if internalized by the immune system, will they be processed and potentially exocytosed by these cell types, and exhibit the same properties prior to their administration? What the physico-chemical state of the NPs is following this interaction is currently unknown, and requires in-depth investigation. If however, the immune system does not recognize the NPs, then there is a heightened possibility that they could pass, unimpeded into erythrocytes (Rothen-Rutishauser et al., 2006). The impact that this cellular interaction may have upon the NPs is relatively unknown. Although if the NPs become present within these cell types, circulation time (of the NPs) will most likely increase, perhaps rendering them ineffective and/or aggregating within the bloodstream with potential adverse/fatal consequences in the long-term. In addition to these cellular/molecule based issues, the effect of the injection process (e.g., pressure, flowrate, pH and temperature changes) upon the physico-chemical characteristics of the NPs via their administration route must also be conceived. Therefore, increased research strategies must be directed toward this approach to achieve the successful development of theranostic NPs.

OVERALL PERSPECTIVE

Due to their inevitable administration to the human body via intravenous injection, understanding of the interaction of theranostic NPs with the complex biological environment of the bloodstream is vital in regards to their development. The knowledge created from this approach could enable key understanding to be gained as to the ability for the NPs to withstand the confines of this local environment. Furthermore, it will provide imperative insight into their ability to effectively perform the task they were engineered to achieve (e.g., drug delivery). Since following this approach the NPs will most likely require further manipulation regarding their physical and chemical characteristics, in order

to achieve this outlook an enhanced, multi-interdisciplinary approach must be adopted. By combining the expertise of a variety of disciplines it will enable the advancement of systematic studies of the physical and chemical state of the NPs based on the impact observed when NPs are present within the bloodstream. Therefore, this perspective will facilitate the essential development required to successfully manufacture effective theranostic NPs for human health care.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the generous research funding received from the Swiss National Science Foundation (Grant # 310030 156871 / 1; # 406440-131264/1; # PP00P2_123373; # 320030_138365), the Swiss National Science Foundation through the National Centre of Competence in Research Bio-Inspired Materials and by the Competence Centre for Materials Science and the Adolphe Merkle Foundation. The authors also thank the members of the BioNanomaterials group at the Adolphe Merkle Institute for scientific discussions.

REFERENCES

- Abbas, A. K., and Lichtman, A. H. (2003). *Cellular* and Molecular Immunology. Oxford, UK: Elsevier Science.
- BSI. (2007). Publicly Available Specification (PAS) 136. Terminology for Nanomaterials.
- Capco, D., and Chen, Y. (2014). Nanomaterials: Impacts on Cell Biology and Medicine. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Davis, M. E., Chen, Z., and Shin, D. M. (2008). Nanoparticle therapeutics: an emerging treatment modality for cancer. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 7, 771–782. doi: 10.1038/nrd2614
- ESF. (2005). Nanomedicine An ESF-European Medical Research Councils (EMRC) Forward Look Report. Strasbourg.
- Etheridge, M. L., Campbell, S. A., Erdman, A. G., Haynes, C. L., Wolf, S. M., and McCullough, J. (2013). The big picture on nanomedicine: the state of investigational and approved nanomedicine products. *Nanomedicine* 9, 1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2012.05.013
- Hayashi, K., Nakamura, M., Miki, H., Ozaki, S., Abe, M., Matsumoto, T., et al. (2014). Magnetically responsive smart nanoparticles for cancer treatment with a combination of magnetic hyperthermia and remote-control drug release. *Theranostics* 4, 834–844. doi: 10.7150/thno. 9199
- Hirsch, V., Kinnear, C., Moniatte, M., Rothen-Rutishauser, B., Clift, M. J. D., and Petri-Fink, A. (2013). Surface charge influences the serum protein adsorption kinetics, colloidal stability and

subsequent cell interaction of polymer coated SPIONs in vitro. *Nanoscale* 5, 3723–3732. doi: 10.1039/c2nr33134a

- Hirsch, V., Kinnear, C., Rodriquez-Lorenzo, L., Monnier, C. A., Rothen-Rutishauser, B., Balog, S., et al. (2014). In vitro dosimetry of agglomerates. *Nanoscale* 7, 7325–7331. doi: 10.1039/c4nr0 0460d
- ISO. (2008). International Organization for Standardization (ISO) Technical Specification (ISO/TS) 27687:2008; Nanotechnologies – Terminology and Definitions for Nano-Objects – anoparticle, Nanofibre and Nanoplate; First published 2008-08-15.
- Kempe, M., Kempe, H., Snowball, I., Wallen, R., Arza, C. R., Gotberg, M., et al. (2010). The use of magnetite nanoparticles for implantassisted magnetic drug targeting in thrombolytic therapy. *Biomaterials* 31, 9499–9510. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.07.107
- Kim, H., Lee, S., and Chen, X. (2013). Nanotheranostics for personalized medicine. *Expert Rev. Mol. Diagn.* 13, 257–269. doi: 10.1586/erm.13.15
- Kreyling, W. G., Semmler-Behnke, M., Takenaka, S., and Möller, W. (2012). Differences in the biokinetics of inhaled nano- versus micrometersized particles. Acc. Chem. Res. 46, 714–722. doi: 10.1021/ar300043r
- Krol, S., Macrez, R., Docagne, F., Defer, G., Laurent, S., Rahman, M., et al. (2013). Therapeutic benefits from nanoparticles: the potential significance of nanoscience in diseases with compromise to the blood brain barrier. *Chem. Rev.* 113, 1877–1903. doi: 10.1021/cr200472g
- Li, L., Wan, H., Ong, Z. Y., Xu, K., Ee, P. L. R., Zheng, S., et al. (2010). Polymer- and lipidbased nanoparticle therapeutics for the treatment of liver diseases. *Nanotoday* 5, 296–312. doi: 10.1016/j.nantod.2010.06.007
- Liu, G., Garrett, M. R., Men, P., Zhu, X., Perry, G., and Smith, M. A. (2005). Nanoparticle and other metal chelation therapeutics in Alzheimer disease. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis.* 1741, 246–252. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2005. 06.006
- Liu, Y., Tan, J., Thomas, A., Ou-Yang, D., and Muzykantov, V. R. (2012). The shape of things

to come: importance of design in nanotechnology for drug delivery. *Ther. Deliv.* 3, 181–194. doi: 10.4155/tde.11.156

- Lynch, I., Dawson, K. A., and Linse, S. (2006). Detecting cryptic epitopes created by nanoparticles. *Sci. STKE* 2006:pe14. doi: 10.1126/stke.3272006pe14
- Mamalis, A. G. (2007). Recent advances in nanotechnology. J. Mater. Process Tech. 181, 52–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jmatprotec.2006.03.052
- McMillan, J., Batrakova, E., and Gendelman, H. E. (2014). Cell delivery of therapeutic nanoparticles. *Prog Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci.* 104, 563–601. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-416020-0. 00014-0
- Melancon, M. P., Stafford, R. J., and Lia, C. (2012). Challenges to effective cancer nanotheranostics. J. Control Release 164, 177–182. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.07.045
- Muthu, M. S., Leong, D. T., Mei, L., and Feng, S.-S. (2014). Nanotheranostics – Application and further development of nanomedicine strategies for advanced Theranostics. *Theranostics* 4, 660–677. doi: 10.7150/thno.8698
- Najafi, S., Pazhouhnia, Z., Ahmadi, O., Berenjian, A., and Jafarizadeh-Malmiri, H. (2014). Chitosan nanoparticles and their applications in drug delivery: a review. *Curr. Res. Drug Discov.* 1, 17–25. doi: 10.3844/crddsp.2014.17.25
- Nichols, J. W., and Bae, Y. H. (2012). Odyssey of a cancer nanoparticle: from injection site to site of action. *Nanotoday* 7, 606–618. doi: 10.1016/j.nantod.2012.10.010
- Nicolaides, N. C., O'Shannessy, D. J., Albone, E., and Grasso, L. (2014). Co-development of diagnostic vectors to support targeted therapies and theranostics: essential tools in personalized cancer therapy. *Front. Oncol.* 4:141. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014. 00141
- Niemirowicz, K., Markiewicz, K. H., Wilczewska, A. Z., and Car, H. (2012). Magnetic nanoparticles as new diagnostic tools in medicine. *Adv. Med. Sci.* 57, 196–207. doi: 10.2478/v10039-012-0031-9
- Petros, R. A., and DeSimone, J. M. (2010). Strategies in the design of nanoparticles for therapeutic applications. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 9, 615–627. doi: 10.1038/nrd2591

- Pison, U., Welte, T., Giersig, M., and Groneberg, D. A. (2006). Nanomedicine for respiratory diseases. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 533, 341–350. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2005.12.068
- Rothen-Rutishauser, B. M., Schürch, S., Haenni, B., Kapp, N., and Gehr, P. (2006). Interaction of fine particles and nanoparticles with red blood cells visualized with advanced microscopic techniques. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 40, 4353–4359. doi: 10.1021/es0522635
- Thon, J. N., Mazutis, L., Wu, S., Sylman, J. L., Ehrlicher, A., Machlus, K. R., et al. (2014). Platelet bioreactor-on-a-chip. *Blood*. 124, 1857–1867. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-05-574913
- Xie, J., Lee, S., and Chen, X. (2011). Nanoparticlebased theranostic agents. *Adv. Drug. Deliv. Rev.* 62, 1064–1079. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2010.07.009
- Ye, L., Yong, K.-T., Liu, L., Roy, I., Hu, R., Zhu, J., et al. (2012). A pilot study in non-human primates shows no adverse response to intravenous injection of quantum dots. *Nat. Nanotech.* 7, 453–458. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2012.74

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 22 October 2014; accepted: 21 January 2015; published online: 10 February 2015.

Citation: Clift MJD, Dechézelles J-F, Rothen-Rutishauser B and Petri-Fink A (2015) A biological perspective toward the interaction of theranostic nanoparticles with the bloodstream – what needs to be considered? Front. Chem. **3**:7. doi: 10.3389/fchem. 2015.00007

This article was submitted to Chemical Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Chemistry.

Copyright © 2015 Clift, Dechézelles, Rothen-Rutishauser and Petri-Fink. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Multifunctional gold nanostars for molecular imaging and cancer therapy

Yang Liu^{1,2,3}, Hsiangkuo Yuan^{1,2}, Andrew M. Fales^{1,2}, Janna K. Register^{1,2} and Tuan Vo-Dinh^{1,2,3*}

¹ Fitzpatrick Institute for Photonics, Duke University, Durham, NC, USA, ² Department of Biomedical Engineering, Duke University, Durham, NC, USA, ³ Department of Chemistry, Duke University, Durham, NC, USA

Plasmonics-active gold nanoparticles offer excellent potential in molecular imaging and cancer therapy. Among them, gold nanostars (AuNS) exhibit cross-platform flexibility as multimodal contrast agents for macroscopic X-ray computer tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), positron emission tomography (PET), as well as nanoprobes for photoacoustic tomography (PAT), two-photon photoluminescence (TPL), and surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy (SERS). Their surfactant-free surface enables versatile functionalization to enhance cancer targeting, and allow triggered drug release. AuNS can also be used as an efficient platform for drug carrying, photothermal therapy, and photodynamic therapy (PDT). This review paper presents the latest progress regarding AuNS as a promising nanoplatform for cancer nanotheranostics. Future research directions with AuNS for biomedical applications will also be discussed.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

João Conde, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA

Reviewed by:

Jwa-Min Nam, Seoul National University, South Korea Jay Nadeau, McGill University, Canada

*Correspondence:

Tuan Vo-Dinh, Department of Biomedical Engineering, Duke University, Durham, NC 27708, USA tuan.vodinh@duke.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Chemical Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Chemistry

Received: 01 April 2015 Accepted: 30 July 2015 Published: 12 August 2015

Citation:

Liu Y, Yuan H, Fales AM, Register JK and Vo-Dinh T (2015) Multifunctional gold nanostars for molecular imaging and cancer therapy. Front. Chem. 3:51. doi: 10.3389/fchem.2015.00051 Keywords: multifunctional, plasmonics, gold nanostars, cancer imaging, cancer therapy

Introduction

Nanotheranostics, combining diagnostic and therapeutic functions into one nanoparticle, has attracted great attention due to its promise as a powerful tool for personalized therapy to treat cancer, which contributes to more than seven million deaths each year (Ferlay et al., 2010; Jemal et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2014). Theranostic nanoprobes can potentially be used for image-guided cancer therapy with improved targeting specificity and therapeutic efficacy (Choi et al., 2012). Nanoparticles of sizes ranging from 20 to 100 nm accumulate in tumors through the well-known enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect that originates from the leaky tumor vasculature (Maeda, 2001; Maeda et al., 2001, 2003; Sykes et al., 2014). Furthermore, targeting ligands, including antibodies and peptides, can be functionalized on nanoparticles for active cancer targeting (Kim et al., 2011b). Various nanoplatforms, including liposomes, iron oxide nanoparticles, and gold nanoparticles have been developed for cancer imaging and treatment (Ahmad et al., 2010; Xie et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014). In particular, gold nanoparticles have demonstrated great biocompatibility, plasmonic properties, and convenience in versatile functionalization through strong gold-thiol interactions (30-40 kcal/mol), as can be exemplified by gold nanorods, nanoshells, and nanocages in preclinical and clinical cancer management (Ramachandran et al., 2003; Loo et al., 2004; Alekseeva et al., 2006; Choi et al., 2012; Huschka et al., 2012; Xia et al., 2012b; Ahmadi and Arami, 2014; Lee et al., 2014; Xia and Xia, 2014). Those established plasmonic gold nanoplatforms (nanorods, nanoshells and nanocages) have been widely used in previous studies for in vitro and in vivo investigations of cancer imaging with positron emission tomography (PET), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), X-ray computer tomography (CT), high resolution optical imaging with labeled fluorescence dyes as well as photothermal therapy (PTT) and photodynamic therapy (PDT). Furthermore, gold nanospheres and nanoshells have been used in clinical trials for drug delivery and photothermal therapy, respectively (Gad et al., 2012). Therefore, novel nanoplatforms are of great interest for cancer detection and treatment.

Gold nanostars (AuNS), with multiple sharp branches (Figure 1A), have superior tip-enhanced plasmonic properties in the near-infrared (NIR) tissue optical window, which is suitable for in vivo biomedical applications. Plasmonic AuNS have been applied for in vivo lymphatic system mapping with photoacoustic tomography (PAT) (Kim et al., 2011a). AuNS with silica shells have been found to be internalized into living cells and can be used for intracellular imaging (Rodriguez-Lorenzo et al., 2011; Fales et al., 2013; Yuan et al., 2013a). In addition, AuNS surface-enhanced Raman scattering (SERS) nanoprobes have been applied for immuno-SERS microscopy of the tumor suppressor p63, imaged in prostate biopsies (Schutz et al., 2011). SERS takes advantage of a unique phenomenon on certain metal nanoparticles, surface plasmon resonance (SPR). Surface plasmon refers to oscillating electrons within the conduction band when the metallic nanostructure surface is excited by an external electromagnetic field. The oscillating electrons can generate a secondary electromagnetic field, which is added to the external electromagnetic field to result in SPR. Incident photon energy, when in resonance with the surface plasmon, magnifies the local electromagnetic field that dramatically enhances the intrinsically weak Raman signal. The SERS enhancement factor is typically 10⁶-10⁸-fold and can be up to 10¹⁵-fold in hot spots, where the electromagnetic field is extremely intense (Liu et al., 2015b). By combining resonance enhancement, surface-enhanced resonance Raman scattering (SERRS) shows even greater Raman signal enhancement than SERS alone. Silica-coated AuNS SERRS nanoprobes have been used for visualizing brain tumor margins and microscopic tumor invasion (Harmsen et al., 2015). Our group has developed a novel toxic surfactant-free AuNS synthesis method that greatly improves the biocompatibility and the versatility of surface functionalization (Yuan et al., 2012b). In this review paper, we will focus on the latest progress achieved in our laboratory related to AuNS and discuss their bright future for theranostic applications.

Multimodal Imaging

AuNS provide a powerful tool for 3D *in vivo* tracking and disease detection with whole body scans. For CT imaging, gold nanoparticles are superior to traditional iodinated contrast agents, since gold has a higher atomic number (Z = 79) and k-edge value (80.7 keV). In addition, the X-ray attenuation of iodine is decreased by water while that of gold is not. Gold nanoparticles can absorb X-ray, which subsequently generate photoelectric and Compton effects. These effects lead to formation of secondary electrons and reactive oxygen species (ROS), the yield of which correlates with the surface area of nanoparticles (Misawa and Takahashi, 2011). Since star-shaped geometry exhibits greater surface area than the spherical counterpart of equivalent size,

AuNS can be an improved sensitizer for radiation therapy. For MRI imaging, Gd^{3+} ions have been linked to the AuNS surface through 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetraacetic acid (DOTA) chelator. As shown in **Figure 1B**, tumor cells loaded with multifunctional AuNS probes display high intensity under CT and MRI examination (Liu et al., 2013a). PET scan provides an extremely sensitive 3D imaging method. The sensitivity could reach picomolar for PET compared to micromolar for MRI. We performed PET imaging with ⁶⁴Cu-labeled AuNS nanoprobes for dynamic imaging up to 24 h (**Figure 1D**). *In vivo* tracking results showed that the developed AuNS nanoprobes accumulate gradually in tumor with 3.3:1 tumor-to-muscle ratio at the end of 24 h (Liu et al., 2015b). These studies exemplify the potential of AuNS for whole body imaging.

In addition, AuNS have been exploited as a powerful optical contrast agent under multiphoton microscope for highresolution imaging. With an exceptionally high two-photon photoluminescence (TPL) [more than one million Göeppert-Mayer (GM) two-photon action cross-section (TPACS)], AuNS offer superior signal contrast than quantum dots or other organic fluorophores for multiphoton optical imaging (Yuan et al., 2012b). Furthermore, a recent study investigated TPL of single gold nanoparticle with different shapes and the TPACS were reported to be 83,500, 1.5×10^3 , 4.2×10^4 , 4.0×10^4 10⁶ GM for nanosphere, nanocube, nanotriangle, nanorod and nanostar, respectively (Gao et al., 2014). The TPACS of AuNS is almost two orders higher than that of gold nanorod, which is the highest one among other shapes. With an intense TPL emission, AuNS can be used not only for real-time in vivo tracking, but also for sensitive tumor detection following systemic injection of AuNS (Yuan et al., 2012c). As shown from TPL imaging in Figure 1C, transactivator of transcription (TAT)-functionalized AuNS nanoprobes have much stronger signal in cells than that of AuNS without TAT functionalization. TAT is a well-known cell-penetrating peptide with capability to increase nanoparticle cellular uptake. Although the TPL imaging depth is limited by the extent of laser penetration, optical microscopy offers the highest spatial resolution among most animal imaging modalities. AuNS are also suitable to be used under PAT with high extinction coefficient ($\sim 10^{10} \text{ M}^{-1} \text{cm}^{-1}$) (Xia et al., 2012a; Yuan et al., 2014). Being a potent contrast agent for PAT, which is an optical-ultrasound hybrid imaging technology, the particokinetics and biodistribution of the AuNS can be studied with deeper imaging depth and larger field of view.

Furthermore, AuNS have been applied for SERS detection with tip-enhanced plasmonics. The reported SERS enhancement factor is several orders higher than that of gold nanospheres (Yuan et al., 2013a). SERS applies nanometallic structures to enhance "fingerprint" Raman spectra, which provides a method for molecular sensing with high sensitivity (Liu and Sun, 2011; Liu et al., 2013b,c; Yuan et al., 2013b; Zhao et al., 2014a). Our group demonstrated the first analytical application of SERS in chemical analysis using nanostructured metal substrates 30 years ago, and has been working on various types of SERS nanoplatforms, including nanogratings, nanorod arrays, nanowires and AuNS, for biochemical sensing (Meier et al., 1985;



Enlow et al., 1986; Alak and Vo-Dinh, 1987; Bello et al., 1989; Vo-Dinh et al., 1994, 2013; Stokes et al., 2004; Yuan et al., 2013a). SERRS AuNS nanoprobes have been developed to perform quantitative *ex vivo* multiplex detection with high sensitivity (Yuan et al., 2013b). The AuNS nanoprobes have also been used for SERS imaging for cancer cells as shown in **Figure 1C** (Fales

et al., 2013). SERS images were acquired at 633 nm with a 2- μ m step size by using a Renishaw Raman microscope. The 633 nm resonant dye, DTDC was used to label the AuNS for SERS detection. SERS imaging shows that TAT-functionalized AuNS nanoprobes have much stronger signal inside cells. Recently, we have reported the synthesis of silver-coated AuNS (AuNS@Ag) that provide over an order of magnitude increase in SERS signal when compared to AuNS alone (Fales et al., 2014). We have applied the AuNS@Ag for *in vitro* homogenous nucleic acid detection, which demonstrated AuNS' strong capability for molecular sensing with the SERS method (Wang et al., 2015). With such flexibility, AuNS thus are a promising nanoplatform for multimodality imaging from whole body scan to high-resolution optical imaging as well as molecular sensing.

Brain Tumor Imaging

The potential of AuNS as an efficient contrast agent has further been investigated in animal brain tumor models (Yuan et al., 2014). Through cranial window chambers implanted with tumor cells in live animals, AuNS have been employed for angiography with high spatial resolution; cerebral capillaries were clearly visible with minimal tissue autofluorescence background. Unlike conventional contrast agents (e.g., FITC-dextran) showing signal decay within 30 min, AuNS can be coated with polyethylene glycol (PEG) to achieve a much longer intravascular signal stability due to its extended serum half-life (several hours) and lower degree of extravasation.

The main challenge of tumor imaging is delivering the contrast sufficiently to the target. Several physiological barriers exist between the injection site and the target tumor cells. For example, nanoparticles need to survive immunoclearance, extravasate tumor vessels, permeate the blood brain barrier (BBB), diffuse through interstitium, and penetrate the plasma membrane into cells (Chrastina et al., 2011; Goldberg et al., 2013). For brain tumor imaging, the greatest challenge lies in the permeation of the BBB. Tight junctions between the endothelial cells and podocytes from the astrocytes form a highly selective barrier that prevents large molecules from passing through. To date, the typical 24-h post-injection brain accumulation of nanoparticles may still be less than 0.1% of the initial dosage (Khlebtsov and Dykman, 2011); this is similar to those obtained after monoclonal antibody infusion. Several nanoparticle-based platforms have been studied, including transferrin-containing gold nanoparticles (Wiley et al., 2013), polysorbate 80-coated poly(n-butyl cyanoacrylate) dextran polymers (Koffie et al., 2011), and angiopep2 peptide-functionalized dendrimers (Yan et al., 2012). Since AuNS are a strong contrast agent, it is therefore prudent to investigate the effect of surface functionalization on brain tumor targeting.

Nanoparticles accumulate in tumors typically through passive and active mechanisms. While surface PEGylation achieves the former, the latter requires surface functionalization of peptides or proteins. Upon systemic exposure, PEGylated AuNS accumulate passively near the tumor periphery and around blood vessels. Hyper-neovascularity along the tumor edge and interstitial fluid pressure gradient at the boundary attenuate the penetration of AuNS deep into the tumor. PEG-AuNS also accumulate in vascular endothelial cells but with minimal true transcytosis(Ye et al., 2013), where paracellular extravasation is most likely attributed to the defective tight junction at the tumor site. With extravasation depending on the nanoparticle size and incubation time (Yuan et al., 1994; Popovic et al., 2010), smaller nanoparticles or longer incubation may further increase the tumor accumulation or extravasation depth.

Comparing the brain tumor AuNS delivery through passive and active mechanisms, we coated 80-nm AuNS with PEG (PEG-AuNS) and TAT peptides (TAT-AuNS), and 50-nm AuNS with angiopep2 peptides (angiopep2-AuNS). Angiopep2-peptide has recently been exploited to deliver nano-drugs into the brain via lipoprotein receptor related protein (Gabathuler, 2010). PEG-AuNS accumulated in the tumor periphery and parenchyma but much less in the normal brain. They also accumulated inside endothelial cells and perivascular spaces, particularly in the tumor regions of defective vascular integrity. As shown in Figure 2, TAT-AuNS accumulated less in tumor but extensively in liver compared to PEG-AuNS. Positively charged TAT possibly attracted opsonins, causing greater entrapment in the reticuloendothelial system. In contrast, smaller angiopep2-AuNS had a deeper distribution inside tumor parenchyma with relatively less liver accumulation. Calculated from the AuNS intensity ratio from the images collected under the same microscopic settings, the average tumor/liver AuNS density ratios are 0.32, 0.03 and 1.2 for PEG-, TAT- and angiopep2coated AuNS. These findings suggest that enhanced tumor BBB permeation with selected intratumoral delivery can be achieved with proper control of AuNS sizes and selection of surface ligand chemistry.

AuNS for Phototherapy

AuNS have also been applied for PDT and photothermal therapy (PTT). PDT uses a photosensitizer that generates ROS upon irradiation to kill cells, while photothermal therapy transduces light to heat for cancer hyperthermia or ablation. The effect of laser type on PTT has been investigated before and the results showed that pulsed lasers could use 10 times less energy to kill cancer cells than that used for continuous-wavelength (CW) lasers (Huang and El-Sayed, 2011). That is because pulsed-laser with gold nanoparticles can lead to a variety of therapeutic effects including protein denaturation, cell cavitation, bubble formation from shock waves and plasma generation (Pustovalov et al., 2008). With the nanoparticle's tumor targeting effect and focused irradiation to the tumor site, phototherapy can achieve greater tumor therapeutic specificity with less off-target effects. The therapeutic potentials have been demonstrated on gold nanoshells, nanocages, and nanorods (Von Maltzahn et al., 2009; Xie et al., 2010; Day et al., 2011). Gold nanoshells were used to perform PTT (800-nm diode laser, 4 W/cm² intensity for 3 min.) with murine xenograft models and results showed significant survival rate improvement for the treatment group with 57% of mice remaining tumor free at the end of 90 days, while the mean survival date for the control group was only 13.3 days. Gold nanocages functionalized with HER2-antibody have



been used to perform PTT with a femtosecond Ti:Sapphire laser (810 nm, 1.5 W/cm^2 for 5 min) for SK-BR-3 breast cancer cells. The treatment group shows a majority of cells died while there was little cellular death in the control group (Skrabalak et al., 2007). Gold nanorods with T790 dye embedded in a silica shell were developed to perform PDT and the improved treatment efficiency has been demonstrated with HepG2 cancer cells (Zhao et al., 2014b). In particular, the star-shape geometry of AuNS generates a strong tip-enhanced plasmonic effect that greatly increases the photothermal transduction efficiency especially in the NIR tissue optical window. Successful photothermolysis has been demonstrated in both single photon and two photon settings (Yuan et al., 2012a,c). An ultralow irradiance of 0.2 W/cm² (at using 850 nm pulsed laser), which was below the maximal permissible exposure of skin, was reported. A recent study demonstrated that AuNS exhibit higher photothermal transduction efficiency than gold nanoshells (90-94% for AuNS compared to 61% for gold nanoshells). In vivo experiment also revealed a successful photothermal ablation of aggressive sarcoma tumor in mouse after AuNS systemical injection through tail vein (Liu et al., 2015a). In addition, we also loaded Protoporphyrin IX onto silica-coated AuNS for PDT showing specific cytotoxic effect only on the UV exposed region (Figure 1C) (Fales et al., 2013). These results demonstrated that AuNS have great potential for PDT and photothermal therapy in future preclinical cancer treatment studies.

Conclusion and Future Perspective

The AuNS synthesized with the surfactant-free method provide a novel nanoplatform for cancer nanotheranostics.

The multifunctional AuNS nanoprobes can be used for future pre-treatment cancer diagnostics with PET, MRI, and CT scan, intraoperative imaging with TPL, PAT, and SERS, and image-guided therapy with PDT and PTT. The plasmonic AuNS is a promising theranostic nanoplatform since they have combined capabilities for diagnostics with various imaging modalities from whole-body to subcellular level, therapeutics with phototherapy and drug delivery, and surface functionalization versatility for cancer targeting. Compared to other gold plasmonic nanoplatforms, the AuNS nanoprobes have unique advantages of tip-enhanced plasmonics, high TPL cross-section, and excellent photon-to-heat conversion efficiency, toxic surfactant-free synthesis. Further studies on relationship between AuNS properties including particle size and surface charge, and their biodistribution are still required to improve nanoprobe uptake in tumor for better biomedical applications. With promising findings from previous studies, AuNS demonstrate great potential for translational medicine studies as a combined nanoplatform for both cancer imaging and therapy.

Acknowledgments

This work is partly supported by the Duke Faculty Exploratory Project. Yang Liu is supported by the Kathleen Zielek fellowship from the Chemistry Department of Duke University. The authors also would like to acknowledge the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (HR0011-13-2-0003). The content of the information in this paper does not necessarily reflect the position or the policy of the government, and no official endorsement should be inferred.

References

- Ahmad, M. Z., Akhter, S., Jain, G. K., Rahman, M., Pathan, S. A., Ahmad, F. J., et al. (2010). Metallic nanoparticles: technology overview and drug delivery applications in oncology. *Expert Opin. Drug Deliv.* 7, 927–942. doi: 10.1517/17425247.2010.498473
- Ahmadi, A., and Arami, S. (2014). Potential applications of nanoshells in biomedical sciences. J. Drug Target. 22, 175–190. doi: 10.3109/1061186X.2013.839684
- Alak, A. M., and Vo-Dinh, T. (1987). Surface-enhanced Raman-spectrometry of organophosphorus chemical-agents. *Anal. Chem.* 59, 2149–2153. doi: 10.1021/ac00144a030
- Alekseeva, A. V., Bogatyrev, V. A., Khlebtsov, B. N., Mel'nikov, A. G., Dykman, L. A., and Khlebtsov, N. G. (2006). Gold nanorods: synthesis and optical properties. *Colloid J.* 68, 661–678. doi: 10.1134/s1061933x06060019
- Bello, J. M., Stokes, D. L., and Vo-Dinh, T. (1989). Titanium-dioxide based substrate for optical monitors in surface-enhanced Raman-scattering analysis. *Anal. Chem.* 61, 1779–1783. doi: 10.1021/ac00190a600
- Choi, K. Y., Liu, G., Lee, S., and Chen, X. Y. (2012). Theranostic nanoplatforms for simultaneous cancer imaging and therapy: current approaches and future perspectives. *Nanoscale* 4, 330–342. doi: 10.1039/C1NR11277E
- Chrastina, A., Massey, K. A., and Schnitzer, J. E. (2011). Overcoming in vivo barriers to targeted nanodelivery. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 3, 421–437. doi: 10.1002/wnan.143
- Day, E. S., Thompson, P. A., Zhang, L. N., Lewinski, N. A., Ahmed, N., Drezek, R. A., et al. (2011). Nanoshell-mediated photothermal therapy improves survival in a murine glioma model. *J. Neurooncol.* 104, 55–63. doi: 10.1007/s11060-010-0470-8
- Enlow, P. D., Buncick, M., Warmack, R. J., and Vo-Dinh, T. (1986). Detection of nitro polynuclear aromatic-compounds by surface-enhanced Ramanspectrometry. *Anal. Chem.* 58, 1119–1123. doi: 10.1021/ac00297a031
- Fales, A. M., Yuan, H. K., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2014). Development of hybrid silvercoated gold nanostars for nonaggregated surface-enhanced Raman scattering. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 118, 3708–3715. doi: 10.1021/jp4091393
- Fales, A. M., Yuan, H., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2011). Silica-coated gold nanostars for combined surface-enhanced Raman scattering (SERS) detection and singletoxygen generation: a potential nanoplatform for theranostics. *Langmuir* 27, 12186–12190. doi: 10.1021/la202602q
- Fales, A. M., Yuan, H., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2013). Cell-penetrating peptide enhanced intracellular Raman imaging and photodynamic therapy. *Mol. Pharm.* 10, 2291–2298. doi: 10.1021/mp300634b
- Ferlay, J., Shin, H. R., Bray, F., Forman, D., Mathers, C., and Parkin, D. M. (2010). Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. Int. J. Cancer 127, 2893–2917. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25516
- Gabathuler, R. (2010). Approaches to transport therapeutic drugs across the blood-brain barrier to treat brain diseases. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 37, 48–57. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.07.028
- Gad, S. C., Sharp, K. L., Montgomery, C., Payne, J. D., and Goodrich, G. P. (2012). Evaluation of the toxicity of intravenous delivery of auroshell particles (goldsilica nanoshells). *Int. J. Toxicol.* 31, 584–594. doi: 10.1177/1091581812465969
- Gao, N., Chen, Y., Li, L., Guan, Z., Zhao, T., Zhou, N., et al. (2014). Shapedependent two-photon photoluminescence of single gold nanoparticles. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 118, 13904–13911. doi: 10.1021/jp502038v
- Goldberg, M. S., Hook, S. S., Wang, A. Z., Bulte, J. W. M., Patri, A. K., Uckun, F. M., et al. (2013). Biotargeted nanomedicines for cancer: six tenets before you begin. *Nanomedicine* 8, 299–308. doi: 10.2217/nnm.13.3
- Harmsen, S., Huang, R., Wall, M. A., Karabeber, H., Samii, J. M., Spaliviero, M., et al. (2015). Surface-enhanced resonance Raman scattering nanostars for high-precision cancer imaging. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 7, 271ra277–271ra277. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3010633
- Huang, X., and El-Sayed, M. A. (2011). Plasmonic photo-thermal therapy (PPTT). *Alex. J. Med.* 47, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajme.2011.01.001
- Huschka, R., Barhoumi, A., Liu, Q., Roth, J. A., Ji, L., and Halas, N. J. (2012). Gene silencing by gold nanoshell-mediated delivery and laser-triggered release of antisense oligonucleotide and siRNA. ACS Nano 6, 7681–7691. doi: 10.1021/nn301135w
- Jemal, A., Siegel, R., Xu, J., and Ward, E. (2010). Cancer statistics, 2010. *CA Cancer J. Clin.* 60, 277–300. doi: 10.3322/caac.20073

- Khlebtsov, N., and Dykman, L. (2011). Biodistribution and toxicity of engineered gold nanoparticles: a review of *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 40, 1647–1671. doi: 10.1039/C0CS00018C
- Kim, C., Song, H. M., Cai, X., Yao, J. J., Wei, A., and Wang, L. H. V. (2011a). In vivo photoacoustic mapping of lymphatic systems with plasmon-resonant nanostars. J. Mater. Chem. 21, 2841–2844. doi: 10.1039/c0jm04194g
- Kim, Y. H., Jeon, J., Hong, S. H., Rhim, W. K., Lee, Y. S., Youn, H., et al. (2011b). Tumor targeting and imaging using cyclic RGD-PEGylated gold nanoparticle probes with directly conjugated iodine-125. *Small* 7, 2052–2060. doi: 10.1002/smll.201100927
- Koffie, R. M., Farrar, C. T., Saidi, L.-J., William, C. M., Hyman, B. T., and Spires-Jones, T. L. (2011). Nanoparticles enhance brain delivery of blood-brain barrier-impermeable probes for *in vivo* optical and magnetic resonance imaging. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 18837–18842. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1111405108
- Lee, J., Chatterjee, D. K., Lee, M. H., and Krishnan, S. (2014). Gold nanoparticles in breast cancer treatment: promise and potential pitfalls. *Cancer Lett.* 347, 46–53. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2014.02.006
- Liu, Y., Ashton, J. R., Moding, E. J., Yuan, H., Register, J. K., Fales, A. M., et al. (2015a). A plasmonic gold nanostar theranostic probe for *in vivo* tumor imaging and photothermal therapy. *Theranostics* 5, 946–960. doi: 10.7150/thno.11974
- Liu, Y., Chang, Z., Yuan, H., Fales, A. M., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2013a). Quintuplemodality (SERS-MRI-CT-TPL-PTT) plasmonic nanoprobe for theranostics. *Nanoscale* 5, 12126–12131. doi: 10.1039/c3nr03762b
- Liu, Y., and Sun, H. (2011). Electronic ground states and vibrational frequency shifts of diatomic ligands in heme adducts. J. Comput. Chem. 32, 1279–1285. doi: 10.1002/jcc.21709
- Liu, Y., Yuan, H., Fales, A. M., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2013b). pH-sensing nanostar probe using surface-enhanced Raman scattering (SERS): theoretical and experimental studies. J. Raman Spectrosc. 44, 980–986. doi: 10.1002/jrs.4302
- Liu, Y., Yuan, H., Kersey, F., Register, J., Parrott, M., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2015b). Plasmonic gold nanostars for multi-modality sensing and diagnostics. *Sensors* 15, 3706–3720. doi: 10.3390/s150203706
- Liu, Y., Yuan, H., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2013c). Spectroscopic and vibrational analysis of the methoxypsoralen system: a comparative experimental and theoretical study. J. Mol. Struct. 1035, 13–18. doi: 10.1016/j.molstruc.2012.08.047
- Loo, C., Lin, A., Hirsch, L., Lee, M. H., Barton, J., Halas, N. J., et al. (2004). Nanoshell-enabled photonics-based imaging and therapy of cancer. *Technol. Cancer Res. Treat.* 3, 33–40. doi: 10.1177/153303460400300104
- Maeda, H. (2001). "The enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect in tumor vasculature: the key role of tumor-selective macromolecular drug targeting," in *Advances in Enzyme Regulation*, ed G. Weber (Tarrytown, NY; Kidlington: Elsevier Science Inc.), 189–207.
- Maeda, H., Fang, J., Inutsuka, T., and Kitamoto, Y. (2003). Vascular permeability enhancement in solid tumor: various factors, mechanisms involved and its implications. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 3, 319–328. doi: 10.1016/S1567-5769(02)00271-0
- Maeda, H., Sawa, T., and Konno, T. (2001). Mechanism of tumor-targeted delivery of macromolecular drugs, including the EPR effect in solid tumor and clinical overview of the prototype polymeric drug SMANCS. J. Control. Release 74, 47–61. doi: 10.1016/S0168-3659(01)00309-1
- Meier, M., Wokaun, A., and Vo-Dinh, T. (1985). Silver particles on stochastic quartz substrates providing tenfold increase in Raman enhancement. J. Phys. Chem. 89, 1843–1846. doi: 10.1021/j100256a002
- Misawa, M., and Takahashi, J. (2011). Generation of reactive oxygen species induced by gold nanoparticles under x-ray and UV Irradiations. *Nanomedicine* 7, 604–614. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2011.01.014
- Popovic, Z., Liu, W., Chauhan, V. P., Lee, J., Wong, C., Greytak, A. B., et al. (2010). A nanoparticle size series for *in vivo* fluorescence imaging. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 49, 8649–8652. doi: 10.1002/anie.2010 03142
- Pustovalov, V. K., Smetannikov, A. S., and Zharov, V. P. (2008). Photothermal and accompanied phenomena of selective nanophotothermolysis with gold nanoparticles and laser pulses. *Laser Phys. Lett.* 5, 775–792. doi: 10.1002/lapl.200810072
- Ramachandran, G. K., Hopson, T. J., Rawlett, A. M., Nagahara, L. A., Primak, A., and Lindsay, S. M. (2003). A bond-fluctuation mechanism

for stochastic switching in wired molecules. *Science* 300, 1413–1416. doi: 10.1126/science.1083825

- Rodríguez-Lorenzo, L., Krpetic, Z., Barbosa, S., Alvarez-Puebla, R. A., Liz-Marzan, L. M., Prior, I. A., et al. (2011). Intracellular mapping with SERS-encoded gold nanostars. *Integr. Biol.* 3, 922–926. doi: 10.1039/c1ib00029b
- Schütz, M., Steinigeweg, D., Salehi, M., Kompe, K., and Schlücker, S. (2011). Hydrophilically stabilized gold nanostars as SERS labels for tissue imaging of the tumor suppressor p63 by immuno-SERS microscopy. *Chem. Comm.* 47, 4216–4218. doi: 10.1039/c0cc05229a
- Skrabalak, S. E., Chen, J., Au, L., Lu, X., Li, X., and Xia, Y. N. (2007). Gold nanocages for biomedical applications. *Adv. Mater.* 19, 3177–3184. doi: 10.1002/adma.200701972
- Stokes, D. L., Chi, Z. H., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2004). Surface-enhanced-Ramanscattering-inducing nanoprobe for spectrochemical analysis. *Appl. Spectrosc.* 58, 292–298. doi: 10.1366/000370204322886636
- Sykes, E. A., Chen, J., Zheng, G., and Chan, W. C. W. (2014). Investigating the impact of nanoparticle size on active and passive tumor targeting efficiency. *ACS Nano* 8, 5696–5706. doi: 10.1021/nn500299p
- Vo-Dinh, T., Fales, A. M., Griffin, G. D., Khoury, C. G., Liu, Y., Ngo, H., et al. (2013). Plasmonic nanoprobes: from chemical sensing to medical diagnostics and therapy. *Nanoscale* 5, 10127–10140. doi: 10.1039/c3nr03633b
- Vo-Dinh, T., Houck, K., and Stokes, D. L. (1994). Surface-enhanced Raman gene probes. Anal. Chem. 66, 3379–3383. doi: 10.1021/ac00092a014
- Von Maltzahn, G., Park, J. H., Agrawal, A., Bandaru, N. K., Das, S. K., Sailor, M. J., et al. (2009). Computationally guided photothermal tumor therapy using long-circulating gold nanorod antennas. *Cancer Res.* 69, 3892–3900. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4242
- Wang, H. N., Fales, A. M., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2015). Plasmonics-based SERS nanobiosensor for homogeneous nucleic acid detection. *Nanomedicine* 11, 811–814. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2014.12.012
- Wang, Z., Niu, G., and Chen, X. Y. (2014). Polymeric materials for theranostic applications. *Pharm. Res.* 31, 1358–1376. doi: 10.1007/s11095-013-1103-7
- Wiley, D. T., Webster, P., Gale, A., and Davis, M. E. (2013). Transcytosis and brain uptake of transferrin-containing nanoparticles by tuning avidity to transferrin receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 8662–8667. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1307152110
- Xia, J., Chatni, M. R., Maslov, K., Guo, Z. J., Wang, K., Anastasio, M., et al. (2012a). Whole-body ring-shaped confocal photoacoustic computed tomography of small animals *in vivo. J. Biomed. Opt.* 17, 3. doi: 10.1117/1.JBO.17.5.050506
- Xia, X. H., and Xia, Y. N. (2014). Gold nanocages as multifunctional materials for nanomedicine. *Front. Phys.* 9, 378–384. doi: 10.1007/s11467-013-0318-8
- Xia, X. H., Yang, M. X., Wang, Y. C., Zheng, Y. Q., Li, Q. G., Chen, J. Y., et al. (2012b). Quantifying the coverage density of poly(ethylene glycol) chains on the surface of gold nanostructures. ACS Nano 6, 512–522. doi: 10.1021/nn2038516
- Xie, J., Lee, S., and Chen, X. Y. (2010). Nanoparticle-based theranostic agents. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 62, 1064–1079. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2010.07.009
- Yan, H., Wang, L., Wang, J., Weng, X., Lei, H., Wang, X., et al. (2012). Two-order targeted brain tumor imaging by using an optical/paramagnetic nanoprobe across the blood brain barrier. ACS Nano 6, 410–420. doi: 10.1021/nn203749v

- Ye, D., Raghnaill, M. N., Bramini, M., Mahon, E., Åberg, C., Salvati, A., et al. (2013). Nanoparticle accumulation and transcytosis in brain endothelial cell layers. *Nanoscale* 5, 11153–11165. doi: 10.1039/c3nr02905k
- Yuan, F., Leunig, M., Huang, S. K., Berk, D. A., Papahadjopoulos, D., and Jain, R. K. (1994). Microvascular permeability and interstitial penetration of sterically stabilized (stealth) liposomes in a human tumor xenograft. *Cancer Res.* 54, 3352–3356.
- Yuan, H., Fales, A. M., Khoury, C. G., Liu, J., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2013a). Spectral characterization and intracellular detection of surface-enhanced Raman scattering (SERS)-encoded plasmonic gold nanostars. J. Raman Spectrosc. 44, 234–239. doi: 10.1002/jrs.4172
- Yuan, H., Fales, A. M., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2012a). TAT peptide-functionalized gold nanostars: enhanced intracellular delivery and efficient NIR photothermal therapy using ultralow irradiance. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134, 11358–11361. doi: 10.1021/ja304180y
- Yuan, H., Khoury, C. G., Hwang, H., Wilson, C. M., Grant, G. A., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2012b). Gold nanostars: surfactant-free synthesis, 3D modelling, and two-photon photoluminescence imaging. *Nanotechnology* 23:075102. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/23/7/ 075102
- Yuan, H., Khoury, C. G., Wilson, C. M., Grant, G. A., Bennett, A. J., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2012c). *In vivo* particle tracking and photothermal ablation using plasmon-resonant gold nanostars. *Nanomedicine* 8, 1355–1363. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2012.02.005
- Yuan, H., Liu, Y., Fales, A. M., Li, Y. L., Liu, J., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2013b). Quantitative surface-enhanced resonant Raman scattering multiplexing of biocompatible gold nanostars for *in vitro* and *ex vivo* detection. *Anal. Chem.* 85, 208–212. doi: 10.1021/ac302510g
- Yuan, H., Wilson, C., Xia, J., Doyle, S., Li, S., Fales, A., et al. (2014). Plasmonicsenhanced and optically modulated delivery of gold nanostars into brain tumor. *Nanoscale* 6, 4078–4082. doi: 10.1039/c3nr06770j
- Zhao, J., Liu, Y., Fales, A. M., Register, J. K., Yuan, H., and Vo-Dinh, T. (2014a). Direct analysis of traditional Chinese Medicines using surface-enhanced Raman scattering (SERS). *Drug Test. Anal.* 6, 1063–1068. doi: 10.1002/ dta.1612
- Zhao, T. T., Yu, K., Li, L., Zhang, T. S., Guan, Z. P., Gao, N. Y., et al. (2014b). Gold nanorod enhanced two-photon excitation fluorescence of photosensitizers for two-photon imaging and photodynamic therapy. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 6, 2700–2708. doi: 10.1021/am405214w

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Liu, Yuan, Fales, Register and Vo-Dinh. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

ADVANTAGES OF PUBLISHING IN FRONTIERS



FAST PUBLICATION Average 90 days from submission to publication



COLLABORATIVE PEER-REVIEW

Designed to be rigorous – yet also collaborative, fair and constructive



RESEARCH NETWORK Our network increases readership for your article



OPEN ACCESS

Articles are free to read, for greatest visibility



TRANSPARENT

Editors and reviewers acknowledged by name on published articles



GLOBAL SPREAD Six million monthly page views worldwide



COPYRIGHT TO AUTHORS

No limit to article distribution and re-use



IMPACT METRICS Advanced metrics track your article's impact



SUPPORT By our Swiss-based editorial team



EPFL Innovation Park · Building I · 1015 Lausanne · Switzerland T +41 21 510 17 00 · info@frontiersin.org · frontiersin.org